

### Sur le flot de l'équation d'Euler à surface libre Ayman Said

### ▶ To cite this version:

Ayman Said. Sur le flot de l'équation d'Euler à surface libre. Mathématiques générales [math.GM]. Université Paris-Saclay, 2021. Français. NNT: 2021UPASM016 . tel-03267703

### HAL Id: tel-03267703 https://theses.hal.science/tel-03267703

Submitted on 22 Jun2021

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



# Sur le flot de l'équation d'Euler à surface libre

### Thèse de doctorat de l'Université Paris-Saclay

École doctorale n° 574, École doctorale de mathématiques Hadamard (EDMH) Spécialité de doctorat: Mathématiques fondamentales Unité de recherche: Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS, ENS Paris-Saclay, Centre Borelli, 91190, Gif-sur-Yvette, France. Référent: : ENS Paris Saclay

Thèse présentée et soutenue à Paris, le 17 juin 2021, par

### Ayman Rimah Said

#### **Composition du jury:**

Patrick Gérard Professeur, Université Paris-Saclay Isabelle Gallagher Professeur, École Normale Supérieure de Paris Luc Molinet Professeur, Université de Tours Tarek Elgindi Professor, Duke University Nader Masmoudi Professor, New York University Pierre Raphaël Professor, University of Cambridge Jean-Claude Saut Professeur Émerite, Université Paris-Saclay

Thomas Alazard Directeur de recherche, École Normale Supérieure Paris-Saclay Président du jury

- Rapporteur & Examinatrice
- Rapporteur & Examinateur
- Examinateur
- Examinateur
- Examinateur
- Invité
- Directeur

hèse de doctorat

NNT: 2021UPASM016



école———
normale ———
supérieure ———
paris-saclay

### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

of

UNIVERSITÉ PARIS-SACLAY

École doctorale de mathématiques Hadamard (EDMH, ED 574)

Institute of registration : Ecole Normale Supérieure Paris-Saclay

Host Laboratories : Laboratoire de mathématiques d'Orsay, UMR 8628 CNRS Centre Borelli, UMR 9010 CNRS

# On the flow map of the Euler equation with free boundary

Ayman Rimah Said



Fondation mathématique FMJH Jacques Hadamard

# Acknowledgment

This thesis would not have been possible without the help and support I received from a great deal of people along its long and oftentimes uncertain path. It's not an easy task not to sound vain in such a paragraph, but I hope that the sincerity of my feelings will transcend these simple lines.

First and foremost I want to thank my thesis advisor Thomas Alazard. I was honored when I had the chance to be offered an interesting and exciting research subject. Despite the challenges of the task ahead, he remarkably knew how to guide me with precise references to my sometimes vague questions, more challenging questions, while always leaving the space for me to learn and grow. I would also like to thank him for the help and support he gave me during some of the most challenging times I faced on a personal level.

I am indebted to Isabelle Gallagher and Luc Molinet for their detailed report of my thesis and their encouraging and enthusiastic comments. I would also like to thank Tarek Elgindi, Patrick Gérard, Nader Masmoudi, Pierre Raphaël for being the juries of my dissertation defense. It is a great honor to be able to defend before you.

I would like to express my gratitude to Jean-Claude Saut for the generous exchanges we had and the new avenues he opened for my research. Thank you to Pierre Raphaël for guiding me all the way from his captivating class at l'École Polytechnique to the thesis with Thomas and beyond. I would also like to thank Isabelle Gallagher for her advice and help for my choice of thesis. Thank you to Tarek Elgindi for giving me the opportunity to continue my research as a postdoc at Duke university on a new and exciting subject. Thank you to all of the organizers and members of this spring's MSRI program on fluid mechanics for the chance to discover many new facades to the study of PDEs.

I would like to thank Stéphane Nonnemacher, Agnès Desolneux, and Hans Rugh for their help and administrative advice in the context of some uncertain personal times during my thesis and their help in completing my work between two excellent mathematical laboratories. I would also like to thank Mathilde Rousseau for her constant help and care.

I would like to acknowledge the work of my professors and teachers for nurturing my taste and curiosity for mathematics. I would like to especially thank Julien Clark and Renaud Skrzypek for having followed me beyond the classes préparatoires and their friendship.

I have been living in France for 9 years now between my undergraduate studies in the classes préparatoires, l'École Polytechnique and my thesis. Without naming them I would like to thank all of my friends and the people I have met during this memorable time for helping me build a life and a second place to call home in France. Last but not least I would like to thank my family, my father Rimah Asaad, my mother Iman Raslan and my brother Karim without whom none of this would have been possible. I would like to thank Clara, Leonora, William and François Focillion for being my second family in France. Thank you to my partner Flore Sentenac, with whom I share my life, frustrations and joy, for your endless love and support.

# Contents

	Inti	roduction	10		
	1.1	Semi-linearity and quasi-linearity of evolution PDE	12		
	1.2	A model problem: the dispersive Burgers equation	12		
	1.3	The water waves system	20		
	1.4	Paradifferential calculus	25		
	1.5	Sketch of the different strategies on the model problem	34		
2	Introduction				
	2.1	Semi-linéarité and quasi-linéarité des EDP d'évolution	44		
	2.2	Un problème modèle: l'équation de Burgers dispersive	44		
	2.3	Le système des water waves	53		
	2.4	Le calcul paradifférentiel	58		
	2.5	Esquisse des différentes stratégies sur le problème modèle	66		
3	On	paracomposition and paradifferential operators	76		
	3.1	Notations and functional analysis	76		
	3.2	Notions of microlocal analysis	80		
	3.3	Pull-back of pseudo and para- differential operators	96		
	3.4	Paracomposition	100		
4	On	the quasi-linearity of the Water Waves System	112		
	4.1	Study of the model equation	112		
		A technical managediration			
	4.2	A technical generalization	121		
	$\begin{array}{c} 4.2\\ 4.3\end{array}$	Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension	$\begin{array}{c} 121 \\ 133 \end{array}$		
	4.2 4.3 4.4	Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension          Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves	121 133 137		
	$   \begin{array}{r}     4.2 \\     4.3 \\     4.4 \\     4.5   \end{array} $	A technical generalization         Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension         Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves         Appendix: Energy estimates and well-posedness of some pulled back         hyperbolic equations	121 133 137 140		
5	<ul> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> <li>4.5</li> </ul> On	A technical generalization       Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension         Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves       Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves         Appendix:       Energy estimates and well-posedness of some pulled back         hyperbolic equations       Hausdorff formula for hyperbolic paradif	121 133 137 140		
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 <b>On</b> fere	A technical generalization       Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension         Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves       Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves         Appendix:       Energy estimates and well-posedness of some pulled back         hyperbolic equations       Image: Campbell-Hausdorff formula for hyperbolic paradif         ential flows       Image: Campbell-Hausdorff formula for hyperbolic paradif	121 133 137 140 		
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 <b>On</b> fere 5.1	A technical generalization       Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension         Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves       Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves         Appendix: Energy estimates and well-posedness of some pulled back         hyperbolic equations       Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves         the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula for hyperbolic paradifential flows         Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula: composition and commutator es-	121 133 137 140 - 145		
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 <b>On</b> fere 5.1	A technical generalization	121 133 137 140 - 145		
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 <b>On</b> fere 5.1 5.2	A technical generalization       Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension         Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves       Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves         Appendix: Energy estimates and well-posedness of some pulled back         hyperbolic equations       Hermitian for hyperbolic paradifiential flows         Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula for hyperbolic paradifiential flows         Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula: composition and commutator estimates         Appendix: Continuity of limited regularity paradifferential exotic	121 133 137 140 <b>145</b> 145		
5	4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 <b>On</b> fere 5.1 5.2	A technical generalization       Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension         Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves       Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves         Appendix: Energy estimates and well-posedness of some pulled back         hyperbolic equations       He Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula for hyperbolic paradif         ential flows       Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula: composition and commutator estimates         Appendix: Continuity of limited regularity paradifferential exotic symbols on $L^p$ spaces	121 133 137 140 • • • 145 145 163		
5	<ul> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> <li>4.5</li> <li>On fere</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>Exa</li> </ul>	A technical generalization         Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension         Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves         Appendix: Energy estimates and well-posedness of some pulled back         hyperbolic equations         the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula for hyperbolic paradif         ential flows         Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula: composition and commutator estimates         Appendix: Continuity of limited regularity paradifferential exotic symbols on $L^p$ spaces         ext flow map regularity of the weakly dispersive Burgers typ	121 133 137 140 <b>2</b> 145 145 163 <b>e</b>		
5	<ul> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> <li>4.4</li> <li>4.5</li> <li>On fere</li> <li>5.1</li> <li>5.2</li> <li>Exa</li> <li>equ</li> </ul>	A technical generalization	121 133 137 140 <b>145</b> 145 163 <b>e</b> 169		

	6.2	Flow map regularity for the periodic Gravity Capillary equation $\ . \ .$	174				
7	7 On the threshold of well posedness of the weakly dispersive Burgers						
	type equation						
	7.1	Implicit construction of symbols	181				
	7.2	Sobolev estimate on the weakly dispersive Burgers equation	187				

7.3 Complete gauge transform for the dispersive Burgers equation . . . 190

# Résumé

L'équation d'Euler à surface libre décrit l'évolution de l'interface séparant l'air d'un fluide parfait irrotationnel. C'est un système de deux équations couplées : l'équation d'Euler à l'intérieur du domaine et une équation cinématique qui décrit les déformations du domaine. Les 4 travaux qui constituent le corps de cette thèse peuvent être divisés en trois sujets connectés au problème de Cauchy du système des water waves.

- Dans le prolongement des travaux de [3, 5, 6, 8], où les auteurs ont montré que le problème de Cauchy pour le système des water waves est bien posé et que le flot est continu sur des espaces de Sobolev suffisamment réguliers, nous montrons:
  - Dans [62] que le système des water waves avec ou sans tension de surface est quasi-linéaire au sens le plus fort du terme, c'est-à-dire que le flot n'est pas uniformément continu. De plus, dans le cas avec tension de surface, nous montrons que pour avoir une estimation de Lipschitz sur le flot, il faut au moins une perte de  $\frac{1}{2}$  dérivés. Plus généralement, pour l'équation de Burgers avec terme dispersif de la forme  $\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1}, \alpha \in ]1, 2[$ , nous montrons qu'il faut au moins une perte de  $2-\alpha$  dérivés pour assurer un contrôle Lipschitz sur le flot.
  - − Dans [63], nous montrons que les résultats obtenus dans [62] sont effectivement optimaux, c'est-à-dire que pour l'équation de Burgers avec un terme dispersif  $\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1}$ ,  $\alpha \in ]1,2[$  le flot est effectivement Lipschitz de  $H^s$  á  $H^{s-2+\alpha}$  pour des données initiales périodiques de moyenne nulle. Pour le système des water waves avec tension de surface en deux dimensions d'espace, nous montrons qu'après re-normalisation, le flot est bien Lipschitz au prix d'une perte de  $\frac{1}{2}$  dérivées.
- Afin de démontrer les résultats dans [63], nous avons développé une généralisation para-différentielle d'une transformation de jauge complexe de type Cole-Hopf introduite pour la première fois par T. Tao pour l'équation de Benjamin-Ono. Dans [64], nous l'utilisons pour améliorer les résultats connus sur une conjecture numérique dûe à Saut et Klein dans [47] sur l'équation de Burgers dispersive. Ce qui, à la connaissance de l'auteur, est la première fois que la transformation de jauge est mise en oeuvre à cette fin pour α ∈]1,2[.
- Afin de démontrer les différents résultats dans [62, 63, 64], nous avons étudié et affiné différents résultats connus en calcul paradifférentiel. Plus précisément,

dans [61], nous améliorons certaines estimations sur l'opérateur de paracomposition introduit par Alinhac, nous donnons une preuve du changement de variables dans le calcul paradifférentiel et enfin nous étudions comment le support du cut-off fréquentiel varie après la composition d'opérateurs para-différentiels.

## Abstract

The Euler equation with free boundary, i.e the water waves system, describes the evolution of the interface between air and a perfect irrotational fluid. It is a system of two coupled equations: the Euler equation in the interior of the domain and a kinematic equation describing the deformation of the domain. The 4 works that constitute the body of this thesis can be divided into three connected subjects on the Cauchy problem of the water waves system.

- In the continuation of the works in [3, 5, 6, 8] where the Cauchy problem for the water waves system is shown to be well-posed and the flow map continuous on sufficiently regular Sobolev spaces we show:
  - In [62] that the water waves system with and without surface tension is quasi-linear in the strongest sense, i.e the flow map is not uniformly continuous. Moreover in the case with surface tension we show that in order to have a Lipschitz estimate on the flow map at least a loss of  $\frac{1}{2}$ derivative is needed. More generally for the Burgers equation augmented by a dispersive term of the form  $\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1}$ ,  $\alpha \in ]1, 2[$ , we show that at least a loss of  $2 - \alpha$  derivative is needed to ensure Lipschitz control on the flow.
  - In [63] we show that the results obtained in [62] are indeed optimal, that is for the Burgers equation augmented with a dispersive term  $\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1}$ ,  $\alpha \in$ ]1,2[ the flow map is indeed Lipschitz from  $H^s$  to  $H^{s-2+\alpha}$  for periodic data with 0 mean value. For the water waves system with surface tension in two space dimension we show that after suitable re-normalization that the flow map is Lipschitz under  $\frac{1}{2}$  loss of derivative.
- In order to prove the results in [63] we developed a paradifferential generalization of a complex Cole-Hopf type gauge transform first introduced by T. Tao for the Benjamin-Ono equation. In [64] we use this to improve upon known results on a numerical conjecture by Saut and Klein [47] on the dispersive Burgers equation, which to the author's knowledge is the first time the gauge transform was implemented to that end for  $\alpha \in ]1, 2[$ .
- In order to prove the different results in [62, 63, 64] we needed to study and refine different known results in paradifferential calculus. More precisely in [61], we improve some estimates on the paracomposition operator introduced by Alinhac, give a proof of the change of variables in paradifferential operators and finally study the frequency cut-off after composition of paradifferential operators.

## Chapter 1

# Introduction

(French version below)

#### Contents

1.1	Sem	i-linearity and quasi-linearity of evolution PDE	12
1.2 A model problem: the dispersive Burgers equation			12
	1.2.1	The flow map regularity of the Dispersive Burgers equation	14
	1.2.2	Improved energy estimates of the paradifferential Disper- sive Burgers equation	16
1.3	The	water waves system	20
	1.3.1	Assumptions on the domain	20
	1.3.2	The equations	21
	1.3.3	Gravity water waves: Pressure and Taylor Coefficients	22
	1.3.4	Quasi-linearity of the water Wave system $\hdots \ldots \hdots \ldots$ .	23
	1.3.5	Exact regularity of the flow map of the 2d Gravity Capillary equation	25
1.4	Para	differential calculus	<b>25</b>
	1.4.1	Pseudodifferential operators	25
	1.4.2	Paradifferential operators	26
	1.4.3	An application of the paracomposition operator	32
1.5	Sket	ch of the different strategies on the model problem	34
	1.5.1	Sketch of the proof of Theorem 1.2.1	34
	1.5.2	Sketch of the proof of Theorem 1.2.2	37
	1.5.3	Sketch of the proofs of Theorems 1.2.3 and 1.2.4 $\ldots$ .	39

At the core of this work is the study of the Cauchy problem of nonlinear evolution partial differential equations (PDE) with a strong choice of PDE coming from fluid mechanics. To situate the problem we consider a general evolution PDE of the form:

$$\partial_t u = F((\partial_x^{\alpha} u)_{|\alpha| \le k}), \ u(0, \cdot) = u_0 \text{ in a Sobolev space } H^s, s \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (1.0.1)

Hadamard's well posedness conditions for an evolution PDE can be interpreted through the flow map:

• There exists a time T > 0 and a Sobolev space  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that for all  $0 \leq t \leq T$  and  $u_0 \in H^s$ , the flow map  $u_0 \mapsto u(t, \cdot)$  is well defined and continuous from  $H^s$  to  $H^s$ .

Several immediate questions follow this definition i) how to prove well posedness? ii) is  $T = +\infty$ ? iii) What is the lowest possible s for the problem to be well posed? iv) What is the flow map's regularity?

To answer question i) one has several methods to tackle the problem and that are usually guided by the "nature" of the PDE. We consider the following preliminary general definitions commonly found in the literature that we will revisit in section 1.1.

- Equation (1.0.1) is said to be linear if F is linear in all of its variables.
- It is quasi-linear if F is linear in the highest order derivatives of u, i.e the PDE can be written as:

$$\partial_t u = \sum_{|\alpha|=k} a_{\alpha} ((\partial_x^{\beta} u)_{0 \le |\beta| \le k-1}) \partial_x^k u + a_0 (\partial_x^{\beta} u)_{0 \le |\beta| \le k-1}.$$

• And it is semi-linear if moreover  $(a_{\alpha})_{|\alpha|=k}$  does not depend on u.

For linear constant coefficient equations one looks to a Green function in order to solve the Cauchy problem. For semi-linear equations a Picard iteration scheme is expected to work and for quasi-linear equations more nonlinear techniques are used such that compactness argument and an energy method. Unfortunately this broad definition fails as shown in the next section and a revised definition through the flow map is given. The starting point of this thesis was to show that the water waves system with and without surface tension is quasi-linear.

Points *i*) and *ii*) are usually interconnected through conservation laws and form some of the hardest and deepest questions in PDE today. To answer one of those two questions, one usually has to understand the fine properties of the non linearity Fin (1.0.1). One of the goals of this thesis is to show that one can extract information on the nonlinearity by studying the regularity properties of the flow map, i.e the study of point *iv*), in a simpler setting compared to *i*) and *ii*) in the sense that we can work with  $T < +\infty$  and  $s > 1 + \frac{d}{2}$ , which we did for the water waves system and the dispersive Burgers equation. Moreover we show that the technique developed to study question *iv*) for the dispersive Burgers equation, i.e a complex para-differential generalization of the Cole-Hopf Gauge transform, can be used to give information on questions *i*) and *ii*).

The main techniques used in this thesis are at the interface of microlocal analysis, more specifically para-differential calculus, and fluid mechanics to try and give answers to question i,ii and iv for the water waves system and related models. All of the results presented here come from the author's works:

[61] A. R. Said: On Paracomposition and change of variables in Paradifferential operators, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2002.02943.

[62] A. R. Said: A geometric proof of the Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system and the incompressible Euler equations, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2002.02940.

[63] A. R. Said: Regularity results on the flow map of periodic dispersive Burgers type equations and the Gravity-Capillary equations, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2103.03576.

[64] A. R. Said: On the Cauchy problem of dispersive Burgers type equations, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2103.03588.

#### 1.1 Semi-linearity and quasi-linearity of evolution PDE

By the previous definitions of semi-linearity and quasi-linearity the following equations (KPI) and (KPII) are semi-linear by the count of the derivatives, indeed they are given by:

$$(u_t + uu_x + u_{xxx})_x + u_{yy} = 0, \tag{KPI}$$

$$(u_t + uu_x + u_{xxx})_x - u_{yy} = 0.$$
 (KPII)

Bourgain showed in [21] that (KPII) can be solved by an iteration scheme and that the flow map is regular. But Molinet, Saut and Tzvetkov showed in [55] that the flow map associated to (KPI) cannot be  $C^2$  and that it cannot be solved by a Picard iteration scheme. They introduce the following definitions to quasi-linearity and semi-linearity [55]:

- A partial differential equation is said to be semi-linear if its flow map is regular (at least  $C^1$ ).
- A partial differential equation is said to be quasi-linear if its flow map is not  $C^1$ .

This definition is more attractive in the sense that a claim of the form "equation (1.0.1) is semi/quasi-linear" gives a concrete information on the Cauchy problem and henceforth will be used.

A well known example of a quasi-linear equation is the Burgers equation:

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u = 0$$
 on  $\mathbb{R}$ ,

where it is known that the flow map fails to be uniformly continuous, giving the equation its quasi-linear nature, as for example shown in [65].

### 1.2 A model problem: the dispersive Burgers equation

An important class of equations that arises in the study of asymptotic models of the water waves equations is Burgers type equation with a dispersive term, for example the Benjamin-Ono equation:

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + H \partial_x^2 u = 0 \text{ on } \mathbb{R}, \tag{BO}$$

and Korteweg-de Vries equation:

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + \partial_x^3 u = 0 \text{ on } \mathbb{R}.$$
 (KdV)

More generally, In [3] and [6], Alazard, Burq, and Zuily perform a paralinearization and symmetrization of the the water waves system that takes the form:

$$\partial_t u + T_{V(u)} \cdot \nabla u + i T_\gamma u = f,$$

where  $\gamma$  is an elliptic symbol of order  $\frac{3}{2}$  in the case with surface tension and  $\frac{1}{2}$  in the case without, and T is the operation of para-multiplication that will be introduced below. For  $s > 1 + \frac{1}{2}$  a good one dimensional "toy" model is the dispersive Burgers equation:

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^+, \ |D| = \operatorname{Op}(|\xi|).$$
(1.2.1)

**Remark 1.2.1.** Notice that the (BO) equation and (KdV) equation are the special cases for  $\alpha = 2$  and  $\alpha = 3$  respectively.

It was shown in [49], that the flow map associated to the Benjamin-Ono equation on  $H^s(\mathbb{R}), s > \frac{3}{2}$  fails to be uniformly continuous. The proof relies heavily on the dimension, the structure of the equation and on some interactions between small and high frequencies thus it does not generalize to the case of the torus  $\mathbb{T}$ . More generally in [65], it is shown that the flow map fails to be  $C^2$  (thus the equations are unsolvable by a Picard fixed point scheme) for equations of the form:

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + \omega(D) \partial_x u = 0$$
, with  $|\omega(\xi)| \le |\xi|^{\gamma}, \gamma < 2$ .

Here the proof relies heavily on the Duhamel formula, on the explicit solvability of the linear part using the Fourier transform and again on some interactions between small and high frequencies thus it does not generalize to the case of  $\mathbb{T}$ .

In [65], for the KdV equation, using Strichartz type dispersive estimates the Cauchy problem is solved by a Picard fixed point scheme and thus the flow map is regular, showing a change in nature for the problem. This shows that an interesting phenomena happens where the dispersive term can dominate the nonlinearity. On  $\mathbb{R}$ , the previous examples show that this change of regime happens for a dispersive term of order 3. Thus the result obtained in [65] is optimal in d = 1.

In this thesis we improve these results in several directions:

- 1. we prove the strongest result possible by proving that the flow is not uniformly continuous,
- 2. for  $\alpha \in [0, 2[$  and  $\epsilon > 0$  we prove that the flow cannot be  $C^1$  from  $H^s(\mathbb{D})$  to  $C^0([0, T], H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)^++\epsilon}(\mathbb{D})))$ , where  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}$  or  $\mathbb{R}$ .
- 3. For those negative type results we give a robust geometric proof that will be translated to the more complex water waves system with and without tension and do so in any dimension.
- 4. For  $\alpha \in ]1,2[$  we show that the flow map is indeed Lipschitz from  $H_0^s(\mathbb{T}), s > 1 + \frac{2-\alpha}{\alpha-1} + \frac{1}{2}$  to  $C^0([0,T], H_0^{s-2+\alpha}(\mathbb{T})))$ , where  $H_0^s(\mathbb{T})$  is the Sobolev space of function with 0 mean value.

**Remark 1.2.2.** Point 1 is enough to deduce the quasi-linearity of the system but the drawback of this test of quasi-linearity is that it does not show the effect of the dispersive term. The natural question was then to ask if one can see the effect of the dispersive term by analyzing more precisely the regularity of the flow map.

For this we can start by noticing that independently of  $\alpha$  the flow map is Lipschitz from bounded sets of  $H^s(\mathbb{D})$  to  $C^0([0,T], H^{s-1}(\mathbb{D}))$  and ask: can the space  $H^{s-1}(\mathbb{D})$ be replaced by  $H^{s-\mu}(\mathbb{D})$  with  $\mu < 1$  depending on  $\alpha$ ? The answer to this question is exactly the goal of points 2 and 3 where it is shown that the optimal  $\mu$  is  $2 - \alpha$ .

#### 1.2.1 The flow map regularity of the Dispersive Burgers equation

Points 1 and 2 are given in the following Theorem from [62].

**Theorem 1.2.1** (from [62]). Consider three real numbers  $\alpha \in [0, 2[, s \in ]2 + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[, r > 0 \text{ and } u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D})$ . Then there exists  $C_s > 0$  such that for  $0 < T < \frac{C_s}{r + \|\partial_x u_0\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})}}$ and all  $v_0$  in the ball  $B(u_0, r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{D})$  there exists a unique  $v \in C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$ solving the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + v \partial_x v + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} v = 0\\ v(0, \cdot) = v_0(\cdot), \end{cases}$$
(1.2.2)

where,

$$|D| = \operatorname{Op}(\xi).$$

Moreover, for all  $\delta > 0$  and all of  $\mu \in [0, s]$ , we have:

$$\forall t \in [0,T], \ \|v(t)\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D})} \le e^{C_{\mu} \|\partial_{x}v\|_{L^{1}([0,T],L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}))}} \|v_{0}\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D})}.$$
(1.2.3)

Taking  $v_0 \in B(u_0, r)$ , and assuming moreover that  $u_0 \in H^{s+1}(\mathbb{D})$  then:

$$\forall t \in [0, T], \|(u - v)(t)\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D})} \leq e^{C_{s}(\|\partial_{x}(u, v)\|_{L^{1}([0, t], L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}))} + C_{s}t\|u_{0}\|_{H^{s+1}(\mathbb{D})})} \|u_{0} - v_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D})}$$
(1.2.4)

The lack of regularity of the flow map is given by the following results on balls centered at the origin for all R > 0, there exists a constant  $C_s >$  such that for  $T < \frac{1}{C_s R}$ , the flow map:

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

is not uniformly continuous.

In addition, for all  $\epsilon' > 0$  the flow map:

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T], H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)^++\epsilon'}(\mathbb{D}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

is not  $C^1$ .

**Remark 1.2.3.** We shall prove a stronger result (see Theorem 4.2.1) showing that for a dispersive perturbation of order  $\alpha < 2$ , the non-linear transport term dominates the flow's evolution locally and this happens independently of the dimension. This limited regularity of the flow implies that the Cauchy problem cannot be solved by a Picard fixed point scheme and thus those equations are quasi-linear. Another example of application is the Whitham equation on  $\mathbb{R}$ :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + u \partial_x u - L u_x = 0, \\ L f(x) = \int e^{ix \cdot \xi} p(x,\xi) \hat{f}(\xi) d\xi. \end{cases}$$

We prove that the latter is quasi-linear for  $p \in S^{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha < 1$  and such that  $\text{Im}(p) \in S^{0}$ (See (3.2.1) for the definition of the symbol classes). Looking to the literature to assess the optimality of the previous result, first in [65] the equation (1.2.1) is actually shown to be quasi-linear for  $\alpha \in [0,3[$  and becomes semi-linear for  $\alpha = 3$ , *i.e* the Korteweg-de Vries equation, when  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{R}$ suggesting that our results are sub-optimal. Then when  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}$ , in [56], for the case  $\alpha = 2$  and the Benjamin-Ono equation, the flow map is shown to be Lipschitz (and even has analytic regularity) on bounded sets of  $H_0^s$  the (Sobolev spaces of functions with mean value 0). Which suggests that our results could be optimal but with a subtlety in the low frequencies.

The aim of the next theorem is to prove that the results obtained in [62] are optimal on the torus while clarifying in all of those cases the effect brought on by the low frequencies.

**Remark 1.2.4.** In Appendix 6.2.3, we look to the problem on  $\mathbb{R}$  and use the same Gauge transform to show that the lack of regularity obtained in [65] for  $\alpha \geq 2$  is essentially due to the lack of control of the  $L^1$  norm in Sobolev spaces.

**Theorem 1.2.2** (from [63]). Consider three real numbers  $\alpha \in [1, +\infty[, s \in]] + \frac{2-\alpha}{\alpha-1} + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[, r > 0 \text{ and } u_0 \in H^s_0(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}).$  Then the flow map associated to the Cauchy problem (1.2.2):

$$B(u_0, r) \cap H_0^s(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}) \to C([0, T], H_0^{s - (2 - \alpha)^+}(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

is Lipschitz.

Several remarks are in order.

**Remark 1.2.5.** 1. As a corollary of Theorem 1.2.2 we prove in Section 6.1.2 the following.

**Corollary 1.2.1.** Consider three real numbers  $\alpha \in [0, +\infty[, s \in]1 + \frac{2-\alpha}{\alpha-1} + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[, r > 0 \text{ and } u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}).$ 

• Then the flow map associated to the Cauchy problem (1.2.2):

$$B(u_0, r) \to C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

is continuous but not uniformly continuous.

• For all  $\epsilon > 0$  the flow map:

$$B(u_0, r) \to C([0, T], H^{s-1+\epsilon}(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

is not  $C^1$ .

- The case α = <sup>3</sup>/<sub>2</sub> is closely related to the system obtained after reduction and para-linearization of the periodic water Waves system in dimension 1 obtained in [3] Proposition 3.3 by T. Alazard, N. Burq and C. Zuily, which we will treat in the next section on the water waves system.
- 3. The case  $\alpha = 2$  is the Benjamin-Ono equation on the circle was obtained by Molinet in [56]. Though Molinet's result extends to the Cauchy problem on  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . Also in [56] only the flow map regularity for data with 0 mean value was studied.

#### 1.2.2 Improved energy estimates of the paradifferential Dispersive Burgers equation

In order to prove Theorem 1.2.2 we developed a paradifferential generalization of a complex Cole-Hopf gauge transform that was first introduced by T. Tao in [72] in order to improve on the threshold of well-posedness for the Benjamin-Ono equation. Thus it was natural to ask if this can also be done for the dispersive Burgers equation with this new type of gauge of transform in hand. More precisely we will look at the well-posedness of the paralinearised "weak" dispersive perturbations of the Burgers equation:

$$\partial_t u + \partial_x [T_u u] - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} u + \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ u_0 \in H^s, \tag{1.2.5}$$

which is derived from the "weak" dispersive perturbations of the Burgers equation:

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0$$
, where  $\alpha \in ]1, 2]$  and  $|D| = \operatorname{Op}(|\xi|).$  (1.2.6)

For  $\alpha = 2$  in (1.2.6), we have the usual Benjamin-Ono equation, for  $\alpha = 3$  we have the KdV equation, for  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$  and  $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$  respectively this equation is a toy model for the system obtained by parallearization and symmetrization of water waves system with and without surface tension [7, 1, 8, 3, 5].

The Cauchy problem associated to (1.2.6) has been extensively studied in the literature. For a comprehensive and complete overview of those equations and their links to other problems coming from mechanical fluids and dispersive non linear equations in physics we refer to J-C. Saut's [65, 66].

For  $\alpha \geq 2$  the Cauchy problem is now very well understood. A first approach is to use smoothing effects and refined Strichartz estimates see [60, 48]. A second approach is to use time dependent frequency localized spaces as in [42]. A third approach, first introduced by Tao in [72] is to use a gauge transform to eliminate the worst interaction terms, see also [23, 58] for the Benjamin-Ono equation and [33] for  $\alpha \in ]2, 3[$ , which to the author's knowledge is the only time the gauge transform was used to improve upon the local well-posedness of dispersive Burgers equation in the fractional dispersion case.

Except for the first approach, in the words of [69], those techniques face serious technical difficulties for  $\alpha < 2$ . The goal of this section is to show that using the gauge transform introduced in [63], the last approach can be still carried for  $1 \leq \alpha < 2$  and it gives  $H^s(\mathbb{D})$  under the estimates of  $\left\| (1 + \|u\|_{L^\infty_x}) \|u\|_{W^{2-\alpha,\infty}_x} \right\|_{L^1_t}$ , improving upon the known hyperbolic factor  $\|\partial_x u\|_{L^1_t L^\infty_x}$ . To the author's best knowledge this is the first time a gauge transform technique was carried out to improve upon the local well-posedness of the weakly dispersive Burgers equation.

We will also show that for  $2 \le \alpha \le 3$ , this gauge transform can be efficiently used to completely conjugate the paralinearized dispersive Burgers equation to the linear dispersive equation modulo a regular, i.e  $C^{\infty}$ , remainder under control of  $||u||_{L^{\infty}_{t}C^{2-\alpha}_{*}}$ . Again to the author's best knowledge this is the first time such a transformation is carried out outside the integrable cases, i.e  $\alpha = 2$  and  $\alpha = 3$ . For those cases, i.e the Benjamin Ono and the KdV equations, suitable Birkhoff coordinates were constructed to diagonalize the infinite dimension Hamiltonian, for this we refer to the pioneering works of Gérard, Kappeler and Topalov [29, 30, 43]. The following quantities are conserved by the flow associated to (1.2.2):

$$||u(t)||_{L^2} = ||u_0||_{L^2}$$
, and, (1.2.7)

$$H(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| D^{\frac{\alpha - 1}{2}} u \right|^2 (t, x) dx + \frac{1}{3} \int_{\mathbb{R}} u^3(t, x) dx = H(u_0).$$
(1.2.8)

By the the Sobolev embedding  $H^{\frac{1}{6}} \hookrightarrow L^3$ , H(u) is well defined for  $\alpha \ge 1 + \frac{1}{3}$ . Moreover (1.2.6) is invariant under the scaling transformation:

$$u_{\lambda} = \lambda^{\alpha - 1} u(\lambda^{\alpha} t, \lambda x),$$

for any positive  $\lambda$ . We have  $\|u_{\lambda}(t,\cdot)\|_{\dot{H}^s} = \lambda^{\alpha+s-\frac{3}{2}} \|u(\lambda^{\alpha}t,\cdot)\|_{\dot{H}^s}$ , thus the critical index corresponding to (1.2.6) is  $s_c = \frac{3}{2} - \alpha$ . In particular, (1.2.6) is  $L^2$  critical for  $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$ .

In the "low" dispersion case, i.e  $\alpha \leq 2$  a complete numerical study was carried out by Klein and Saut in [47]. They conjectured among other things the following.

- **Conjecture 1.2.1.** 1. For  $\alpha \leq 1$ , sufficiently large solutions blow up in finite time and do so through a wave breaking scenario, i.e  $\lim_{t \to T^*} ||u(t)||_{L^{\infty}}$  stays bounded while  $||\partial_x u(t)||_{L^{\infty}} \to +\infty$ .
  - 2. For  $\alpha > 1$  we have global in time existence for small initial data.
  - 3. For  $1 < \alpha \leq \frac{3}{2}$ , sufficiently large solutions blow up in finite time and do so through a "dispersive" blow up scenario, i.e  $||u(t)||_{L^{\infty}_{x}} \to +\infty$ .
  - 4. For  $\alpha > \frac{3}{2}$ , solutions exist globally in time.

In [24] and [38] blow up is proven for  $\alpha < 1$  and in [39, 40] it is shown that for  $\alpha < \frac{2}{3}$  the only possible blow up scenario is a wave breaking one, a simpler proof can be found in [68].

In [52] using Strichartz estimate well posedness is proved for  $s > \frac{3}{2} - \frac{3(\alpha-1)}{8}$  and  $\alpha > 1$ , proving that even for very low dispersion the threshold of well posedness can be improved which again contrasts with the Burgers equation ( $\alpha = 1$ ) where the equation is shown to be ill-posed for  $s = \frac{3}{2}$  in [52]. This was improved in [59] using an adapted version of the I-method and refined

This was improved in [59] using an adapted version of the I-method and refined Strichartz estimates in co-normal Bourgain type spaces. They proved well posedness for  $s > \frac{3}{2} - \frac{5(\alpha-1)}{4}$  and  $\alpha > 1$ , thus proving by the conservation of H(u) and scaling, global well posedness for  $\alpha > 1 + \frac{6}{7}$ . Which was the first result proving global existing results for  $\alpha < 2$ .

Finally for  $\alpha \geq 2$  the Cauchy problem is much better understood. For the Benjamin Ono equation on  $\mathbb{R}$ , to the author's knowledge the best known result is  $L^2$  global well-posedness derived in [42]. Recently Patrick Gerard, Thomas Kappeler and Peter Topalov proved in [29] global well-posedness for the periodic Benjamin-Ono equation all the way down to  $s > -\frac{1}{2}$  and ill-posedness for  $s < -\frac{1}{2} = s_c$ , the critical Sobolev exponent. For  $\alpha \in ]2, 3[$  on the real line, the best known local well posedness result is for  $\alpha \geq \frac{3}{4}(2-\alpha)$  under a low frequency condition given in [32] and in  $L^2$  without the low frequency condition in [33]. For the KdV equation, for both the periodic and real line cases the Cauchy problem is globally well posed on

 $H^{-1}(\mathbb{R})$  as shown in [43, 46], which is the best possible well posedness result, i.e the KdV equation is ill-posed for s < -1 as shown in [57].

The remarkable well-posedness results for  $\alpha = \{2, 3\}$  uses the integrability of the Benjamin-Ono equation and the KdV equation and the construction of Birkhoff coordinates and thus cannot be extended to the case  $\alpha \neq \{2, 3\}$ .

**Remark 1.2.6.** It is interesting to compare (1.2.6) to the "fractal" Burgers equation, *i.e the Burgers equation with a dissipative term:* 

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + (-\Delta)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u = 0, \ \alpha \ge 0.$$
(1.2.9)

For  $\alpha = 2$ , (1.2.9) is the usual Hopf equation. The local and global Cauchy problem associated to (1.2.9) is very well understood, we refer to [45] for a complete solution to the problem. For  $\alpha < 1$ , sufficiently large solutions of (1.2.9) blow up in finite time and that through a wave breaking mechanism. For  $\alpha \geq 1$  solutions exist globally in time.

This contrasts with (1.2.6) in several directions:

- the change of local/global well posedness is conjectured to happen at α = <sup>3</sup>/<sub>2</sub> and not 1,
- the conjectured existence of a new nonlinear blow up regime for  $\alpha \in [1, \frac{3}{2}]$ ,
- the drastic difference of the global Cauchy problem between (1.2.6) and (1.2.9) for  $\alpha = 1$ .

In this section we will look more closely to the equation:

$$\partial_t u + \partial_x [T_u u] - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} u + \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ u_0 \in H^s,$$
(1.2.10)

where T is a paraproduct defined in section 1.4.2.1 below.

**Remark 1.2.7.** The modifications made to pass from (1.2.6) to (1.2.10) are the following:

- We replaced the product  $\frac{u^2}{2}$  by the paraproduct  $T_u u$  and added the term  $-T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} u$  to ensure that  $\partial_x [T_u u] T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} u$  is skew symmetric for the  $L^2$  scalar product.
- We dropped the remainder terms

$$\partial_x R(u, u)$$
 and  $T_{\partial_x u} u$ .

The motivations to study the paralinearised version of the equations are the following:

- 1. Equation (1.2.10) still contains the main "bad" term  $u_{low}\partial_x u_{high}$ . As remarked in [72] and [23] this is the main term obstructing straightforward estimates in  $X^{0^+,\frac{1}{2}^+}$  for  $\alpha = 2$ .
- 2. Indeed looking through the literature [23] and [42], the neglected terms can be treated in localized Besov-Bourgain type spaces in our threshold of regularity. By contrast the results on (1.2.10) are simpler to write because they can be completely described in the usual Sobolev spaces.

In this thesis we opted to study the problem in two steps, first in [64] we treated on the paralinearised version of the equation (1.2.10), and do so in the simplest setting of Sobolev spaces. In a second step we will then study the full equation (1.2.6) in Bourgain type spaces in a future work.

Now we give the first theorem of this section.

**Theorem 1.2.3.** Consider two real numbers  $\alpha \in [1, 2[, s \in ]1 + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[$ . Then for all  $v_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D})$  and all r > 0 there exists  $C_s > 0$  such that for  $0 < T < \frac{C_s}{r + \|\partial_x u_0\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{D})}}$  and all  $u_0$  in the ball  $B(v_0, r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{D})$  there exists a unique  $u \in C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  solving the Cauchy problem:

$$\partial_t u + i T^{B',b}_{\sigma^{B,b}_{u\xi} + (\sigma^{B,b}_{u\xi})^*} u + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ u_0 \in H^s, \ b > 0,$$
(1.2.11)

where B > 2 is given by Theorem 7.1.1,  $\sigma^{B,b}$  is a cutoff defining paradifferential operators (cf Definition 3.2.9),  $a^*$  is given by

$$a^*(x,\xi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}} e^{-iy.\eta} \bar{a}(x-y,\xi-\eta) dy d\eta,$$

and B' > B is the cutoff corresponding to the left hand side that includes  $T^{B,b}_{.}$  and its a adjoint.

The flow map  $u_0 \mapsto u$  is continuous from  $B(v_0, r)$  to  $C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$ . Moreover we have the estimate for  $t \in [0, T]$ :

$$\|u(t)\|_{H^s} \le e^{C \left\| (1+\|u\|_{L^{\infty}_x})\|u\|_{W^{2-\alpha,\infty}_x} \right\|_{L^1([0,t])}} \|u_0\|_{H^s}, \text{ for } 1 < \alpha < 2.$$
(1.2.12)

**Remark 1.2.8.** • The a priori estimate (1.2.12) is not enough to improve upon the local well-posedness theory, indeed we need an extra estimate on the difference of two solutions. A straightforward computation shows that taking the difference of two solutions u - v we get:

$$\partial_t (u-v) + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}(u-v) + \underbrace{\partial_x [T_u(u-v)] - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}}(u-v)}_{(1)} + \underbrace{\partial_x [T_{u-v}v] - T_{\frac{\partial_x u-v}{2}}v}_{(2)} = 0.$$

Term (1) can be treated using the gauge transform but term (2) is not a paradifferential operator in the variable u - v and can not be treated in our current restricted paradifferential-Sobolev space setting. Indeed term (2) has the same structure as the residual terms we dropped to get equation (1.2.10) and has to be treated in the Besov-Bourgain space type spaces which is not done here.

• The analogue of estimate (1.2.12) is still valid for  $\alpha \geq 2$ . In the real line case the standard Strichartz estimates give for  $\alpha = 2$ , i.e the Benjamin-Ono equation, the analogue of the well-posedness result of Burg and Planchon [23] and for  $\alpha \in [2,3]$  the analogue of [32].

We turn to the conjugation theorem for  $\alpha \in [2,3[$ .

**Theorem 1.2.4.** Consider two real numbers  $\alpha \in ]2,3[, s \in ]\frac{1}{2} + 2 - \alpha, +\infty[$ . Then there exist T > 0 and r > 0 such that for all  $u_0$  in the ball  $B(0,r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{D})$  there exists a unique  $u \in C([0,T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  solving the Cauchy problem:

$$\partial_t u + i T_{u\xi}^{B,b} u + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ u_0 \in H^s, \ b > 0,$$
 (1.2.13)

where  $B \geq 1 + \frac{1}{3}$  is given by Theorem 7.1.1. The flow map  $v_0 \mapsto v$  is continuous from B(0,r) to  $C([0,T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$ .

Moreover there exists a symbol  $p \in W^{\infty,\infty}_{\tau}([0,\tau], C^1\Gamma^0_1(\mathbb{D}))$ , in the symbol classes with limited regularity in the frequency variable defined in by (7.1.1), such that for its hyperbolic flow map  $(A^{p(\tau,\cdot)}_{\tau})_{\tau=1}$  defined by (5.1.1) we have:

$$\partial_t (A^{p(\tau,\cdot)}_{\tau})_{\tau=1} u + \partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1} (A^{p(\tau,\cdot)}_{\tau})_{\tau=1} u = R_{\infty}(u), \qquad (1.2.14)$$

and there exists a non decreasing functions  $C_s$ , such that  $R_{\infty}(u)$  verifies for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ :

 $||R_{\infty}(u)||_{H^{\mu}} \le C_{\mu}(||u||_{L^{\infty}([0,T], C_{*}^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{D}))}).$ 

- **Remark 1.2.9.** The method used here can be pushed to prove that p is in  $C^k\Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{D})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  for all  $k\in\mathbb{N}$ , with a smaller radius  $r_k > 0$  in Theorem 1.2.4 but without a lower bound on  $r_k$ . We chose to present the computation showing  $p \in C^1\Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{D})$ , which is the minimal regularity required for the definition of  $A_1^p$ .
  - For the KdV equation this gives local well-posedness in H<sup>-1/2</sup>(D) which is the analogue of the result proven in [27] which is well below the optimal well-posedness in H<sup>-1</sup>(D), which on ℝ was recently proved in [46], and in [43] for the periodic case.

#### 1.3 The water waves system

We now give the main results on the water waves system with and without surface tension. We follow here the presentation in [3] and [6].

#### **1.3.1** Assumptions on the domain

We consider a domain with free boundary, of the form:

$$\left\{ (t, x, y) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} : (x, y) \in \Omega_t \right\},\$$

where  $\Omega_t$  is the domain located between a free surface

$$\Sigma_t = \left\{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} : y = \eta(t, x) \right\}$$

and a given (general) bottom denoted by  $\Gamma = \partial \Omega_t \setminus \Sigma_t$ . More precisely we assume that initially (t = 0) we have the hypothesis  $(H_t)$  given by:

• The domain  $\Omega_t$  is the intersection of the half space, denoted by  $\Omega_{1,t}$ , located below the free surface  $\Sigma_t$ ,

$$\Omega_{1,t} = \left\{ (x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} : y < \eta(t,x) \right\}$$
(H<sub>t</sub>)

and an open set  $\Omega_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$  such that  $\Omega_2$  contains a fixed strip around  $\Sigma_t$ , which means that there exists h > 0 such that,

$$\left\{ (x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} : \eta(t,x) - h \le y \le \eta(t,x) \right\} \subset \Omega_2.$$
 (*H*<sub>t</sub>)

We shall assume that the domain  $\Omega_2$  (and hence the domain  $\Omega_t = \Omega_{1,t} \cap \Omega_2$ ) is connected.

#### 1.3.2 The equations

We consider an incompressible inviscid liquid, having unit density. The equations of motion are given by the Euler system on the velocity field v:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + v \cdot \nabla v + \nabla P = -ge_y \\ \operatorname{div} v = 0 \end{cases} \quad \text{in } \Omega_t, \qquad (1.3.1)$$

where  $-ge_y$  is the acceleration of gravity (g > 0) and where the pressure term P can be recovered from the velocity by solving an elliptic equation. The problem is then coupled with the boundary conditions:

$$\begin{cases} v \cdot n = 0 & \text{on } \Gamma, \\ \partial_t \eta = \sqrt{1 + |\nabla \eta|^2} v \cdot \nu & \text{on } \Sigma_t, \\ P = -\kappa H(\eta) & \text{on } \Sigma_t, \end{cases}$$
(1.3.2)

where n and  $\nu$  are the exterior normals to the bottom  $\Gamma$  and the free surface  $\Sigma_t$ ,  $\kappa$  is the surface tension and  $H(\eta)$  is the mean curvature of the free surface:

$$H(\eta) = \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla\eta}{\sqrt{1+|\nabla\eta|^2}}\right).$$

We take  $\kappa = 1$  for the case with surface tension and  $\kappa = 0$  in the case of gravity water waves (without surface tension). The first condition in (1.3.2) expresses the fact that the particles in contact with the rigid bottom remain in contact with it. As no hypothesis is made on the regularity of  $\Gamma$ , this condition is shown to make sense in a weak variational meaning due to the hypothesis  $H_t$ , for more details on this we refer to Section 2 in [3] and Section 3 in [6].

The fluid motion is supposed to be irrotational and  $\Omega_t$  is supposed to be simply connected thus the velocity field v derives from some potential  $\phi$  i.e  $v = \nabla \phi$  and:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \phi = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \partial_n \phi = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma. \end{cases}$$

The boundary condition on  $\phi$  becomes:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_n \phi = 0 & \text{on } \Gamma, \\ \partial_t \eta = \partial_y \phi - \nabla \eta \cdot \nabla \phi & \text{on } \Sigma_t, \\ \partial_t \phi = -g\eta + \kappa H(\eta) - \frac{1}{2} |\nabla_{x,y} \phi|^2 & \text{on } \Sigma_t. \end{cases}$$
(1.3.3)

Following Zakharov [75] and Craig-Sulem [28] we reduce the analysis to a system on the free surface  $\Sigma_t$ . If  $\psi$  is defined by

$$\psi(t, x) = \phi(t, x, \eta(t, x)),$$

then  $\phi$  is the unique variational solution of

$$\Delta \phi = 0$$
 in  $\Omega_t$ ,  $\phi_{|y=\eta} = \psi$ ,  $\partial_n \phi = 0$  on  $\Gamma$ .

Define the Dirichlet-Neumann operator by

$$\begin{aligned} (G(\eta)\psi)(t,x) &= \sqrt{1+|\nabla\eta|^2} \partial_n \phi_{|y=\eta} \\ &= (\partial_y \phi)(t,x,\eta(t,x)) - \nabla\eta(t,x) \cdot (\nabla\phi)(t,x,\eta(t,x)). \end{aligned}$$

For the case with rough bottom we refer to [9], [3] and [6] for the well posedness of the variational problem and the Dirichlet-Neumann operator. Now  $(\eta, \psi)$  (see for example [28]) solves:

$$\partial_t \eta = G(\eta)\psi, \qquad (1.3.4)$$
$$\partial_t \psi = -g\eta + \kappa H(\eta) + \frac{1}{2} \left|\nabla\psi\right|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\nabla\eta \cdot \nabla\psi + G(\eta)\psi}{1 + |\nabla\eta|^2}.$$

#### 1.3.3 Gravity water waves: Pressure and Taylor Coefficients

Here we give a quick review of the ideas in [5]. Recall that by definition for gravity water waves we work with  $\kappa = 0$  and we define the Taylor coefficient

$$a(t,x) = -(\partial_y P)(t,x,\eta(t,x))$$

The stability of the waves is dictated by the Taylor sign condition, which is the assumption that there exists a positive constant c such that

$$a(t,x) \ge c > 0. \tag{1.3.5}$$

In [6] this condition is needed in the proof of the well posedness of the Cauchy problem and it is shown to be locally propagated by the flow.

Now we will show how to define P from the Zakharov formulation. Let R be the variational solution of

$$\Delta R = 0 \text{ in } \Omega_t, \quad R_{|y=\eta} = g\eta + \frac{1}{2} \left| \nabla_{x,y} \phi \right|_{|y=\eta}^2.$$

We define the pressure P in the domain  $\Omega$  by

$$P(t, x, y) = R(t, x, y) - gy - \frac{1}{2} |\nabla_{x,y} \phi(t, x, y)|^2.$$

In [5] Alazard, Burq, and Zuily show that to a solution:

$$(\eta, \psi) \in C([0, T], H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d)),$$

for  $s > \frac{d}{2} + \frac{1}{2}$  of the Zakharov/Craig-Sulem system (1.3.4) corresponds a unique solution v of the Euler system, in the case  $\kappa = 0$ .

#### 1.3.4 Quasi-linearity of the water Wave system

In [3] and [6], Alazard, Burq, and Zuily perform a paralinearization and symmetrization of the the water waves system that takes the form:

$$\partial_t u + T_V \cdot \nabla u + i T_\gamma u = f,$$

where  $\gamma$  is of order  $\frac{3}{2}$  in the case with surface tension and  $\frac{1}{2}$  in the case without. The terms V and  $\gamma$  verify the conditions required by Theorem 4.2.1 and thus the paralinearization of the water-waves system are quasi-linear in the considered thresholds of regularity. From this we will deduce the following two theorems.

First in the case of water waves with surface tension, i.e  $\kappa = 1$ , where the wellposedness of the Cauchy problem is proved in [3] we complete it by the following.

**Theorem 1.3.1.** Fix the dimension  $d \ge 1$  and consider two real numbers r > 0,  $s \in ]2 + \frac{d}{2}, +\infty[$  and  $(\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that

$$\forall (\eta_0', \psi_0') \in B((\eta_0, \psi_0), r) \subset H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

the assumption  $H_{t=0}$  is satisfied. Then there exists T > 0 such that the Cauchy problem (1.3.4) with initial data  $(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \in B((\eta_0, \psi_0), r)$  has a unique solution

$$(\eta', \psi') \in C^0([0, T]; H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$$

and such that the assumption  $H_t$  is satisfied for  $t \in [0, T]$ . Moreover  $\forall R > 0$  the flow map:

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T], H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \mapsto (\eta', \psi')$$

is not uniformly continuous.

We show that at least a loss of  $\frac{1}{2}$  derivative is necessary to have Lipschitz control over the flow map, i.e for all  $\epsilon' > 0$  the flow map

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T], H^{s+\epsilon'}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon'}(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \mapsto (\eta', \psi')$$

is not  $C^1$ .

**Remark 1.3.1.** It is worth noticing that a previous result was obtained on the regularity of the flow map for the two dimensional gravity-capillary water waves (i.e with surface tension) in [26] its proved that the flow is not  $C^3$  with respect to initial data  $(\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^2) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^2)$  for s < 3.

This result is in contrast with our result which holds for s > 3 and this can indeed be seen in the fact that in [26] the lack of regularity of the flow is shown to be primarily due to the influence of surface tension. Though in our work the lack of regularity of the flow is shown to be due to the hydrodynamic term (the non-linear transport term). Now we turn to gravity water waves, i.e  $\kappa = 0$  where the well posedness of the Cauchy problem is proved in [6]. It is well known that the vertical and horizon-tal traces of the velocity on the free boundary play an important role in the well posedness of the Cauchy problem and are given by:

$$B = (\partial_y \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \frac{\nabla \eta \cdot \nabla \psi + G(\eta)\psi}{1 + |\nabla \eta|^2}, \qquad (1.3.6)$$
$$V = (\nabla_x \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \nabla \psi - B \nabla \eta.$$

**Theorem 1.3.2.** Fix the dimension  $d \ge 1$  and consider two real numbers r > 0,  $s \in ]2 + \frac{d}{2}, +\infty[^1 \text{ and } (\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ and consider}$ 

$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \in B((\eta_0, \psi_0), r) \subset H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

such that we have:

- 1.  $V'_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d), \ B'_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d),$
- 2.  $H_{t=0}$  is satisfied,
- 3. there exists a positive constant c such that,  $\forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d, a'_0(x) \ge c > 0$  (see (1.3.5)).

We denote the set of such  $(\eta'_0, \psi'_0)$  by  $I_r$ . Then there exists T > 0 such that the Cauchy problem (1.3.4) with initial data  $(\eta'_0, \psi'_0)$  has a unique solution

$$(\eta', \psi') \in C^0([0, T]; H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d))$$

such that for  $t \in [0,T]$  the assumption  $H_t$  is satisfied,  $\forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d, a'(t,x) \geq \frac{c}{2}$  and

$$(V', B') \in C^0([0, T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)).$$

Moreover  $\forall R > 0$ , the flow map:

$$I_r \to C([0,T], H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \mapsto (\eta', \psi')$$

is not uniformly continuous.

Considering a weaker control norm we get: For all  $\epsilon' > 0$ , the flow map:

$$I_r \to C([0,T], H^{s-\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon'}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon'}(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \mapsto (\eta', \psi')$$

is not  $C^1$ .

**Remark 1.3.2.** The previous results for the water waves on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  extend to  $\mathbb{T}^d$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Here we are slightly above the threshold of well-posedness of  $1 + \frac{d}{2}$  proved in [6].

#### 1.3.5 Exact regularity of the flow map of the 2d Gravity Capillary equation

We consider the case when d = 1 and  $\eta$ ,  $\psi$  are  $2\pi$ -periodic in the space variable x. Then Theorem 1.3.1 is completed by the following:

**Theorem 1.3.3.** Consider two real numbers r > 0,  $s \in ]3 + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[$  and  $(\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}) \times H^s(\mathbb{T})$  such that,

$$\forall (\eta_0', \psi_0') \in B((\eta_0, \psi_0), r) \subset H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}) \times H^s(\mathbb{T})$$

the assumption  $H_{t=0}$  is satisfied. Define  $(\eta, \psi)$  and  $(\eta', \psi')$  as the solutions to the Cauchy problem (1.3.4) on [0,T], T > 0. Define the following change of variables:

$$\chi(t,x) = \int_0^x \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2}} dy - \int_0^t \int_{\Sigma} \left[ \frac{1}{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2} + \partial_x \phi \right] d\Sigma$$
(1.3.7)  
$$= \int_0^x \sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2} dy - \int_0^t \int_0^{2\pi} \left[ \frac{1}{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2} + \partial_x \phi \right] \sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta)^2} dy,$$

and  $\chi'$  is defined analogously from  $(\eta', \psi')$ .

Then for r sufficiently small and  $t \in [0, T]$  we have:

$$\left\| (\eta, \psi)^* - (\eta', \psi')^{*'}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^s \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} \le C( \left\| (\eta_0, \psi_0, \eta'_0, \psi'_0) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s}) \left\| (\eta_0, \psi_0)^* - (\eta'_0, \psi'_0)^{*'} \right\|_{H^s \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}},$$
(1.3.8)

where \* and \*' are the paracomposition by  $\chi$  and  $\chi'$ , which we recall it's definition in 3.4.

**Remark 1.3.3.** The time integral in the re-normalization 1.3.7 is to insure that the mean value of the transport term vanishes. This re-normalization is needed here to compensate the non-linearity in the dispersive term of order  $\frac{3}{2}$  here.

### 1.4 Paradifferential calculus

The paradifferential approach in microlocal analysis was introduced by Bony [15, 16, 18, 19], see also Meyer [54], Hörmander [36], Metivier [53], Alinhac [10, 11], Taylor [73, 74], Bahouri, Chemin and Danchin [12].

#### **1.4.1** Pseudodifferential operators

First let us introduce broadly speaking pseudodifferential operators, following the symbolic approach (see for example Hörmander [35, 36]), the goal is to mimic the construction around regular differential operators:

$$a(x,\xi) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} a_{\alpha}(x)(i\xi)^{\alpha}, \ a_{\alpha} \in C_b^{\infty}.$$

Taking an operator T on  $\mathscr{S}'$ , it is said to be a pseudodifferential operator if the there exists a regular function (i.e  $C^{\infty}$ ) a, called the symbol of T, such that:

$$T(e^{ix\xi}) = a(x,\xi)e^{ix\xi}, \ \forall \alpha, \beta, \left|\partial_x^{\alpha}\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)\right| \le C_{\alpha,\beta}(1+|\xi|)^{m-\beta}.$$
(1.4.1)

To a symbol a the process that associates to it an operator Op(a) is called quantization, there are several possible quantizations which are analogous to (1.4.1), as for example for the Weil quantization, see for example [19] for more details on the possible choices of quantization. In this thesis we will only work with Bony's quantization (1.4.1).

Pseudodifferential calculus is the understanding of the different properties of Op(a) such as products, adjoints, continuity on different functional spaces etc.

#### **1.4.2** Paradifferential operators

The initial goal of paradifferential calculus was to study the propagation of singularities for nonlinear equations and thus one needed a more flexible notion than pseudodifferential calculus that includes symbols with limited regularity in the space variable.

#### 1.4.2.1 Paraproducts

The key observation by Bony is the following, using the Fourier inversion formula for the product of two functions:

$$f(x)g(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2d}} \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{ix \cdot (\xi_1 + \xi_2)} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_1) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_2) d\xi_1 d\xi_2$$
(1.4.2)

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2d}} \int \int_{|\xi_1 + \xi_2| \sim |\xi_2|} e^{ix \cdot (\xi_1 + \xi_2)} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_1) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_2) d\xi_1 d\xi_2 \qquad (1.4.3)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2d}} \int \int_{|\xi_1 + \xi_2| \sim |\xi_1|} e^{ix \cdot (\xi_1 + \xi_2)} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_1) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_2) d\xi_1 d\xi_2 + \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2d}} \int \int_{|\xi_1| \sim |\xi_2|} e^{ix \cdot (\xi_1 + \xi_2)} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_1) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_2) d\xi_1 d\xi_2 = T_f g + T_q f + R(f, g),$$
(1.4.4)

Then Bony proved that for  $f \in L^{\infty}$ ,  $T_f$  is continuous from  $H^s$  to  $H^s$  for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ which for is not the case of fg indeed for  $g \in H^s$  and s large for fg to be in  $H^s$  it is necessary that  $f \in H^s$ .

The operator  $T_f g$  is called the paraproduct of f and g and can be interpreted as follows. Loosely speaking, the term  $T_f g$  takes into play high frequencies of gcompared to those of f and demands more regularity in  $g \in H^s$  than  $f \in L^\infty$ thus the term  $T_f g$  bears the "singularities" brought on by g in the product fg. Symmetrically  $T_g f$  bears the "singularities" brought on by f in the product fg. The second key observation by Bony is that the remainder R is a smoother function  $(H^{2s-\frac{d}{2}})$  for s > 0.

#### A heuristic interpretation of Paraproduct

A very useful and instructive heuristic to the notion of paraproducts was given by Shnirelman in [70]. For the sake of this discussion let us pretend that  $\partial_x$  is leftinvertible with a choice of  $\partial_x^{-1}$  that acts continuously from  $H^s$  to  $H^{s+1}$ .

Another way to define the paraproduct of two functions  $f, g \in H^s$  with s sufficiently large is: we differentiate fg k times, using the Leibniz formula, and then restore the function fg by the k-th power of  $\partial_x^{-1}$ :

$$fg = \partial_x^{-k} \partial_x^k (fg)$$
  
=  $\partial_x^{-k} (g \partial_x^k f + k \partial_x g \partial_x^{k-1} f + \dots + k \partial_x f \partial_x^{k-1} g + g \partial_x^k f)$   
=  $T_a f + T_f g + R,$ 

where,

$$T_g f = \partial_x^{-k} (g \partial_x^k f), \quad T_f g = \partial_x^{-k} (f \partial_x^k g),$$

and R is the sum of all remaining terms.

The key observation is that if  $s > \frac{1}{2} + k$ , then  $g \mapsto T_f g$  is a continuous operator in  $H^s$  for  $f \in H^{s-k}$ . The remainder R is a continuous bilinear operator from  $H^s$  to  $H^{s+1}$ .

The operator  $T_f g$  is then called the paraproduct of g and f and can be interpreted as follows. Again the term  $T_f g$  takes into play high frequencies of g compared to those of f and demands more regularity in  $g \in H^s$  than  $f \in H^{s-k}$  thus the term  $T_f g$  bears the "singularities" brought on by g in the product fg. Symmetrically  $T_g f$ bears the "singularities" brought on by f in the product fg and the remainder Ris a smoother function  $(H^{s+1})$  and does not contribute to the main singularities of the product.

#### 1.4.2.2 Cutoff functions

To formalize the computations above, we introduce a cut-off functions. Let  $\psi$  be a regular function with support bounded away from  $(\eta, 0)$  and  $(-\eta, \eta)$  at infinity. Then the terms in (1.4.3) and (1.4.4) can be formalized by writing:

$$T_{f}g = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \psi(\xi_{1},\xi_{2})e^{ix \cdot (\xi_{1}+\xi_{2})}\mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_{1})\mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_{2})d\xi_{1}d\xi_{2},$$
$$T_{g}f = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \psi(\xi_{2},\xi_{1})e^{ix \cdot (\xi_{1}+\xi_{2})}\mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_{1})\mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_{2})d\xi_{1}d\xi_{2},$$
$$R(f,g) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} (1-\psi(\xi_{1},\xi_{2})-\psi(\xi_{2},\xi_{1}))e^{ix \cdot (\xi_{1}+\xi_{2})}\mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_{1})\mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_{2})d\xi_{1}d\xi_{2}.$$

More generally, given a symbol a and a cut-off  $\psi$  we define the paradifferential operator:

$$T_a^{\psi} = \operatorname{Op}(\sigma_a^{\psi}), \text{ where } \mathscr{F}_x \sigma_a^{\psi}(\xi, \eta) = \psi(\xi, \eta) \mathscr{F}_x a(\xi, \eta),$$

and  $\mathscr{F}_x$  is the Fourier transform with respect to the spacial variable x. Paradifferential calculus is the understanding of the different properties of  $T_a^{\psi}$  such as products, adjoints, continuity on different functional spaces etc.

The main two types of regularization through cutoffs,  $(\psi_H^B)_{B>2}$  found in the literature are defined by Hörmander in [36]:

$$\psi_{H}^{B}(\eta,\xi) = 0 \text{ when } \begin{cases} |\eta| > B(|\xi|+1), \\ |\xi| > B(|\eta+\xi|+1), \end{cases} \text{ and } \psi_{H}^{B}(\eta,\xi) = 1 \text{ when } |\xi| > B(|\eta|+1), \end{cases}$$
(1.4.5)

and  $(\psi_M^{\epsilon})_{\epsilon<1}$  defined by Métivier in [53]:

$$\psi_{H}^{B}(\eta,\xi) = 0$$
 when  $|\eta| \ge \epsilon(|\xi|+1)$ , and  $\psi_{H}^{B}(\eta,\xi) = 1$  when  $|\eta| \le \frac{\epsilon}{2}(|\xi|+1)$ . (1.4.6)

The figures 1.1 and 1.2 illustrate the choice of cutoff functions in the plane  $(\xi, \eta)$  when d = 1.



Figure 1.1: Hörmander's choice of cut-off function  $(\psi_H^B)_{B>2}$ .



Figure 1.2: Métivier choice of cut-off function  $(\psi_M^{\epsilon})_{\epsilon < 1}$ .

#### 1.4.2.3 Cutoff of the composition of paradifferential operators

In [63] we study the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff type formula for commutation and conjugation of paradifferential operators by the flow map associated to a hyperbolic paradifferential equation. For this we need to study what happens to the frequency cutoff when composing two paradifferential operators.

The effect of the composition on the support of cutoff is seen by the following:

$$\sigma_a^{\psi_M^{\epsilon}} \circ \sigma_a^{\psi_M^{\epsilon}} = \sigma_{\sigma_a^{\psi_M^{\epsilon}} \otimes \sigma_a^{\psi_M^{\epsilon}}}^{\psi_M^{2\epsilon+\epsilon^2}} \text{ and } \sigma_a^{\psi_H^{B}} \circ \sigma_a^{\psi_H^{B}} = \sigma_{\sigma_a^{\psi_H^{B}} \otimes \sigma_a^{\psi_H^{B}}}^{B^{2\epsilon+\epsilon^2}}.$$

where  $\sigma_a^{\psi} \otimes \sigma_a^{\psi}$  is given by:

$$\sigma_a^{\psi} \otimes \sigma_a^{\psi}(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} e^{i(x-y).(\xi-\eta)} \sigma_a^{\psi} \otimes (x,\eta) \sigma_a^{\psi} \otimes (y,\xi) dy d\eta.$$

Thus the composition of two paradifferential operators with cutoffs  $(\psi_H^B)_{B>2}$ and  $(\psi_M^{\epsilon})_{\epsilon<1}$  are still paradifferential operators but with worse cutoffs  $(\psi_H^{B})_{B>2}$ and  $\psi_M^{2\epsilon+\epsilon^2}$ . This is not a problem when considering a finite number of composition of paradifferential operators but it becomes crucial if one for example needs to understand the limit of the series, for example  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(T_a)^k}{k!}$ . The k-th order term of such a sum has the cutoffs with parameters  $\sim 2^k \epsilon$  and  $\sim \frac{B}{2^k}$  which are no longer paradifferential operators when the conditions  $\frac{B}{2^k} > 2$  and  $2^k \epsilon > 1$  are no longer verified.

To remedy this we introduce a special class of cutoffs  $(\psi^{B,b})_{B>1,b>0}$ , which is included in a modified version of the Hörmader class of cutoffs:

$$\psi^{B,b}(\eta,\xi) = 0 \text{ when } |\xi| < B |\eta| + b, \text{ and } \psi^{B,b}(\eta,\xi) = 1 \text{ when } |\xi| > B |\eta| + b + 1.$$
(1.4.7)

In the plane  $(\eta, \xi)$ , when d = 1, this is illustrated by the following figure:



Figure 1.3: The choice of cut-off function  $(\psi^{B,b})_{B>1,b>0}, d = 1.$ 

We then prove the following sharp estimate on the support of those cutoffs:

$$\sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}}\circ\sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}}=\sigma_{\sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}}\otimes\sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}}\otimes\sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}}}^{\psi^{B,b}}$$

Thus the composition of two paradifferential operators with this new class of cutoffs is still a paradifferential operator but with a slightly worse cutoff  $\psi^{\frac{B^2}{2B-1},b}$ . The gain from the following new cutoff family can be illustrated in the following, if

$$f(B) = \frac{B^2}{2B - 1}$$

then f composed k times with itself converges to 1 when k goes to  $+\infty$  for B > 1.



Figure 1.4: The cut-off function  $(\psi^{1,b})_{B>1,b>0}$ .

The regularization by the cutoff  $\sigma^{\psi^{1,b}}_{\cdot}$  posses all of the same properties as  $(\psi^B_H)_{B>2}$ and  $(\psi^{\epsilon}_M)_{\epsilon<1}$  except their action on functions whose spectrum is located outside a ball:

$$\operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}_x(f) \subset B(0,R) \Rightarrow \operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}_x(\sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}}f) \subset B(0,2R-b),$$
$$\operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}_x(f) \subset \{|\xi| \ge R\} \Rightarrow \operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}_x(\sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}}f) \subset \{|\xi| \ge 1\}.$$

The paradifferential operators with this cutoff,  $T_a^{\psi^{1,b}}$ , will be shown to verify all of the standard calculus properties but their continuity will be reduced to spaces  $H^s, s > 0$ . Thus in comparison with the other cutoffs,  $(\psi_H^B)_{B>2}$ ,  $(\psi_M^\epsilon)_{\epsilon<1}$  and  $(\psi^{B,b})_{B>1,b>0}$ , we only lose the continuity for  $s \leq 0$ . An interesting application to this new cutoff is following.

**Corollary 1.4.1.** Consider four real numbers  $\beta \leq 0$ , s > 0, B > 1, b > 0, and symbol  $a \in \Gamma_0^{\beta}$ . Then  $T_a^{\psi^{B,b}} \in \mathscr{L}(H^s)$  which is a Banach algebra, thus  $e^{T_a^{\psi^{B,b}}} \in \mathscr{L}(H^s)$  is well defined. Moreover there exists a symbol  $\exp(a) \in \Gamma_0^{\beta}$  such that:

$$e^{T_a^{\psi^{B,b}}} = Id - T_1 + T_{\exp(a)}^{\psi^{1,b}} \text{ in } \mathscr{L}(H^s).$$

#### 1.4.2.4 Paracomposition

In [10] Alinhac constructed an operator, called the paracomposition operator such that given a  $\rho > 0$  and  $C^{1+\rho}$  diffeomorphism  $\chi : \Omega_1 \to \Omega_2$  between two open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , then the paracomposition by  $\chi$  is an operator  $\chi^* : \mathfrak{D}'(\Omega_2) \to \mathfrak{D}'(\Omega_1)$  having

analogous properties to the usual composition  $u \to u \circ \chi$  but with limited dependency on the regularity of  $\chi$  as for classical paradifferential operators i.e the paraproduct  $T_a$  is well defined from  $H^s \to H^s$ , for all s for a merely in  $L^{\infty}$ .

Alinhac's construction was motivated by questions that arose from the study of non linear PDEs for example: the study of the transport of a distribution's wave front by a diffeomorphism with low regularity as in the works of E. Leichtnam in [51], the study of the singularities of solutions to semi-linear hyperbolic evolution problems and the characteristic surfaces of the associated operators (here having low regularity), the main reference being Bony's work on the subject ([16],[15],[17],[18]). More recently in [3] and [6], the Paracomposition appears naturally as the "good variable"<sup>2</sup> after a low regularity change of variable in treating the Cauchy problem for the Water Waves system with rough data. It will also appear in our proof of the quasi-linearity of the Water Waves system [62].

Finally the construction of  $\chi^*$  gives a complete linearization formula to the composition of two functions (with one being a diffeomorphism) generalizing the classic para-linearization Theorem by Bony [16] in a low regularity case.

Bony showed that for  $u \in C^{\infty}$  and  $\chi \in H^s_{loc}$ ,  $s > \frac{d}{2}$  (without the diffeomorphism hypothesis):

$$u \circ \chi = T_{u'(\chi)}\chi + \text{ remainder},$$

and Alinhac showed for  $u \in C^{\sigma}_{loc}, \sigma > 1$  and  $\chi \in C^{1+\rho}, \rho > 0$  a diffeomorphism:

$$u \circ \chi = \chi^* u + T_{u'(\chi)} \chi + \text{ remainder.}$$
 (1.4.8)

Another fundamental result obtained by Alinhac is that the operator  $\chi^*$  benefits from symbolic calculus properties, that is, it conjugates paradifferential operators. Given  $T_h$  a paradifferential operator, Alinhac proved a result in the form:

$$\chi^* T_h u = T_{h^*} \chi^* u +$$
remainder,

where  $h^*$  is the pulled back symbol in the case of diffeomorphisms.

The main result in this thesis on paracomposition generalizes Bony's and Alinhac's work by:

- dropping the diffeomorphism hypothesis with a new operator  $\chi^* : \mathfrak{D}'(\Omega_2) \to \mathfrak{D}'(\Omega_1)$ .  $\chi^*$  will coincide with Alinhac's operator  $\chi^*$  modulo a regular remainder in the case of diffeomorphisms.
- Giving estimates in global spaces instead of local spaces.

We will then show that  $\chi^*$  benefits of symbolic calculus properties, for that we will start by discussing the pull-back of pseudodifferential and paradifferential operators by  $\chi$  which then become Fourier integral operators. In this discussion we show that those Fourier Integral Operators obtained by pull-back are pseudodifferential or paradifferential operators if and only if they are pulled-back by a diffeomorphism i.e a change of variable. We also give a proof to the change of variables in paradifferential operators as we could not find a reference in the literature.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The so called good unknown of Alinhac.

#### A heuristic interpretation of Paracomposition

We again work with  $f \in H^s$  and  $g \in C^s$  with s large and consider the composition of two functions  $f \circ g$  which bears the singularities of both f and g, and our goal is to separate them. We proceed as before by differentiating  $f \circ g k$  times, using the Faá di Bruno's formula, and then restore the function fg by the k-th power of  $\partial_x^{-1}$ :

$$f \circ g = \partial_x^{-k} \partial_x^k (f \circ g)$$
  
=  $\partial_x^{-k} ((\partial_x^k f \circ g) \cdot (\partial_x g)^k + \dots + (\partial_x f \circ g) \cdot \partial_x^k g)$   
=  $g^* f + T_{\partial_x f \circ g} g + R,$ 

where,

 $g^*f = \partial_x^{-k} \left( (\partial_x^k f \circ g) \cdot (\partial_x g)^k \right)$  is the paracomposition of f by g

and R is the sum of all remaining terms.

Again the key observation is that if  $s > \frac{1}{2} + k$ , then  $f \mapsto g^* f$  is a continuous operator in  $H^s$  for  $g \in C^{s-k}$ . Thus this term bears essentially the singularities of f in  $f \circ g$ . As before  $T_{\partial_x f \circ g}g$  bears essentially the singularities of g in  $f \circ g$ . The remainder R is a continuous bilinear operator from  $H^s$  to  $H^{s+1}$ . Thus we have separated the singularities of the composition  $f \circ g$ .

#### A heuristic interpretation of change of variable in Paradifferential operators

From what we have seen previously it seems likely that the adequate change of variables for paradifferential operators is one that comes from commuting with the paracomposition by a diffeomorphism. We carry on the previous computation with the trivial paradifferential operator  $\partial_x \sim T_{i\xi}$  and we suppose moreover that g is a diffeomorphism.

$$g^* \partial_x f = \partial_x^{-k} \left( (\partial_x^{k+1} f \circ g) \cdot (\partial_x g)^k \right) = \partial_x^{-k} \left( \partial_x^k [\partial_x^{-k} (\partial_x^{k+1} f \circ g) \cdot (\partial_x g)^{k+1}] \cdot (\partial_x g)^{-1} \right) \sim T_{(\partial_x g)^{-1}} T_{i\xi} g^* f,$$

and we notice that  $(\partial_x g)^{-1} i\xi = (\partial_x)^*$  is the usual pull-back formula for pseudodifferential symbols by a diffeomorphism g, giving us the desired symbolic calculus rules.

#### 1.4.3 An application of the paracomposition operator

Now that we have global spaces estimates on the paracomposition operator and the paralinearization formula (1.4.8), let us give some examples of applications to the study of composition in Sobolev spaces with limited regularity. The literature on this problem is rich and we focus on two recent articles treating this subject [13] and [41], in which the authors study composition in Sobolev spaces and the geometry of diffeomorphisms groups on manifolds. We will limit the discussion here to the Euclidean space in which the tools presented here significantly improve upon the

results from [13] and [41]. First in [41] the composition estimates are proven on  $H^n(\mathbb{R}^d) \times D^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $s > 1 + \frac{d}{2}$  an integer and

$$D^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) = \left\{ \psi - id \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \psi \text{ is a diffeomorphism} \right\}.$$

Here we generalize this to n, s real number and from the paralinearization formula (1.4.8) it is justified to work in the class  $D^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  which appears naturally but it admits several generalization. The simplest one is for example using Zygmund spaces. We also clarify the need of the diffeomorphism hypothesis. More precisely we have the following,

**Corollary 1.4.2.** Consider two real numbers  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\rho \in R^*_+ \setminus \mathbb{N}$ , and take  $\phi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and consider  $\chi \in W^{1+\rho,\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  a diffeomorphism such that  $D\chi \in W^{\rho,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then  $\phi \circ \chi \in H^{min(s,\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

The result we have is even stronger indeed it's a Kato-Ponce like decomposition of the different terms that appear in the  $H^s$  estimates of composition, for example keeping the notations of the previous Corollary and taking  $\psi \in D^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  we can have estimates of the form:

$$\|\phi \circ \psi\|_{H^s} \le \|D\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\psi\|_{H^s} + \|D\phi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\psi - Id\|_{H^s}$$

So if we were only working with Sobolev spaces more sophisticated versions of the previous inequality give,

**Corollary 1.4.3.** Consider a real number  $s > 1 + \frac{d}{2}$ , and take  $\phi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and consider  $\chi \in W^{1+s-\frac{d}{2},\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  a diffeomorphism such that  $D\chi \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $D^2\chi \in H^{s-2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then  $\phi \circ \chi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Secondly in [13] to prove the well posedness of EPDIFF equation the authors treat the case of change of variables in pseudodifferential operator with a diffeomorphism with limited regularity. The results obtained were restricted to skewsymmetric operators with compact support and a diffeomorphism in the class  $D^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Our analysis of such a change of variable shows that the correct category in which the pull back of a pseudodifferential operator by a diffeomorphism with limited regularity is that of paradifferential operators. Thus here the more general case of symbols with limited regularity is treated, the pseudodifferential symbols being the the case where the symbols are regular, the ellipticity and symmetry hypothesis dropped and the need of diffeomorphisms when making the change of variable justified. More precisely we have

**Corollary 1.4.4.** Consider a real number  $r, A \in S^r(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\chi \in W^{1+s-\frac{d}{2},\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ a diffeomorphism such that  $D\chi \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $D^2\chi \in H^{s-2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Then the pull back  $A^*$  of A by  $\chi$  defined as

$$u \in \mathscr{S}, A^*u = [A(u \circ \chi)] \circ \chi^{-1},$$

is extended to a linear bounded operator from  $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  to  $H^{s-r}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ .

### 1.5 Sketch of the different strategies on the model problem

In this section we will give the sketch of the proofs for the main Theorems 1.2.1, 1.2.2, 1.2.3 and 1.2.4 on the dispersive Burgers equation.

#### 1.5.1 Sketch of the proof of Theorem 1.2.1

The point of start is to adapt the classic proof of the quasi-linearity of the Burgers equation, presented to me in a personal note of C. Zuily [76], that we will recall here.

#### 1.5.1.1 Quasi-linearity of the Burgers equation

The result of quasi-linearity of the Burgers equation is that the flow map taken point-wise in time fails to be uniformly continuous. Such a result is obtained by constructing two families of solutions u and v from some initial data  $u^0$  and  $v^0$ depending on parameters  $\lambda$  and  $\epsilon$  such that

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty \\ \epsilon \to 0}} \left\| u^0 - v^0 \right\|_{H^s} = 0 \text{ and } \| (u - v)(t, \cdot) \|_{H^s} \ge c > 0, \text{ with } t > 0.$$

To show how to construct such families we start by recalling the usual geometric construction of the graph of a function  $u(t, \cdot)$  solution to the Burgers equation with initial data  $u^0$ . Put

$$\chi(t,x) = x + tu^0(x)$$

the characteristic flow associated to the problem, which is a diffeomorphism in the x variable. Then,

$$u(t, \cdot) = u^0 \circ \chi^{-1}(t, x).$$

The action of  $\chi^{-1}$  on the graph of  $u^0$  is given by the Figure 1.5 below that also shows the shock formation phenomena.

Then  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  are chosen as a high frequency compactly supported ansatz depending on  $(\lambda, \epsilon)$ :

$$u^0(x) = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}-s}\omega(\lambda x), \quad v^0(x) = u^0(x) + \epsilon\omega(x), \quad \text{with} \quad \omega \in C_0^{\infty},$$

where  $\epsilon$  represents a change in the initial speed of transport, and  $(\epsilon, \lambda)$  verify:

- $\epsilon \to 0$  insuring that the difference in the  $H^s$  norm of the sequences of initial data goes to 0.
- $\lambda \to +\infty$  is the usual ansatz parameter hypothesis.
- $\epsilon \lambda \rightarrow +\infty$  insuring that the change of transport speed is enough to have disjoint supports at positive time.

Now if we put  $\chi$  and  $\tilde{\chi}$  to be the characteristic flows associated to the solutions  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  then:

$$(u-v)(t,x) = u^{0}(\chi^{-1}(t,x)) - v^{0}(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t,x))$$
  
=  $u^{0}(\chi^{-1}(t,x)) - u^{0}(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t,x)) + O_{H^{s}}(\epsilon).$ 



Figure 1.5: The lines (1) and (2) are the characteristic curves from  $Q_0^{in}$  and  $P_0^{in}$ . T is the time of formation of the shock wave.



Figure 1.6: Graph of the ansatz.

Then using the compactly supported property of  $u^0$  and the change of speed we prove that  $u^0(\chi^{-1}(t,x))$  and  $u^0(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t,x))$  have disjoint supports which is illustrated by Figure 1.7. We then prove that  $\|u^0(\chi^{-1}(t,x))\|_{H^s} \ge c > 0$  which finishes the proof of the non uniform continuity of the flow map. For the control in a weaker norm, that is the flow map cannot be  $C^1(H^s(\mathbb{D}), C^0([0,T], H^{s-1+\epsilon}(\mathbb{D})))$ , we get it


Figure 1.7: Transport of the ansatz.

from the estimate  $\|u^0(\chi(t,x)^{-1})\|_{H^{s-\mu}} \ge c\lambda^{-\mu}$ .

## 1.5.1.2 Quasi-linearity of problem (1.2.2)

Now if we adapt the proof to our current problem (1.2.2) we get:

$$(u-v)(t,x) = f(t,\chi(t,x)^{-1}) - g(t,\tilde{\chi}(t,x)^{-1}) = f(t,\chi(t,x)^{-1}) - f(t,\tilde{\chi}(t,x)^{-1}) + O_{H^s}(\epsilon + t^2\epsilon\lambda^{\alpha}),$$

where f and g are solutions to

$$\partial_t f + (\partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1})^* f = 0 \tag{1.5.1}$$

$$\partial_t g + \left(\partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1}\right)^* g = 0 \tag{1.5.2}$$

and  $(\cdot)^*$  and  $\widetilde{(\cdot)}^*$  are the change of variables by the characteristic flows defined for a symbol *a* by

$$Op(a)^*(u \circ \chi) = (Op(a)u) \circ \chi \text{ i.e } Op(a)^*(u) = (Op(a)[u \circ \chi^{-1}]) \circ \chi,$$

and analogously for  $\widetilde{(\cdot)}^*$ . The pulled back equations (1.5.1) and (1.5.2) are shown to be well posed in Appendix 4.5.

The first immediate problem we face is the extra term  $t^2 \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha}$  which diverges. To remedy this problem, we give up wanting to control of the flow map punctually with a fixed time t and use a conveniently chosen sequence of small time ( $\tau$ ) to control  $\tau^2 \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha}$ :

$$\tau \to 0$$
 and  $\lambda \epsilon \tau \to +\infty$ .

The second, deeper problem we face is that we lose control over the support of the solution. Indeed (1.5.1) and (1.5.2) are obtained by pull-back of the linear equation

$$\partial_t w + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} w = 0 \tag{1.5.3}$$

which is a non local-dispersive equation that is expected to disperse the support of the solution and the  $L^{\infty}$  norm. This phenomena is thus expected to oppose the phenomena illustrated by the previous Figures (1.5) and (1.6) and indeed does so for the KdV equation on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

To remedy this, the idea is not to use  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  as initial data but by profiting of the time reversibility <sup>3</sup> of the equations use the backward in time solutions  $u^1$ and  $v^1$  defined by:

$$\begin{cases} \omega \text{ solution of } (1.5.3), \\ \omega(\tau, \cdot) = u^0, \\ \omega(0, \cdot) = u^1, \end{cases} \qquad \begin{cases} \omega' \text{ solution of } (1.5.3), \\ \omega'(\tau, \cdot) = v^0, \\ \omega'(0, \cdot) = v^1. \end{cases}$$

This gives us:

$$(u-v)(\tau,x) = u^{0}(\chi^{-1}(t,x)) - u^{0}(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t,x)) + O_{H^{s}}(\epsilon + \tau^{2}\epsilon\lambda^{\alpha} + \tau^{2}\lambda^{\alpha-1}).$$

We then prove that this gives the desired result, in the threshold  $\alpha \in [0, 2[$ , by proving analogously to the Burgers equation:  $\|u^0(\chi^{-1}(t, x))\|_{H^s} \ge c > 0$  and then using the compactly supported property of  $u^0$  and the change of speed we prove that  $u^0(\chi^{-1}(t, x))$  and  $u^0(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t, x))$  have disjoint supports.

## 1.5.2 Sketch of the proof of Theorem 1.2.2

For Theorem 1.2.2, we first work on  $H_0^s$  and the main idea is to conjugate (1.2.2) to a semi-linear dispersive equation of the form:

$$\partial_t w + |D|^{\alpha - 1} \partial_x w = Ru,$$

where R is continuous from  $H^s$  to itself. For the viscous Burgers equation such a result is obtained by the Cole-Hopf transformation that reduces the problem to a one dimensional heat equation. In [72], Tao used a complex version of the Cole-Hopf transformation to reduce the problem on the Benjamin-Ono equation to a one dimensional Schrödinger type equation, this idea was extensively used to lower the regularity needed for the well-posedness of the Cauchy problem as in Molinet's work in [56]. A generalized pseudodifferential form of this transformation was used in [7] to reduce the one dimensional water waves system to a one dimensional semi-linear Schrödinger type system.

Formally if we follow the same lines of those previous papers, the transformation we will have to use is a pseudodifferential transformation of the form:

$$\begin{cases} w = \operatorname{Op}(a)u, \\ a = e^{\frac{1}{i\alpha}\xi|\xi|^{1-\alpha}U}, \end{cases}$$
(1.5.4)

where U is a real valued periodic primitive of u (that is  $\partial_x U = u$ ), that exists because u has mean value 0.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This idea fundamentally depends on the local reversibility in time of the linearised equations and thus fails for the fractional Burgers equation.

The main problem is that such an operator belongs to a Hörmander symbol class of the form  $S^0_{\alpha-1,2-\alpha}$ , which for  $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$  becomes  $S^0_{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}$  which is a "bad" symbol class with no general symbolic calculus rules. Thus we have to treat this transformation with care.

The idea here is inspired by the particular form of the formal computation, we express the desired operator as the time one of a flow map associated to a hyperbolic equation, i.e  $a = A_1$  where  $(A_{\tau})_{\tau \in \mathbb{R}}$  is defined as the group generated by the paradifferential operator  $iT_p$  where p is a real valued symbol of order smaller than 1. This is inspired by previous results of Alazard, Baldi and P.Gérard [2].

Take a different operator  $T_b$ . The main new idea is to apply a Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula. Formally this allows one to express  $A_{\tau}T_bA_{-\tau}$  as a series of successive Lie derivatives  $[iT_p, \dots, [iT_p, T_b] \dots]$ . The same kind of computations go for  $[A_{\tau}, T_b]$ . The convergence of such a series is a non trivial problem, equivalent to solving a linear ODE in the Fréchet space of paradifferential symbol classes  $\Gamma^m_{+\infty}$ defined in Appendix 3.2.3. Such an ODE is not generally well posed and to solve such a problem one usually has to look at a Nash-Moser type scheme. Though in our case we have an explicit ODE that can be solved locally with loss of derivative thus inspired by Hörmander's [37] and Beals in [14], we prove the existence of a symbol  $b^{\tau}$ such that  $A_{\tau}T_bA_{-\tau} = T_{b^{\tau}}$ , moreover  $b^{\tau}$  is shown to have the asymptotic expansion given by the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula. The use of paradifferential operators is key here, as in Hörmander's [37], because the continuity of paradifferential operators given by Theorem 3.2.3 insures that we do not need to control an infinite number of semi-norms as would have been the case for pseudodifferential operators.

Finally the transformation defined in this way helps us to reduce the transport term of order 1 to a term of order  $2 - \alpha$  which is enough for our problem.

Passing from  $H_0^s$  to  $H^s$  we use the following gauge transform:

$$\tilde{u}(t,x) = u(t,x-t \oint u_0) - \int u_0$$
, where  $\frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}|} \int_{\mathbb{T}} = \int$ ,

which we prove is continuous on  $H^s$  but not uniformly continuous and  $C^1$  only from  $H^s$  to  $H^{s-1}$ .

For the Gravity-Capillary equation the problem is more delicate. Indeed the model problems we studied are for the system after paralinearization and symmetrization. First the change of variable from the original system to the paralinearized and symmetrized one is known to be Lipschitz on  $H^s$  for  $s > 2 + \frac{1}{2}$ . Thus the problem is indeed reduced to the study of the flow map regularity of an equation of the form

$$\partial_t u + T_V \partial_x u + i T_\gamma u = f.$$

In the same spirit as [7, 1] we perform a para-change of variable, i.e we para-compose with  $\chi$  defined by (1.3.7), to get:

$$\partial_t [u^*] + T_W \partial_x u^* + i T_{|\xi|^{\frac{3}{2}}} u^* = f, \text{ with } \int_{\mathbb{T}} W = 0.$$

We then proceed exactly as for Equation (1.2.2) (with the 0 mean value hypothesis insured by the choice of  $\chi$ ).

## **Remark 1.5.1.** • Transformation (1.5.4), in which we use a primitive of the solution is called a gauge transform in the literature.

- As for the Cole-Hopf transformation, this gauge transform (1.5.4) is one dimensional and no suitable generalization exists for water waves system in higher dimension.
- The same type of transformation can be iterated and get at the step of order k a remainder of order  $k + 1 k\alpha$  which is acceptable for k sufficiently large as  $\alpha > 1$  but the price to pay is that we have to assume that  $s > 1 + \frac{k}{\alpha-1}$ .

## 1.5.3 Sketch of the proofs of Theorems 1.2.3 and 1.2.4

The starting point is to prove the key a priori estimate (1.2.12). Let us explain how to do so on the  $L^2$  level first, passing from this to the  $H^s$  estimates adds a (significantly) more technical step to the proof.

To get the  $L^2$  estimate, we are looking for an operator A such that:

$$\partial_t u + T_{i\xi} T_u u - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} u = 0 \Rightarrow \partial_t u + A^{-1} T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} A u = R_{2-\alpha} + R_{\infty},$$

where A is a unitary operator modulo, at least, an  $\alpha$ -regularizing operator,  $R_{2-\alpha}$  is of order  $2 - \alpha$  with  $\operatorname{Re}(R_{2-\alpha})$  of order 0.

To find A we follow our construction in section 5.1 and define  $A = A_1^p$ , where  $A_{\tau}^p$  is the flow of a hyperbolic paradifferential equation of the form:

$$\partial_{\tau} A^p_{\tau} h_0 - iT_p A^p_{\tau} h_0 = 0, \ A^p_0 h_0 = h_0.$$

Using our result on the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula for this type of flow proved in section 5.1 we are looking for p such that:

$$[A_1^p, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}] = A_1^p (T_{i\xi}T_u - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}}) + R.$$

In the previous section, choosing  $p = \frac{\xi |\xi|^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha} U$ , where U is a primitive of u, was enough to have R as an  $\alpha - 1$  regularizing operator when  $s > \frac{3}{2}$  which gave us the desired result on the flow map regularity at this threshold. At our threshold of regularity where we only control the  $L^2([0,T], W_x^{2-\alpha})$  norm of u this would give R as an operator of order 1, that is there is no apparent gain that comes from this transformation.

To remedy this the idea is to construct p implicitly. Indeed using the stability of paradifferential operators by commutation with  $A_1^p$  proved in section 5.1, we write:

$$[A_1^p, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}] = A_1^p T_{i^c[\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}]_1^p}.$$

It is here where the two cases  $\alpha < 2$  and  $\alpha \ge 2$  have to be treated differently. Indeed, on one hand by Proposition 5.1.3,  $i^c[\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}]_1^p$  belongs to a symbol class of the form  $L^{\infty}_* S_{\min(\alpha-1,1),2-\alpha}$ . And on the other hand  $u\partial_x + \frac{\partial_x u}{2} \in \Gamma_0^1 = L^{\infty}_* S_{1,0}$ , thus for  $\alpha < 2$  there is no hope to solve:

$$i^{c}[\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}]_{1}^{p} = u\partial_{x} + \frac{\partial_{x}u}{2},$$

and for  $\alpha \geq 2$  it seems possible through a local implicit function type theorem.

**The case**  $\alpha < 2$ : We solve the problem approximately, using the ellipticity of  $\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}$ , we show that we can fully solve the first term in the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff expansion of  $i^c [\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}]_1^p$ , i.e we solve:

$$[ip, i\xi \,|\xi|^{\alpha-1}] = u\partial_x + \frac{\partial_x u}{2}.$$

This amounts to right inverting a linear operator in the Fréchet space of paradifferential operators. The problem is first reduced to a standard linear inversion in the scale of Banach spaces defining the Fréchet space of paradifferential operators. Then using an explicit approximate parametrix, given by the usual Cole-Hopf choice of gauge transformation, a careful choice of cut-off functions studied in [61] and symbolic calculus we show that a Neumann series can be carried out to correct the right parametrix into a right inverse in one Banach space in the scale. We then use a bootstrap argument to propagate the regularity to the hole scale of Banach spaces and thus the Fréchet space of paradifferential operators.

Getting back to the equation,

- We carefully compute the cutoffs used in our paradifferential operators in order to exactly control the remainder terms.
- We use the fact that  $u\partial_x + \frac{\partial_x u}{2}$  and  $i\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}$  are  $L^2$  skew-symmetric to ensure that p can be chosen  $L^2$  self-symmetric.

In doing so we construct an  $L^2$  unitary operator  $A = A_1^p$  such that:

$$[A_{1}^{p}, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}] = A_{1}^{p} \left( T_{i\xi} T_{u} - T_{\frac{\partial_{x}u}{2}} \right) + \underbrace{\int_{0}^{1} A_{1-r}^{p} [T_{ip}, T_{u\partial_{x}+\frac{\partial_{x}u}{2}}] A_{r-1}^{p} dr}_{(1)}$$

Crudely at our threshold of regularity using symbolic calculus (1) seems to be of order  $1 + 2 - \alpha$  which seems worse that what we had before. The key cancellation is that using the identity:

$$[B,C]^* = [C^*, B^*],$$

we see that (1) is actually  $L^2$  skew-adjoint, which gives the conservation of the  $L^2$  norm.

At our level of regularity  $s > 2 - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}$  this key cancellation does not hold for higher Sobolev estimates, except in the case of the Benjamin-Ono equation, i.e  $\alpha = 2$ , indeed in that case:

$$p(x,\xi) = \frac{\operatorname{Op}(\frac{1}{D})P_{\geq b}(D)u}{2} \text{ for } \xi \geq 0,$$

and,

$$\left[T_{ip}^{B',b}, iT_{\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b} + (\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b})^*}^{B',b}\right] = T_{iu^2} \text{ for } \xi \ge 0,$$

this "exceptional" algebraic cancellation in the commutator is due to the fact that  $\partial_{\xi}p = 0$  which does not occur for fractional  $\alpha \neq 2$ . This difficulty was noted in [33] and the proposed solution was to use a gauge transform with indeed  $\partial_{\xi}p = 0$  to eliminate only the lowest frequency terms in  $u\partial_x u$ , i.e  $P_0(D)u\partial_x u$ , and treat the remainder terms in some carefully modified Bourgain type spaces.

Inspired by this idea we will indeed use a choice of p such that  $\partial_{\xi} p = 0$ , which in the paradifferential setting developed here will amount to a simple approximation of the symbol p by step functions in the frequency variable  $\xi$ .

The case  $\alpha \ge 2$ : Using the ellipticity of  $\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}$  and the paradifferential setting constructed we show that:

$$p \mapsto {}^c [\xi \, |\xi|^{\alpha - 1}]_1^p$$

is indeed locally surjective around 0, which is the key technical result we prove in Theorem 7.1.2. This is a non trivial problem, equivalent to solving a nonlinear ODE in the Fréchet space of paradifferential symbols. Such an ODE is not generally well posed and to solve such a problem one usually has to look at a Nash-Moser type scheme<sup>4</sup>. In our case the choice of paradifferential setting, inspired by by Hörmander's [37], is shown to be stable by the gauge transformation in Proposition 5.1.4. Thus we show that the problem can be reduced to a standard implicit function theorem combined with bootstrap argument in order to insure propagation of regularity. The bootstrap trick is the analogue of the one used in the Picard fixed point theorem depending on a parameter.

Thus we get,

$$A_1^p \partial_t u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} A_1^p u = R_{\infty}$$

We would like to fully conjugate the quasi-linear equation (1.2.10) to a semi-linear equation, i.e.

$$\partial_t u + T_{i\xi} T_u u - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} u = 0 \Rightarrow \partial_t \tilde{A} u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} \tilde{A} u = R,$$

Thus compared to first gauge transform we have to treat the term  $\partial_t A$ . At our threshold of regularity  $\partial_t A$  is still of order 1 thus we don't have a gain on the order of the operator. The key idea is to iterate the gauge transform to eliminate those time derivatives, i.e construct  $(A_1^{p_n})$  that eliminate the terms  $(\partial_t A_1^{p_{n-1}})$  at each step. We then use Theorem 5.1.1 and the geometric decrease in the norms at each step to prove the convergence:

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \prod_{k=1}^n A_1^{p_n} = \tilde{A}_1^{\tilde{p}} = \tilde{A}.$$

**Remark 1.5.2.** The continuity of operators of type  $T_{e^{i\tau p}}$  on Zygmund space with loss of derivatives were studied by E. Stein [71] and by G. Bourdaud in [20]. In section 5.1 we need explicit estimates taking into play the exact symbol semi-norms. For this we give a complete study the continuity of paradifferential operators defined by symbols in these type of "exotic" symbol classes in Appendix 5.2. Our proofs follow the same lines and methods presented in [71, 74, 53].

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ Such a scheme can indeed be carried out here thanks to the tame estimates in Remark 5.1.4 but we show that this can be avoided here.

## Chapter 2

## Introduction

## Contents

2.1	Sem	i-linéarité and quasi-linéarité des EDP d'évolution .	44
2.2	Un Į	problème modèle: l'équation de Burgers dispersive .	44
	2.2.1	La régularité du flot de l'équation de Burgers dispersive	46
	2.2.2	Estimations d'énergie améliorée de l'équation de Burgers	
		dispersive paradifférentielle	48
2.3 Le système des water waves			<b>53</b>
	2.3.1	Hypothèses sur le domaine	53
	2.3.2	Les équations	53
	2.3.3	Ondes de gravitées de surfaces: pression et coefficient de	
		Taylor	55
	2.3.4	Quasi-linéarité du système des water waves	55
	2.3.5	Régularité exacte dy flot de l'équation des ondes de surface	
		de type gravitées-capillaritées en deux dimension de l'espace	57
2.4	Le c	alcul paradifférentiel	<b>58</b>
	2.4.1	Opérateur pseudodifférentiel	58
	2.4.2	Opérateur paradifférentiel	58
	2.4.3	Une application de l'opérateur de paracomposition	65
2.5 Esquisse des différentes stratégies sur le problème modèle 66			66
	2.5.1	Esquisse de la preuve du théorème 2.2.1	66
	2.5.2	Esquisse de la preuve du théorème 2.2.2	70
	2.5.3	Esquisse des preuves des théorèmes 2.2.3 et 2.2.4	72

Le coeur de ce travail est l'étude du problème de Cauchy des équations aux dérivées partielles (EDP) d'évolution non linéaires, avec un fort accent sur les EDP provenant de la mécanique des fluides. Pour situer le problème, nous considérons une EDP d'évolution générale de la forme :

 $\partial_t u = F((\partial_x^{\alpha} u)_{|\alpha| \le k}), \ u(0, \cdot) = u_0 \text{ dans un espace de Sobolev } H^s, s \in \mathbb{R}.$  (2.0.1)

Pour une EDP d'évolution les conditions pour que le problème soit bien posé au sens d'Hadamard peuvent être interprétées par le flot:

• Il existe un temps T > 0 et un espace de Sobolev  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , tel que pour tout  $0 \le t \le T$  et  $u_0 \in H^s$ , le flot  $u_0 \mapsto u(t, \cdot)$  est bien défini et continu de  $H^s$  dans  $H^s$ .

Plusieurs questions immédiates découlent de cette définition : i) comment démontrer le caractère bien posé d'une EDP? ii) Est-ce que  $T = +\infty$ ? iii) Quel est le plus petit s possible pour que le problème soit bien posé ? iv) Quelle est la régularité du flot ?

Pour répondre à la question i), on dispose de plusieurs méthodes pour aborder le problème et qui sont généralement guidées par la "nature" de l'EDP. Nous considérons les définitions générales préliminaires suivantes, communément trouvées dans la littérature, que nous revisiterons dans la section 2.1.

- L'équation (2.0.1) est dite linéaire si F est linéaire dans toutes ses variables.
- Elle est quasi-linéaire si F est linéaire dans les dérivées d'ordre supérieur de u, c'est-à-dire que l'EDP peut être écrite comme :

$$\partial_t u = \sum_{|\alpha|=k} a_{\alpha} ((\partial_x^{\beta} u)_{0 \le |\beta| \le k-1}) \partial_x^k u + a_0 (\partial_x^{\beta} u)_{0 \le |\beta| \le k-1}.$$

• Et elle est semi-linéaire si de plus  $(a_{\alpha})_{|\alpha|=k}$  ne dépend pas de u.

Pour les équations linéaires à coefficients constants, on se tourne vers une fonction de Green afin de résoudre le problème de Cauchy. Pour les équations semi-linéaires, on s'attend à ce qu'un schéma d'itération de Picard fonctionne et pour les équations quasi-linéaires, on utilise des techniques plus non linéaires telles que l'argument de compacité et une méthode énergétique. Malheureusement, cette définition large échoue comme le montre la section suivante et une définition révisée à travers la carte de flux est donnée. Le point de départ de cette thèse était de montrer que le système des vagues à la surface de l'eau avec et sans tension de surface est quasi-linéaire.

Les points i) et ii) sont généralement interconnectés par des lois de conservation et constituent certaines des questions les plus difficiles et les plus profondes en EDP aujourd'hui. Pour répondre à l'une de ces deux questions, il faut généralement comprendre les propriétés fines de la non-linéarité F dans (2.0.1). Un des objectifs de cette thèse est de montrer que l'on peut extraire des informations sur la nonlinéarité en étudiant les propriétés de régularité du flot, c'est-à-dire l'étude du point iv, dans un cadre plus simple comparé à i) et ii) dans le sens où l'on peut travailler avec  $T < +\infty$  et  $s > 1 + \frac{d}{2}$ , ce que nous avons fait pour le système des water waves et l'équation de Burgers dispersive. De plus, nous montrons que la technique développée pour étudier la question iv) pour l'équation de Burgers dispersive, c'està-dire une généralisation para-différentielle complexe de la transformée de jauge de Cole-Hopf, peut être utilisée pour donner des informations sur les questions i) et ii).

Les principales techniques utilisées dans cette thèse se situent à l'interface de l'analyse microlocale, plus précisément du calcul para-différentiel, et de la mécanique des fluides pour tenter de donner des réponses aux questions i,ii) et iv) pour le système des water waves et les modèles associés. Tous les résultats présentés ici sont issus des travaux de l'auteur :

[61] A. R. Said: On Paracomposition and change of variables in Paradifferential operators, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2002.02943.

[62] A. R. Said: A geometric proof of the Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system and the incompressible Euler equations, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2002.02940.

[63] A. R. Said: Regularity results on the flow map of periodic dispersive Burgers type equations and the Gravity-Capillary equations, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2103.03576.

[64] A. R. Said: On the Cauchy problem of dispersive Burgers type equations, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2103.03588.

## 2.1 Semi-linéarité and quasi-linéarité des EDP d'évolution

Par les définitions précédentes de la semi-linéarité et de la quasi-linéarité, les équations suivantes : (KPI) et (KPII) sont semi-linéaires par le compte des dérivées, elles sont en effet données par :

$$(u_t + uu_x + u_{xxx})_x + u_{yy} = 0, \tag{KPI}$$

$$(u_t + uu_x + u_{xxx})_x - u_{yy} = 0.$$
(KPII)

Bourgain a montré dans [21] que (KPII) peut être résolue par un schéma d'itération et que le flot est régulier. Mais Molinet, Saut et Tzvetkov ont montré dans [55] que le flot associé à (KPI) ne peut pas être  $C^2$  et qu'elle ne peut pas être résolue par un schéma d'itération de Picard. Ils introduisent les définitions suivantes de la quasilinéarité et de la semi-linéarité [55] :

- Une équation aux dérivées partielles est dite semi-linéaire si son flot est régulier (au moins  $C^1$ ).
- Une équation aux dérivées partielles est dite quasi-linéaire si son flot n'est pas  $C^1$ .

Cette définition est plus intéressante dans le sens où une affirmation de la forme "l'équation (2.0.1) est semi/quasi-linéaire" donne une information concrète sur le problème de Cauchy et sera dorénavant utilisée.

Un exemple bien connu d'équation quasi-linéaire est l'équation de Burgers :

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u = 0 \text{ on } \mathbb{R},$$

où l'on sait que le flot n'est pas uniformément continu, ce qui confère à l'équation sa nature quasi-linéaire, comme le montre par exemple l'article [65].

## 2.2 Un problème modèle: l'équation de Burgers dispersive

Une classe importante d'équations qui apparat dans l'étude des modèles asymptotiques des équations des water waves sont les équations de type Burgers avec un terme dispersif, par exemple l'équation de Benjamin-Ono :

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + H \partial_x^2 u = 0 \text{ on } \mathbb{R}, \tag{BO}$$

et l'équation de Korteweg-de Vries:

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + \partial_x^3 u = 0 \text{ on } \mathbb{R}.$$
 (KdV)

Plus généralement, dans [3] et [6], Alazard, Burq, et Zuily effectuent une paralinéarisation et une symétrisation du système des water waves qui prend la forme:

$$\partial_t u + T_{V(u)} \cdot \nabla u + i T_\gamma u = f,$$

où  $\gamma$  est un symbole elliptique d'ordre  $\frac{3}{2}$  dans le cas avec tension de surface et  $\frac{1}{2}$  dans le cas sans et T. est l'opération de para-multiplication qui sera introduite ci-dessous. Pour  $s > 1 + \frac{1}{2}$ , un bon modèle unidimensionnel simplifié est l'équation de Burgers dispersive:

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^+, \ \left| D \right| = \operatorname{Op}(|\xi|).$$
(2.2.1)

**Remark 2.2.1.** L'équation (BO) et l'équation (KdV) sont les cas particuliers pour  $\alpha = 2$  et  $\alpha = 3$  respectivement.

Il a été démontré dans [49], que le flot associée à l'équation de Benjamin-Ono sur  $H^s(\mathbb{R}), s > \frac{3}{2}$  n'est pas uniformément continue. La preuve repose fortement sur la dimension, la structure de l'équation et sur certaines interactions entre les petites et les hautes fréquences ; elle ne se généralise donc pas au cas du tore T. Plus généralement, dans [65], ils ont démontré que le flot ne peut pas être  $C^2$  (les équations sont donc insolubles par un schéma de Picard à point fixe) pour les équations de la forme :

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + \omega(D) \partial_x u = 0$$
, avec  $|\omega(\xi)| \le |\xi|^{\gamma}, \gamma < 2$ .

Ici, la preuve s'appuie fortement sur la formule de Duhamel, sur la solvabilité explicite de la partie linéaire à l'aide de la transformée de Fourier et encore une fois sur certaines interactions entre les petites et hautes fréquences ; elle ne se généralise donc pas au cas de  $\mathbb{T}$ .

Dans [65], pour l'équation de KdV, en utilisant des estimations dispersives de type Strichartz, le problème de Cauchy est résolu par un schéma à point fixe de type Picard et donc le flot est régulier, montrant un changement dans la nature du problème. Cela montre qu'un phénomène intéressant se produit où le terme dispersif peut dominer la non-linéarité. Sur  $\mathbb{R}$ , les exemples précédents montrent que ce changement de régime se produit pour un terme dispersif d'ordre 3. Ainsi, le résultat obtenu dans [65] est optimal en d = 1.

Dans cette thèse, nous améliorons ces résultats dans plusieurs directions :

- 1. nous démontrons le résultat le plus fort possible en démontrant que le flux n'est pas uniformément continu,
- 2. pour  $\alpha \in [0, 2[$  et  $\epsilon > 0$  nous démontrons que le flux ne peut pas être  $C^1$  de  $H^s(\mathbb{D})$  dans  $C^0([0, T], H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)^++\epsilon}(\mathbb{D}))$ , où  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}$  ou  $\mathbb{R}$ .
- 3. Pour ces résultats de type négatif, nous donnons une preuve géométrique robuste qui sera transposée au système plus complexe des water waves avec et sans tension de surface et ce, dans n'importe quelle dimension.
- 4. Pour  $\alpha \in ]1, 2[$  nous montrons que le flot est effectivement Lipschitz de  $H_0^s(\mathbb{T}), s > 1 + \frac{2-\alpha}{\alpha-1} + \frac{1}{2} \ge C^0([0,T], H_0^{s-2+\alpha}(\mathbb{T})),$  où  $H_0^s(\mathbb{T})$  est l'espace de Sobolev des fonctions à valeur moyenne de 0.

**Remark 2.2.2.** Le point 1 est suffisant pour déduire la quasi-linéarité du système mais l'inconvénient de ce test de quasi-linéarité est qu'il ne montre pas l'effet du terme dispersif. La question naturelle était alors de demander si on peut voir l'effet du terme dispersif en analysant plus précisément la régularité du flot.

Pour cela, nous pouvons commencer par remarquer qu'indépendamment de  $\alpha$ , le flot est Lipschitz d'ensembles bornés de  $H^s(\mathbb{D})$  dans  $C^0([0,T], H^{s-1}(\mathbb{D}))$  et demander : l'espace  $H^{s-1}(\mathbb{D})$  peut-il être remplacé par  $H^{s-\mu}(\mathbb{D})$  avec  $\mu < 1$  dépendant de  $\alpha$ ? La réponse à cette question est exactement le but des points 2 et 3 où l'on montre que le  $\mu$  optimal est  $2 - \alpha$ .

### 2.2.1 La régularité du flot de l'équation de Burgers dispersive

Les points 1 et 2 sont donnés dans le théorème suivant de [62].

**Theorem 2.2.1** (d'après [62]). Soient trois réels  $\alpha \in [0, 2[, s \in ]2 + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[, r > 0$ et  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D})$ . Alors il existe  $C_s > 0$  tel que pour  $0 < T < \frac{C_s}{r + \|\partial_x u_0\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})}}$  et tous  $v_0$ dans la boule  $B(u_0, r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{D})$  il existe un unique  $v \in C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  solution du problème de Cauchy:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + v \partial_x v + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} v = 0\\ v(0, \cdot) = v_0(\cdot), \end{cases}$$
(2.2.2)

οù,

$$|D| = \operatorname{Op}(\xi).$$

De plus, pour tous  $\delta > 0$  et tous  $\mu \in [0, s]$ , nous avons:

$$\forall t \in [0,T], \ \|v(t)\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D})} \le e^{C_{\mu} \|\partial_x v\|_{L^1([0,T],L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}))}} \|v_0\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D})}.$$
(2.2.3)

En prenant  $v_0 \in B(u_0, r)$ , et en supposant de plus que  $u_0 \in H^{s+1}(\mathbb{D})$  alors :

$$\forall t \in [0, T], \|(u - v)(t)\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D})} \leq e^{C_{s}(\|\partial_{x}(u, v)\|_{L^{1}([0, t], L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}))} + C_{s}t\|u_{0}\|_{H^{s+1}(\mathbb{D})})} \|u_{0} - v_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D})}$$

$$(2.2.4)$$

Le manque de régularité du flot est donné par les résultats suivants sur les boules centrées à l'origine pour tout R > 0, il existe une constante  $C_s >$  telle que pour  $T < \frac{1}{C_s R}$ , le flot :

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

n'est pas uniformément continu. De plus, pour tous  $\epsilon' > 0$  le flot:

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T], H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)^++\epsilon'}(\mathbb{D}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

n'est pas  $C^1$ .

**Remark 2.2.3.** Nous démontrons un résultat plus fort (voir le Théorème 4.2.1) montrant que pour une perturbation dispersive d'ordre  $\alpha < 2$ , le terme de transport non linéaire domine localement l'évolution et ceci indépendamment de la dimension. Ce manque de régularité du flot implique que le problème de Cauchy ne peut pas être résolu par un schéma de point fixe de type Picard et donc que ces équations sont quasi-linéaires. Un autre exemple d'application est l'équation de Whitham sur  $\mathbb{R}$ :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + u \partial_x u - L u_x = 0, \\ L f(x) = \int e^{ix \cdot \xi} p(x,\xi) \hat{f}(\xi) d\xi \end{cases}$$

Nous démontrons que cette dernière est quasi-linéaire pour  $p \in S^{\alpha}, \alpha < 1$  et telle que  $\operatorname{Im}(p) \in S^{0}$  (Voir (3.2.1) pour la définition des classes de symboles).

En examinant la littérature pour évaluer l'optimalité du résultat précédent, tout d'abord dans [65] l'équation (2.2.1) s'avère en fait quasi-linéaire pour  $\alpha \in [0, 3]$ et devient semi-linéaire pour  $\alpha = 3$ , *i.e* l'équation de Korteweg-de Vries, lorsque  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{R}$  suggérant que nos résultats sont sous-optimaux. Puis lorsque  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}$ , dans [56], pour le cas  $\alpha = 2$  et l'équation de Benjamin-Ono, il est démontré que le flot est Lipschitz (et a même une régularité analytique) sur les ensembles bornés de  $H_0^s$ (l'espaces de Sobolev des fonctions avec une valeur moyenne nulle). Ce ci suggère que nos résultats pourraient être optimaux mais avec une subtilité provenant des basses fréquences.

Le but du prochain théorème est de démontrer que les résultats obtenus dans [62] sont optimaux sur le tore tout en clarifiant dans tous ces cas l'effet apporté par les basses fréquences.

**Remark 2.2.4.** Dans l'annexe 6.2.3, nous nous penchons sur le problème sur  $\mathbb{R}$  et utilisons la même transformation de jauge pour montrer que le manque de régularité obtenu dans [65] pour  $\alpha \geq 2$  est essentiellement d au manque de contre de la norme  $L^1$  dans les espaces de Sobolev.

**Theorem 2.2.2** (d'après [63]). Soient trois réels  $\alpha \in [1, +\infty[, s \in ]1 + \frac{2-\alpha}{\alpha-1} + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[, r > 0 et u_0 \in H_0^s(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R})$ . Alors le flot associé au problème de Cauchy (2.2.2):

$$B(u_0, r) \cap H_0^s(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}) \to C([0, T], H_0^{s - (2 - \alpha)^+}(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

est Lipschitz.

Plusieurs remarques s'imposent.

Remark 2.2.5. 1. Comme corollaire du Théorème 2.2.2 nous démontrons dans la Section 6.1.2 le résultat suivant.

**Corollary 2.2.1.** Soient trois réels  $\alpha \in [0, +\infty[, s \in ]1 + \frac{2-\alpha}{\alpha-1} + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[, r > 0$ and  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R})$ .

• Alors le flot associé au problème de Cauchy (2.2.2):

$$B(u_0, r) \to C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

est continu mais non uniformément continu.

• Pour tous  $\epsilon > 0$  le flot:

$$B(u_0, r) \to C([0, T], H^{s-1+\epsilon}(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

n'est pas  $C^1$ .

- Le cas α = <sup>3</sup>/<sub>2</sub> est étroitement lié au système obtenu après réduction et paralinéarisation du système périodique des water waves en dimension 1 obtenu dans la [3] Proposition 3.3 par T. Alazard, N. Burq et C. Zuily, que nous traiterons dans la section suivante sur le système des water waves.
- Le cas α = 2 est l'équation de Benjamin-Ono sur le cercle a été obtenu par Molinet dans [56]. Bien que le résultat de Molinet s'étende au problème de Cauchy sur L<sup>2</sup>(T). De plus, dans [56], seule la régularité du flot pour des données avec une valeur moyenne de 0 a été étudiée.

## 2.2.2 Estimations d'énergie améliorée de l'équation de Burgers dispersive paradifférentielle

Afin de démontrer le théorème 2.2.2 nous avons développé une généralisation paradifférentielle d'une transformation de jauge complexe de type Cole-Hopf qui a été introduite pour la première fois par T. Tao dans [72] afin d'améliorer la théorie de Cauchy pour pour l'équation de Benjamin-Ono à l'espace d'énergie  $H^1$ . Il était donc naturel de se demander si cela pouvait également être fait pour l'équation de Burgers dispersive avec ce nouveau type de transformée de jauge en main. Plus précisément, nous examinerons le problème de Cauchy pour des perturbations faiblement dispersives de l'équation de Burgers paralinéarisées:

$$\partial_t u + \partial_x [T_u u] - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} u + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ u_0 \in H^s, \tag{2.2.5}$$

qui est dérivé des perturbations faiblement dispersives de l'équation de Burgers:

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \text{ où } \alpha \in ]1, 2] \text{ et } \left| D \right| = \operatorname{Op}(|\xi|).$$
(2.2.6)

Pour  $\alpha = 2$  dans (2.2.6), nous avons l'équation habituelle de Benjamin-Ono, pour  $\alpha = 3$  nous avons l'équation de KdV, pour  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$  et  $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$  respectivement cette équation est un modèle unidimensionnel simplifié pour le système obtenu par paralinéarisation et symétrisation du système des water waves avec et sans tension de surface [7, 1, 8, 3, 5].

Le problème de Cauchy associé à (2.2.6) a été largement étudié dans la littérature. Pour un aperu complet et exhaustif de ces équations et de leurs liens avec d'autres problèmes issus de la mécanique des fluides et des équations non linéaires dispersives en physique, nous nous référons à l'ouvrage de J-C. Saut [65, 66].

Pour  $\alpha \geq 2$  le problème de Cauchy est maintenant très bien compris. Une première approche consiste à utiliser des effets de regularisation et des estimations de Strichartz adaptées, voir [60, 48]. Une deuxième approche consiste à utiliser des espaces dont la localisation en fréquence dépend du temps comme dans [42]. Une troisième approche, introduite pour la première fois par Tao dans [72], consiste à utiliser une transformation de jauge pour éliminer les termes avec le pires d'interaction, voir également [23, 58] pour l'équation de Benjamin-Ono et [33] pour  $\alpha \in ]2, 3[$ , ce qui, à la connaissance de l'auteur, est la seule fois où la transformation de jauge a été utilisée pour améliorer la théorie de Cauchy local de l'équation de Burgers dispersive dans le cas d'une dispersion fractionnaire.

A l'exception de la première approche, selon les termes de [69], ces approches rencontrent de sérieuses difficultés techniques pour  $\alpha < 2$ . Le but de cette section est de montrer qu'en utilisant la transformation de jauge introduite dans [63], la dernière approche peut encore être réalisée pour  $1 \leq \alpha < 2$  et elle donne des estimations dans  $H^s(\mathbb{D})$  sous le contre de  $\left\| (1 + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}_x}) \|u\|_{W^{2-\alpha,\infty}_x} \right\|_{L^1_t}$ , améliorant le facteur hyperbolique bien connu  $\|\partial_x u\|_{L^1_t L^{\infty}_x}$ . à la connaissance de l'auteur, c'est la première fois qu'une technique de transformation de jauge a été utilisée pour améliorer la théorie de Cauchy local de l'équation de Burgers faiblement dispersive.

Nous montrerons également que pour  $2 \le \alpha \le 3$ , cette transformation de jauge peut être utilisée efficacement pour conjuguer complètement l'équation dispersive paralinéaire de Burgers à l'équation dispersive linéaire modulo un reste régulier, c'est-à-dire  $C^{\infty}$ , sous le contrle de  $||u||_{L^{\infty}_{t}C^{2-\alpha}_{*}}$ . à la connaissance de l'auteur, c'est la première fois qu'une telle transformation est effectuée en dehors des cas intégrables, c'est-à-dire  $\alpha = 2$  et  $\alpha = 3$ . Pour ces cas, c'est-à-dire les équations de Benjamin Ono et de KdV, des coordonnées de Birkhoff appropriées ont été construites pour diagonaliser l'hamiltonien de dimension infinie, pour cela nous nous référons aux travaux pionniers de Gérard, Kappeler et Topalov [29, 30, 43].

Les quantités suivantes sont conservées par le flot associé à (2.2.2):

$$||u(t)||_{L^2} = ||u_0||_{L^2}$$
, and, (2.2.7)

$$H(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| D^{\frac{\alpha - 1}{2}} u \right|^2 (t, x) dx + \frac{1}{3} \int_{\mathbb{R}} u^3(t, x) dx = H(u_0).$$
(2.2.8)

Par l'injection de Sobolev  $H^{\frac{1}{6}} \hookrightarrow L^3$ , H(u) est bien définie pour  $\alpha \ge 1 + \frac{1}{3}$ . De plus (2.2.6) est invariant par la transformation d'échelle:

$$u_{\lambda} = \lambda^{\alpha - 1} u(\lambda^{\alpha} t, \lambda x),$$

pour tous  $\lambda$  positif. Nous avons  $||u_{\lambda}(t, \cdot)||_{\dot{H}^s} = \lambda^{\alpha+s-\frac{3}{2}} ||u(\lambda^{\alpha}t, \cdot)||_{\dot{H}^s}$ , donc l'index critique correspondant à (2.2.6) est  $s_c = \frac{3}{2} - \alpha$ . En particulier, (2.2.6) est  $L^2$  critique pour  $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$ .

Dans le cas "faiblement" dispersif, c'est-à-dire  $\alpha \leq 2$ , une étude numérique complète a été réalisée par Klein et Saut dans [47]. Ils ont notamment conjecturé ce qui suit.

**Conjecture 2.2.1.** 1. Pour  $\alpha \leq 1$ , les solutions partant de données initiales suffisamment grandes explosent en temps fini et le font par un scénario de brisure de vague, i.e  $\lim_{t \to T^*} ||u(t)||_{L^{\infty}}$  reste borné tant que  $||\partial_x u(t)||_{L^{\infty}} \to +\infty$ .

- 2. Pour  $\alpha > 1$ , nous avons une existence globale dans le temps pour de petites données initiales.
- Pour 1 < α ≤ <sup>3</sup>/<sub>2</sub>, les solutions suffisamment grandes explosent en temps fini et le font par le biais d'un scénario d'explosion "dispersif", i.e. ||u(t)||<sub>L<sup>∞</sup><sub>x</sub></sub> → +∞.

## 4. Pour $\alpha > \frac{3}{2}$ , les solutions existent globalement dans le temps.

Dans [24] et [38], l'explosion est démontrée pour  $\alpha < 1$  et dans [39, 40], il est démontré que pour  $\alpha < \frac{2}{3}$ , le seul scénario d'explosion possible est un scénario de brisure de vague, une preuve plus simple peut être trouvée dans [68].

Dans [52], l'utilisation de l'estimation de Strichartz permet de démontrer que l'équation est bien posée pour  $s > \frac{3}{2} - \frac{3(\alpha-1)}{8}$  et  $\alpha > 1$ , démontrant que même pour une dispersion très faible, la théorie de Cauchy peut être amélioré, ce qui contraste à nouveau avec l'équation de Burgers ( $\alpha = 1$ ) pour laquelle l'équation s'avère mal posée pour  $s = \frac{3}{2}$  dans [52].

Ceci a été amélioré dans [59] en utilisant une version adaptée de la "I-method" et des estimations de Strichartz adaptées dans des espaces de type Bourgain. Ils ont démontré que l'équation est bien posé pour  $s > \frac{3}{2} - \frac{5(\alpha-1)}{4}$  et  $\alpha > 1$ , démontrant ainsi par la conservation de H(u) et le changement d'échelle, l'équation est globalement bien posée pour  $\alpha > 1 + \frac{6}{7}$ . Ceci était le premier résultat deémontrant un résultat d'existence globale pour  $\alpha < 2$ .

Enfin, pour  $\alpha \geq 2$ , le problème de Cauchy est beaucoup mieux compris. Pour l'équation de Benjamin Ono sur  $\mathbb{R}$ , à la connaissance de l'auteur, le meilleure résultat actuel est que le probleest globalement dans  $L^2$  démontré dans [42]. Récemment, Patrick Gérard, Thomas Kappeler et Peter Topalov ont démontré dans [29] que l'équation de Benjamin-Ono périodique est globalement bien posée jusqu'à  $s > -\frac{1}{2}$ et mal posée pour  $s \leq \frac{1}{2} = s_c$ , l'exposant critique dans les espaces de Sobolev. Pour  $\alpha \in ]2, 3[$  sur  $\mathbb{R}$  le meillieur reésultat actuel est que le probleéme de Cauchy est bien posé pour  $\alpha > \frac{3}{4}(2 - \alpha)$  sous une condition sur les basses fréquences donnée dans [32] et dans  $L^2$  sans condition sur les basses fréquences dans [33]. Pour l'équation de KdV, dans les deux cas, sur  $\mathbb{T}$  et  $\mathbb{R}$ , le problème de Cauchy est globalement bien posé sur  $H^{-1}(\mathbb{R})$  comme le montre [43, 46], ce qui est le meilleur résultat possible, i.e l'équation de KdV est mal posée pour s < -1 comme le montre [57].

Les résultats remarquables sur le problème de Cauchy pour  $\alpha = \{2, 3\}$  utilisent l'intégrabilité de l'équation de Benjamin-Ono et de l'équation de KdV et la construction des coordonnées de Birkhoff et ne peuvent donc pas être étendus au cas  $\alpha \neq \{2, 3\}$ .

**Remark 2.2.6.** Il est intéressant de comparer (2.2.6) à l'équation de Burgers "fractale", i.e. l'équation de Burgers avec un terme dissipatif :

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_x u + (-\Delta)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} u = 0, \ \alpha \ge 0.$$
(2.2.9)

Pour  $\alpha = 2$ , (2.2.9) est l'équation de Hopf habituelle. Le problème de Cauchy local et global associé à (2.2.9) est très bien compris, nous référons à [45] pour une solution complète du problème. Pour  $\alpha < 1$ , les solutions suffisamment grandes de (2.2.9) explosent en temps fini et cela par un mécanisme de brisure de vague. Pour  $\alpha \ge 1$  les solutions existent globalement en temps.

Cela contraste avec (2.2.6) dans plusieurs directions :

- le changement du caractère bien posé local/global est supposé se produire à α = <sup>3</sup>/<sub>2</sub> et non à 1,
- l'existence conjecturée d'un nouveau régime d'explosion non linéaire pour  $\alpha \in [1, \frac{3}{2}]$ ,

• la différence drastique du problème de Cauchy global entre (2.2.6) et (2.2.9) pour  $\alpha = 1$ .

Dans cette section, nous allons étudier de plus près l'équation:

$$\partial_t u + \partial_x [T_u u] - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} u + \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ u_0 \in H^s, \tag{2.2.10}$$

où T est l'opérateur de paraproduit défini dans la section 2.4.2.1 ci-dessous.

**Remark 2.2.7.** Les modifications apportées pour passer de (2.2.6) à (2.2.10) sont les suivantes:

- Nous avons remplacé le produit  $\frac{u^2}{2}$  par le paraproduit  $T_u u$  et on a ajouté le terme  $-T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}}u$  pour garantir que  $\partial_x[T_u u] T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}}u$  est anti-symétrique pour le produit scalaire  $L^2$ .
- Nous avons omis les termes de reste

$$\partial_x R(u, u)$$
 et  $T_{\partial_x u} u$ .

Les motivations pour étudier la version paralinéarisée des équations sont les suivantes:

- 1. L'équation (2.2.10) contient toujours le principal "mauvais" terme  $u_{low}\partial_x u_{high}$ . Comme a été remarqué dans [72] et [23], c'est le principal terme qui empêche les estimations directes dans  $X^{0^+,\frac{1}{2}^+}$  pour  $\alpha = 2$ .
- 2. En effet en parcourant la littérature [23] et [42], les termes négligés peuvent être traités dans des espaces de type Besov-Bourgain à notre niveau de régularité. En revanche, les résultats sur (2.2.10) sont plus simples à écrire car ils peuvent être complètement décrits dans les espaces de Sobolev habituels.

Dans cette thèse, nous avons choisi d'étudier le problème en deux étapes. Tout d'abord dans [64] nous avons traité de la version paralinéarisée de l'équation (2.2.10), et ce dans le cadre le plus simple des espaces de Sobolev. Nous étudierons l'équation complète (2.2.6) dans des espaces de type Bourgain dans un travail futur.

Nous donnons maintenant le premier Théorème de la section.

**Theorem 2.2.3.** Soient deux réels  $\alpha \in [1, 2[, s \in ]1 + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[$ . Alors pour tout  $v_0 \ dans H^s(\mathbb{D})$  et tout r > 0 il existe  $C_s > 0$  tel que pour  $0 < T < \frac{C_s}{r + \|\partial_x u_0\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})}}$  et tout  $u_0$  dans la boule  $B(v_0, r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{D})$  il existe un unique  $u \in C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  solution du problème de Cauchy:

$$\partial_t u + i T^{B',b}_{\sigma^{B,b}_{u\xi} + (\sigma^{B,b}_{u\xi})^*} u + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ u_0 \in H^s, \ b > 0,$$
(2.2.11)

où B > 2 est donné par le théorème 7.1.1,  $\sigma^{B,b}_{\cdot}$  est un cutoff définissant les opérateurs paradifférentiels (cf. Définition 3.2.9),  $a^*$  est donné par

$$a^*(x,\xi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}} e^{-iy.\eta} \bar{a}(x-y,\xi-\eta) dy d\eta,$$

et B' > B est le cutoff correspondant au cté gauche de l'équation qui inclut  $T^{B,b}_{\cdot}$  et son adjoint.

Le flot  $u_0 \mapsto u$  est continue de  $B(v_0, r)$  dans  $C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$ . De plus nous avons l'estimation pour  $t \in [0, T]$ :

$$\|u(t)\|_{H^s} \le e^{C \left\| (1+\|u\|_{L^{\infty}_x})\|u\|_{W^{2-\alpha,\infty}_x} \right\|_{L^1([0,t])}} \|u_0\|_{H^s}, \text{ pour } 1 < \alpha < 2.$$
(2.2.12)

**Remark 2.2.8.** • L'estimation a priori (2.2.12) n'est pas suffisante pour améliorer le problème de Cauchy local, en effet nous avons besoin d'une estimation supplémentaire sur la différence de deux solutions. Un calcul simple montre qu'en prenant la différence de deux solutions u - v nous obtenons :

$$\partial_t (u-v) + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}(u-v) + \underbrace{\partial_x [T_u(u-v)] - T_{\underline{\partial_x u}}(u-v)}_{(1)} + \underbrace{\partial_x [T_{u-v}v] - T_{\underline{\partial_x u-v}}v}_{(2)} = 0$$

Le terme (1) peut être traité en utilisant la transformation de jauge mais le terme (2) n'est pas un opérateur paradifférentiel en la variable u-v et ne peut pas être traité dans notre cadre actuel paradifférentiel restreint aux espaces de Sobolev. En effet, le terme (2) a la même structure que les termes résiduels que nous avons abandonnés pour obtenir l'équation (2.2.10) et doit être traité dans les espaces de type Besov-Bourgain, ce qui n'est pas fait ici.

• L'analogue de l'estimation (2.2.12) est toujours valide pour  $\alpha \geq 2$ . Sur  $\mathbb{R}$ , les estimations standard de Strichartz donnent pour  $\alpha = 2$ , c'est-à-dire l'équation de Benjamin-Ono, l'analogue du résultat de Burq et Planchon [23] et pour  $\alpha \in [2,3]$  l'analogue de [32].

Nous nous tournons vers le théorème de conjugaison pour  $\alpha \in ]2,3[$ .

**Theorem 2.2.4.** Soient deux réels  $\alpha \in ]2,3[, s \in ]\frac{1}{2} + 2 - \alpha, +\infty[$ . Alors il existe T > 0 et r > 0 tels que pour tout  $u_0$  dans la boule  $B(0,r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{D})$  il existe un unique  $u \in C([0,T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  solution du problème de Cauchy:

$$\partial_t u + i T^{B,b}_{u\xi} u + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0, \ u_0 \in H^s, \ b > 0,$$
(2.2.13)

où  $B \ge 1 + \frac{1}{3}$  est donné par le théorème 7.1.1. Le flot  $v_0 \mapsto v$  est continu de B(0,r)dans  $C([0,T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$ .

De plus, il existe un symbole  $p \in W^{\infty,\infty}_{\tau}([0,\tau], C^1\Gamma^0_1(\mathbb{D}))$ , dans les classes de symboles à régularité limitée dans la variable de fréquence définie par (7.1.1), telle que pour son flot hyperbolique  $(A^{p(\tau,\cdot)}_{\tau})_{\tau=1}$  défini par (5.1.1) nous avons :

$$\partial_t (A^{p(\tau,\cdot)}_{\tau})_{\tau=1} u + \partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1} (A^{p(\tau,\cdot)}_{\tau})_{\tau=1} u = R_{\infty}(u), \qquad (2.2.14)$$

et il existe une fonction croissante  $C_s$ , telle que  $R_{\infty}(u)$  vérifie pour tout  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$||R_{\infty}(u)||_{H^{\mu}} \le C_{\mu}(||u||_{L^{\infty}([0,T],C^{2-\alpha}_{*}(\mathbb{D}))}).$$

**Remark 2.2.9.** • La méthode utilisée ici peut être poussée pour démontrer que p est dans  $C^k\Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{D})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  pour tout  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , avec un rayon plus petit  $r_k > 0$ dans le théorème 2.2.4 mais sans limite inférieure sur  $r_k$ . Nous avons choisi de présenter le calcul montrant  $p \in C^1\Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{D})$ , qui est la régularité minimale requise pour la définition de  $A_1^p$ . Pour l'équation de KdV, cela montre que le problème est localement bien posé dans H<sup>-1/2</sup>(D) qui est l'analogue du résultat démontré dans [27] qui est bien inférieur au caractère bien posé optimal dans H<sup>-1</sup>(D), qui sur ℝ a été récemment démontré dans [46], et dans [43] pour le cas périodique.

## 2.3 Le système des water waves

Nous donnons maintenant les principaux résultats sur le système des water waves avec et sans tension de surface. Nous suivons ici la présentation dans [3] et [6].

## 2.3.1 Hypothèses sur le domaine

Nous considérons un domaine à frontière libre, de la forme :

$$\left\{ (t, x, y) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} : (x, y) \in \Omega_t \right\},\$$

où  $\Omega_t$  est le domaine situé entre une surface libre

$$\Sigma_t = \left\{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} : y = \eta(t, x) \right\}$$

et un fond (général) donné, noté  $\Gamma = \partial \Omega_t \setminus \Sigma_t$ . Plus précisément, nous supposons qu'initialement (t = 0) nous avons l'hypothèse (??) donnée par :

• Le domaine  $\Omega_t$  est l'intersection du demi-espace, noté  $\Omega_{1,t}$ , situé sous la surface libre  $\Sigma_t$ ,

$$\Omega_{1,t} = \left\{ (x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} : y < \eta(t,x) \right\}$$
(H<sub>t</sub>)

et un ensemble ouvert  $\Omega_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$  tel que  $\Omega_2$  contient une bande fixe autour de  $\Sigma_t$ , ce qui signifie qu'il existe h > 0 tel que,

$$\left\{ (x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} : \eta(t,x) - h \le y \le \eta(t,x) \right\} \subset \Omega_2.$$
 (H<sub>t</sub>)

Nous supposerons que le domaine  $\Omega_2$  (et donc le domaine  $\Omega_t = \Omega_{1,t} \cap \Omega_2$ ) est simplement connexe.

### 2.3.2 Les équations

Nous considérons un liquide incompressible inviscide, ayant une densité unitaire. Les équations du mouvement sont données par le système d'Euler sur le champ de vitesse v:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + v \cdot \nabla v + \nabla P = -ge_y \\ \operatorname{div} v = 0 \end{cases} \quad \text{dans } \Omega_t, \qquad (2.3.1)$$

où  $-ge_y$  est l'accélération de la gravité (g > 0) et où le terme de pression P peut être récupéré à partir de la vitesse en résolvant une équation elliptique. Le problème est ensuite couplé avec les conditions aux limites :

$$\begin{cases} v \cdot n = 0 & \text{sur } \Gamma, \\ \partial_t \eta = \sqrt{1 + |\nabla \eta|^2} v \cdot \nu & \text{sur } \Sigma_t, \\ P = -\kappa H(\eta) & \text{sur } \Sigma_t, \end{cases}$$
(2.3.2)

où n et  $\nu$  sont les normales extérieures au fond  $\Gamma$  et à la surface libre  $\Sigma_t$ ,  $\kappa$  est la tension de surface et  $H(\eta)$  est la courbure moyenne de la surface libre :

$$H(\eta) = \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla\eta}{\sqrt{1+|\nabla\eta|^2}}\right).$$

Nous prenons  $\kappa = 1$  pour le cas avec tension de surface et  $\kappa = 0$  dans le cas des ondes de gravités (sans tension de surface). La première condition dans (2.3.2) exprime le fait que les particules en contact avec le fond rigide restent en contact avec celui-ci. Comme aucune hypothèse n'est faite sur la régularité de  $\Gamma$ , on montre que cette condition a un sens variationnel gree à l'hypothèse  $H_t$ , pour plus de détails sur ce point nous nous référons à la section 2 dans [3] et à la section 3 dans [6].

Le mouvement du fluide est supposé être irrotationnel et  $\Omega_t$  est supposé être simplement connexe donc le champ de vitesse v dérive d'un certain potentiel  $\phi$  c'est-à-dire  $v = \nabla \phi$  et :

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \phi = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \partial_n \phi = 0 \text{ on } \Gamma. \end{cases}$$

Les conditions aux limites sur  $\phi$  devient :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_n \phi = 0 & \text{sur } \Gamma, \\ \partial_t \eta = \partial_y \phi - \nabla \eta \cdot \nabla \phi & \text{sur } \Sigma_t, \\ \partial_t \phi = -g\eta + \kappa H(\eta) - \frac{1}{2} |\nabla_{x,y} \phi|^2 & \text{sur } \Sigma_t. \end{cases}$$
(2.3.3)

Suivant Zakharov [75] et Craig-Sulem [28] nous réduisons l'analyse à un système sur la surface libre  $\Sigma_t$ . Si  $\psi$  est défini par

$$\psi(t, x) = \phi(t, x, \eta(t, x)),$$

alors  $\phi$  est l'unique solution du problème variationnelle

$$\Delta \phi = 0$$
 dans  $\Omega_t$ ,  $\phi_{|y=\eta} = \psi$ ,  $\partial_n \phi = 0$  sur  $\Gamma$ .

Définissons l'opérateur Dirichlet-Neumann par

$$\begin{aligned} (G(\eta)\psi)(t,x) &= \sqrt{1+|\nabla\eta|^2} \partial_n \phi_{|y=\eta} \\ &= (\partial_y \phi)(t,x,\eta(t,x)) - \nabla\eta(t,x) \cdot (\nabla\phi)(t,x,\eta(t,x)). \end{aligned}$$

Pour le cas avec fond irrégulier, nous référons à [9], [3] et [6] pour le caractère bien posé du problème variationnel et de l'opérateur Dirichlet-Neumann. Maintenant  $(\eta, \psi)$  (voir par exemple [28]) résout :

$$\partial_t \eta = G(\eta)\psi, \qquad (2.3.4)$$
$$\partial_t \psi = -g\eta + \kappa H(\eta) + \frac{1}{2} |\nabla\psi|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\nabla\eta \cdot \nabla\psi + G(\eta)\psi}{1 + |\nabla\eta|^2}.$$

## 2.3.3 Ondes de gravitées de surfaces: pression et coefficient de Taylor

Nous donnons ici un résumé rapide des idées de [5]. Rappelons que par définition, pour les ondes gravitationnelles, nous travaillons avec  $\kappa = 0$  et nous définissons le coefficient de Taylor

$$a(t,x) = -(\partial_y P)(t,x,\eta(t,x)).$$

La stabilité des ondes de gravitées de surfaces est dictée par le signe du coefficient Taylor, qui est l'hypothèse qu'il existe une constante positive c telle que

$$a(t,x) \ge c > 0. \tag{2.3.5}$$

Dans [6], cette condition est nécessaire dans la preuve du caractère bien posé du problème de Cauchy où il est démontré qu'elle est localement propagée par le flot.

Nous allons maintenant montrer comment définir P à partir de la formulation de Zakharov. Soit R la solution variationnelle de

$$\Delta R = 0 \text{ in } \Omega_t, \ R_{|y=\eta} = g\eta + \frac{1}{2} |\nabla_{x,y}\phi|^2_{|y=\eta}.$$

Nous définissons la pression P dans le domaine  $\Omega$  par

$$P(t, x, y) = R(t, x, y) - gy - \frac{1}{2} |\nabla_{x,y} \phi(t, x, y)|^2.$$

Dans [5] Alazard, Burq et Zuily montrent qu'à une solution :

$$(\eta, \psi) \in C([0, T], H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d)),$$

pour  $s > \frac{d}{2} + \frac{1}{2}$  du système de Zakharov/Craig-Sulem (2.3.4) correspond une unique solution v du système d'Euler, dans le cas  $\kappa = 0$ .

### 2.3.4 Quasi-linéarité du système des water waves

Dans [3] et [6], Alazard, Burq, et Zuily effectuent une paralinéarisation et une symétrisation du système des water waves qui prend la forme :

$$\partial_t u + T_V \cdot \nabla u + i T_\gamma u = f,$$

où  $\gamma$  est d'ordre  $\frac{3}{2}$  dans le cas avec tension de surface et  $\frac{1}{2}$  dans le cas sans. Les termes V et  $\gamma$  vérifient les conditions requises par le théorème 4.2.1 et donc la paralinéarisation du système des water waves sont quasi-linéaires dans les seuils de régularité considérés. Nous en déduirons les deux théorèmes suivants.

D'abord dans le cas des water waves avec tension de surface, c'est-à-dire  $\kappa = 1$ , où le caractère bien posé du problème de Cauchy est démontré dans [3] nous le complétons par ce qui suit.

**Theorem 2.3.1.** On fixe la dimension  $d \ge 1$  et considérons deux nombres réels  $r > 0, s \in ]2 + \frac{d}{2}, +\infty[$  et  $(\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  tel que

$$\forall (\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \in B((\eta_0, \psi_0), r) \subset H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

l'hypothèse  $H_{t=0}$  est satisfaite. Alors il existe T > 0 tel que le problème de Cauchy (2.3.4) avec des données initiales  $(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \in B((\eta_0, \psi_0), r)$  a une solution unique

$$(\eta', \psi') \in C^0([0, T]; H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$$

et telle que l'hypothèse  $H_t$  est satisfaite pour  $t \in [0, T]$ . De plus  $\forall R > 0$  le flot :

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T], H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \mapsto (\eta', \psi')$$

est continue mais non uniformément continue.

Nous montrons qu'il faut au moins une perte d'une demi dérivée pour avoir un contrel Lipschitz sur la carte de flux, i.e pour tout  $\epsilon' > 0$  le flot

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T], H^{s+\epsilon'}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon'}(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \mapsto (\eta', \psi')$$

n'est pas  $C^1$ .

**Remark 2.3.1.** Il est intéressant de noter qu'un résultat antérieur a été obtenu sur la régularité du flot pour les ondes de gravitées/capillaritées bidimensionnelles (c'est-à-dire avec tension de surface), dans [26] Il est démontré que le flot n'est pas  $C^3$  par rapport aux données initiales  $(\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^2) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^2)$  pour s < 3.

Ce résultat est en contraste avec notre résultat qui est valable pour s > 3 et cela peut être vu dans le fait que dans [26] le manque de régularité du flot est montré comme étant principalement d à l'influence de la tension de surface. Alors que dans notre travail, le manque de régularité du flot est d au terme hydrodynamique (le terme de transport non linéaire).

Nous nous tournons maintenant vers les ondes de surface de gravitées, c'est-àdire  $\kappa = 0$ , où le caractère bien posé du problème de Cauchy est démontré dans [6]. Il est bien connu que les traces verticales et horizontales de la vitesse sur la frontière libre jouent un rle important dans le caractère bien posé du problème de Cauchy et sont données par :

$$B = (\partial_y \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \frac{\nabla \eta \cdot \nabla \psi + G(\eta)\psi}{1 + |\nabla \eta|^2}, \qquad (2.3.6)$$
$$V = (\nabla_x \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \nabla \psi - B \nabla \eta.$$

**Theorem 2.3.2.** On fixe la dimension  $d \ge 1$  et considérons deux nombres réels  $r > 0, s \in ]2 + \frac{d}{2}, +\infty[^1 \text{ et } (\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ et on considère}$ 

$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \in B((\eta_0, \psi_0), r) \subset H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

tel que nous avons :

 $1. \ V_0' \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d), \ B_0' \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d),$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Il s'agit ici d'un indice légèrement supérieur à  $1 + \frac{d}{2}$  où le problème de Cauchy est démontrée dans [6].

- 2.  $H_{t=0}$  est satisfaite,
- 3. il existe une constante positive c telle que,  $\forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d, a'_0(x) \ge c > 0$  (voir (2.3.5)).

Nous désignons l'ensemble de ces  $(\eta'_0, \psi'_0)$  par  $I_r$ . Alors il existe T > 0 tel que le problème de Cauchy (2.3.4) avec les données initiales  $(\eta'_0, \psi'_0)$  a une solution unique

$$(\eta', \psi') \in C^0([0, T]; H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d))$$

telle que pour  $t \in [0,T]$  l'hypothèse  $H_t$  est satisfaite,  $\forall x \in \mathbb{R}^d, a'(t,x) \geq \frac{c}{2}$  et

$$(V', B') \in C^0([0, T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)).$$

De plus  $\forall R > 0$ , le flot:

$$I_r \to C([0,T], H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \mapsto (\eta', \psi')$$

est continue mais non uniformément continue. Considering a weaker control norm we get: For all  $\epsilon' > 0$ , the flow map:

$$I_r \to C([0,T], H^{s-\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon'}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon'}(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
$$(\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \mapsto (\eta', \psi')$$

n'est pas  $C^1$ .

**Remark 2.3.2.** Les résultats précédents pour les water waves sur  $\mathbb{R}^d$  s'étendent à  $\mathbb{T}^d$ .

## 2.3.5 Régularité exacte dy flot de l'équation des ondes de surface de type gravitées-capillaritées en deux dimension de l'espace

nous considérons le cas où d = 1 et  $\eta$ ,  $\psi$  sont  $2\pi$ -périodiques dans la variable d'espace x. Alors le théorème 2.3.1 est complété par le résultat suivant :

**Theorem 2.3.3.** Considérons deux nombres réels r > 0,  $s \in ]3+\frac{1}{2}, +\infty[$  et  $(\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}) \times H^s(\mathbb{T})$  tels que,

$$\forall (\eta'_0, \psi'_0) \in B((\eta_0, \psi_0), r) \subset H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}) \times H^s(\mathbb{T})$$

l'hypothèse  $H_{t=0}$  est satisfaite. Définissons  $(\eta, \psi)$  et  $(\eta', \psi')$  comme les solutions du problème de Cauchy (2.3.4) sur [0,T], T > 0. Définissons les changements de variables suivant:

$$\chi(t,x) = \int_0^x \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2}} dy - \int_0^t \int_{\Sigma} \left[ \frac{1}{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2} + \partial_x \phi \right] d\Sigma$$
(2.3.7)  
=  $\int_0^x \sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2} dy - \int_0^t \int_0^{2\pi} \left[ \frac{1}{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2} + \partial_x \phi \right] \sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta)^2} dy,$ 

et de même on défenit  $\chi'$  à partir de  $(\eta', \psi')$ .

Alors pour r suffisamment petit et  $t \in [0, T]$  nous avons :

$$\left\| (\eta, \psi)^* - (\eta', \psi')^{*'}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^s \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} \le C( \left\| (\eta_0, \psi_0, \eta'_0, \psi'_0) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s}) \left\| (\eta_0, \psi_0)^* - (\eta'_0, \psi'_0)^{*'} \right\|_{H^s \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}},$$
(2.3.8)

où \* et \*' sont les opérateurs de paracomposition par  $\chi$  et  $\chi'$ , dont on rappelle la définition dans 3.4.

**Remark 2.3.3.** L'intégrale de temps dans la re-normalisation 2.3.7 est pour assurer que la valeur moyenne du terme de transport est nulle. Cette re-normalisation est nécessaire ici pour compenser la non-linéarité du terme dispersif d'ordre  $\frac{3}{2}$ .

## 2.4 Le calcul paradifférentiel

...

L'approche paradifférentielle en analyse microlocale a été introduite par Bony [15, 16, 18, 19], voir également Meyer [54], Hörmander [36], Métivier [53], Alinhac [10, 11], Taylor [73, 74], Bahouri, Chemin et Danchin [12].

### 2.4.1 Opérateur pseudodifférentiel

Introduisons tout d'abord les opérateurs pseudodifférentiels au sens large, en suivant l'approche symbolique (voir par exemple Hörmander [35, 36]), le but est de baser la construction autour des opérateurs différentiels réguliers :

$$a(x,\xi) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} a_{\alpha}(x)(i\xi)^{\alpha}, \ a_{\alpha} \in C_b^{\infty}.$$

Prenant un opérateur T sur  $\mathscr{S}'$ , on dit qu'il est un opérateur pseudodifférentiel si il existe une fonction régulière (i.e  $C^{\infty}$ ) a, appelée le symbole de T, telle que :

$$T(e^{ix\xi}) = a(x,\xi)e^{ix\xi}, \ \forall \alpha, \beta, \left|\partial_x^{\alpha}\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)\right| \le C_{\alpha,\beta}(1+|\xi|)^{m-\beta}.$$
(2.4.1)

à un symbole a le processus qui lui associe un opérateur Op(a) est appelé quantification, il existe plusieurs quantifications possibles qui sont analogues à (2.4.1), comme par exemple pour la quantification de Weil, voir par exemple [19] pour plus de détails sur les choix possibles de quantification. Dans cette thèse nous ne travaillerons qu'avec la quantification de Bony (2.4.1).

Le calcul pseudodifférentiel est la compréhension des différentes propriétés de Op(a) telles que les produits, les adjoints, la continuité sur différents espaces fonctionnels, etc.

## 2.4.2 Opérateur paradifférentiel

Le but initial du calcul paradifférentiel était d'étudier la propagation des singularités pour les équations non linéaires et il fallait donc une notion plus flexible que le calcul pseudodifférentiel qui inclut des symboles avec une régularité limitée dans la variable spatiale.

### 2.4.2.1 Paraproduit

L'observation clé de Bony est la suivante, en utilisant la formule d'inversion de Fourier pour le produit de deux fonctions:

$$f(x)g(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2d}} \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{ix \cdot (\xi_1 + \xi_2)} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_1) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_2) d\xi_1 d\xi_2$$
(2.4.2)

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2d}} \int \int_{|\xi_1 + \xi_2| \sim |\xi_2|} e^{ix \cdot (\xi_1 + \xi_2)} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_1) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_2) d\xi_1 d\xi_2 \qquad (2.4.3)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2d}} \int \int_{|\xi_1 + \xi_2| \sim |\xi_1|} e^{ix \cdot (\xi_1 + \xi_2)} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_1) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_2) d\xi_1 d\xi_2 + \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2d}} \int \int_{|\xi_1| \sim |\xi_2|} e^{ix \cdot (\xi_1 + \xi_2)} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_1) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_2) d\xi_1 d\xi_2 = T_f g + T_g f + R(f, g),$$
(2.4.4)

Ensuite Bony a démontré que pour  $f \in L^{\infty}$ ,  $T_f$  est continu de  $H^s$  dans  $H^s$  pour tout  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  ce qui pour n'est pas le cas de fg; en effet pour  $g \in H^s$  et s grand pour que fg soit dans  $H^s$  il faut que  $f \in H^s$ .

L'opérateur  $T_f g$  est appelé le paraproduit de g par f et peut être interprété comme suit. Grossièrement, le terme  $T_f g$  contient des termes de plus hautes fréquences de g par rapport à celles de f et exige plus de régularité sur  $g \in H^s$  que  $f \in L^{\infty}$ ; ainsi le terme  $T_f g$  porte les "singularités" apportées par g dans le produit fg. Symétriquement  $T_g f$  porte les "singularités" apportées par f dans le produit fg. La deuxième observation clé de Bony est que le reste R est une fonction plus régulière  $(H^{2s-\frac{d}{2}})$  pour s > 0.

#### 2.4.2.2 Une interprétation heuristique du paraproduit

Une heuristique très utile et instructive de la notion de paraproduits a été donnée par Shnirelman dans [70]. Pour les besoins de cette discussion, supposons que  $\partial_x$  est inversible à gauche avec un choix de  $\partial_x^{-1}$  qui agit de manière continue de  $H^s$  à  $H^{s+1}$ .

Une autre façon de définir le paraproduit de deux fonctions  $f, g \in H^s$  avec s suffisamment grand est : on différencie fg k fois, en utilisant la formule de Leibniz, puis on rétablit la fonction fg par la k-ième puissance de  $\partial_x^{-1}$ 

$$fg = \partial_x^{-k} \partial_x^k (fg)$$
  
=  $\partial_x^{-k} (g \partial_x^k f + k \partial_x g \partial_x^{k-1} f + \dots + k \partial_x f \partial_x^{k-1} g + g \partial_x^k f)$   
=  $T_q f + T_f g + R,$ 

où,

$$T_g f = \partial_x^{-k} (g \partial_x^k f), \quad T_f g = \partial_x^{-k} (f \partial_x^k g),$$

et R est la somme de tous les termes restants.

L'observation clé est que si  $s > \frac{1}{2} + k$ , alors  $g \mapsto T_f g$  est un opérateur continu sur  $H^s$  pour  $f \in H^{s-k}$ . Le reste R est un opérateur bilinéaire continu de  $H^s$  dans  $H^{s+1}$ .

L'opérateur  $T_f g$  est alors appelé le paraproduit de g par f et peut être interprété comme suit. Encore une fois, le terme  $T_f g$  prend en compte les hates fréquences de g par rapport à celles de f et exige plus de régularité de  $g \in H^s$  que  $f \in H^{s-k}$ ; ; ainsi le terme  $T_f g$  porte les "singularités" apportées par g dans le produit fg. Symétriquement  $T_g f$  porte les "singularités" apportées par f dans le produit fg et le reste R est une fonction plus régulière  $(H^{s+1})$  et ne contribue pas aux singularités principales du produit.

#### 2.4.2.3 Fonctions de cutoff

Pour rendre rigoureux les calculs ci-dessus, nous introduisons une fonction de coupure. Soit  $\psi$  une fonction régulière dont le support est borné en loins de  $(\eta, 0)$  et  $(-\eta, \eta)$  à l'infini. Alors les termes dans (2.4.3) et (2.4.4) peuvent écrit rigoureusement comme:

$$T_{f}g = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \psi(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}) e^{ix \cdot (\xi_{1} + \xi_{2})} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_{1}) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_{2}) d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2},$$

$$T_{g}f = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \psi(\xi_{2}, \xi_{1}) e^{ix \cdot (\xi_{1} + \xi_{2})} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_{1}) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_{2}) d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2},$$

$$R(f, g) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} (1 - \psi(\xi_{1}, \xi_{2}) - \psi(\xi_{2}, \xi_{1})) e^{ix \cdot (\xi_{1} + \xi_{2})} \mathscr{F}(f)(\xi_{1}) \mathscr{F}(g)(\xi_{2}) d\xi_{1} d\xi_{2}.$$

Plus généralement, étant donné un symbole a et un cutoff  $\psi$ , nous définissons l'opérateur paradifférentiel:

$$T_a^{\psi} = \operatorname{Op}(\sigma_a^{\psi}), \text{ where } \mathscr{F}_x \sigma_a^{\psi}(\xi, \eta) = \psi(\xi, \eta) \mathscr{F}_x a(\xi, \eta),$$

et  $\mathscr{F}_x$  est la transformation de Fourier par rapport à la variable spatiale x. Le calcul para-différentiel est la compréhension des différentes propriétés de  $T_a^{\psi}$  telles que les produits, les adjoints, la continuité sur différents espaces fonctionnels, etc.

Les deux principaux types de régularisation par cutoff trouvés dans la littérature sont,  $(\psi_H^B)_{B>2}$  qui ont été définis par Hörmander dans [36] :

$$\psi_{H}^{B}(\eta,\xi) = 0 \text{ quand } \begin{cases} |\eta| > B(|\xi|+1), \\ |\xi| > B(|\eta+\xi|+1), \end{cases} \text{ and } \psi_{H}^{B}(\eta,\xi) = 1 \text{ quand } |\xi| > B(|\eta|+1), \end{cases}$$

$$(2.4.5)$$

et  $(\psi_M^{\epsilon})_{\epsilon < 1}$  défini par Métivier dans [53]:

$$\psi_{H}^{B}(\eta,\xi) = 0$$
 when  $|\eta| \ge \epsilon(|\xi|+1)$ , and  $\psi_{H}^{B}(\eta,\xi) = 1$  when  $|\eta| \le \frac{\epsilon}{2}(|\xi|+1)$ . (2.4.6)

Les figures 2.1 et 2.2 illustrent le choix des fonctions de cutoff dans le plan  $(\xi, \eta)$  lorsque d = 1.

#### 2.4.2.4 Le cutoff après composition des opérateurs paradifferentiels

Dans [63], nous étudions la formule de type Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff pour la commutation et la conjugaison des opérateurs paradifférentiels par le flot associée à une équation paradifférentielle hyperbolique. Pour cela, nous devons étudier ce qui arrive au cutoff fréquenciel lors de la composition de deux opérateurs paradifférentiels.

L'effet de la composition sur le support du cutoff est vu par ce qui suit:

$$\sigma_a^{\psi_M^\epsilon} \circ \sigma_a^{\psi_M^\epsilon} = \sigma_{\sigma_a^{\psi_M^\epsilon} \otimes \sigma_a^{\psi_M^\epsilon}}^{\psi_{M^\epsilon}^{2\epsilon+\epsilon^2}} \text{ and } \sigma_a^{\psi_{H}^B} \circ \sigma_a^{\psi_{H}^B} = \sigma_{\sigma_a^{\psi_{H}^B} \otimes \sigma_a^{\psi_{H}^B}}^{\psi_{H^\epsilon}^{2B+1}}$$



Figure 2.1: Le choix des fonctions de cutoff de Hörmander  $(\psi_H^B)_{B>2}$ .



Figure 2.2: Le choix des fonctions de cutoff de Métivier  $(\psi_M^{\epsilon})_{\epsilon < 1}$ .

où  $\sigma_a^\psi\otimes\sigma_a^\psi$  est donné par:

$$\sigma_a^{\psi} \otimes \sigma_a^{\psi}(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} e^{i(x-y).(\xi-\eta)} \sigma_a^{\psi} \otimes (x,\eta) \sigma_a^{\psi} \otimes (y,\xi) dy d\eta$$

Ainsi, la composition de deux opérateurs paradifférentiels avec des cutoffs  $(\psi_H^B)_{B>2}$  et  $(\psi_M^\epsilon)_{\epsilon<1}$  sont toujours des opérateurs paradifférentiels mais avec des cutoffs plus mauvaises  $(\psi_H^{\frac{B^2}{2B+1}})_{B>2}$  et  $\psi_M^{2\epsilon+\epsilon^2}$ . Ce n'est pas un problème lorsqu'on considère un nombre fini de composition d'opérateurs paradifférentiels mais cela devient crucial si l'on a par exemple besoin de comprendre la limite d'une série, par exemple  $\sum \frac{(T_a)^k}{k!}$ .

Le terme d'ordre k d'une telle somme a un cutoff avec les paramètres ~  $2^k \epsilon$  et ~  $\frac{B}{2^k}$  qui ne sont plus des opérateurs paradifférentiels lorsque les conditions  $\frac{B}{2^k} > 2$  et  $2^k \epsilon > 1$  ne sont plus vérifiées.

Pour remédier à cela, nous introduisons une classe spéciale de cutoff  $(\psi^{B,b})_{B>1,b>0}$ , qui est incluse dans une version modifiée de la classe de cutoff de Hörmader:

 $\psi^{B,b}(\eta,\xi) = 0$  quand  $|\xi| < B |\eta| + b$ , and  $\psi^{B,b}(\eta,\xi) = 1$  quand  $|\xi| > B |\eta| + b + 1$ . (2.4.7)

Dans le plan  $(\eta, \xi)$ , lorsque d = 1, ceci est illustré par la figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3: Le choix cutoff  $(\psi^{B,b})_{B>1,b>0}, d = 1.$ 

Nous démontrons ensuite l'estimation précise suivante sur le support de ces cutoffs:

$$\sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}} \circ \sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}} = \sigma_{\sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}} \otimes \sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}} \otimes \sigma_a^{\psi^{B,b}}}.$$

Ainsi, la composition de deux opérateurs paradifférentiels avec cette nouvelle classe de cutoffs est toujours un opérateur paradifférentiel mais avec un cutoff légèrement moins bon  $\psi^{\frac{B^2}{2B-1},b}$ . Le gain de la nouvelle famille de cutoff peut être illustré de la manière suivante, si

$$f(B) = \frac{B^2}{2B - 1}$$

alors f composé k fois avec elle-même converge vers 1 lorsque k tend vers  $+\infty$  pour B > 1.

Tla régularisation par le cutoff  $\sigma^{\psi^{1,b}}_{\cdot}$  possède toutes les mêmes propriétés que  $(\psi^B_H)_{B>2}$  et  $(\psi^{\epsilon}_M)_{\epsilon<1}$  sauf leur action sur les fonctions dont le spectre est situé en dehors d'une boule:

$$\operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}_x(f) \subset B(0,R) \Rightarrow \operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}_x(\sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}}f) \subset B(0,2R-b),$$
$$\operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}_x(f) \subset \{|\xi| \ge R\} \Rightarrow \operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}_x(\sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}}f) \subset \{|\xi| \ge 1\}.$$



Figure 2.4: Le choix de fonctions de cutoff  $(\psi^{1,b})_{B>1,b>0}$ .

On montrera que les opérateurs paradifférentiels avec ce cutoff,  $T_a^{\psi^{1,b}}$ , vérifient toutes les propriétés standard du calcul symbolique mais leur continuité sera réduite aux espaces  $H^s$ , s > 0. Ainsi, par rapport aux autres cutoffs,  $(\psi_H^B)_{B>2}$ ,  $(\psi_M^\epsilon)_{\epsilon<1}$ et  $(\psi^{B,b})_{B>1,b>0}$ , nous ne perdons la continuité que pour  $s \leq 0$ . Une application intéressante de ce noveau choix de coupure est la suivante.

**Corollary 2.4.1.** Considérons quatre nombres réels  $\beta \leq 0$ , s > 0, B > 1, b > 0, et un symbole  $a \in \Gamma_0^{\beta}$ . Alors  $T_a^{\psi^{B,b}} \in \mathscr{L}(H^s)$  qui est une algèbre de Banach, donc  $e^{T_a^{\psi^{B,b}}} \in \mathscr{L}(H^s)$  est bien défini. De plus, il existe un symbole  $\exp(a) \operatorname{dans} \Gamma_0^{\beta}$  tel que:

$$e^{T_a^{\psi^{B,b}}} = Id - T_1 + T_{\exp(a)}^{\psi^{1,b}} \text{ in } \mathscr{L}(H^s).$$

### 2.4.2.5 Paracomposition

Dans [10] Alinhac a construit un opérateur, appelé opérateur de paracomposition, tel que, étant donné un  $\rho > 0$  et un difféomorphisme dans  $C^{1+\rho} \chi : \Omega_1 \to \Omega_2$  entre deux sous ensembles ouverts de  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , alors la paracomposition par  $\chi$  est un opérateur  $\chi^* : \mathfrak{D}'(\Omega_2) \to \mathfrak{D}'(\Omega_1)$  ayant des propriétés analogues à la composition habituelle  $u \to u \circ \chi$  mais avec une dépendance limitée sur la régularité de  $\chi$  comme pour les opérateurs paradifférentiels classiques, c'est-à-dire que le paraproduit  $T_a$  est bien défini à partir de  $H^s \to H^s$ , pour tous les *s* pour *a* juste dans  $L^{\infty}$ .

La construction d'Alinhac a été motivée par des questions issues de l'étude des EDP non linéaires par exemple : l'étude du transport du front d'onde d'une distribution par un difféomorphisme de faible régularité comme dans les travaux de E. Leichtnam dans [51], l'étude des singularités des solutions de problèmes d'évolution hyperbolique semi-linéaire et des surfaces caractéristiques des opérateurs associés (ici de faible régularité), la référence principale étant les travaux de Bony sur le sujet ([16],[15],[17],[18]). Plus récemment dans [3] et [6], la paracomposition apparat naturellement comme la "bonne variable"<sup>2</sup> après un changement de variable de faible régularité dans le traitement du problème de Cauchy pour le système des

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>La soi-disant bonne inconnue d'Alinhac.

water waves avec des données peu régulières. Elle apparatra également dans notre preuve de la quasi-linéarité du système des water waves [62].

Enfin, la construction de  $\chi^*$  donne une formule de linéarisation complète de la composition de deux fonctions (dont l'une est un difféomorphisme) généralisant le théorème classique de para-linéarisation de Bony [16] dans le cas d'une régularité faible.

Bony a montré que pour  $u \in C^{\infty}$  et  $\chi \in H^s_{loc}, s > \frac{d}{2}$  (sans l'hypothèse de difféomorphisme):

$$u \circ \chi = T_{u'(\chi)}\chi + \text{ reste},$$

et Alinhac a montré pour  $u\in C^{\sigma}_{loc}, \sigma>1$  et  $\chi\in C^{1+\rho}, \rho>0$  un difféomorphisme:

$$u \circ \chi = \chi^* u + T_{u'(\chi)} \chi + \text{ reste.}$$
(2.4.8)

Un autre résultat fondamental obtenu par Alinhac est que l'opérateur  $\chi^*$  bénéficie des propriétés du calcul symbolique, c'est-à-dire qu'il conjugue les opérateurs paradifférentiels. étant donné  $T_h$  un opérateur paradifférentiel, Alinhac a démontré un résultat de la forme:

$$\chi^* T_h u = T_{h^*} \chi^* u + \text{ reste},$$

où  $h^*$  est le symbole du tiret en arrière dans le cas des difféomorphismes.

Le résultat principal de cette thèse sur la paracomposition généralise le travail de Bony et d'Alinhac par:

- l'abandon de l'hypothèse de difféomorphisme avec un nouvel opérateur  $\chi^*$ :  $\mathfrak{D}'(\Omega_2) \to \mathfrak{D}'(\Omega_1)$ .  $\chi^*$  concidera avec l'opérateur d'Alinhac  $\chi^*$  modulo un reste régulier dans le cas des difféomorphismes.
- Donner des estimations globales sur l'operateur de paracomposition généralsant les estimations locales d'Alinhac.

Nous montrerons ensuite que  $\chi^*$  bénéficie des propriétés du calcul symbolique, pour cela nous commencerons par discuter du tiré en arrière des opérateurs pseudodifférentiels et paradifférentiels par  $\chi$  qui deviennent alors des opérateurs intégraux de Fourier. Dans cette discussion, nous montrons que les opérateurs intégraux de Fourier obtenus par rétraction sont des opérateurs pseudodifférentiels ou paradifférentiels si et seulement s'ils sont tirés en arrière par un difféomorphisme, c'està-dire un changement de variable. Nous donnons également une preuve du changement de variable dans les opérateurs paradifférentiels car nous n'avons pas trouvé de référence dans la littérature.

#### 2.4.2.6 Une interprétation heuristique de la paracomposition

Nous travaillons à nouveau avec  $f \in H^s$  et  $g \in C^s$  avec s grand et considérons la composition de deux fonctions  $f \circ g$  qui porte les singularités de f et g, et notre but est de les séparer. Nous procédons comme précédemment en différentiant  $f \circ g k$  fois, en utilisant la formule de Faá di Bruno, puis nous rétablissons la fonction  $f \circ g$  par la kième puissance de  $\partial_x^{-1}$ :

$$f \circ g = \partial_x^{-k} \partial_x^k (f \circ g)$$
  
=  $\partial_x^{-k} ((\partial_x^k f \circ g) \cdot (\partial_x g)^k + \dots + (\partial_x f \circ g) \cdot \partial_x^k g)$   
=  $g^* f + T_{\partial_x f \circ g} g + R,$ 

où,

$$g^*f = \partial_x^{-k} \left( (\partial_x^k f \circ g) \cdot (\partial_x g)^k \right)$$
 est la paracomposition de  $f$  par  $g$ 

et R est la somme de tous les termes restants.

Encore une fois, l'observation clé est que si  $s > \frac{1}{2} + k$ , alors  $f \mapsto g^* f$  est un opérateur continu sur  $H^s$  pour  $g \in C^{s-k}$ . Ainsi ce terme porte essentiellement les singularités de f dans  $f \circ g$ . Comme précédemment  $T_{\partial_x f \circ g}g$  porte essentiellement les singularités de g dans  $f \circ g$ . Le reste R est un opérateur bilinéaire continu de  $H^s$ à  $H^{s+1}$ . On a donc séparé les singularités de la composition  $f \circ g$ .

## 2.4.2.7 Une interprétation heuristique du changement de variable des opérateurs paradifférentiels

D'après ce que nous avons vu précédemment, il semble probable que le changement de variables adéquat pour les opérateurs paradifférentiels est celui qui provient de la commutation avec la paracomposition par un difféomorphisme. Nous poursuivons le calcul précédent avec l'opérateur paradifférentiel trivial  $\partial_x \sim T_{i\xi}$  et nous supposons de plus que g est un difféomorphisme.

$$g^* \partial_x f = \partial_x^{-k} \left( (\partial_x^{k+1} f \circ g) \cdot (\partial_x g)^k \right) \\ = \partial_x^{-k} \left( \partial_x^k [\partial_x^{-k} (\partial_x^{k+1} f \circ g) \cdot (\partial_x g)^{k+1}] \cdot (\partial_x g)^{-1} \right) \\ \sim T_{(\partial_x g)^{-1}} T_{i\xi} g^* f,$$

et nous remarquons que  $(\partial_x g)^{-1} i \xi = (\partial_x)^*$  est la formule habituelle du tiret en arrière des symboles pseudodifférentiels par un difféomorphisme g, nous avons obtenues les règles de calcul symbolique souhaitées.

## 2.4.3 Une application de l'opérateur de paracomposition

Maintenant que nous avons des estimations dans des espaces globaux sur l'opérateur de paracomposition et la formule de paralinéarisation (2.4.8), donnons quelques exemples d'applications à l'étude de la composition dans les espaces de Sobolev avec régularité limitée. La littérature sur ce problème est riche et nous nous concentrons sur deux articles récents traitant de ce sujet : [13] et [41], dans lesquels les auteurs étudient la composition dans les espaces de Sobolev et la géométrie des groupes de difféomorphismes sur les variétés. Nous limiterons ici la discussion à l'espace euclidien dans lequel les outils présentés ici améliorent considérablement les résultats de [13] et [41]. Tout d'abord, dans [41], les estimations sur la composition sont démontrées sur  $H^n(\mathbb{R}^d) \times D^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  avec  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $s > 1 + \frac{d}{2}$  un entier et

$$D^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) = \left\{ \psi - id \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \psi \text{ is a diffeomorphism} \right\}.$$

Ici, nous généralisons ceci aux nombres réels n, s et à partir de la formule de paralinéarisation (2.4.8) on a une justification de l'utilisation de la classe  $D^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  qui apparat naturellement mais elle admet également plusieurs généralisations. La plus simple est par exemple d'utiliser les espaces de Zygmund. Nous clarifions également la nécessité de l'hypothèse de difféomorphisme. Plus précisément, nous avons ce qui suit. **Corollary 2.4.2.** Considérons deux nombres réels  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\rho \in R^*_+ \setminus \mathbb{N}$ , et prenons  $\phi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  et considérons  $\chi \in W^{1+\rho,\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  un difféomorphisme tel que  $D\chi \in W^{\rho,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , alors  $\phi \circ \chi \in H^{\min(s,\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Le résultat que nous avons est encore plus fort ; en effet, c'est une décomposition de type Kato-Ponce des différents termes qui apparaissent dans les estimations de composition dans  $H^s$ , par exemple en gardant les notations du Corollaire précédent et en prenant  $\psi \in D^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  on peut écrire des estimations de la forme :

$$\|\phi \circ \psi\|_{H^s} \le \|D\psi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\psi\|_{H^s} + \|D\phi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\psi - Id\|_{H^s}.$$

Ansi si nous ne travaillons qu'avec des espaces de Sobolev, des versions plus sophistiquées de l'inégalité précédente sont données par

**Corollary 2.4.3.** Considérons un nombre réel  $s > 1 + \frac{d}{2}$ , et prenons  $\phi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ et considérons  $\chi \in W^{1+s-\frac{d}{2},\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  un difféomorphisme tel que  $D\chi \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  et  $D^2\chi \in H^{s-2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , alors  $\phi \circ \chi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Deuxièmement, dans [13], pour démontrer le caractère bien posé de l'équation EPDIFF, les auteurs traitent le cas du changement de variables d'un opérateur pseudodifférentiel avec un difféomorphisme à faible régularité. Les résultats obtenus ont été restreints aux opérateurs antisymétriques avec un support compact et un difféomorphisme dans la classe  $D^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Notre analyse d'un tel changement de variable montre que la catégorie correcte dans laquelle s'inscrit le tirer en arrière d'un opérateur pseudodifférentiel par un difféomorphisme à faible régularité est celle des opérateurs paradifférentiels. Ainsi, nous traitons ici le cas plus général des symboles à régularité finis, les symboles pseudodifférentiels étant le cas où les symboles sont réguliers, l'hypothèse d'ellipticité et de symétrie est abandonnée et le besoin de difféomorphismes lors du changement de variable est justifié. Plus précisément, nous avons.

**Corollary 2.4.4.** Considérons un nombre réel  $r, A \in S^r(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  et  $\chi \in W^{1+s-\frac{d}{2},\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ un difféomorphisme tel que  $D\chi \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  et  $D^2\chi \in H^{s-2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Alors le tiret en arrière  $A^*$  de A par  $\chi$  défini par

$$u \in \mathscr{S}, A^*u = [A(u \circ \chi)] \circ \chi^{-1},$$

est prolongé en un opérateur linéaire borné de  $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  à  $H^{s-r}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ .

# 2.5 Esquisse des différentes stratégies sur le problème modèle

Dans cette section, nous donnons un aperçu des preuves des principaux théorèmes. 2.2.1, 2.2.2, 2.2.3 et 2.2.4 sur l'équation de Burgers dispersive.

## 2.5.1 Esquisse de la preuve du théorème 2.2.1

Le point de départ est d'adapter une preuve classique de la quasi-linéarité de l'équation de Burgers, qui m'a été présentée dans une note personnelle de C. Zuily [76], que nous rappellerons ici.

#### 2.5.1.1 Quasi-linéarité de l'équation de Burgers

Le résultat de la quasi-linéarité de l'équation de Burgers est que le flot évalué ponctuellement dans le temps n'est pas uniformément continue. Un tel résultat est obtenu en construisant deux familles de solutions u et v à partir de certaines données initiales  $u^0$  et  $v^0$  dépendant des paramètres  $\lambda$  et  $\epsilon$  tels que

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty \\ \epsilon \to 0}} \|u^0 - v^0\|_{H^s} = 0 \text{ et } \|(u - v)(t, \cdot)\|_{H^s} \ge c > 0, \text{ avec } t > 0.$$

Pour montrer comment construire de telles familles, nous commenons par rappeler la construction géométrique habituelle du graphe d'une fonction  $u(t, \cdot)$  solution de l'équation de Burgers avec une donnée initiale  $u^0$ . On pose

$$\chi(t,x) = x + tu^0(x)$$

le flot caractéristique associé au problème, qui est un difféomorphisme dans la variable x. Alors,

$$u(t,\cdot) = u^0 \circ \chi^{-1}(t,x).$$

L'action de  $\chi^{-1}$  sur le graphe de  $u^0$  est donnée par la figure 2.5 ci-dessous qui montre également les phénomènes de formation de chocs.

Ensuite,  $u^0$  et  $v^0$  sont choisis comme des ansatz haute s fréquences à supports compacts dépendant de  $(\lambda, \epsilon)$ :

$$u^0(x) = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}-s}\omega(\lambda x), \quad v^0(x) = u^0(x) + \epsilon\omega(x), \quad \text{avec} \quad \omega \in C_0^{\infty},$$

où  $\epsilon$  représente un changement dans la vitesse initiale de transport, et  $(\epsilon, \lambda)$  vérifient :

- $\epsilon \to 0$  assurant que la différence des norme  $H^s$  des séquences de données initiales tend vers 0.
- $\lambda \to +\infty$  est l'hypothèse habituelle sur le paramètre d'e l'ansatz.
- $\epsilon \lambda \to +\infty$  assure que le changement de vitesse de transport est suffisant pour avoir des supports disjoints pour t > 0.

Maintenant si nous définissons  $\chi$  et  $\tilde{\chi}$  comme les flots caractéristiques associés aux données initiales  $u^0$  et  $v^0$  alors :

$$(u-v)(t,x) = u^{0}(\chi^{-1}(t,x)) - v^{0}(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t,x))$$
  
=  $u^{0}(\chi^{-1}(t,x)) - u^{0}(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t,x)) + O_{H^{s}}(\epsilon).$ 

Ensuite, en utilisant le fait que  $u^0$  est à support compact et le changement de vitesse initiale, nous démontrons que  $u^0(\chi^{-1}(t,x))$  et  $u^0(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t,x))$  ont des supports disjoints ce qui est illustré par la figure 2.7. Nous démontrons ensuite que  $\|u^0(\chi^{-1}(t,x))\|_{H^s} \ge c > 0$  ce qui termine la preuve de la non uniforme continuité du flot. Pour le contrel dans une norme plus faible, c'est-à-dire que le flot ne peut pas être  $C^1(H^s(\mathbb{D}), C^0([0,T], H^{s-1+\epsilon}(\mathbb{D})))$ , nous l'obtenons à partir de l'estimation  $\|u^0(\chi(t,x)^{-1})\|_{H^{s-\mu}} \ge c\lambda^{-\mu}$ .



Figure 2.5: Les droites (1) et (2) sont les courbes caractéristiques partant de  $Q_0^{in}$  et  $P_0^{in}$ . T est le temps de formation du choc.



Figure 2.6: Graphe de des ansatz.



Figure 2.7: Transport de l'ansatz.

## 2.5.1.2 Quasi-linéarité du problème (2.2.2)

Maintenant si nous adaptons la preuve au problème (2.2.2) on obtient:

$$\begin{aligned} (u-v)(t,x) &= f(t,\chi(t,x)^{-1}) - g(t,\tilde{\chi}(t,x)^{-1}) \\ &= f(t,\chi(t,x)^{-1}) - f(t,\tilde{\chi}(t,x)^{-1}) + O_{H^s}(\epsilon + t^2\epsilon\lambda^{\alpha}), \end{aligned}$$

où f et g sont les solutions à

$$\partial_t f + (\partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1})^* f = 0$$
 (2.5.1)

$$\partial_t g + (\partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1}) \ g = 0 \tag{2.5.2}$$

et  $(\cdot)^*$  et  $(\widetilde{\cdot})^*$  sont les changements de variables par les flots caractéristiques définis pour un symbole *a* par

$$Op(a)^*(u \circ \chi) = (Op(a)u) \circ \chi \text{ i.e } Op(a)^*(u) = (Op(a)[u \circ \chi^{-1}]) \circ \chi,$$

et de même pour  $(\cdot)^{*}$ . Les équations tirées en arrière (2.5.1) and (2.5.2) sont bien posés comme on le démontre dans l'appendice 4.5.

le premier problème immédiat auquel nous sommes confrontés est le terme supplémentaire  $t^2 \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha}$  qui diverge. Pour remédier à ce problème, nous renonçons à vouloir contrier le flot ponctuellement en un temps fixe t et utilisons une séquence judicieusement choisie de petits temps ( $\tau$ ) pour contrier  $\tau^2 \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha}$ :

$$\tau \to 0 \text{ et } \lambda \epsilon \tau \to +\infty.$$

Le deuxième problème, plus profond, auquel nous sommes confrontés est que nous perdons le contrile du support de la solution. En effet, (2.5.1) and (2.5.2) sont obtenus par tiret en arrière de l'équation linéaire

$$\partial_t w + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} w = 0 \tag{2.5.3}$$

qui est une équation dispersive non locale qui disperse le support de la solution et la norme  $L^{\infty}$ . Ce phénomène est donc censé s'opposer aux phénomènes illustrés par les figures précédentes (2.5) and (2.6) et le fait effectivement pour l'équation de KdV sur  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Pour y remédier, l'idée n'est pas d'utiliser  $u^0$  et  $v^0$  comme données initiales mais en profitant de la réversibilité en temps <sup>3</sup> des équations et utiliser les solutions envoyées dans le passé  $u^1$  et  $v^1$  définies par :

$$\begin{cases} \omega \text{ solution de } (2.5.3), \\ \omega(\tau, \cdot) = u^0, \\ \omega(0, \cdot) = u^1, \end{cases} \qquad \begin{cases} \omega' \text{ solution de } (2.5.3), \\ \omega'(\tau, \cdot) = v^0, \\ \omega'(0, \cdot) = v^1. \end{cases}$$

Cela donne :

$$(u-v)(\tau,x) = u^{0}(\chi^{-1}(t,x)) - u^{0}(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t,x)) + O_{H^{s}}(\epsilon + \tau^{2}\epsilon\lambda^{\alpha} + \tau^{2}\lambda^{\alpha-1}).$$

Nous démontrons ensuite que cela donne le résultat souhaité, pour  $\alpha \in [0, 2[$ , en démontrant de manière analogue à l'équation de Burgers :  $||u^0(\chi^{-1}(t, x))||_{H^s} \ge c > 0$  et ensuite en utilisant le support compact de  $u^0$  et le changement de vitesse initiale nous démontrons que  $u^0(\chi^{-1}(t, x)))$  et  $u^0(\tilde{\chi}^{-1}(t, x))$  ont des supports disjoints.

## 2.5.2 Esquisse de la preuve du théorème 2.2.2

Pour le théorème 2.2.2, nous travaillons d'abord sur  $H_0^s$  et l'idée principale est de conjuguer (2.2.2) à une équation dispersive semi-linéaire de la forme:

$$\partial_t w + |D|^{\alpha - 1} \, \partial_x w = Ru,$$

où R est continu de  $H^s$  à lui-même. Pour l'équation de Hopf, un tel résultat est obtenu par la transformation de Cole-Hopf qui réduit le problème à une équation de la chaleur unidimensionnelle. Dans [72], Tao a utilisé une version complexe de la transformation de Cole-Hopf pour réduire le problème sur l'équation de Benjamin-Ono à une équation unidimensionnelle de type Schrödinger. Cette idée a été largement utilisée pour améliorer la régularité nécessaire pour que le problème de Cauchy soit bien posé pour l'equation de Benjamin-Ono comme dans les travaux de Molinet dans [56]. Une forme pseudodifférentielle généralisée de cette transformation a été utilisée dans [7] pour réduire le système unidimensionnel des water waves à un système unidimensionnel semi-linéaire de type Schrödinger.

Formellement, si nous suivons les mêmes lignes que celles de ces articles précédents, la transformation que nous devrons utiliser est une transformation pseudodifférentielle de la forme :

$$\begin{cases} w = \operatorname{Op}(a)u, \\ a = e^{\frac{1}{i\alpha}\xi|\xi|^{1-\alpha}U}, \end{cases}$$
(2.5.4)

où U est la primitive périodique à valeur réelle et de moyenne nulle de u (c'est-à-dire  $\partial_x U = u$ ), qui existe parce que u a une valeur moyenne de 0.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ Cette idée dépend fondamentalement de la réversibilité en temps des équations linéarisées et échoue donc pour l'équation de Burgers fractionnaire.

Le problème principal est qu'un tel opérateur appartient à une classe de symboles de Hörmander de la forme  $S^0_{\alpha-1,2-\alpha}$ , qui pour  $\alpha = \frac{3}{2}$  devient  $S^0_{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}$  qui est une "mauvaise" classe de symboles sans règles générales de calcul symbolique. Nous devons donc traiter cette transformation avec précaution.

L'idée ici est inspirée par la forme particulière du calcul formel, nous exprimons l'opérateur désiré comme le temps d'une carte de flux associée à une équation hyperbolique, c'est-à-dire  $a = A_1$  où  $(A_\tau)_{\tau \in \mathbb{R}}$  est défini comme le groupe généré par l'opérateur paradifférentiel  $iT_p$  où p est un symbole à valeur réelle d'ordre inférieur à 1. Cette définition s'inspire de résultats antérieurs d'Alazard, Baldi et Gérard [2].

Prenons un opérateur différent  $T_b$ . L'idée est d'appliquer une formule de type Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff. Formellement, cela permet d'exprimer  $A_{\tau}T_{b}A_{-\tau}$  comme une série de dérivées de Lie successives  $[iT_p, \cdots, [iT_p, T_b] \cdots]$ . Le même type de calculs tient pour  $[A_{\tau}, T_b]$ . La convergence d'une telle série est un problème non trivial, équivalent à la résolution d'une ODE linéaire dans l'espace de Fréchet des classes de symboles paradifférentiels  $\Gamma^m_{+\infty}$  défini dans la section 3.2.3. Une telle EDO n'est généralement pas bien posée et pour résoudre un tel problème, il faut généralement se tourner vers un schéma de type Nash-Moser. Dans notre cas, nous ayons une EDO explicite qui peut être résolue localement avec perte de dérivée ; ainsi, inspirés par la [37] de Hörmander et Beals dans [14], on démontre l'existence d'un symbole  $b^{\tau}$  tel que  $A_{\tau}T_{b}A_{-\tau} = T_{b^{\tau}}$ , de plus on démontre que  $b^{\tau}$  a l'expansion asymptotique donnée par la formule de Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff. L'utilisation des opérateurs paradifférentiels est essentielle ici, comme dans l'article [37] de Hörmander, car la continuité des opérateurs paradifférentiels donnée par le théorème 3.2.3 assure que nous n'avons pas besoin de contrler un nombre infini de semi-normes comme cela aurait été le cas pour les opérateurs pseudodifférentiels.

Enfin la transformation ainsi définie nous permet de réduire le terme de transport d'ordre 1 à un terme d'ordre  $2 - \alpha$  qui est suffisant pour résoudre notre problème.

Pour passer de  $H_0^s$  à  $H^s$  nous utilisons la transformation de jauge suivante :

$$\tilde{u}(t,x) = u(t,x-t \oint u_0) - \oint u_0$$
, where  $\frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}|} \int_{\mathbb{T}} = \oint$ ,

dont nous démontrons qu'elle est continue sur  $H^s$  mais non uniformément continue et  $C^1$  seulement de  $H^s$  dans  $H^{s-1}$ .

Pour l'équation des ondes de surface de type gravitées-capillaritées, le problème est plus délicat. En effet, les problèmes modèles que nous avons étudiés concernent le système après paralinéarisation et symétrisation. Tout d'abord, on sait que le changement de variable entre le système original et le système paralinéarisé et symétrisé est Lipschitz sur  $H^s$  pour  $s > 2 + \frac{1}{2}$ . Le problème se réduit donc bien à l'étude de la régularité du flot d'une équation de la forme

$$\partial_t u + T_V \partial_x u + i T_\gamma u = f.$$

Dans le même esprit que [7, 1] nous effectuons un para-changement de variable, c'est-à-dire que nous paracomposons avec  $\chi$  défini par (2.3.7), pour obtenir:

$$\partial_t[u^*] + T_W \partial_x u^* + i T_{|\xi|^{\frac{3}{2}}} u^* = f, \text{ with } \int_{\mathbb{T}} W = 0.$$

Nous procédons alors exactement comme pour l'équation (2.2.2) (avec l'hypothèse de la valeur moyenne nulle assurée par le choix de  $\chi$ ).
**Remark 2.5.1.** • La transformation (2.5.4), dans laquelle on utilise une primitive de la solution est appelée une transformation de jauge dans la littérature.

- Comme pour la transformation de Cole-Hopf, cette transformation de jauge (2.5.4) est unidimensionnelle et aucune généralisation pertinente n'existe pour le système des water waves en dimension supérieure.
- On peut itérer le même type de transformation et obtenir au pas d'ordre k un reste d'ordre  $k+1-k\alpha$  ce qui est acceptable pour k suffisamment grand comme  $\alpha > 1$  mais le prix à payer est qu'il faut supposer que  $s > 1 + \frac{k}{\alpha-1}$ .

#### 2.5.3 Esquisse des preuves des théorèmes 2.2.3 et 2.2.4

The starting point is to prove the key a priori estimate (2.2.12). Expliquons d'abord comment le faire au niveau  $L^2$ , passer de ce niveau aux estimations sur  $H^s$  ajoute une étape (significativement) plus technique à la preuve.

Pour obtenir l'estimation  $L^2$ , nous cherchons un opérateur A tel que:

$$\partial_t u + T_{i\xi} T_u u - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} u = 0 \Rightarrow \partial_t u + A^{-1} T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} A u = R_{2-\alpha} + R_{\infty},$$

où A est un opérateur unitaire modulo, au moins, un opérateur régularisant d'ordre  $\alpha$ ,  $R_{2-\alpha}$  est d'ordre  $2-\alpha$  avec  $\operatorname{Re}(R_{2-\alpha})$  d'ordre 0.

Pour trouver A, nous suivons notre construction dans la section 5.1 et définissons  $A = A_1^p$ , où  $A_7^p$  est le flot d'une équation paradifférentielle hyperbolique de la forme:

$$\partial_{\tau} A^p_{\tau} h_0 - i T_p A^p_{\tau} h_0 = 0, \ A^p_0 h_0 = h_0.$$

En utilisant notre résultat sur la formule de Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff pour ce type de flot démontré dans la section 5.1, nous cherchons p tel que:

$$[A_1^p, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}] = A_1^p \left( T_{i\xi} T_u - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} \right) + R.$$

Dans la section précédente, il suffisait de choisir  $p = \frac{\xi |\xi|^{1-\alpha}}{\alpha} U$ , où U est une primitive de u, pour avoir R comme un opérateur d'ordre  $\alpha - 1$  lorsque  $s > \frac{3}{2}$  ce qui nous a donné le résultat souhaité sur la régularité du flot à ce niveau de régularité. A notre niveau de régularité où nous ne contrlons que la norme  $L^2([0,T], W_x^{2-\alpha})$  de u cela donnerait R comme un opérateur d'ordre 1, c'est-à-dire qu'il n'y a pas de gain apparent qui provient de cette transformation.

Pour remédier à cela, l'idée est de construire p implicitement. En effet, en utilisant la stabilité des opérateurs paradifférentiels par commutation avec  $A_1^p$  démontrée dans la section 5.1, on écrit:

$$[A_1^p, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}] = A_1^p T_{i^c[\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}]_1^p}.$$

C'est ici que les deux cas  $\alpha < 2$  et  $\alpha \geq 2$  doivent être traités différemment. En effet, d'une part, par la proposition 5.1.3,  $i^c[\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}]_1^p$  appartient à une classe de symboles de la forme  $L^{\infty}_* S_{\min(\alpha-1,1),2-\alpha}$ . Et d'autre part  $u\partial_x + \frac{\partial_x u}{2} \in \Gamma_0^1 = L^{\infty}_* S_{1,0}$ , thus for  $\alpha < 2$  there is no hope to solve:

$$i^{c}[\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}]_{1}^{p} = u\partial_{x} + \frac{\partial_{x}u}{2}$$

et pour  $\alpha \geq 2$  ce la semble possible gree à un théorème de type fonction implicite locale. Le cas  $\alpha < 2$ : Nous résolvons le problème de manière approximative, en utilisant l'ellipticité de  $\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}$ , nous montrons que nous pouvons résoudre entièrement le premier terme du développement de Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff de  $i^c [\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}]_1^p$ , c'est-à-dire que nous résolvons:

$$[ip, i\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}] = u\partial_x + \frac{\partial_x u}{2}.$$

Cela revient à inverser à droite un opérateur linéaire dans l'espace de Fréchet des opérateurs paradifférentiels. Le problème est d'abord réduit à une inversion linéaire standard dans l'échelle des espaces de Banach définissant l'espace de Fréchet des opérateurs paradifférentiels. Ensuite, en utilisant l'inverse à droite approximative explicite, donnée par le choix habituel de Cole-Hopf de la transformation de jauge, un choix judicieux des fonctions de cutoff étudiées dans [61] et le calcul symbolique, nous montrons qu'une série de Neumann peut être effectuée pour corriger l'inverse à droite approximative droite en un inverse droit exacte dans un espace de Banach de l'échelle. Nous utilisons ensuite un argument de type bootstrap pour propager la régularité à toute l'échelle des espaces de Banach et donc à l'espace de Fréchet des opérateurs paradifférentiels.

Pour en revenir à l'équation,

- Nous calculons soigneusement les cutoffs utilisés dans nos opérateurs paradifférentiels afin de contrler exactement les termes de restes.
- Nous utilisons le fait que  $u\partial_x + \frac{\partial_x u}{2}$  et  $i\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}$  sont  $L^2$  anti-symétrique pour assurer que p peut être choisi  $L^2$  auto-adjoint.

Ce faisant, nous construisons un opérateur unitaire sur  $L^2 A = A_1^p$  tel que :

$$[A_1^p, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}] = A_1^p \left( T_{i\xi} T_u - T_{\frac{\partial_x u}{2}} \right) + \underbrace{\int_0^1 A_{1-r}^p [T_{ip}, T_{u\partial_x + \frac{\partial_x u}{2}}] A_{r-1}^p dr}_{(1)}.$$

Grossièrement, à notre niveau de régularité en utilisant le calcul symbolique (1) semble être d'ordre  $1 + 2 - \alpha$  ce qui semble pire que ce que nous avions auparavant. L'annulation clé est qu'en utilisant l'identité :

$$[B,C]^* = [C^*, B^*],$$

on voit que (1) est en fait  $L^2$  anti-adjoint, ce qui donne la conservation de la norme  $L^2$ .

A notre niveau de régularité  $s > 2-\alpha + \frac{1}{2}$  cette annulation clé ne tient pas pour les estimations de Sobolev supérieures, sauf dans le cas de l'équation de Benjamin-Ono, c'est-à-dire  $\alpha = 2$ , effectivement dans ce cas :

$$p(x,\xi) = \frac{\operatorname{Op}(\frac{1}{D})P_{\geq b}(D)u}{2} \text{ pour } \xi \geq 0,$$

et,

$$\left[T_{ip}^{B',b}, iT_{\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b} + (\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b})^*}^{B',b}\right] = T_{iu^2} \text{ pour } \xi \ge 0,$$

cette annulation algébrique "exceptionnelle" dans le commutateur est due au fait que  $\partial_{\xi} p = 0$ , ce qui ne se produit pas pour les  $\alpha \neq 2$  fractionnaires. Cette difficulté a été notée dans [33] et la solution proposée était d'utiliser une transformation de jauge avec effectivement  $\partial_{\xi} p = 0$  pour éliminer uniquement les termes de plus basse fréquence dans  $u\partial_x u$ , c'est-à-dire  $P_0(D)u\partial_x u$ , et de traiter les termes restants dans certains espaces de type Bourgain soigneusement choisis.

Inspirés par cette idée, nous utiliserons en effet un choix de p tel que  $\partial_{\xi} p = 0$ , ce qui dans le cadre paradifférentiel développé ici reviendra à une simple approximation du symbole p par des fonctions en escalier dans la variable de fréquence  $\xi$ .

Le cas  $\alpha \ge 2$ : En utilisant l'ellipticité de  $\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1}$  et le cadre paradifférentiel construit, nous montrons que :

$$p \mapsto {}^c [\xi \, |\xi|^{\alpha - 1}]_1^p$$

est en effet localement surjectif autour de 0, ce qui est le résultat technique clé que nous démontrons dans le théorème 7.1.2. Il s'agit d'un problème non trivial, équivalent à la résolution d'une ODE non linéaire dans l'espace de Fréchet des symboles paradifférentiels. Une telle EDO n'est généralement pas bien posée et pour résoudre un tel problème, on doit généralement envisager un schéma de type Nash-Moser. Un tel schéma peut en effet être réalisé ici gree aux estimations de la Remark 5.1.4 mais nous montrons que cela peut être évité ici. Dans notre cas, le choix du cadre paradifférentiel, inspiré par l'article [37] de Hörmander, se révèle être stable par la transformation de jauge dans la Proposition 5.1.4. Nous montrons ainsi que le problème peut être réduit à un théorème des fonctions implicites standard combiné à un argument de bootstrap afin d'assurer la propagation de la régularité dans toute l'échelle des espaces de Banach et donc à l'espace de Fréchet des opérateurs paradifférentiels. L'argument bootstrap est l'analogue de celui utilisé dans le théorème du point fixe de Picard dépendant d'un paramètre.

On obtient donc,

$$A_1^p \partial_t u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} A_1^p u = R_\infty.$$

Nous souhaitons conjuguer entièrement l'équation quasi-linéaire (2.2.10) à une équation semi-linéaire, à savoir

$$\partial_t u + T_{i\xi} T_u u - T_{\underline{\partial_x u}} u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} u = 0 \Rightarrow \partial_t \tilde{A} u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} \tilde{A} u = R,$$

Ainsi par rapport à la première transformation de jauge nous devons traiter le terme  $\partial_t A$ . A notre niveau de régularité,  $\partial_t A$  est toujours d'ordre 1 donc nous n'avons pas de gain sur l'ordre de l'opérateur. L'idée clé est d'itérer la transformée de jauge pour éliminer ces dérivées temporelles, c'est-à-dire construire  $(A_1^{p_n})$  qui élimine les termes  $(\partial_t A_1^{p_{n-1}})$  à chaque étape. Nous utilisons ensuite le théorème 5.1.1 et la décroissance géométrique des normes à chaque étape pour démontrer la convergence :

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \prod_{k=1}^n A_1^{p_n} = \tilde{A}_1^{\tilde{p}} = \tilde{A}_1$$

**Remark 2.5.2.** La continuité des opérateurs de type  $T_{e^{i\tau p}}$  sur l'espace de Zygmund avec perte des dérivées a été étudiée par E. Stein [71] et par G. Bourdaud dans [20]. Dans la section 5.1 nous avons besoin d'estimations explicites prenant en compte les semi-normes exactes des symboles. Pour cela nous donnons une étude complète de la continuité des opérateurs paradifférentiels définis par des symboles dans ce type de classes de symboles "exotiques" dans l'Appendice 5.2. Nos preuves suivent les mêmes lignes et méthodes présentées dans [71, 74, 53].

# Chapter 3

# On paracomposition and paradifferential operators

This chapter reviews basic ideas from microlocal analysis, which can be found in [35], [36], [73], [11] and [53], fixes the notations for latter chapters and contains the main results on para-differential calculus from article [61].

#### Contents

3.1 Not	ations and functional analysis
3.2 Notions of microlocal analysis	
3.2.1	Pseudodifferential Calculus
3.2.2	Fourier Integral Operators
3.2.3	Paradifferential Calculus
3.3 Pull-back of pseudo and para- differential operators 96	
3.4 Paracomposition	
3.4.1	Main results for paracomposition on $\mathbb{R}^d$
3.4.2	<b>Proofs</b>
3.4.3	Main results for paracomposition on open subsets 108
3.4.4	<b>Proof</b>

# 3.1 Notations and functional analysis

We present the definitions of the functional spaces that will be used. We will use the usual definitions and standard notations for the regular functions  $C^k$ ,  $C_0^k$  for those with compact support, the distribution space  $\mathscr{D}', \mathscr{E}'$  for those with compact support,  $\mathscr{D}'^k, \mathscr{E}'^k$  for distributions of order k, Lebesgue spaces  $(L^p)$ , Sobolev spaces  $(H^s, W^{p,q})$  and the Schwartz class  $\mathscr{S}$  and it's dual  $\mathscr{S}'$ . All of those spaces are equipped with their standard topologies. We also use the Landau notation  $O_{\parallel \parallel}(X)$ .

**Notation 3.1.1.** We will use  $\mathbb{D}$  to denote  $\mathbb{T}$  or  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $\hat{\mathbb{D}}$  to denote their duals that is  $\mathbb{Z}$  in the case of  $\mathbb{T}$  and  $\mathbb{R}$  in the case of  $\mathbb{R}$ . For concision an integral on on  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ i.e  $\int_{\mathbb{Z}^d}$  should be understood as  $\sum_{\mathbb{Z}}^d$ . A function a is said to be in  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{Z}^d)$  if for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{Z}$   $a(\cdot,\xi) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ . For  $\xi \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  and  $i \in \{1, \cdots, d\}$ ,  $\partial_{\xi_i}$  should be understood as the partial forward difference operator, *i.e* 

$$\partial_{\xi_i} a(\xi_1, \cdots, \xi_i, \cdots, \xi_d) = a(\xi_1, \cdots, \xi_i + 1, \cdots, \xi_d) - a(\xi_1, \cdots, \xi_i, \cdots, \xi_d), \ \xi \in \mathbb{Z}^d.$$

We recall the following simple identities for the Fourier transform on the Torus:

$$\begin{cases} \mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{T}^d}(\partial_x^{\alpha} f)(\xi) = \xi^{\alpha} \mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{T}^d}(f)(\xi), \xi \in \mathbb{Z}^d, \\ \mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{T}^d}((e^{-2i\pi x} - 1)^{\alpha} f)(\xi) = \xi^{\alpha} \mathscr{F}_{\mathbb{T}^d}(f)(\xi), \xi \in \mathbb{Z}^d, x \in \mathbb{T}^d. \end{cases}$$

**Remark 3.1.1.** Henceforth in order to have compact statements including both cases of functions defined on  $\mathbb{T}$  and  $\mathbb{R}$ , we will use the following abuse of notation  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D}^d) = \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , when  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D}^d) = C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ , when  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}$ ).

**Definition 3.1.1** (Littlewood-Paley decomposition). Pick  $P_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  so that,

 $P_0(\xi) = 1 \text{ for } |\xi| < 1 \text{ and } 0 \text{ for } |\xi| > 2.$ 

We define a dyadic decomposition of unity by:

for 
$$k \ge 1$$
,  $P_{\le k}(\xi) = \Phi_0(2^{-k}\xi)$ ,  $P_k(\xi) = P_{\le k}(\xi) - P_{\le k-1}(\xi)$ .

Thus,

$$P_{\leq k}(\xi) = \sum_{0 \leq j \leq k} P_j(\xi) \text{ and } 1 = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} P_j(\xi).$$

Introduce the operator acting on  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$ :

$$P_{\leq k}u = \mathscr{F}^{-1}(P_{\leq k}(\xi)u) \text{ and } u_k = \mathscr{F}^{-1}(P_k(\xi)u)$$

Thus,

$$u = \sum_{k} u_k.$$

Finally put  $\{k \ge 1, C_k = \text{supp } P_k\}$  the set of rings associated to this decomposition.

**Remark 3.1.2.** An interesting property of the Littlewood-Paley decomposition is that even if the decomposed function is merely a distribution the terms of the decomposition are regular, indeed they all have compact spectrum and thus are entire functions. On classical functions spaces this regularization effect can be "measured" by the following inequalities due to Bernstein.

**Proposition 3.1.1** (Bernstein's inequalities). Suppose that  $a \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  has its spectrum contained in the ball  $\{|\xi| \leq \lambda\}$ . Then  $a \in C^{\infty}$  and for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$  and  $1 \leq p \leq q \leq +\infty$ , there is  $C_{\alpha,p,q}$  (independent of  $\lambda$ ) such that

$$\left\|\partial_x^{\alpha}a\right\|_{L^q} \le C_{\alpha,p,q}\lambda^{\left|\alpha\right| + \frac{d}{p} - \frac{d}{q}} \left\|a\right\|_{L^p}.$$

In particular,

$$\|\partial_x^{\alpha} a\|_{L^q} \le C_{\alpha} \lambda^{|\alpha|} \|a\|_{L^p}, \text{ and for } p = 2, \ p = \infty$$
$$\|a\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \lambda^{\frac{d}{2}} \|a\|_{L^2}.$$

If moreover a has it's spectrum is in  $\{0 < \mu \le |\xi| \le \lambda\}$  then:

$$C_{\alpha,q}^{-1}\mu^{|\alpha|} \|a\|_{L^{q}} \le \|\partial_{x}^{\alpha}a\|_{L^{q}} \le C_{\alpha,q}\lambda^{|\alpha|} \|a\|_{L^{q}}.$$

**Proposition 3.1.2.** For all  $\mu > 0$ , there is a constant C such that for all  $\lambda > 0$  and for all  $\alpha \in W^{\mu,\infty}$  with spectrum contained in  $\{|\xi| \ge \lambda\}$ . one has the following estimate:

$$\|a\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C\lambda^{-\mu} \|a\|_{W^{\mu,\infty}}.$$

**Definition 3.1.2** (Singular support).  $f \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is said to be  $C^{\infty}$  in a neighborhood of x, if there exists a neighborhood  $\omega$  of x such that for all  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\omega)$  we have  $\psi f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

The singular support of a distribution f, sing supp f, is defined as the complementary of such points and is clearly closed.

**Definition 3.1.3** (Zygmund spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ). For  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  we define the space:

$$C^{r}_{*}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \subset \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \ by \ C^{r}_{*}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) = \left\{ u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \left\| u \right\|_{r} = \sup_{q} 2^{qr} \left\| u_{q} \right\|_{\infty} < \infty \right\}$$

equipped with its canonical topology giving it a Banach space structure. It's a classical result that for  $r \notin \mathbb{N}$ ,  $C^r_*(\mathbb{R}^d) = W^{r,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the classic Hölder spaces. We define the local spaces:

$$C^{r}_{*,loc}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) = \left\{ u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \forall \psi \in C^{\infty}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \psi u \in C^{r}_{*}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \right\}$$

**Proposition 3.1.3.** Let B be a ball with center 0. There exists a constant C such that for all r > 0 and for all  $(u_q)_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  verifying:

 $\forall q, \operatorname{supp} \hat{u_q} \subset 2^q B \text{ and } (2^{qr} \|u_q\|_{\infty})_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \text{ is bounded}$ 

then, 
$$u = \sum_{q} u_{q} \in C^{r}_{*}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \text{ and } \|u\|_{r} \leq \frac{C}{1 - 2^{-r}} sup_{q \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{qr} \|u_{q}\|_{\infty}.$$

For the definition of spaces in open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  we follow the presentation of [25]. Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

**Definition 3.1.4** (Zygmund spaces on  $\Omega$ ). For  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  we define the space:

$$C^r_*(\Omega) \subset \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), \ by \ C^r_*(\Omega) = \left\{ u \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), u = U_{|\Omega} \ for \ some \ U \in C^r_*(\mathbb{R}^d) \right\}$$

equipped with its canonical topology i.e

$$\|u\|_{C^r_*(\Omega)} = \inf_{\substack{U \in C^r_*(\mathbb{R}^d) \\ U_{|\Omega} = u}} \|U\|_{C^r_*(\mathbb{R}^d)}$$

giving it a Banach space structure. We define the local spaces:

$$C^r_{*,loc}(\Omega) = \left\{ u \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), \forall \psi \in C^\infty_0(\Omega), \psi u \in C^r_*(\Omega) \right\}.$$

**Definition 3.1.5** (Sobolev spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ). It is also a classical result that for  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) = \left\{ u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{d}), |u|_{s} = \left( \sum_{q} 2^{2qs} ||u_{q}||_{L^{2}}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} < \infty \right\}$$

with the right hand side equipped with its canonical topology giving it a Hilbert space structure and  $| |_s$  is equivalent to the usual norm on  $|| ||_{H^s}$ . We define the local spaces:

$$H^s_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d) = \left\{ u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d), \forall \psi \in C^\infty_0(\mathbb{R}^d), \psi u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d) \right\}.$$

**Proposition 3.1.4.** Let B be a ball with center 0. There exists a constant C such that for all s > 0 and for all  $(u_a)_{\in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$  verifying:

 $\forall q, \operatorname{supp} \hat{u_q} \subset 2^q B \text{ and } (2^{qs} \|u_q\|_{L^2})_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \text{ is in } L^2(\mathbb{N})$ 

then, 
$$u = \sum_{q} u_{q} \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$$
 and  $|u|_{s} \leq \frac{C}{1 - 2^{-s}} \left(\sum_{q} 2^{2qs} ||u_{q}||_{L^{2}}^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

**Remark 3.1.3.** The previous definition and properties of the Littlewood-Paley decomposition, Zygmund spaces and Sobolev spaces carries out naturally to  $\mathbb{T}^d$ .

**Definition 3.1.6** (Sobolev spaces on  $\Omega$ ). For  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  we define the space

$$H^{s}(\Omega) \subset \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), \ by \ H^{s}(\Omega) = \left\{ u \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), u = U_{|\Omega} \ for \ some \ U \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \right\},$$

equipped with its canonical topology i.e,

$$\|u\|_{H^s(\Omega)} = \inf_{\substack{U \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d) \\ U_{|\Omega} = u}} \|U\|_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)},$$

giving it a Hilbert space structure<sup>1</sup>. We define the local spaces:

$$H^s_{loc}(\Omega) = \left\{ u \in \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), \forall \psi \in C^\infty_0(\Omega), \psi u \in H^s(\Omega) \right\}.$$

**Remark 3.1.4.** This definition of the functions in an open subset might not seem as the most natural, in fact there are different ways(intrinsically, extrinsically, by interpolation etc...) to define  $H^{s}(\Omega)$  and when no regularity assumption is put on  $\Omega$  and they don't necessarily match. In [25] they show that when  $\Omega$  has Lipschitz regularity all the different definitions of  $H^{s}(\Omega)$  coincide.

We recall the usual nonlinear estimates in Sobolev spaces:

• If  $u_j \in H^{s_j}(\mathbb{R}^d), j = 1, 2$ , and  $s_1 + s_2 > 0$  then  $u_1 u_2 \in H^{s_0}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and if

$$s_0 \le s_j, j = 1, 2 \text{ and } s_0 \le s_1 + s_2 - \frac{d}{2},$$

then  $||u_1u_2||_{H^{s_0}} \le K ||u_1||_{H^{s_1}} ||u_2||_{H^{s_2}}$ ,

where the last inequality is strict if  $s_1$  or  $s_2$  or  $-s_0$  is equal to  $\frac{d}{2}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This is not immediate from the definition but is a consequence of the fact that  $H^{s}(\Omega)$  can be seen as a quotient of  $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  by a closed subset, for a full presentation see [25].

• For all  $C^{\infty}$  function F vanishing at the origin, if  $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with  $s > \frac{d}{2}$ , then,

$$||F(u)||_{H^s} \le C(||u||_{H^s})$$

for some non decreasing function C depending only on F.

Finally we present a classic result for operator estimates by Y.Meyer [54]:

**Lemma 3.1.1** (Meyer multipliers). Let  $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$ , and suppose we have a sequence:

$$m_p \in C^{\infty}, \ \forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \ \sum_{|\alpha|=k} \|\partial^{\alpha} m_p\|_{\infty} \leq C_k 2^{p(k+\delta)}$$

The mapping  $M : u \mapsto \sum m_p u_p = Mu$  maps  $H^s$  to  $H^{s-\delta}$  and  $C^r_*$  to  $C^{r-\delta}_*$  for all  $s, r > \delta$ , with operators norms depending only on the  $C_k$  for  $k \leq E(s-\delta) + 1$  or  $k \leq E(r-\delta) + 1$ .

Here we recall the usual Kato-Ponce [44] commutator estimates:

**Proposition 3.1.5.** Consider s > 0 and  $f, g \in H^s$  then

 $\|[\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^{s}, f]g\|_{L^{2}} \leq C(\|f\|_{W^{1,\infty}} \|g\|_{H^{s-1}} + \|f\|_{H^{s}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}}).$ 

# 3.2 Notions of microlocal analysis

In this paragraph we start by reviewing classic notations and results about pseudodifferential calculus, Fourier integral operators and paradifferential calculus, which can be found in [35], [36], [73], [11] and [53] as an accessible presentation to the theories and from which we follow the presentation. Moreover we complete this by our study of the support of the composition of two paradifferential operators.

#### 3.2.1 Pseudodifferential Calculus

We introduce here the basic definitions and symbolic calculus results. We first introduce the classes of regular symbols.

**Definition 3.2.1.** Given  $m \in \mathbb{R}, 0 \leq \rho \leq 1$  and  $0 \leq \sigma \leq 1$  we denote the symbol class  $S^m_{\rho,\sigma}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  the set of all  $a \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  such that for all multi-orders  $\alpha, \beta$  we have the estimate:

$$\left|\partial_x^{\alpha}\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)\right| \leq C_{\alpha,\beta}(1+|\xi|)^{m-\rho\beta+\sigma\alpha}.$$

 $S^m_{\rho,\sigma}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  is a Fréchet space with the topology defined by the family of seminorms:

$$M^m_{\alpha,\beta}(a) = \sup_{i \le \alpha, j \le \beta} \sup_{\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} \left| \partial^i_x \partial^j_\xi a(x,\xi) (1+|\xi|)^{\rho j - m - \sigma i} \right|.$$

Set

$$S^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d) = S^m_{1,0}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d),$$

$$S^{-\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d) = \bigcap_{m \in \mathbb{R}} S^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d) \text{ and } S^{+\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d) = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{R}} S^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$$

equipped with their canonically induced topology.

Given a symbol  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$ , we define the pseudodifferential operator:

For  $u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  we have

$$Op(a)u(x) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} e^{ix.\xi} a(x,\xi) \hat{u}(\xi) d\xi$$
  
=  $(2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} e^{ix.\xi} a(x,\xi) \int_{\mathbb{D}^d} e^{-iy.\xi} u(y) dy d\xi$   
=  $\int_{\hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} \left( (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{D}^d} e^{i(x-y).\xi} a(x,\xi) d\xi \right) u(y) dy.$ 

Thus giving us the following Proposition.

**Proposition 3.2.1.** For  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$ , Op(a) has a kernel K defined by

$$K(x,y) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} e^{i(x-y).\xi} a(x,\xi) d\xi = (2\pi)^{-n} \mathscr{F}_{\xi} a(x,y-x).$$
(3.2.1)

Which can be inverted to give:

$$a(x,\xi) = \mathscr{F}_{y \to \xi} K(x,x-y) = \int_{\mathbb{D}^d} e^{-iy.\xi} K(x,x-y) dy$$
$$= (-1)^d e^{-ix.\xi} \int_{\mathbb{D}^d} e^{iy.\xi} K(x,y) dy.$$
(3.2.2)

**Definition 3.2.2.** Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ , an operator T is said to be of order m if, and only if, for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ , it is bounded from  $H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  to  $H^{\mu-m}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ .

**Theorem 3.2.1.** If  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$ , then a(x, D) is an operator of order m. Moreover we have the norm estimate:

$$||a(x,D)||_{H^{\mu} \to H^{\mu-m}} \le CM^{m}_{\mu,m+d/2+1}(a).$$

We will now present the main results in symbolic calculus associated to pseudodifferential operators.

**Theorem 3.2.2.** Let  $m, m' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  and  $b \in S^{m'}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$ .

 Composition: Then Op(a) ∘ Op(b) is a pseudodifferential operator of order m + m' with symbol a ⊗ b defined by:

$$a \otimes b(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} e^{i(x-y).(\xi-\eta)} a(x,\eta) b(y,\xi) dy d\eta$$

Moreover,

$$Op(a) \circ Op(b)(x,\xi) - Op(\sum_{|\alpha| < k} \frac{1}{i^{|\alpha|} \alpha!} (\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} a(x,\xi)) (\partial_{x}^{\alpha} b(x,\xi))) \text{ is of order } m + m' - k$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

• Adjoint: The adjoint operator of Op(a), that will note Op(a)<sup>t</sup> to avoid confusion with the pullback operator defined in this work, is a pseudodifferential operator of order m with symbol a<sup>t</sup> defined by:

$$a^{t}(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{D}^{d} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^{d}} e^{-iy.\eta} \bar{a}(x-y,\xi-\eta) dy d\eta$$

Moreover,

$$Op(a^{t})(x,\xi) - Op(\sum_{|\alpha| < k} \frac{1}{i^{|\alpha|} \alpha!} (\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{x}^{\alpha} \bar{a}(x,\xi))) \text{ is of order } m - k$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Definition 3.2.3.** Let  $(a_j) \in S^{m_j}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  be a series of symbols with  $(m_j) \in \mathbb{R}^d$  decreasing to  $-\infty$ . We say that  $a \in S^{m_0}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  is the asymptotic sum of  $(a_j)$  if

$$\forall k \in \mathbb{N}, a - \sum_{j=0}^{k} a_j \in S^{m_{k+1}}(\mathbb{D}^d).$$

We denote  $a \sim \sum a_j$ 

Remark 3.2.1. We can now write simply:

$$a \otimes b \sim \sum_{|\alpha|} \frac{1}{i^{|\alpha|} \alpha!} (\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} a(x,\xi)) (\partial_{x}^{\alpha} b(x,\xi))$$

and

$$a^t \sim \sum_{|\alpha|} \frac{1}{i^{|\alpha|} \alpha!} (\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_x^{\alpha} \bar{a}(x,\xi)).$$

**Proposition 3.2.2** (Pseudo-local property). Let  $a \in S^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  and let K be its kernel. Then K is  $C^{\infty}$  for  $x \neq y$ . In particular, for all  $u \in \mathscr{S}'$ :

sing supp 
$$a(x, D)u \subset sing supp u$$

*Proof.* Let  $x \neq y, \psi, \theta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d), \psi = 1$  near  $x, \theta = 1$  near y and  $\operatorname{supp} \psi \cap \operatorname{supp} \theta = \emptyset$ . Then  $\tilde{K}(x, y) = \psi(x)K(x, y)\theta(y)$  is the kernel of the operator  $\psi a\theta$ . By Theorem 3.2.2,  $\psi a\theta \sim 0$  thus is of order  $-\infty$  which finishes the proof.

Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . We will now define the notion of local symbols and operators in an open set.

**Definition 3.2.4** (Local operators and symbols). We define  $S^m(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  to be the set of  $a \in C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  such that for all multi-orders  $\alpha, \beta$  we have the estimate:

$$\left|\partial_x^{\alpha}\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)\right| \le C_{\alpha,\beta}(1+|\xi|)^{m-\rho\beta+\sigma\alpha}$$

 $S^m(\Omega^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  is a Fréchet space with the topology defined by the family of semi-norms:

$$M^m_{\alpha,\beta}(a) = \sup_{i \le \alpha, j \le \beta} \sup_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} \left| \partial^i_x \partial^j_{\xi} a(x,\xi) (1+|\xi|)^{\rho j - m - \sigma i} \right|$$

We define the local spaces:

$$S^m_{loc}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d) = \left\{ a \in C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d), \forall \psi \in C^{\infty}_0(\Omega), \psi a \in S^m(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d) \right\},\$$

equipped with its canonical topology giving it a Fréchet space structure.

If  $a \in S^m(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  or  $S^m_{loc}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ , the usual formula

$$Au(x) = a(x, D)u(x) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{ix.\xi} a(x, \xi)\hat{u}(\xi)d\xi$$

defines an operator respectively from  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d), \mathscr{E}'(\Omega)$  to  $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ , which can be restricted to an operator  $\mathscr{E}'(\Omega) \to \mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$  and  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

The link between such operators and the operators obtained by cut-off from global operators is given by the following Proposition:

**Proposition 3.2.3.** Let  $A: v \to C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  be a continuous linear operator such that for all  $\psi, \theta \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega), \ \psi A \theta \in \operatorname{Op}(S^m)$ . Then there exists  $a' \in S^m(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  with A=a'(x,D)+R, where R is an operator with kernel in  $C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \Omega)$ .

Proof. Let  $(\psi_j) \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  be a partition of unity locally finite over  $\Omega$ . Put  $\psi_j A \psi_k = A_{jk} \in \operatorname{Op}(S^m)$  then

$$Au = \sum_{j,k} \psi_j A\psi_k = \sum_{\substack{j,k\\ \operatorname{supp}\psi_j \cap \psi_k \neq \emptyset}} A_{jk} + \sum_{\substack{j,k\\ \operatorname{supp}\psi_j \cap \psi_k = \emptyset}} A_{jk}$$

Then

$$a' = \sum_{\substack{j,k\\ \text{supp }\psi_j \cap \psi_k \neq \emptyset}} A_{jk} \in S^m(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$$

because for  $\forall \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ ,  $\psi a'$  is a finite sum by definition of a partition of unity locally finite.

The remainder has a kernel:

$$\sum_{\substack{j,k,\\ \text{upp }\psi_j\cap\psi_k=\emptyset}}\psi_j(x)K(x,y)\psi_k(y)\in C^{\infty}(\Omega\times\Omega)$$

by the pseudo-local property, Proposition 3.2.2.

s

We see from the previous definition that there is subtlety with the support of the functions if one want for example to define  $A^t$ . The following class of local operators clarifies that problem:

**Definition 3.2.5** (Properly supported operators). A continuous linear operator  $A: C_0^{\infty}(\Omega) \to C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is said to be properly supported if, for any compact subset  $K \subset \Omega$ , there exists a compact subset  $K' \subset \Omega$  with:

$$\operatorname{supp} u \subset K \Longrightarrow \operatorname{supp} Au \subset K' \text{ and } u = 0 \text{ on } K' \Longrightarrow Au = 0 \text{ on } K$$

We see that such an operator maps  $C_0^{\infty}$  to  $C_0^{\infty}$  and for example  $A^t$  can be extended in a standard way to an operator from  $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$  to itself.

**Proposition 3.2.4.** Let A = a(x, D) where  $a \in S_{loc}^m(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ . There exists an operator R with kernel in  $C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \Omega)$  such that A+R is properly supported.

*Proof.* This is the same proof as Proposition 3.2.3 because

$$\sum_{\substack{j,k,\\ \operatorname{supp}\psi_j\cap\psi_k=\emptyset}} A_{jk}$$

is properly supported.

**Remark 3.2.2.** The previous Proposition tells us that for local regularity considerations we can essentially work with properly supported operators for local symbols (modulo a  $C^{\infty}$  kernel) and by Proposition 3.2.3 we can do the same for operators obtained by cut-off.

#### **3.2.2** Fourier Integral Operators

Here we will give basic definitions and results as presented in part 1 of Hörmander's [35].

We wish to define operators of the form :

$$A_{\omega}u(x) = \int e^{iS(x,\xi)}a(x,\xi)\hat{u}(\xi)d\xi \qquad (3.2.3)$$
$$= \int e^{i(S(x,\xi)-y,\xi)}a(x,\xi)u(y)dy$$
$$= \int e^{i\omega(x,y,\xi)}a(x,\xi)u(y)dyd\xi$$

where u is a regular function, a is a symbol and  $\omega$  is a given function defining the operator A. We can clearly see that for example  $\omega = 0$  the integral in not defined for symbols with  $m \ge -d$ , we thus start by the following definition of suitable phase functions:

**Definition 3.2.6.** Let  $\omega(x, y, \xi)$  be a  $C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  map which is positively homogeneous of degree one with respect to  $\xi$ . Put:

$$R_{\omega} = \left\{ (x, y) \in \Omega \times \Omega, \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}, \omega(x, y, \xi) \text{ has no critical point} \right\}^2,$$

and its compliment  $C_{\omega}$ , which is the projection on  $\Omega \times \Omega$  of the conic set (with respect to  $\xi$ ) of:

$$C = \left\{ (x, y, \xi) \in \Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}, D\omega_{\xi}(x, y, \xi) = 0 \right\}.$$

- Then  $\omega$  is called a phase function on  $R_{\omega} \times \mathbb{R}^d$ .
- $\omega$  is called a non-degenerate phase function if at any point in C, the differentials  $D(\frac{\partial \omega}{\partial \xi_i}), j = 1, ..., d$ , are linearly independent.
- $\omega$  is called an operator phase function on  $R_{\omega} \times \mathbb{R}^d$  if for each fixed x (or y) it has no critical point  $(y,\xi)$  (or $(x,\xi)$ ) with  $\xi \neq 0$ .

 $<sup>{}^{2}</sup>R_{\omega}$  is clearly open.

• For  $U \subset \Omega$  define  $C_{\omega}U = \{x, (x, y) \in C_{\omega} \text{ for some } y \in U\}$ .

The main example here are pseudodifferential operators with  $\omega(x, y, \xi) = (x - y).\xi$ , in that case  $C_{\omega}$  is equal to the diagonal  $\{(x, x), x \in \Omega\}$ , and we see that all of the previous definitions naturally apply in this case.

The following Proposition will give a definition to the weak form of (3.2.3):

$$\langle A_{\omega}u,v\rangle = \langle op_{\omega}(a)u,v\rangle = \int e^{i\omega(x,y,\xi)}a(x,y,\xi)u(y)v(x)dxdyd\xi, \ u,v\in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$
(3.2.4)

**Proposition 3.2.5.** Take a symbol  $a \in S^m_{\rho,\sigma}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d), \rho > 0, \sigma < 1$ , and a phase function  $\omega$  on  $\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d$  (i.e  $R_\omega = \Omega \times \Omega$ ). Then:

1. The oscillatory integral (3.2.4) exists and is a continuous bilinear form for the  $C_0^k$  topologies on u, v if

$$m - k\rho < -N, \ m - k(1 - \sigma) < -N.$$

Thus we obtain a continuous linear map A from  $C_0^k(\Omega)$  to  $\mathscr{D}'^k(\Omega)$  which has a distribution kernel  $K_{\omega} \in \mathscr{D}'^k(\Omega \times \Omega)$  given by the oscillatory integral

$$K_{\omega}(u) = \int e^{i\omega(x,y,\xi)} a(x,y,\xi) u(x,y) dx dy d\xi, \ u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega \times \Omega).$$

2. If  $\omega$  has no critical point  $(y,\xi)$  for each fixed x, then (3.2.3) is defined as an oscillatory integral and we obtain a continuous map  $A : C_0^k(\Omega) \to C(\Omega)$ . By differentiation under the integral sign it follows that A is also continuous map from  $C_0^k(\Omega)$  to  $C^j(\Omega)$  if

$$m - k\rho < -N - j, \ m - k(1 - \sigma) < -N - j.$$

- 3. If  $\omega$  has no critical point  $(x,\xi)$  for each fixed y, then the adjoint of A is defined and has the properties listed in point 2, so A is a continuous map of  $\mathscr{E}'^{j}(\Omega)$ into  $\mathscr{D}'^{k}(\Omega)$ . In particular A defines a continuous map from  $\mathscr{E}'(\Omega)$  into  $\mathscr{D}'(\Omega)$ .
- 4. The oscillatory integral:

$$K_{\omega}(x,y) = \int e^{i\omega(x,y,\xi)} a(x,\xi) d\xi \ defines \ a \ C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \Omega = R_{\omega}) \ map,$$

it follows that A is an integral operator with  $C^{\infty}$  kernel, so A is a continuous map of  $\mathscr{E}'(\Omega)$  to  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

5. We have the generalization of the pseudo-local property:

sing supp 
$$op_{\omega}(a)u = C_{\omega} \operatorname{sing supp} u$$
.

When  $\omega$  is an operator phase function it verifies all the previous properties.

**Proposition 3.2.6.** Let  $\omega(x, y, \xi)$  be a  $C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  map which is positively homogeneous of degree one with respect to  $\xi$  and a be a symbol in  $S^m_{\rho,\sigma}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d), \rho > \sigma$ and that either  $\omega$  is linear or that  $\rho + \sigma = 1$ . Suppose that a vanishes of infinite order on C then we have the same results as in the previous Proposition with m replaced by  $m - \rho + \sigma$ .

If a just vanishes on C then we can find  $b \in S^{m-\delta+\rho}_{\rho,\sigma}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  such that we have the formal equality  $op_{\omega}(a)u = op_{\omega}(b)u$ .

As Hörmander summed up, when  $\omega$  is non degenerate the singularities of the distribution  $u \to op_{\omega}(a)u$  only depend on the Taylor expansion of a on the set C.

The following Proposition, taken from part 2 of [35], gives the natural link between pseudodifferential operators and Fourier Integral operators defined by the phase function  $\omega(x, y, \xi) = (x - y).\xi$ .

**Proposition 3.2.7.** Consider a real number m and a symbol  $c \in S^m(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ , then:

$$a(x,\xi) = \int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} c(x,y,\eta) e^{i(x-y).(\eta-\xi)} dy d\eta \in S^m(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$$

and we have:

$$\forall u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega), op_{(x-y).\xi}(c)u = \operatorname{Op}(a)u = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{ix.\xi} a(x,\xi)\hat{u}(\xi)d\xi.$$

Moreover the asymptotic expansion of a is given by:

$$\forall N \in \mathbb{N}, a(x,\xi) - \sum_{|\alpha| < N} \frac{1}{i^{|\alpha|} \alpha!} \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{y}^{\alpha} c(x,y,\xi)_{|y=x} \in S^{m-N}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d).$$

**Remark 3.2.3.** In the previous setting c is often called an amplitude.

We will not give the proof of these Propositions here but we will present the fundamental Lemma behind those results and the idea behind it. The main problem is to define oscillatory integrals of the form:

$$\int e^{i\omega(x,\xi)}a(x,\xi)u(x)dxd\xi, \ u\in C_0^\infty(\Omega),$$

We start by remarking that the integral is absolutely convergent if a is of order m < -N.

**Lemma 3.2.1.** If  $\omega$  has no critical point  $(x, \xi)$  with  $\xi \neq 0$ , then one can find a first order differential operator

$$L = \sum_{j} h_{j} \frac{\partial}{\xi_{j}} + \tilde{h}_{j} \frac{\partial}{x_{j}} + c$$

with  $h_j \in S^0(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\tilde{h}_j, c \in S^{-1}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $L^t e^{i\omega} = e^{i\omega}$ . *L* is a continuous map from  $S^m_{\rho,\sigma}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  to  $S^{m-\epsilon}_{\rho,\sigma}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  where  $\epsilon = \min(\rho, 1 - \sigma)$ . Taking a symbol a of order m we compute:

$$\int e^{i\omega(x,\xi)}a(x,\xi)u(x)dxd\xi = \int e^{i\omega(x,\xi)}La(x,\xi)u(x)dxd\xi$$
$$= \int e^{i\omega(x,\xi)}L^ka(x,\xi)u(x)dxd\xi$$

under the hypothesis  $\rho > 0$  and  $\sigma < 1$  we have  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $L^k a \in S^{m-k\epsilon}_{\rho,\sigma}(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ , taking  $m - k\epsilon < -N$  and applying the previous remark we see that the integral is then well defined.

#### 3.2.3 Paradifferential Calculus

We start by the definition of symbols with limited spatial regularity. Let  $\mathscr{W} \subset \mathscr{S}'$  be a Banach space.

**Definition 3.2.7.** Given  $\rho \geq 0$  and  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\Gamma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  denotes the space of locally bounded functions  $a(x,\xi)$  on  $\mathbb{D}^d \times (\hat{\mathbb{D}}^d \setminus 0)$ , which are  $C^{\infty}$  with respect to  $\xi$  for  $\xi \neq 0$ and such that, for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$  and for all  $\xi \neq 0$ , the function  $x \mapsto \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} a(x,\xi)$  belongs to  $\mathscr{W}$  and there exists a constant  $C_{\alpha}$  such that for all  $\epsilon > 0$ :

$$\forall \left|\xi\right| > \epsilon, \left\|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}a(.,\xi)\right\|_{\mathscr{W}} \le C_{\alpha,\epsilon}(1+\left|\xi\right|)^{m-\left|\alpha\right|}.$$
(3.2.5)

The spaces  $\Gamma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  are equipped with their natural Fréchet topology induced by the semi-norms defined by the best constants in (3.2.5).

We will essentially work with  $\mathscr{W} = W^{\rho,\infty}$  and write  $\Gamma^m_{\mathscr{W}} = \Gamma^m_{\rho}$ .

For quantitative estimates we introduce as in [53]:

**Definition 3.2.8.** For  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $a \in \Gamma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D})$ , we set

$$M^m_{\mathscr{W}}(a;n) = \sup_{|\alpha| \le n} \sup_{|\xi| \ge \frac{1}{2}} \left\| (1+|\xi|)^{m-|\alpha|} \partial^{\alpha}_{\xi} a(.,\xi) \right\|_{\mathscr{W}}, \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

For  $\mathscr{W} = W^{\rho,\infty}, \rho \ge 0$ , we write:

$$\Gamma^m_{W^{\rho,\infty}}(\mathbb{D}) = \Gamma^m_{\rho}(\mathbb{D}) \text{ and } M^m_{\rho}(a) = M^m_{W^{\rho,\infty}}(a; 1 + \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor).$$

Moreover we introduce the following spaces equipped with their natural Fréchet space structure:

$$\begin{split} C_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) &= \cap_{\rho \ge 0} W^{\rho,\infty}, \ \Gamma_{\infty}^m(\mathbb{D}) = \cap_{\rho \ge 0} \Gamma_{\rho}^m(\mathbb{D}), \ \Gamma_{\rho}^{-\infty}(\mathbb{D}) = \cap_{m \in \mathbb{R}} \Gamma_{\rho}^m(\mathbb{D}) \ and, \\ \Gamma_{\infty}^{-\infty}(\mathbb{D}) &= \cap_{\rho \ge 0} \cap_{m \in \mathbb{R}} \Gamma_{\rho}^m(\mathbb{D}). \end{split}$$

As presented in [36, 53] the idea to define paradifferential operators is to regularize the symbols by a cutoff  $\psi$ , for a paradifferential symbol  $a \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m'}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  we will then associate a symbol  $\sigma_a^{\psi} \in S_{1,1}^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$ . All of the results presented above were for the class  $S_{1,0}^m \subset S_{1,1}^m$  and don't generalize to  $S_{1,1}^m$ , even the  $L^2$  continuity. Looking more closely to  $a \in S_{1,1}^m$  in [36], Hörmander shows that the essential problems that occur are localized in the frequency regions  $(\eta, 0)$  and  $(-\eta, \eta)$  of  $\mathscr{F}_x(a)$ . Thus the idea in paradifferential calculus is regularization by a cutoff in the frequency domain with support bounded away from  $(\eta, 0)$  and  $(-\eta, \eta)$  at infinity. Then  $\sigma_a^{\psi}$  will have this extra spectral localization property that will give them the desired properties as in  $S_{1,0}^m$ . **Definition-Proposition 3.2.1.** Take  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\Sigma_{\mathscr{W}}^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$  denotes the subclass of symbols  $\sigma \in \Gamma_{\mathscr{W}}^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$  which satisfy the following spectral condition:

$$\exists B > 1, b > 0, \ \mathscr{F}_x \sigma(\eta, \xi) = 0 \ for \ |\xi| < B \ |\eta| + b.$$
(3.2.6)

 $\lim \Sigma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  denotes the subclass of symbols  $\sigma \in \Gamma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  which satisfy the following spectral condition:

$$\exists b > 0, \ \mathscr{F}_x \sigma(\eta, \xi) = 0 \ for \ |\xi| < |\eta| + b.$$
(3.2.7)

When  $\mathscr{W} = W^{r,\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  we write  $\Sigma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d) = \Sigma^m_r(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $\lim \Sigma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d) = \lim \Sigma^m_r(\mathbb{D}^d)$ .

 $\mathscr{W} \subset L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d) \Rightarrow \Gamma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d) \subset \Gamma^m_0(\mathbb{D}^d), \ \Sigma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d) \subset \Sigma^m_0(\mathbb{D}^d), \ ^{lim}\Sigma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d) \subset ^{lim}\Sigma^m_0(\mathbb{D}^d).$ 

Moreover, by the Bernstein inequalities (3.1.1):

$$\Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d), \lim \Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d) \subset S_{1,1}^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$$

More generally, the spectral condition implies that symbols in  $\Sigma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ ,  $\lim \Sigma^m_0(\mathbb{D}^d)$  are smooth in x too.

**Remark 3.2.4.** The interesting fact now is  $\Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$  is shown to still enjoy all of the symbolic calculus and continuity properties announced above for  $S_{1,0}^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$ . For  $\lim \Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$  it will still enjoy the symbolic calculus but it's continuity properties will be restricted to  $H^s$ , s > 0 and  $C_*^{\rho}$ ,  $\rho > 0$ .

**Definition-Proposition 3.2.2.** Consider four strictly positive real numbers  $b, (B_i)_{1 \le i \le 3}$  verifying:

$$B_1B_3 > 1 \text{ and } B_3B_2 > B_2 + B_2.$$
 (3.2.8)

Consider  $\psi$  a  $C^{\infty}$  function such that:

1.

$$\psi(\eta,\xi) = 0 \text{ when } |\eta| > B_1 |\xi| + b \text{ or } |\xi| > B_2 |\eta + \xi| + b,$$
  
and  $\psi(\eta,\xi) = 1 \text{ when } |\xi| > B_3 |\eta| + b,$ 

2. for all  $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{N}^d \times \mathbb{N}^d$ , there is  $C_{\alpha_\beta}$ , with  $C_{0,0} \leq 1$ , such that:

$$\forall (\xi,\eta) : \left| \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{\eta}^{\beta} \psi(\xi,\eta) \right| \le C_{\alpha,\beta} (1+|\xi|)^{-|\alpha|-|\beta|}.$$
(3.2.9)

Such a  $\psi$  is called an admissible cut-off function for any positive  $b, (B_i)_{i \in \{1,2,3\}}$  verifying (3.2.8).

The cutoffs defined in the introduction (with the extra gross hypothesis (3.2.9)),  $(\psi_H^B)_{B>2}$  by (1.4.5),  $(\psi_M^{\epsilon})$  by (1.4.6) and  $(\psi^{B,b})_{B>1,b>0}$  by (1.4.7) are all admissible cutoff functions.  $(\psi^{1,b})_{b>0}$  will be called limit cutoff functions.

Figure (3.2.3) illustrate the condition of admissible cutoff functions in the plane  $(\xi, \eta)$  when d = 1.

**Definition-Proposition 3.2.3.** (Regularization of a symbol) Take  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $a \in \Gamma_{\mathscr{W}}^{m}$ ,  $\psi$  an admissible cut-off function and a limit cutoff function  $\psi^{1,b}$ . Define  $\sigma_{a}^{\psi}$  and  $\sigma_{a}^{\psi^{1,b}}$ :

$$\mathscr{F}_x \sigma_a^{\psi}(\xi,\eta) = \psi(\xi,\eta) \mathscr{F}_x a(\xi,\eta) \text{ and } \mathscr{F}_x \sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}}(\xi,\eta) = \psi^{1,b}(\xi,\eta) \mathscr{F}_x a(\xi,\eta).$$

Then  $\sigma_a^{\psi} \in \Sigma_{\mathscr{W}}^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $\sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}} \in \lim \Sigma_{\mathscr{W}}^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$ . When  $\mathscr{W} = W^{r,\infty}(\Omega)$  we have the following properties:

1. This association is bounded:

$$M_r^m(\sigma_a^\psi) \le CM_r^m(a) \text{ and } M_r^m(\sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}}) \le CM_r^m(a)$$

2. We have  $a - \sigma_a^{\psi} \in \Gamma_0^m$  and  $a - \sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}} \in \Gamma_0^m$ , moreover:

$$M_0^{m-r}(\sigma_a^{\psi} - a) \le CM_r^m(a) \text{ and } M_0^{m-r}(\sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}} - a) \le CM_r^m(a).$$

In particular, if  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  are two admissible cut-off functions then the difference  $\sigma_a^{\psi_1} - \sigma_a^{\psi_2}$  belongs to  $\Sigma_0^{m-r}$  and:

$$M_0^{m-r}(\sigma_a^{\psi_1} - \sigma_a^{\psi_2}) \le CM_r^m(a).$$

Respectively we have  $\sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b_1}} - \sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b_2}}$  belongs to  $\lim \Sigma_0^{m-r}$  and:

$$M_0^{m-r}(\sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b_1}} - \sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b_2}}) \le CM_r^m(a).$$



Figure 3.1: Admissible cut-off functions.

Now we list a couple of important calculus properties to the association  $a \mapsto \sigma_a^{\psi}$ and  $a \mapsto \sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}}$ . For the following Proposition we fix a choice of an admissible cutoff function  $\psi$  and  $\psi^{1,b}$ . **Proposition 3.2.8.** • For  $m \in \mathbb{R}, r \ge 0, \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$  of length  $|\alpha| \le r$  and  $a \in \Gamma_r^m$ :  $\partial_x^{\alpha} \sigma_a^{\psi} = \sigma_{\partial_x^{\alpha} a}^{\psi} \in \Sigma_0^m, \quad \partial_x^{\alpha} \sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}} = \sigma_{\partial_x^{\alpha} a}^{\psi^{1,b}} \in {}^{lim} \Sigma_0^m.$ 

• For  $m \in \mathbb{R}, r \geq 0$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$  of length  $|\alpha| \geq r$  the mappings  $a \mapsto \partial_x^{\alpha} \sigma_a^{\psi}$  and  $a \mapsto \partial_x^{\alpha} \sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}}$  are bounded from  $\Gamma_r^m$  to  $\Sigma_0^{m+|\alpha|-r}$  and  $\lim \Sigma_0^{m+|\alpha|-r}$  respectively, more precisely:

$$M_0^{m+|\alpha|-r}(\partial_x^\alpha \sigma_a^\psi, \partial_x^\alpha \sigma_a^{\psi^{1,b}}) \le M_r^m(a)$$

• For  $m \in \mathbb{R}, r \ge 0, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^d$  and  $a \in \Gamma_r^m$ 

$$\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}\sigma_{a}^{\psi} - \sigma_{\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}a}^{\psi} \in \Sigma_{0}^{m-|\beta|-r}, \quad \partial_{\xi}^{\beta}\sigma_{a}^{\psi^{1,b}} - \sigma_{\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}a}^{\psi^{1,b}} \in {}^{lim}\Sigma_{0}^{m-|\beta|-r}$$

From [53] we give an approximation of symbols in  $\Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $\lim \Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$  by symbols in the Schwartz class.

**Lemma 3.2.2.** For all  $\sigma \in \Sigma_0^m$  ( $\sigma \in \lim \Sigma_0^m$  respectively), there is a sequence of symbols  $\sigma_n \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  such that

- 1. the family  $\{\sigma_n\}$  is bounded in  $S_{1,1}^m$ ,
- 2. the  $\sigma_n$  satisfy the spectral condition (3.2.6) ((3.2.7) respectively) for some B > 1, b > 0 independent of n,
- 3.  $\sigma_n \to \sigma$  on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d$ .

The main difference between  $\Sigma_0^m$  and  $\lim \Sigma_0^m$  is captured in their actions on the spectrum of functions. First we give a general result for symbols in  $S_{1,1}^m$  from [53].

**Proposition 3.2.9.** Consider a real number  $m, p \in S_{1,1}^m(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  and  $u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  then the spectrum of Op(p)u is contained in the closure of the set:

 $\left\{\xi+\eta,\xi\in\operatorname{supp}\mathscr{F}u,(\eta,\xi)\in\operatorname{supp}\mathscr{F}_xp\right\}.$ 

This implies the following property for operators verifying the spectral conditions (3.2.6) and (3.2.7).

**Lemma 3.2.3.** Consider a real number  $m, p \in \Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d), q \in \lim \Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$  with parameter B > 1, b > 0 and  $u \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ .

• For R >> b, if supp  $\mathscr{F}u \subset \{|\xi| \leq R\}$ , then:

$$\operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F} \operatorname{Op}(p)u \subset \left\{ |\xi| \le (1 + \frac{1}{B})R - \frac{b}{B} \right\}, \qquad (3.2.10)$$

and 
$$\operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}\operatorname{Op}(q)u \subset \left\{ |\xi| \le 2R - \frac{b}{B} \right\}.$$
 (3.2.11)

• For R >> b, if supp  $\mathscr{F}u \subset \{|\xi| \ge R\}$ , then:

$$\operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F} \operatorname{Op}(p)u \subset \left\{ |\xi| \ge (1 - \frac{1}{B})R + \frac{b}{B} \right\},$$
(3.2.12)

and 
$$\operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F} \operatorname{Op}(q) u \subset \left\{ |\xi| \ge \frac{b}{B} \right\}.$$
 (3.2.13)

**Remark 3.2.5.** It is exactly the lack of lower control (3.2.13) that reduces the continuity properties of  $\lim \Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$  to  $H^s, s > 0$ .

The key new result on the control of spectrum of composition of paradifferential is illustrated in the following.

**Proposition 3.2.10.** Fix a real number m.

1. If  $p, q \in \Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  with parameters B > 1, b > 0 then  $p \otimes q(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} e^{i(x-y).(\xi-\eta)} p(x,\eta)q(y,\xi)dyd\eta,$ 

verifies the spectral condition (3.2.19) with parameters  $\frac{B^2}{2B-1} > 1, b > 0.$ 

2. If  $p, q \in {}^{lim}\Sigma_0^m(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d)$  with parameter b > 0 then

$$p \otimes q(x,\xi) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} e^{i(x-y) \cdot (\xi-\eta)} p(x,\eta) q(y,\xi) dy d\eta,$$

verifies the spectral condition (3.2.7) with parameter b > 0.

*Proof.* We compute:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{F}_{x}(p \otimes q)(\eta,\xi) &= (2\pi)^{-d} \int e^{i(x-y).(\xi-\eta_{1})} e^{-ix.\eta} p(x,\eta_{1}) q(y,\xi) dy d\eta_{1} dx \\ &= (2\pi)^{-3d} \int e^{i(x-y).(\xi-\eta_{1})} e^{-ix.\eta} e^{ix.\eta_{2}} e^{iy.\eta_{3}} \mathscr{F}_{x}(p)(\eta_{2},\eta_{1}) \mathscr{F}_{x}(q)(\eta_{3},\xi) dx dy d\eta_{1} d\eta_{2} d\eta_{3} \\ &= (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\substack{B|\tilde{\eta}|+b \leq |\xi|\\B|\eta-\tilde{\eta}|+b \leq |\xi-\tilde{\eta}|}} \mathscr{F}_{x}(p)(\eta-\tilde{\eta},\xi-\tilde{\eta}) \mathscr{F}_{x}(q)(\tilde{\eta},\xi) d\tilde{\eta}, \end{aligned}$$

where we used  $\mathscr{F}_x(e^{ix\cdot\xi})(\eta) = (2\pi)^d \delta_0(\eta-\xi).$ 

The goal is to investigate if one can find  $\eta$  and  $\tilde{\eta}$  such that:

$$B\left|\eta\right| + b > \xi \tag{3.2.14}$$

$$B\left|\tilde{\eta}\right| + b \le |\xi| \tag{3.2.15}$$

$$B\left|\eta - \tilde{\eta}\right| + b \le \left|\xi - \tilde{\eta}\right| \tag{3.2.16}$$

and in that case find an upper bound on  $|\eta|$ . In order to have the largest  $|\eta|$  possible by (3.2.16) and the triangle inequality,  $\tilde{\eta}$  needs to be on the straight line  $(\eta, \xi)$ .

Thus the problem is reduced to d = 1. The strategy is to investigate what happens in the different regions of the plane  $(\eta, \xi)$ .

First for  $\eta, \xi \ge 0$ , we have:

$$B\left|\tilde{\eta}\right| + b \le \left|\xi\right| < B\left|\eta\right| + b \Rightarrow \begin{cases} \left|\tilde{\eta}\right| < \xi \\ \left|\tilde{\eta}\right| < \eta \end{cases} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} \left|\xi - \tilde{\eta}\right| = \xi - \tilde{\eta} \\ \left|\eta - \tilde{\eta}\right| = \eta - \tilde{\eta} \end{cases}$$

Thus by (3.2.16):

$$B\eta - B\tilde{\eta} + b \le \xi - \tilde{\eta} \Rightarrow B\eta - \xi + b \le (B - 1)\tilde{\eta},$$

if B = 1 we get

$$\eta + b \le \xi,$$

which is the desired result. If not, B > 1, we have:

$$\frac{B}{B-1}\eta - \frac{\xi}{B-1} + \frac{b}{B-1} \le \tilde{\eta},$$

thus by (3.2.15):

$$\frac{B^2}{B-1}\eta - \frac{B}{B-1}\xi + b\frac{B}{B-1} \le \xi - b \Rightarrow \frac{B^2}{B-1}\eta + b\frac{2B-1}{B-1} \le \frac{2B-1}{B-1}\xi,$$

which give the desired upper bound:

$$\frac{B^2}{2B-1}\eta + b \le \xi.$$

For  $\eta \leq 0, \xi \geq 0$  we see that:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{F}_x(p\otimes q)(\eta,\xi) &= \overline{\mathscr{F}_x(\operatorname{Re}(p\otimes q))(-\eta,\xi)} + i\overline{\mathscr{F}_x(\operatorname{Im}(p\otimes q))(-\eta,\xi)} \\ &= \overline{\mathscr{F}_x(\operatorname{Re}(p)\otimes\operatorname{Re}(q))(-\eta,\xi)} - \overline{\mathscr{F}_x(\operatorname{Im}(p)\otimes\operatorname{Im}(q))(-\eta,\xi)} \\ &+ i\overline{\mathscr{F}_x(\operatorname{Im}(p)\otimes\operatorname{Re}(q))(-\eta,\xi)} + i\overline{\mathscr{F}_x(\operatorname{Re}(p)\otimes\operatorname{Im}(q))(-\eta,\xi)}, \end{aligned}$$

where,

$$p(x,\xi) = \operatorname{Re}(p)(x,\xi) + i\operatorname{Im}(p)(x,\xi), \ q(x,\xi) = \operatorname{Re}(q)(x,\xi) + i\operatorname{Im}(q)(x,\xi).$$

By linearity  $\operatorname{Re}(p)$ ,  $\operatorname{Im}(p)$ ,  $\operatorname{Re}(q)$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(q)$  verify the spectral condition with parameters B, b, thus we deduce from the previous case:

$$-\frac{B^2}{2B-1}\eta + b \le \xi \iff \frac{B^2}{2B-1}|\eta| + b \le \xi.$$

For  $\eta, \xi \leq 0$  we have:

$$B\left|\tilde{\eta}\right| + b \le |\xi| < B\left|\eta\right| + b \Rightarrow \begin{cases} |\tilde{\eta}| < -\xi \\ |\tilde{\eta}| < -\eta \end{cases} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} |\xi - \tilde{\eta}| = \tilde{\eta} - \xi \\ |\eta - \tilde{\eta}| = \tilde{\eta} - \eta \end{cases}$$

.

Thus by (3.2.16):

$$B\tilde{\eta} - B\eta + b \le \tilde{\eta} - \xi \Rightarrow -B\eta + \xi + b \le -(B-1)\tilde{\eta},$$

if B = 1 we get:

$$-\eta + b \le -\xi,$$

which is the desired result. If not, B > 1, we have:

$$-\frac{B}{B-1}\eta + \frac{\xi}{B-1} + \frac{b}{B-1} \le -\tilde{\eta},$$

thus by (3.2.15):

$$-\frac{B^2}{B-1}\eta + \frac{B}{B-1}\xi + b\frac{B}{B-1} \le -\xi - b \Rightarrow -\frac{B^2}{B-1}\eta + b\frac{2B-1}{B-1} \le -\frac{2B-1}{B-1}\xi,$$

which give the desired upper bound:

$$-\frac{B^2}{2B-1}\eta + b \le -\xi.$$

For  $\eta \ge 0, \xi \le 0$  the result is again deduced from the identity:

$$\mathscr{F}_x(p\otimes q)(\eta,\xi) = \overline{\mathscr{F}_x(\operatorname{Re}(p\otimes q))(-\eta,\xi)} + i\overline{\mathscr{F}_x(\operatorname{Im}(p\otimes q))(-\eta,\xi)}.$$

**Remark 3.2.6.** The proof verbatim generalizes to the case where we would have taken p, q verifying the spectral condition (3.2.7) with two different parameters B, B' and b, we would have found that  $p \otimes q$  verifies the spectral condition with parameter  $\frac{BB'}{B+B'-1}$  and b.

**Corollary 3.2.1.** Take  $m, m' \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $\rho > 0$ ,  $a \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m}(\mathbb{D}^{d})$  and  $b \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m'}(\mathbb{D}^{d})$ . Consider an admissible cut-off function  $\psi^{B,b}$  with B > 1, b > defined by (1.4.7) and a limit cut-off function  $\psi^{1,b}$ . Then we have:

$$\operatorname{Op}\left(\sigma_{a}^{\psi^{B,b}}\right) \circ \operatorname{Op}\left(\sigma_{b}^{\psi^{B,b}}\right) = \operatorname{Op}\left(\sigma_{a}^{\psi^{B,b}\otimes\sigma_{b}^{\psi^{B,b}}\otimes\sigma_{b}^{\psi^{B,b}}}\right),$$
$$\operatorname{Op}\left(\sigma_{a}^{\psi^{1,b}}\right) \circ \operatorname{Op}\left(\sigma_{b}^{\psi^{1,b}}\right) = \operatorname{Op}\left(\sigma_{a}^{\psi^{1,b}\otimes\sigma_{b}^{\psi^{1,b}}\otimes\sigma_{b}^{\psi^{1,b}}}\right).$$

**Definition 3.2.9.** Consider a real numbers  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ , a symbol  $a \in \Gamma_{\mathscr{W}}^m$  and an admissible cutoff function  $\psi$  define the paradifferential operator  $T_a$  by:

$$\widehat{T_a u}(\xi) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} \psi(\xi - \eta, \eta) \hat{a}(\xi - \eta, \eta) \hat{u}(\eta) d\eta,$$

where  $\hat{a}(\eta,\xi) = \int e^{-ix\cdot\eta} a(x,\xi) dx$  is the Fourier transform of a with respect to the first variable. For a limit cut-off  $\psi^{1,b}$  we define:

$$\widehat{T_a^{lim}u}(\xi) = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} \psi^{1,b}(\xi - \eta, \eta) \hat{a}(\xi - \eta, \eta) \hat{u}(\eta) d\eta$$

The connection between two different choices of cut-offs is the following:

$$\forall a \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m}, (B, B', b, b') \in [1, +\infty[^{2} \times ]0, +\infty[^{2}, \sigma_{a}^{\psi^{B, b}} - \sigma_{a}^{\psi^{B', b'}} \in \Gamma_{0}^{m-\rho}.$$
(3.2.17)

The first main features of paradifferential operators is their continuity given by the following Theorems.

**Theorem 3.2.3.** Take  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ . If  $a \in \Gamma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$ , then  $T_a$  is of order m. Moreover, for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists a constant K such that:

$$\|T_a\|_{H^{\mu} \to H^{\mu-m}} \le KM_0^m(a), \text{ and,}$$
$$\|T_a\|_{W^{\mu,\infty} \to W^{\mu-m,\infty}} \le KM_0^m(a), \mu \notin \mathbb{N}.$$

By Theorem 4.3.1 of [53] and Bernstein inequalities we get.

**Theorem 3.2.4.** Take  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $a \in \Gamma_0^m(\mathbb{D}^d)$ , then for all  $\mu > 0$  there exists a constant K such that:

$$\begin{split} \left\| T_a^{lim} \right\|_{H^{\mu} \to H^{\mu-m}} &\leq K M_0^m(a). \\ \left\| T_a^{lim} \right\|_{W^{\mu,\infty} \to W^{\mu-m,\infty}} &\leq K M_0^m(a), \mu \notin \mathbb{N}. \end{split}$$

The symbolic calculus for paradifferential operators is their continuity given by the following Theorem from [53].

**Theorem 3.2.5.** Take  $m, m' \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $\rho > 0$ ,  $a \in \Gamma^m_{\rho}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $b \in \Gamma^{m'}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ .

• Composition: Then  $T_aT_b$  is a paradifferential operator of order m + m' and  $T_aT_b - T_{a\#b}$  is of order  $m + m' - \rho$  where a#b is defined by:

$$a \# b = \sum_{|\alpha| < \rho} \frac{1}{i^{|\alpha|} \alpha!} \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} a \partial_{x}^{\alpha} b$$

Moreover, for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists a constant K such that

$$\|T_a T_b - T_{a\#b}\|_{H^{\mu} \to H^{\mu-m-m'+\rho}} \le K(M_{\rho}^m(a)M_0^{m'}(b) + M_{\rho}^m(a)M_0^{m'}(b)).$$

• Adjoint: The adjoint operator of  $T_a$ , that we will note  $T_a^t$  to again avoid confusion with the pull back operator defined in this work, is a paradifferential operator of order m with symbol  $a^t$  defined by:

$$a^{t} = \sum_{|\alpha| < \rho} \frac{1}{i^{|\alpha|} \alpha!} \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{x}^{\alpha} \bar{a}$$
(3.2.18)

Moreover, for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists a constant K such that:

 $\left\|T_a^t - T_{a^t}\right\|_{H^\mu \to H^{\mu-m+\rho}} \le K M_\rho^m(a).$ 

Combining Theorem 3.2.5 with Corollary 3.2.1 we get the following more precise Theorem on composition of paradifferential operators.

**Theorem 3.2.6.** Take  $m, m' \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $\rho > 0$ ,  $a \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m}(\mathbb{D}^{d})$  and  $b \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{m'}(\mathbb{D}^{d})$ . Then there exists  $r \in \Gamma_{0}^{m+m'-\rho}(\mathbb{D}^{d})$  such that:

$$M_0^{m+m'-\rho}(r) \le K(M_{\rho}^m(a)M_0^{m'}(b) + M_{\rho}^m(a)M_0^{m'}(b)),$$

and we have

$$T_{a}^{\psi^{B,b}}T_{b}^{\psi^{B,b}} - T_{a\#b}^{\psi^{\frac{B^{2}}{2B-1},b}} = T_{r}^{\psi^{\frac{B^{2}}{2B-1},b}}$$
$$T_{a}^{lim}T_{b}^{lim} - T_{a\#b}^{lim} = T_{r}^{lim}.$$

If a = a(x) is a function of x only, the paradifferential operator  $T_a$  is called a para-product. With a good choice of (B, b) in the definition of the cut-off function with respect to our choice of the dyadic decomposition of unity in the Littlewood-Paley decomposition we get that when a = a(x),  $T_a$  takes the usual form:

$$T_a u = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \Phi_{k-1} a u_k.$$

It follows from Theorem 3.2.5 and the Sobolev embeddings that:

• If  $a \in H^{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $b \in H^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  with  $\alpha, \beta > \frac{d}{2}$ , then

$$T_a T_b - T_{ab}$$
 is of order  $-\left(\min\left\{\alpha,\beta\right\} - \frac{d}{2}\right)$ .

• If  $a \in H^{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  with  $\alpha > \frac{d}{2}$ , then

$$T_a^t - T_{a^t}$$
 is of order  $-\left(\alpha - \frac{d}{2}\right)$ .

An important feature of para-products is that they are well defined for function a = a(x) which are not  $L^{\infty}$  but merely in some Sobolev spaces  $H^r$  with  $r < \frac{d}{2}$ .

**Proposition 3.2.11.** Take m > 0. If  $a \in H^{\frac{d}{2}-m}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $u \in H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  then,

$$T_a u \in H^{\mu-m}(\mathbb{D}^d), \ and \ \|T_a u\|_{H^{\mu-m}} \le K \|a\|_{H^{\frac{d}{2}-m}} \|u\|_{H^{\mu}}$$

A main feature of para-products is the existence of para-linearization Theorems which allow us to replace nonlinear expressions by paradifferential expressions, at the price of error terms which are smoother than the main terms.

**Theorem 3.2.7.** Let  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$  be such that  $\alpha, \beta > \frac{d}{2}$ , then

• Bony's Linearization Theorem: for all  $C^{\infty}$  function F, if  $a \in H^{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  then

$$F(a) - F(0) - T_{F'(a)}a \in H^{2\alpha - \frac{d}{2}}(\mathbb{D}^d).$$

• If  $a \in H^{\alpha}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $b \in H^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ , then  $ab - T_ab - T_ba \in H^{\alpha+\beta-\frac{d}{2}}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ . Moreover there exists a positive constant K independent of a and b such that:

$$\|ab - T_ab - T_ba\|_{H^{\alpha+\beta-\frac{d}{2}}} \le K \|a\|_{H^{\alpha}} \|b\|_{H^{\beta}}$$

# 3.2.3.1 Link between Fourier Integral Operators and paradifferential operators

In order to give the link between Paradifferential operators and Fourier Integral Operators we start by defining the space of amplitudes for Paradifferential operators.

**Definition-Proposition 3.2.4.** Take  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $A_{\mathscr{W}}^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  denotes the subclass of symbols  $c \in \Gamma^m(\mathscr{W} \times \mathscr{W} \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  which satisfy the following spectral condition

$$\exists B > 1, b > 0, \mathscr{F}_{x,y}c(\xi,\zeta,\eta) = 0 \text{ for } B |\xi-\zeta| + b > |\eta| \text{ or } B |\zeta| + b > |\eta|.$$
(3.2.19)

When  $\mathscr{W} = W^{r,\infty}(\Omega)$  we write  $A^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{R}^d) = A^m_r(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

By the Bernstein inequalities (3.1.1),  $A_0^m(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset S_{1,1}^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . More generally, the spectral condition implies that symbols in  $A_{\mathscr{M}}^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  are smooth in x, y too.

**Proposition 3.2.12.** Consider two real numbers  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{R}_+$  and an amplitude  $c \in A_r^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then:

$$\sigma(x,\xi) = \int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} c(x,y,\eta) e^{i(x-y).(\eta-\xi)} dy d\eta \in \Sigma_r^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

and we have:

$$\forall u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega), op_{(x-y).\xi}(c)u = \operatorname{Op}(\sigma)u = (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{ix.\xi} \sigma(x,\xi)\hat{u}(\xi)d\xi.$$

Moreover the asymptotic expansion of a is given by:

$$\sigma(x,\xi) - \sum_{|\alpha| < N} \frac{1}{i^{|\alpha|} \alpha!} \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} \partial_{y}^{\alpha} c(x,y,\xi)|_{y=x} \in \Sigma_{r-N}^{m-N}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

*Proof.* First by Lemma 3.2.2 we can work with an amplitude c in  $\mathscr{S}$ . As  $\mathscr{S} \subset S_{1,0}^m$  by Proposition 3.2.7 we have

$$\sigma(x,\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} c(x,y,\eta) e^{i(x-y).(\eta-\xi)} dy d\eta \in \mathscr{S}.$$

Moreover writing

$$\mathscr{F}_x \sigma(\eta, \xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathscr{F}_{x,y} c(\xi + \eta - \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\eta} - \xi, \tilde{\eta}) d\tilde{\eta},$$

we see that if c verifies the spectral condition with parameters B, b then so does  $\sigma$  with parameter B - 1, b thus  $\sigma \in \Sigma_r^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . The asymptotic expansion comes from the one given in Proposition 3.2.7 combined by the symbolic calculus rules in Proposition 3.2.8.

# 3.3 Pull-back of pseudo and para- differential operators

Let  $\Omega, \Omega'$  be two open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Henceforth we will note all variables in  $\Omega'$  with a ' for clarity in the computations. Let  $\chi : \Omega \to \Omega'$  be a  $C^{\infty}$  map,  $\chi$  gives rise naturally to the pull back operation for functions and kernels:

$$C^{\infty}(\Omega') \to C^{\infty}(\Omega) \qquad C^{\infty}(\Omega' \times \Omega') \to C^{\infty}(\Omega \times \Omega)$$
$$v \mapsto v \circ \chi = v^* \qquad K(x', y') \mapsto K(\chi(x), \chi(y)) |\det D\chi(y)| = K^*(x, y).$$

This Pull back has the property:

$$K^* v^* = \int_{\Omega} K(\chi(x), \chi(y)) v(\chi(y)) |\det D\chi(y)| dy$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\Omega'} K(\chi(x), y') v(y') \# \chi^{-1}(y') dy' = (K(v \# \chi^{-1}))^*.$$
 (3.3.1)

Where  $\#\chi^{-1}: \Omega' \to \overline{\mathbb{N}}$  is the function counting the number of pre-images and  $v \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega')$ . We note that the the change of variables is well defined if and only if one of the two integrals is defined. If  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism we have the usual fonctorial property  $K^*v^* = (Kv)^*$  which permits the definition of operators with kernels on manifolds.

The classic result on the change of variables in pseudo-differential operators is that for  $A \in S^m_{loc}(\Omega' \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  properly supported with kernel K then the operator defined by  $K^*$  is a pseudo-differential operator  $A^*$  of order m on  $\Omega$  which is also properly supported. Thus it can be seen as the stability of this sub-class of operators of kernels under the pull back by diffeomorphisms (modulo a  $C^{\infty}$  kernel as in Remark 3.2.2) and thus are well defined on manifolds by the same process. Before we start by presenting those classic results we will discuss why they are essentially optimal.

We start by computing for a pseudo-differential operator defined by  $a \in S^m(\Omega' \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  with kernel K and  $\chi : \Omega \to \Omega'$  a  $C^{\infty}$  map:

$$\begin{aligned} K^* u &= \int_{\Omega} K(\chi(x), \chi(y)) u(y) |\det D\chi(y)| dy \\ &= \int_{\Omega \times \Omega} (2\pi)^{-d} e^{i(\chi(x) - \chi(y)) \cdot \xi} a(\chi(x), \xi) u(y) |\det D\chi(y)| dy d\xi \end{aligned}$$

thus

$$K^* = op_{(\chi(x) - \chi(y)).\xi}(a(\chi(x), \xi) |\det D\chi(y)|)$$

with

$$a(\chi(x),\xi) |\det D\chi(y)| \in S^m(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d),$$

because and all the derivatives of  $\chi$  are bounded. Put

$$\omega_{\chi}(x, y, \xi) = (\chi(x) - \chi(y)).\xi,$$

by the definitions on Fourier integral operators we have:

$$C_{\omega_{\chi}} = \left\{ (x, y) \in \Omega^2, \chi(x) = \chi(y) \right\}.$$

We also see that  $w_{\chi}$  is non degenerate on  $\Omega \times \Omega$  if and only if  $\chi$  is a local diffeomorphism. To sum up:

**Proposition 3.3.1.** Take  $a \in S^m(\Omega' \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\chi \in C^\infty(\Omega, \Omega')$ . Then the pull-back of Op(a) under  $\chi$  is a Fourier Integral Operator with phase function  $w_{\chi}$  and symbol  $a(\chi(x),\xi)|\det D\chi(y)| \in S^m(\Omega \times \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ . We have:

$$C_{\omega_{\chi}} = \left\{ (x, y) \in \Omega^2, \chi(x) = \chi(y) \right\}.$$

Moreover,  $w_{\chi}$  is non-degenerate if and only of  $\chi$  is a local diffeomorphism.

Now we ask the question if there exists a symbol  $a^*$  such that:

$$op_{\omega_{\chi}}(a(\chi(x),\xi)|\det D\chi(y)|) = \operatorname{Op}(a^*).$$

The classic result is that this is true if  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism. Now we precise that it's essentially optimal as it could be seen by the following two examples:

The necessity of the injectivity of ξ: we take χ = | | which is a local diffeomorphism from ℝ \ 0 in to ℝ<sup>+</sup><sub>\*</sub>. We compute for A = Id i.e a = 1:

$$op_{\omega_{\chi}}(a(\chi(x),\xi)|\det D\chi(y)|)u = u(x) + u(-x),$$

and the part  $u(.) \mapsto u(-.)$  is not a pseudo-differential operator.

• The necessity of the local diffeomorphism hypothesis: we take  $\chi = x^3$  which is a local diffeomorphism from  $\mathbb{R} \setminus 0$  in to  $\mathbb{R}$ . We compute for  $A = \frac{d}{dx}$  i.e  $a = i\xi$ :

$$op_{\omega_{\chi}}(a(\chi(x),\xi)|\det D\chi(y)|)u = \frac{u'(x)}{3x^2}$$

which is a pseudo-differential operator on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus 0$  but cannot be extended to one on  $\mathbb{R}$  with a regular symbol in 0.<sup>3</sup>

Now we present the classic results of change of variables in pseudo and paradifferential operators under the hypothesis that  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism as they can be found in [10],[11] and [35].

**Theorem 3.3.1.** Let  $\chi : \Omega \to \Omega'$  be a  $C^{\infty}$  diffeomorphism and  $A = a(x, D) \in S_{loc}^m(\Omega' \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  a properly supported pseudo-differential operator with kernel K. Then the operator  $A^*$  defined by  $K^*$  i.e:

$$\forall u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega), A^*u = \int_{\Omega} K(\chi(x), \chi(y))u(y) |\det D\chi(y)| dy$$

is a properly supported pseudo-differential operator with symbol

$$a^*(x,\xi) = (-1)^d e^{-ix.\xi} \int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} a(\chi(x),\eta) e^{i(\chi(x) - \chi(y)).\eta + iy.\xi} |\det D\chi(y)| dy d\eta \in S^m_{loc}(\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d).$$

An expansion of  $a^*$  is given by:

$$a^*(x,\xi) \sim \sum_{\alpha} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \partial^{\alpha} a(\chi(x), D\chi^{-1}(\chi(x))^t \xi) P_{\alpha}(\chi(x),\xi), \qquad (3.3.2)$$

where,

$$P_{\alpha}(x',\xi) = D_{y'}^{\alpha} (e^{i(\chi^{-1}(y') - \chi^{-1}(x') - D\chi^{-1}(x')(y' - x')) \cdot \xi})_{|y'=x'}$$

and  $P_{\alpha}$  is polynomial in  $\xi$  of degree  $\leq \frac{|\alpha|}{2}$ , with  $P_0 = 1, P_1 = 0$ .

**Remark 3.3.1.** This a classic result found commonly in the literature, And as in the Remark 3.2.4 an analogous result still holds in the class  $\Sigma_0^m$  as will be shown in the proof of the next Theorem.

For para-differential operators we have:

**Theorem 3.3.2.** Let  $\chi : \Omega \to \Omega'$  be a  $W_{loc}^{1+\rho,\infty}$  diffeomorphism with  $D\chi \in W^{\rho,\infty}$ and  $\rho \geq 0$ . Consider  $a \in \Gamma_r^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  a property supported paradifferential operator. Then there exists a property supported  $a^* \in \Gamma_{\min(r,\rho)}^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  defined by:

$$(T_a u) \circ \chi = T_{a^*}(u \circ \chi) + (R\chi)u,$$

where  $R \in \Gamma_r^m(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $R\chi$  is a term depending essentially on  $\chi$  and it's explicit formula is given in (3.4.4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In fact it can be treated in the more general frame of operators with singular symbols but this goes beyond the scope of this work.

Moreover  $a^*$  has the local expansion:

$$a^*(x,\xi) \sim \sum_{|\alpha| \le \lfloor \min(r,\rho) \rfloor} \frac{1}{\alpha!} \partial^{\alpha} a(\chi(x), D\chi^{-1}(\chi(x))^t \xi) P_{\alpha}(\chi(x),\xi),$$
(3.3.3)

where,

$$P_{\alpha}(x',\xi) = D_{y'}^{\alpha} (e^{i(\chi^{-1}(y') - \chi^{-1}(x') - D\chi^{-1}(x')(y' - x')) \cdot \xi})_{|y'=x'}$$

and  $P_{\alpha}$  is polynomial in  $\xi$  of degree  $\leq \frac{|\alpha|}{2}$ , with  $P_0 = 1, P_1 = 0$ .

An analogous result still holds for para-differential operators modeled on the spaces  $a \in C^r_*, r > 0$  and  $\chi \in C^{1+\rho}_*$ .

As we couldn't find a clear reference to this result in the literature, it is eluded to in  $[10]^4$ , we give a simple proof of this Theorem.

*Proof.* Taking  $\psi$  a cut-off function with parameters B > 1, b > 0, and take  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  compute

$$(T_a(u \circ \chi^{-1})) \circ \chi = op_{(\chi(x) - \chi(y)) \cdot \xi}(\sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), \xi) |\det D\chi(y)|)u$$
$$= \int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{i(\chi(x) - \chi(y)) \cdot \xi} \sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), \xi) |\det D\chi(y)| u(y) dy d\xi.$$

As we remarked above the main contribution in this integral will come from  $(x, y, \xi) \in C_{\omega_{\chi}}$  where we recall  $\omega_{\chi}(x, y, \xi) = (\chi(x) - \chi(y)) \cdot \xi$ . To show this insert the smooth cut-off function  $\theta(x, y)$  supported in a small neighborhood of the diagonal (x, x).

$$\begin{aligned} (T_a(u \circ \chi^{-1})) \circ \chi &= \int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{i(\chi(x) - \chi(y)) \cdot \xi} \sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), \xi) \left| \det D\chi(y) \right| u(y) dy d\xi \\ &= \int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{i(\chi(x) - \chi(y)) \cdot \xi} \theta(x, y) \sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), \xi) \left| \det D\chi(y) \right| u(y) dy d\xi \\ &+ \int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{i(\chi(x) - \chi(y)) \cdot \xi} (1 - \theta(x, y)) \sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), \xi) \left| \det D\chi(y) \right| u(y) dy d\xi \end{aligned}$$

Now  $\omega_{\chi}$  has no critical points on the support of  $(1 - \theta(x, y))$  and by integration by parts we have:

$$(T_a(u \circ \chi^{-1})) \circ \chi = \int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{i(\chi(x) - \chi(y)) \cdot \xi} \theta(x, y) \sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), \xi) \left| \det D\chi(y) \right| u(y) dy d\xi + Ru.$$

with  $R \in \Gamma_0^{m-\min(r,\rho)}$ . We now analyze when y is close to x. By the mean value Theorem, for y sufficiently close to x, there exists a invertible linear mapping  $L_{x,y} \in W^{\rho,\infty}$  such that

$$\begin{cases} \chi(x) - \chi(y) = L_{x,y} \cdot (x - y) \\ L_{x,x} = D\chi(x). \end{cases}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>part 3.3 point h, which can be found in pages 114-115.

Thus we get,

$$(T_a(u \circ \chi^{-1})) \circ \chi$$
  
=  $\int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{i(\chi(x) - \chi(y)) \cdot \xi} \theta(x, y) \sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), \xi) |\det D\chi(y)| u(y) dy d\xi + Ru$   
=  $\int_{\Omega \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{i(x-y) \cdot \xi} \theta(x, y) \sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), L_{x,y}^t)^{-1} \xi |\det D\chi(y)| |\det L_{x,y}^{-1}| u(y) dy d\xi + Ru.$ 

We get an operator with an amplitude

$$c(x,y,\xi) = \theta(x,y)\sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), {L_{x,y}^t}^{-1}\xi) \left|\det D\chi(y)\right| \left|\det L_{x,y}^{-1}\right| \in \Gamma_{\rho}^m(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

In the frequency domain this amplitude depends on terms coming from  $\sigma_a^{\psi}(\chi(x), L_{x,y}^t)^{-1}(\xi)$ ,  $|\det D\chi(y)|$  and  $|\det L_{x,y}^{-1}|$ . Putting all of the high frequency terms depending on  $\chi$  and  $\chi^{-1}$  in a term  $R\chi$  by defining  $\tilde{\psi}$  as the cut-off function in both of the variables (x - y, y) with parameters:

$$c = \min(1, \sup D\chi^{-1}, \sup D\chi), \ \tilde{B} = cB, \ \tilde{b} = b.$$

Thus by Proposition 3.2.3:

$$\tilde{c}(x, y, \xi) = \tilde{\psi}(D, \cdot)c \in \Sigma^m_{min(r,\rho)}(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

with,

$$c = \tilde{c} + R\chi + R'$$

and  $R' \in \Gamma_0^{m-min(r,\rho)}$ .

The result then follows from Proposition 3.2.12.

# 3.4 Paracomposition

# 3.4.1 Main results for paracomposition on $\mathbb{R}^d$

We start by a formal computation, as in [73], using the Littlewood-Paley decomposition and two functions u and  $\chi$ :

$$u \circ \chi = \sum_{k \ge 0} u(\Phi_{k+1}\chi) - u(\Phi_k\chi) = \sum_{j,k} u_j(\Phi_{k+1}\chi) - u_j(\Phi_k\chi)$$
  
=  $\sum_{j < k} u_j(\Phi_{k+1}\chi) - u_j(\Phi_k\chi) + \sum_{j \ge k} u_j(\Phi_{k+1}\chi) - u_j(\Phi_k\chi)$  (3.4.1)  
=  $\underbrace{\sum_{k \ge 1} \Phi_{k-1}u(\Phi_k\chi) - \Phi_{k-1}u(\Phi_{k-1}\chi)}_{1} + \underbrace{\sum_{k \ge 0} u_k(\Phi_k\chi)}_{2}.$ 

**Remark 3.4.1.** Heuristically the term 1 has frequencies of u smaller than that of  $\chi$  and as in classical paradifferential results will depend mainly on the regularity of  $\chi$ . This is indeed the main term in Bony's para-linearization Theorem modulo a more regular remainder:

$$(1) = \sum_{k \ge 1} \left( \int_{0}^{1} \Phi_{k-1} u'(\tau \Phi_{k} \chi + (1-\tau) \Phi_{k-1}) \chi d\tau \right) \phi_{k} \chi$$
  
$$= \sum_{k \ge 1} \Phi_{k-1} (u' \circ \chi) (\phi_{k} \chi)$$
  
$$+ \sum_{k \ge 1} \left( \int_{0}^{1} \Phi_{k-1} u'(\tau \Phi_{k} \chi + (1-\tau) \Phi_{k-1} \chi) - \Phi_{k-1} (u' \circ \chi) d\tau \right) \phi_{k} \chi.$$
  
$$(3.4.2)$$
  
$$= \sum_{k \ge 1} \left( \int_{0}^{1} \Phi_{k-1} u'(\tau \Phi_{k} \chi + (1-\tau) \Phi_{k-1} \chi) - \Phi_{k-1} (u' \circ \chi) d\tau \right) \phi_{k} \chi.$$

Same as term 1, heuristically term 2 will essentially depend on the regularity of u, with a remainder depending on  $\chi$  and u that is more regular when it's well defined. Thus (2) will naturally give rise to the paracomposition operator. To better understand it, let us suppose just for the next computation that  $\chi$  is linear and invertible:

$$(2) = \sum_{k \ge 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi_k(\xi) \hat{u}(\xi) e^{i\Phi_k \chi(x).\xi} d\xi$$
$$= \sum_{k \ge 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi_k(\Phi_k \chi^{-t}\xi) \hat{u}(\Phi_k \chi^{-t}\xi) e^{ix.\xi} |\Phi_k \chi^{-t}(\xi)| d\xi$$

Thus we essentially have to look at how  $\Phi_k \chi^{-t}$  modifies the frequencies and thus how it modifies the rings in the Littlewood-Paley decomposition. Put  $\{k \ge 1, C'_k = \text{supp } \phi_k(\Phi_k \chi^{-t}.)\}$ , we have:

$$C'_k \approx \bigcup_{k-N' \le l \le k+N} C_l,$$

where N and N' are such that  $2^N > \sup_{k,\mathbb{R}^d} |\Phi_k \chi'|$  and  $2^{N'} > \sup_{k,\mathbb{R}^d} |\Phi_k \chi'|^{-1}$ and the natural para-composition operator in this case is obtained by cutting the frequencies according to  $C'_k$ , this is exactly the "lemme de recoupe" in Alinhac's work.

Now we define N as in the previous remark and compute:

$$(2) = \sum_{\substack{k \ge 0 \\ l \le k+N}} \sum_{\substack{l \ge 0 \\ l \le k+N}} \phi_l(D)(u_k \circ \chi)$$

$$(3.4.3)$$

$$(3.4.3)$$

$$(3.4.3)$$

$$(3.4.3)$$

$$(3.4.3)$$

$$(3.4.3)$$

**Theorem 3.4.1.** Let  $\chi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$  be a  $C^{1+\rho}_{*,loc}$  map with  $D\chi \in C^{\rho}_*$  and  $\rho > 0$ <sup>5</sup>. Then for all  $\sigma, s \in \mathbb{R}^*_+$  the following maps are continuous:

$$C^{\sigma}_{*}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \to C^{\sigma}_{*}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \qquad C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \to C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$$
$$u \mapsto \chi^{\star}u = \sum_{k \ge 0} \sum_{\substack{l \ge 0\\l \le k+N}} \phi_{l}(D)u_{k} \circ \chi \qquad u \mapsto \chi^{\star}u = \sum_{k \ge 0} \sum_{\substack{l \ge 0\\l \le k+N}} \phi_{l}(D)u_{k} \circ \chi.$$

If moreover  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism then we have the Sobolev estimates:

$$H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \to H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \qquad \qquad H^{s}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \to H^{s}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$$
$$u \mapsto \chi^{\star} u = \sum_{k \ge 0} \sum_{\substack{l \ge 0 \\ l \le k+N}} \phi_{l}(D) u_{k} \circ \chi \qquad \qquad u \mapsto \chi^{\star} u = \sum_{k \ge 0} \sum_{\substack{l \ge 0 \\ l \le k+N}} \phi_{l}(D) u_{k} \circ \chi.$$

Taking  $\tilde{\chi} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$  a  $C^{1+\tilde{\rho}}_{*,loc}$  map with  $D\tilde{\chi} \in C^{\tilde{\rho}}_*$  and  $\tilde{\rho} > 0$ , then the previous operation has the natural fonctorial property:

$$\forall u \in C^{\sigma}_*(\mathbb{R}^d) \cup C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\mathbb{R}^d), \chi^* \tilde{\chi}^* u = (\chi \circ \tilde{\chi})^* u + Ru.$$

with 
$$R, \ R: C^{\sigma}_*(\mathbb{R}^d) \to C^{\sigma+\min(\rho,\tilde{\rho})}_*(\mathbb{R}^d), \ R: C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\mathbb{R}^d) \to C^{\sigma+\min(\rho,\tilde{\rho})}_{*,loc}(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

and if  $\chi$  and  $\tilde{\chi}$  are diffeomorphisms:

$$R: H^s(\mathbb{R}^d) \to H^{s+\min(\rho,\tilde{\rho})}(\mathbb{R}^d), \qquad R: H^s_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d) \to H^{s+\min(\rho,\tilde{\rho})}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

**Remark 3.4.2.** It's natural that the Sobolev estimates only hold when  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism because for example even the usual composition operation  $u \mapsto u \circ \chi$  is not necessarily continuous on  $L^p$  spaces,  $p < \infty$ . An extra hypothesis that appears in the literature is  $\chi$  is a local diffeomorphism with all of it's local inverses uniformly bounded in  $\dot{W}^{1,\infty}$ .

**Theorem 3.4.2.** Let u be a  $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  map and  $\chi$  be a  $C^{1+\rho}_{*,loc}$  map with  $D\chi \in C^{\rho}_*$  and  $\rho > 0$ . Then:

$$u \circ \chi(x) = \chi^* u(x) + T_{u' \circ \chi} \chi(x) + R_0(x) + R_1(x) + R_2(x)$$

where the paracomposition given in the previous Theorem verifies the estimates:

$$\begin{aligned} \forall \sigma > 0, \|\chi^* u(x)\|_{\sigma} &\leq C(\|D\chi\|_{\infty}) \|u(x)\|_{\sigma}, \\ u' \circ \chi \in \Gamma^0_{W^{0,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)}(\mathbb{R}^d) \quad for \ u \ Lipchitz, \end{aligned}$$

and the remainders verify the estimates:

• In Zygmund Spaces, for  $\sigma > 0$ :

$$\|R_0\|_{1+\rho+\min(1+\rho,\sigma)} \le C \|D\chi\|_{\rho} \|u\|_{1+\sigma}$$
  
for  $i \in \{1,2\}, \|R_i\|_{1+\rho+\sigma} \le C(\|D\chi\|_{\infty}) \|D\chi\|_{\rho} \|u\|_{1+\sigma}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Clearly when there is no diffeomorphism hypothesis on  $\chi$  we can choose  $\chi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^{d'}$  with  $d \neq d'$  and have the same results but for clarity we chose to present the same dimensions in this presentation.

- In Sobolev Spaces, for  $s > \frac{d}{2}$  we get the following estimates
  - without the diffeomorphism hypothesis:

$$\|R_0\|_{H^{1+\rho+\min(1+\rho,s-\frac{d}{2})}} \le C \|D\chi\|_{\rho} \|u\|_{H^{1+s}}$$

$$\|R_1\|_{H^{1+\rho+s}} \le C(\|D\chi\|_{\infty}) \|D\chi\|_{\rho} \|u\|_{H^{1+s}}.$$

- Suppose moreover that  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism:

$$||R_2||_{H^{1+\rho+s}} \le C(||D\chi||_{\infty}, ||D\chi^{-1}||_{\infty}) ||D\chi||_{\rho} ||u||_{H^{1+s}}.$$

The same estimates hold in the local spaces.

As Alinhac remarked in [10], a particular case of the previous Theorem is Bony para-linearization Theorem but with the extra hypothesis of diffeomorphism, here it's is a full generalization because we dropped the diffeomorphism hypothesis. We find Bony's para-linearization Theorem when  $\sigma = +\infty$ , in this case only the term  $T_{u'\circ\chi}\chi(x)$  appears and  $\chi^*u(x)$  is a part of the remainder. If on the other hand,  $\chi \in C^{\infty}$ , the term  $T_{u'\circ\chi}\chi(x)$  becomes a part of the remainder and the paracomposition  $\chi^*u(x)$  coincides with the usual composition modulo a regularizing operator. Thus Theorem 3.4.2 appears as a linearization Theorem of  $u \circ \chi$  as the sum of two terms, one depending mainly on the regularity of u (and "less" of  $\chi$ ) and the other depending mainly on the regularity of  $\chi$  (and "less" of u).

**Remark 3.4.3.** The simplest example for the paracomposition operator is when  $\chi(x) = Ax$  is a linear operator and in that case we see that if N is chosen sufficiently large in the definition:

$$u(Ax) = (Ax)^*u$$
, and  $T_{u'(Ax)}Ax = 0$ .

**Remark 3.4.4.** The proof of Theorem 3.4.2 tell us that the if in the sum defining  $\chi^*$  we choose a different  $N' \geq N$  then the operator is modified by a  $\rho$  regularizing operator.

**Theorem 3.4.3.** Consider  $a \in \Gamma^m_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with  $\beta \ge 0$ ,  $\chi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$  a  $C^{1+\rho}_{*,loc}$  map with  $D\chi \in C^{\rho}_*$ ,  $\rho > 0$  and  $1 + \rho \notin \mathbb{N}$ . Then there exists  $q \in \Gamma^{m-\beta}_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that we have the following formal symbolic calculus rule:

$$\chi^{\star}T_{a}u = op_{\omega_{\chi}}\left(\sigma_{a}(\chi(x),\xi)\frac{|\det D\chi(y)|}{\#\chi^{-1}(\chi(y))}\right)\chi^{\star}u + op_{\omega_{\chi}}\left(\sigma_{q}(\chi(x),\xi)\frac{|\det D\chi(y)|}{\#\chi^{-1}(\chi(y))}\right)\chi^{\star}u$$

To join Alinhac's work, the following Proposition makes the link between his definition of the paracomposition operator in the case of a diffeomorphism and the one given here.

**Theorem 3.4.4.** Let u be  $W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  map and  $\chi$  be a  $C^{1+\rho}_{*,loc}$  diffeomorphism with  $D\chi \in C^{\rho}_*$  and  $\rho > 0$ . Consider  $\tilde{N}$  such that  $2^{\tilde{N}} > \sup_{k,\mathbb{R}^d} |\Phi_k\chi'|^{-1}$  and  $2^{\tilde{N}} > \sup_{k,\mathbb{R}^d} |\Phi_k\chi'|$ . Put Alinhac's paracomposition operator:

$$\chi^* u = \sum_{k \ge 1} \sum_{\substack{l \ge 0 \\ |l-k| \le \tilde{N}}} \phi_l(D) u_k \circ \chi$$

then:  $\chi^* u = \chi^* u + R_3$ ,

Where the remainder verifies:

• In Zygmund Spaces, for  $\sigma > 0$ :

$$\|R_3\|_{1+\rho+\sigma} \le C(\|D\chi^{-1}\|_{\infty}, \|D\chi\|_{\infty}) \|D\chi\|_{\rho} \|u\|_{1+\sigma}.$$

• In Sobolev Spaces, for  $s > \frac{d}{2}$ :

$$||R_3||_{H^{1+\rho+s}} \le C(||D\chi^{-1}||_{\infty}, ||D\chi||_{\infty}) ||D\chi||_{\rho} ||u||_{H^{1+s}}.$$

The same estimates hold in the local spaces. Take  $a \in \Gamma^m_\beta(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and q as in Theorem 3.4.3 then:

$$\chi^* T_a u = T_{a^*} \chi^* u + T_{q^*} \chi^* u$$
$$\chi^* T_a u = T_{a^*} \chi^* u + T_{q'^*} \chi^* u \text{ with } q' \in \Gamma_0^{m-\beta}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

**Remark 3.4.5.** As in remark 3.4.4, the proof of Theorem 3.4.4 tell us that the if in the sum defining  $\chi^*$  we choose a different  $\tilde{N}' \geq \tilde{N}$  then the operator is modified by a  $\rho$  regularizing operator.

**Remark 3.4.6.** As a corollary of Theorem 3.4.4 we get that in Theorem 3.3.2:

$$R\chi = T_{(T_a u)' \circ \chi} \chi - T_{a^*} T_{u' \circ \chi} \chi.$$

$$(3.4.4)$$

**Remark 3.4.7.** All of the result of this section extend naturally to the functions and operators defined on the Torus.

# 3.4.2 Proofs

We will give the proof for the estimates in global spaces, for local spaces it is sufficient to see that the given estimates hold under the hypothesis that all the functions used have a compact support and to pass to local spaces estimates it is sufficient to multiply by functions in  $C_0^{\infty}$  which don't modify the estimates given (we don't make any boundary estimates).

#### Proof of Theorem 3.4.1 and 3.4.2

Take  $\chi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$  be a  $C^{1+\rho}_*$  map with  $\rho > 0$  put  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}(0, N+1)$ . We start by the Zygmund spaces estimates (thus we don't suppose that  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism):

$$\left\|\Phi_{k+N}u_k\circ\chi\right\|_{\infty}\leq C\left\|u_k\right\|_{\infty}\leq 2^{-k\sigma}\left\|u\right\|_{\sigma}$$

and supp  $\Phi_{k+N}u_k \circ \chi \subset 2^k B$ . Thus by Proposition 3.1.3, for  $\sigma > 0$ :

$$\chi^{\star} u \in C^{\sigma}_{*}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \text{ and } \|\chi^{\star} u\|_{\sigma} \leq \frac{C(N)}{1 - 2^{-\sigma}} \|u\|_{\sigma}.$$

For Sobolev estimates we suppose that  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism and by the change of variables formula we have for s > 0:

$$\|\Phi_{k+N}u_k \circ \chi\|_{L^2} \le C(\|D\chi^{-1}\|_{\infty}) \|u_k\|_{L^2} \le C(\|D\chi^{-1}\|_{\infty})2^{-ks} \|u\|_{H^s}$$

and supp  $\Phi_{k+N}u_k \circ \chi \subset 2^k B$ . Thus by Proposition 3.1.3, for  $\sigma > 0$ :

$$\chi^{\star} u \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{d}) \text{ and } \|\chi^{\star} u\|_{H^{s}} \leq \frac{C(N, \|D\chi^{-1}\|_{\infty})}{1 - 2^{-s}} \|u\|_{H^{s}}$$

Now we compute the estimates on the remainders in the linearization formula.

$$R_0 = \sum_{k \ge 1} \left( \int_0^1 \Phi_{k-1} u'(\tau \Phi_k \chi + (1-\tau) \Phi_{k-1} \chi) - \Phi_{k-1} (u' \circ \chi) d\tau \right) \phi_k \chi = \sum_k r_k^0 \chi_k$$

$$r_k^0 = \int_0^1 \Phi_{k-1} u'(\tau \Phi_k \chi + (1-\tau) \Phi_{k-1} \chi) - \Phi_{k-1} (u' \circ \chi) d\tau$$
  
=  $\int_0^1 \int_0^1 \Phi_{k-1} u''(t\tau (\Phi_k \chi - \Phi_{k-1} \chi))$   
+  $t(\Phi_{k-1} \chi - \chi) - \chi) dt [\tau (\Phi_k \chi - \chi) + (1-\tau) (\Phi_{k-1} \chi - \chi)] d\tau.$ 

Thus if  $\sigma \neq 1$ :

$$\left\|r_k^0\right\|_{\infty} \le C2^{k(-\sigma-\rho)}$$

And if  $\sigma = 1$ :

$$||r_k^0||_{\infty} \le Ck2^{k(-1-\rho)} \le C2^{-k},$$

Which sums up in  $||r_k^0||_{\infty} \leq C2^{-\min(1+\rho,\sigma)k}$ . By the same computations we have analogous estimates on  $||\partial^{\alpha}r_k^0||$  and clearly  $r_k^0 \in C^{\infty}$  which gives the desired estimates on  $R_0$  by Lemma 3.1.1 and the fact that  $r_0^0 = 0$ , both in the Sobolev et Zygmund cases without the diffeomorphism hypothesis.

$$R_1 = \sum_{k\geq 0} \phi_{k+N}(D) [u_k \circ \Phi_k \chi - u_k \circ \chi]$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{k\geq 0} \phi_{k+N}(D) [(\int_0^1 u'_k (t\Phi_k + (1-t)\chi) dt) (\Phi_k \chi - \chi)]$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{k\geq 0} \phi_{k+N}(D) [r_k^1 (\Phi_k \chi - \chi)].$$

We have:

$$\left\|r_k^1\right\|_{\infty} \le C2^{-k\sigma}$$

combining this with Propositions 3.1.3, 3.1.4 and the fact that  $r_0^1 = 0$  we get the desired estimates again in both in the Sobolev et Zygmund cases without the diffeomorphism hypothesis.

The proof of the estimates on  $R_2$  relies on oscillatory integral techniques that come from Lemma 3.2.1. For the sake of completion we will give the explicit computations without directly using the Lemma.

$$R_2(x) = \sum_k (Id - \Phi_{k+N})(D)u_k \circ \Phi_k \chi(x).$$

We will prove that for  $j \ge k + N + 1, \nu \ge \rho > 0$ , we have:

$$\|\phi_{j}(D)u_{k}\circ\Phi_{k}\chi\|_{\infty} \leq C_{\nu}(\|D\chi\|_{\rho})2^{-j\nu}2^{k(\nu-\rho)}\|u_{k}\|_{\infty}$$
(3.4.5)

which will be sufficient to give the Zygmund estimates on  $R_2$  because we will have:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\phi_{j}(D)R_{2}\|_{\infty} &\leq \sum_{\substack{k\geq 0\\k\leq N-j+1}} \|\phi_{j}(D)u_{k}\circ\Phi_{k}\chi\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \sum_{\substack{k\geq 0\\k\leq N-j+1}} C_{\nu}(\|D\chi\|_{\rho})2^{-j\nu}2^{k(\nu-\rho)}\|u_{k}\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \sum_{\substack{k\geq 0\\k\leq N-j+1}} C_{\nu}(\|D\chi\|_{\rho})2^{-j\nu}2^{k(\nu-\rho)}\|u_{k}\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \sum_{\substack{k\geq 0\\k\leq N-j+1}} C_{\nu}(\|D\chi\|_{\rho})2^{-j\nu}2^{k(\nu-\rho-\sigma-1)}\|u\|_{1+\sigma}, \end{aligned}$$

Taking  $\nu > 1 + \rho + \sigma$  we dominate the last expression by:

$$C_{\nu}(\|D\chi\|_{\rho})2^{-j(\rho+\sigma+1)}\|u\|_{1+\sigma}$$

which gives the desired Zygmund estimate.

For the Sobolev estimates we will prove that:

$$\|\phi_j(D)u_k \circ \Phi_k \chi\|_2 \le C_{\nu}(\|D\chi\|_{\rho}) 2^{-j\nu} 2^{k(\nu-\rho)} \|u_k \circ \Phi_k \chi\|_2, \qquad (3.4.6)$$

which then necessitates the diffeomorphism hypothesis on  $\chi$  to have:

$$\|\phi_j(D)u_k \circ \Phi_k \chi\|_2 \le C_{\nu}(\|D\chi\|_{\rho}, \|D\chi^{-1}\|_{\infty})2^{-j\nu}2^{k(\nu-\rho)}\|u_k\|_2$$

And the desired estimates follow exactly as in the Zygmund case. Now we prove (3.4.5) and (3.4.6), to make the desired estimates we will put in a test function  $f \in C_b^{\infty}$  as it's usually done with oscillatory integral estimates:

$$\phi_j(D)fu_k \circ \Phi_k \chi(x) = \int e^{i(x-y).\xi} \phi_j(\xi) \phi_k(\eta) f(y) \hat{u}_k(\eta) e^{i\Phi_k \chi(y).\eta} d\eta dy d\xi \qquad (3.4.7)$$

Set

$$\omega_k(y,\eta,\xi) = \Phi_k \chi(y).\eta - y.\xi,$$
$$L_k(y,\eta,\xi,\partial_y) = \frac{\Phi_k \chi'(y)^t.\eta - y.\xi}{i \left|\Phi_k \chi'(y)^t.\eta - y.\xi\right|^2} \cdot \nabla_y.$$

Given the definition of N we have:

$$\left|\Phi_k \chi'(y)^t \cdot \eta - y \cdot \xi\right| \ge C(|\eta| + |\xi|) \text{ on supp } \phi_j(\xi) \phi_k(\eta),$$

Thus  $L_k$  is well defined and regular, moreover  $L_k e^{i\omega_k} = e^{i\omega_k}$ . Integrating by parts in (3.4.6):

$$\phi_j(D)fu_k \circ \Phi_k \chi(x) = \int e^{ix.\xi} \phi_j(\xi) \phi_k(\eta) \hat{u}_k(\eta) e^{iw_k} (L_k^t)^{\nu} f(y) d\eta dy d\xi.$$

Note that  $(L_k^t)^{\nu} f$  is homogeneous with degree  $-\nu$  in  $(\eta, \xi)$ , and smooth on the support of  $\phi_j(\xi)\phi_k(\eta)$ . Also

$$(L_k^t)^{\nu} f(y) \Big| \le C(\|f\|_{\nu}, \|D\chi\|_{\rho}) 2^{\nu-\sigma} \text{ on } |\xi|^2 + |\eta|^2 = 1.$$
 (3.4.8)

Next on a box containing supp  $\phi_j(\xi)\phi_k(\eta)$ , write

$$(L_k^t)^{\nu} f(y) = \sum_{(\alpha,\beta)\in\Lambda} a_{k\nu\alpha\beta}(y) e^{i\alpha.\xi + i\beta.\eta} = 2^{-j\nu} \sum_{(\alpha,\beta)\in\Lambda} a_{k\nu\alpha\beta}(y) e^{i2^{-j}\alpha.\xi + i2^{-j}\beta.\eta},$$

where  $\Lambda$  is an appropriate lattice and

$$\sum_{(\alpha,\beta)\in\Lambda} \left\|a_{k\nu\alpha\beta}\right\|_{\infty} \le C(\left\|f\right\|_{\nu}, \left\|D\chi\right\|_{\rho})2^{\nu-\sigma}.$$
(3.4.9)

So (3.4.7) becomes for  $j \ge 1$ :

$$\begin{split} \phi_{j}(D)fu_{k} \circ \Phi_{k}\chi(x) & (3.4.10) \\ &= 2^{-j\nu} \sum_{(\alpha,\beta)\in\Lambda} \int e^{ix.\xi} \phi_{j}(\xi)\phi_{k}(\eta)\hat{u}_{k}(\eta)e^{iw_{k}}a_{k\nu\alpha\beta}(y)e^{i2^{-j}\alpha.\xi+i2^{-j}\beta.\eta}d\eta dy d\xi \\ &= 2^{-j\nu} \sum_{(\alpha,\beta)\in\Lambda} \int e^{i(x-y).\xi}\phi_{j}(\xi)u_{k}(\Phi_{k}\chi(y) + 2^{-j}\beta)a_{k\nu\alpha\beta}(y)e^{i2^{-j}\alpha.\xi}dy d\xi \\ &= 2^{-j\nu} \sum_{(\alpha,\beta)\in\Lambda} \int e^{i(x-y).\xi}2^{jn}\hat{\phi}_{1}(2^{j}(x-y) + \alpha)u_{k}(\Phi_{k}\chi(y) + 2^{-j}\beta)a_{k\nu\alpha\beta}(y)dy. \\ &= 2^{-j\nu} \sum_{(\alpha,\beta)\in\Lambda} (a_{k\nu\alpha\beta} \cdot u_{k}(\Phi_{k}\chi + 2^{-j}\beta)) * g_{\alpha}(x), \end{split}$$
(3.4.11)

Where  $g_{\alpha}(x) = 2^{jn} \hat{\phi}_1(2^j x + \alpha)$  thus

$$\|g_{\alpha}\|_{L^{1}} = 2^{jn} \int \left|\hat{\phi}_{1}(2^{j}x + \alpha)\right| dx = \left\|\hat{\phi}_{1}\right\|_{L^{1}}.$$
(3.4.12)

For j = 0 we have an analog inequality.

Using the classic Young and Hölder inequalities combined with (3.4.9), (3.4.12) and taking  $f \to 1$  gives us (3.4.5) and (3.4.6). This concludes the proof.

# Proof of Theorem 3.4.3

Take  $a \in \Gamma^m_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with  $\beta \ge 0$  and  $\chi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$  a  $C^{1+\rho}_*$  map with  $\rho > 0$ . We compute:

$$\chi^{*}T_{a}u = \sum_{k \ge 0} \Phi_{k+N}[(T_{a}u)_{k} \circ \chi], \qquad (3.4.13)$$

Note that  $(T_a u)_k$  can been as  $T_{\phi_k} T_a u$  and seeing this a modification of the cut-off function by Proposition 3.2.3 we get:

$$(T_a u)_k = T_{\phi_k} T_a u = T_a T_{\phi_k} u + T_{q^k} u$$
, with  $q^k \in \Gamma_0^{m-\beta}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ .

Put  $q = \sum q^k$  then (3.4.13) becomes:

$$\chi^{\star}T_{a}u = \sum_{k\geq 0} \Phi_{k+N}[(T_{a}u_{k})\circ\chi] + \sum_{k\geq 0} \Phi_{k+N}[(T_{q^{k}}u_{k})\circ\chi].$$

And the formal discussion and computations in part 3.3 give the desired result.
#### Proof of Theorem 3.4.4

The only thing left to prove is the estimate on  $R_3$ .

$$R_3 = \sum_k \underbrace{\Phi_{k-\tilde{N}}(D)u_k \circ \Phi_k \chi(x)}_{1} + \phi_N(D)u_k \circ \chi$$

 $\phi_N(D)u_k \circ \chi$  is  $C^{\infty}$  so we only have to the estimate to the first term on the left hand side. Estimating 1 is exactly as (3.4.7) but with  $\phi_j$  substituted by  $\Phi_{k-\tilde{N}}$ . The core of the estimation relies on the fact that  $L_k$  should be well defined and regular on  $\sup \Phi_{k-\tilde{N}}(\xi)\phi_k(\eta)$  which is the case give our choice of  $\tilde{N}$  and the fact  $k \geq 1$ . We also have the estimate:

$$\left|\Phi_k \chi'(y)^t \cdot \eta - y \cdot \xi\right| \ge C(|\eta| + |\xi|) \text{ on } \operatorname{supp} \Phi_{k-\tilde{N}}(\xi) \phi_k(\eta).$$

The proof than exactly follows as for  $R_2$ .

#### 3.4.3 Main results for paracomposition on open subsets

The previous definition of the operator  $\chi^*$  on functions defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  relied heavily on the Littelwood-Paley theory which doesn't make it immediately extendable to the open domain case. In [10], Alinhac was able to define such an operator profiting from the continuity of  $\chi^*$  on the local function spaces and a partition of unity on the open domains. More precisely consider  $(V_i, \Theta_i)$  a partition of unity locally finite of  $\Omega'$  then:

$$u \circ \chi = \sum_{i} \Theta_{i} u \circ \chi$$

where  $\Theta_i u$  is seen as a function of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the natural extension by 0. In order to have the same natural extension for  $\chi$ ,

$$\chi^{-1}(\operatorname{supp}\Theta_i)$$

needs to be compact we thus have to suppose that  $\chi$  is a proper map<sup>6</sup>. Under this hypothesis consider  $\zeta_i \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  such that  $\zeta_i = 1$  on  $\chi^{-1}(\operatorname{supp} \Theta_i)$ :

$$u \circ \chi = \sum_{i} \zeta_{i} \Theta_{i} u \circ \zeta_{i} \chi, \qquad (3.4.14)$$

where  $\zeta_i \chi$  is seen as a function of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the natural extension by 0.

**Theorem 3.4.5.** Let  $\chi : \Omega \to \Omega'$  be a  $C^{1+\rho}_{*,loc}$  proper map with  $D\chi \in C^{\rho}_{*}$  and  $\rho > 0$ . Consider  $(V_i, \Theta_i)$  a partition of unity locally finite of  $\Omega'$  and  $\zeta_i$  the associated functions as previously. Then for all  $\sigma, s \in \mathbb{R}^*_+$  the following maps are continuous:

$$C^{\sigma}_{*}(\Omega') \to C^{\sigma}_{*}(\Omega) \qquad \qquad C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\Omega') \to C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\Omega) u \mapsto \chi^{*}u = \sum_{i} \zeta_{i} \cdot (\zeta_{i}\chi)^{*}\Theta_{i}u \qquad \qquad u \mapsto \chi^{*}u = \sum_{i} \zeta_{i} \cdot (\zeta_{i}\chi)^{*}\Theta_{i}u,$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Note that this extra hypothesis is needed for the methods used to work and is not intrinsic to the problem. Also this hypothesis is immediately verified in the diffeomorphism case treated by Alinhac.

if moreover  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism then we have the Sobolev estimates:

$$H^{s}(\Omega') \to H^{s}(\Omega) \qquad \qquad H^{s}_{loc}(\Omega') \to H^{s}_{loc}(\Omega) u \mapsto \chi^{\star} u = \sum_{i} \zeta_{i} \cdot (\zeta_{i}\chi)^{\star} \Theta_{i} u \qquad \qquad u \mapsto \chi^{\star} u = \sum_{i} \zeta_{i} \cdot (\zeta_{i}\chi)^{\star} \Theta_{i} u$$

where  $\Theta_i u$  and  $\zeta_i \chi$  are treated as functions on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . And in the sum defining each  $(\zeta_i \chi)^*$  a choice

$$N_i, 2^{N_i} \ge \sup_{\text{supp }\Theta_i} \chi'$$

is made by the definition in section 3.4.1, but by remark 3.4.4 in order to simplify the computations we can take the same

$$N \ge N_i, 2^N \ge \sup_{\Omega} \chi'$$

uniformly for all the operators and this modifies the definition by a  $\rho$  regularizing operator.

Making a different choice  $(V'_i, \Theta'_i, \zeta'_i)$ , which gives a different operator  $\chi_1^*$  then

$$\forall u \in C^{\sigma}_*(\mathbb{R}^d) \cup C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\mathbb{R}^d), \chi^* u = \chi^*_1 u + R' u.$$

with  $R'u \in C^{\infty}$ .

Consider  $\tilde{\chi}: \Omega' \to \Omega''$  a a  $C^{1+\tilde{\rho}}_{*,loc}$  proper map with  $D\tilde{\chi} \in C^{\tilde{\rho}}_{*}$  with  $\tilde{\rho} > 0$ , then the previous operation has the natural fonctorial property:

$$\forall u \in C^{\sigma}_{*}(\Omega'') \cup C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\Omega''), \chi^{\star} \tilde{\chi}^{\star} u = (\chi \circ \tilde{\chi})^{\star} u + \tilde{R} u.$$

with  $\tilde{R}$ ,  $\tilde{R}: C^{\sigma}_{*}(\Omega'') \to C^{\sigma+\min(\rho,\tilde{\rho})}_{*}(\Omega)$ ,  $\tilde{R}: C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\Omega'') \to C^{\sigma+\min(\rho,\tilde{\rho})}_{*,loc}(\Omega)$ ,

and if  $\chi$  and  $\tilde{\chi}$  are diffeomorphisms:

$$\tilde{R}: H^{s}(\Omega'') \to H^{s+min(\rho,\tilde{\rho})}(\Omega), \ \tilde{R}: H^{s}_{loc}(\Omega'') \to H^{s+min(\rho,\tilde{\rho})}_{loc}(\Omega).$$

**Theorem 3.4.6.** Let u be a  $W^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$  map and  $\chi$  be a be a  $C^{1+\rho}_{*,loc}$  proper map with  $D\chi \in C^{\rho}_*$  and  $\rho > 0$ . Then:

$$u \circ \chi(x) = \chi^* u(x) + T_{u' \circ \chi} \chi(x) + R_0(x) + R_1(x) + R_2(x)$$

where the paracomposition given in the previous Theorem verifies the estimates:

$$\begin{aligned} \forall \sigma > 0, \|\chi^* u(x)\|_{\sigma} &\leq C(\|D\chi\|_{\infty}) \|u(x)\|_{\sigma}, \\ u' \circ \chi \in \Gamma^0_{W^{0,\infty}(\Omega)}(\mathbb{R}^d) \text{ for } u \text{ Lipchitz.} \end{aligned}$$

The remainders are given by:

$$R_{0} = \sum_{i} \sum_{k \ge 1} \zeta_{i} \left( \int_{0}^{1} \Phi_{k-1} \Theta_{i} u'(\tau \Phi_{k} \zeta_{i} \chi + (1-\tau) \Phi_{k-1} \zeta_{i} \chi) - \Phi_{k-1}(\Theta_{i} u' \circ \zeta_{i} \chi) d\tau \right) \phi_{k} \zeta_{i} \chi,$$

$$R_{1} = \sum_{i} \sum_{k \ge 0} \sum_{\substack{l \ge 0 \\ l \le k+N}} \zeta_{i} (\phi_{l}(D) [\Theta_{i} u_{k} \circ \Phi_{k} \zeta_{i} \chi - \Theta_{i} u_{k} \circ \zeta_{i} \chi]),$$

$$R_{2} = \sum_{i} \sum_{k} \zeta_{i} ((Id - \Phi_{k+N})(D) \Theta_{i} u_{k} \circ \Phi_{k} \zeta_{i} \chi),$$

and the remainders verify the estimates:

• In Zygmund Spaces, for  $\sigma > 0$ :

 $\begin{aligned} \|R_0\|_{1+\rho+\min(1+\rho,\sigma)} &\leq C \, \|D\chi\|_{\rho} \, \|u\|_{1+\sigma} \\ for \ i \in \{1,2\}, \|R_i\|_{1+\rho+\sigma} &\leq C(\|D\chi\|_{\infty}) \, \|D\chi\|_{\rho} \, \|u\|_{1+\sigma} \,. \end{aligned}$ 

- In Sobolev Spaces, for  $s > \frac{d}{2}$  we get the following estimates
  - without the diffeomorphism hypothesis:
    - $\|R_0\|_{H^{1+\rho+\min(1+\rho,s-\frac{d}{2})}} \le C \|D\chi\|_{\rho} \|u\|_{H^{1+s}}$

$$||R_1||_{H^{1+\rho+s}} \le C(||D\chi||_{\infty}) ||D\chi||_{\rho} ||u||_{H^{1+s}}.$$

- Suppose moreover that  $\chi$  is a diffeomorphism:

$$\|R_2\|_{H^{1+\rho+s}} \le C(\|D\chi\|_{\infty}, \|D\chi^{-1}\|_{\infty}) \|D\chi\|_{\rho} \|u\|_{H^{1+s}}.$$

The same estimates hold in the local spaces.

**Theorem 3.4.7.** Consider  $a \in \Gamma^m_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with  $\beta \ge 0$  and  $\chi : \Omega \to \Omega'$  a  $C^{1+\rho}_{*,loc}$  proper map with  $D\chi \in C^{\rho}_{*}$ ,  $\rho > 0$  and  $1 + \rho \notin \mathbb{N}$ . Then there exists  $q \in \Gamma^{m-\beta}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that we have the following formal symbolic calculus rule:

$$\chi^{\star}T_{a}u = op_{\omega_{\chi}}\left(\sigma_{a}(\chi(x),\xi)\frac{|\det D\chi(y)|}{\#\chi^{-1}(\chi(y))}\right)\chi^{\star}u + op_{\omega_{\chi}}\left(\sigma_{q}(\chi(x),\xi)\frac{|\det D\chi(y)|}{\#\chi^{-1}(\chi(y))}\right)\chi^{\star}u.$$

Again to join Alinhac's work:

**Theorem 3.4.8.** Let u be  $W^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$  map and  $\chi$  be a  $W^{1,\infty}$  diffeomorphism, a  $C^{1+\rho}_{*,loc}$ proper map with  $D\chi \in C^{\rho}_*$  and  $\rho > 0$ . Again, consider  $(V_i, \Theta_i)$  a partition of unity locally finite of  $\Omega'$  and  $\zeta_i$  the associated functions as previously. Put Alinhac's paracomposition operator:

$$\chi^* u = \sum_i \zeta_i (\zeta_i \chi)^* \Theta_i u \text{ then}:$$
$$\chi^* u = \chi^* u + R_3,$$

Where the remainder verifies:

• In Zygmund Spaces, for  $\sigma > 0$ :

$$||R_3||_{1+\rho+\sigma} \le C(||D\chi^{-1}||_{\infty}, ||D\chi||_{\infty}) ||D\chi||_{\rho} ||u||_{1+\sigma}.$$

• In Sobolev Spaces, for  $s > \frac{d}{2}$ :

$$||R_3||_{H^{1+\rho+s}} \le C(||D\chi^{-1}||_{\infty}, ||D\chi||_{\infty}) ||D\chi||_{\rho} ||u||_{H^{1+s}}.$$

The same estimates hold in the local spaces. Consider  $a \in \Gamma^m_\beta(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and q as in Theorem 3.4.3 then:

$$\chi^* T_a u = T_{a^*} \chi^* u + T_{q^*} \chi^* u$$
$$\chi^* T_a u = T_{a^*} \chi^* u + T_{q'^*} \chi^* u \text{ with } q' \in \Gamma_0^{m-\beta}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Again we have the same "independence" of the definition of the operator  $\chi^*$  (modulo a more regular term) with respect to the arbitrary choices made, more precisely, making a different choice  $(V'_i, \Theta'_i, \zeta'_i)$  which gives a different operator  $\chi^*_1$  then

$$\forall u \in C^{\sigma}_*(\mathbb{R}^d) \cup C^{\sigma}_{*,loc}(\mathbb{R}^d), \chi^* u = \chi^*_1 u + R' u.$$

with  $R'u \in C^{\infty}$ .

#### 3.4.4 Proof

All of the estimates given come directly for the Theorems of section 3.4.1. The linearization formulas come from Equation (3.4.14) and the linearization Theorems in section 3.4.1. The only thing left to prove is the independency result with respect to the choice of  $(V_i, \Theta_i, \zeta_i)$ . We start by the following Lemma:

**Lemma 3.4.1.** Let  $(\Theta, \zeta, \tilde{\zeta}) \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega')$  be such that  $\zeta = 1$  on  $\chi^{-1}(\operatorname{supp} \Theta)$  and  $\tilde{\zeta} = 1$  on  $\operatorname{supp} \zeta$  then:

$$\sum_{k\geq 0} \zeta \Phi_{k+N}(D)[(\Theta u)_k \circ \zeta \chi] = \sum_{k\geq 0} \tilde{\zeta} \Phi_{k+N}(D)[(\Theta u)_k \circ \tilde{\zeta} \chi] + F, \ F \in C^{\infty}$$

*Proof.* Take  $\Theta' \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega')$  such that  $\Theta' \circ \chi = 0$  on supp  $\zeta$  and  $\Theta' \circ \chi = 1$  on supp  $\tilde{\zeta} - \zeta$  and compute:

$$\sum_{k\geq 0} \zeta \Phi_{k+N}(D)[(\Theta u)_k \circ \zeta \chi]$$
  
=  $\sum_{k\geq 0} \tilde{\zeta} \Phi_{k+N}(D)[(\Theta u)_k \circ \tilde{\zeta} \chi] + \sum_{k\geq 0} (\zeta - \tilde{\zeta}) \Phi_{k+N}(D)[(\Theta u)_k \circ \tilde{\zeta} \chi]$   
=  $\sum_{k\geq 0} \tilde{\zeta} \Phi_{k+N}(D)[(\Theta u)_k \circ \tilde{\zeta} \chi] + \underbrace{\sum_{k\geq 0} (\zeta - \tilde{\zeta}) \Phi_{k+N}(D)[(\Theta'(\Theta u)_k) \circ \tilde{\zeta} \chi]}_{F}$ .

And we have by integration by parts,  $\forall l \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$\Theta'(\Theta u)_k = 2^{-kl} \int \frac{e^{i(x'-y')\xi}}{i(x'-y')^l} \Theta'(x)\Theta(y)\phi_1(2^{-k}\xi)u(y)dyd\xi,$$
  
thus,  $\left\|\Theta'(\Theta u)_k\right\|_{\infty} \le C_l 2^{-k(l-n)}$ , and  $F \in C^{\infty}$ .

Given (i,j) such that  $\operatorname{supp} \Theta_i \cap \operatorname{supp} \Theta'_j \neq \emptyset$  we define  $\tilde{\zeta}_{i,j} \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  such that  $\tilde{\zeta}_{i,j} = 1$  on  $\operatorname{supp} \zeta_i \cup \operatorname{supp} \zeta'_j$ .

$$\begin{aligned} \chi^{\star} u &= \sum_{i} \zeta_{i} \cdot (\zeta_{i} \chi)^{\star} \Theta_{i} u = \sum_{k \ge 0} \sum_{i,j} \zeta_{i} \Phi_{k+N}(D) [(\Theta_{i} \Theta_{j}' u)_{k} \circ \zeta_{i} \chi] \\ &= \sum_{k \ge 0} \sum_{i,j} \tilde{\zeta}_{i,j} \Phi_{k+N}(D) [(\Theta_{i} \Theta_{j}' u)_{k} \circ \tilde{\zeta}_{i,j} \chi] + F, \ F \in C^{\infty} \\ &= \sum_{k \ge 0} \sum_{i,j} \zeta_{j}' \Phi_{k+N}(D) [(\Theta_{i} \Theta_{j}' u)_{k} \circ \zeta_{j}' \chi] + F + F', \ F' \in C^{\infty} \\ &= \chi_{1}^{\star} u + F + F', \end{aligned}$$

which gives the desired result and ends the proof.

## Chapter 4

# On the quasi-linearity of the Water Waves System

In this section we give the proofs of Theorems 1.2.1, 1.3.1 and 1.3.2, which are the main the results from [62].

#### Contents

4.1 Study of the model equation	
4.1.1	Prerequisites on the Cauchy Problems
4.1.2	Proof of Theorem 1.2.1
4.2 A technical generalization	
4.2.1	Prerequisites on the Cauchy problem
4.2.2	Proof of Theorem 4.2.1
4.3 Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface	
$\mathbf{tens}$	sion
4.3.1	Prerequisites from the Cauchy problem
4.3.2	Proof of Theorem 1.3.1
4.4 Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves 137	
4.4.1	Prerequisites from the Cauchy problem
4.4.2	Proof of Theorem 1.3.2
4.5 Appendix: Energy estimates and well-posedness of some pulled back hyperbolic equations	

### 4.1 Study of the model equation

In this section we give a full proof of Theorem 1.2.1.

#### 4.1.1 Prerequisites on the Cauchy Problems

For a real number  $\alpha \in [0, 2[$ , we consider the Cauchy problem<sup>1</sup>:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + u \partial_x u + \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1} u = 0\\ u(0, \cdot) = u_0(\cdot) \in H^s(\mathbb{D}), \ s > \frac{3}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(4.1.1)

<sup>1</sup>Recall that  $D = Op(|\xi|)$ .

It is well known that the problem is well posed in Sobolev spaces, this can be summarized in the following Theorem:

**Theorem 4.1.1.** Consider two real numbers,  $s \in ]\frac{3}{2}, +\infty[$  and r > 0. Fix  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D})$ . Then there exists  $C_s > 0$  such that for  $0 < T < \frac{C_s}{r+\|\partial_x u_0\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{D})}}$  and all  $v_0 \in B(u_0, r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{D})$ , the problem (4.1.1) with initial data  $v_0$  has a unique solution  $v \in C^0([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$ , the map  $v_0 \mapsto v$  is continuous from  $B(u_0, r)$  to  $C^0([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  and maps real functions into real functions. Moreover we have the estimates for all  $\delta > 0$  and all of  $\mu \in [0, s]$ , we have:

$$\forall t \in [0,T], \ \|v(t)\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D})} \le e^{C_{\mu} \|\partial_{x}v\|_{L^{1}([0,T],L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}))}} \|v_{0}\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D})}.$$
(4.1.2)

Taking  $v_0 \in B(u_0, r)$ , and assuming moreover that  $u_0 \in H^{s+1}(\mathbb{D})$  then:

$$\forall t \in [0, T], \|(u - v)(t)\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D})} \leq e^{C_{s}(\|\partial_{x}(u, v)\|_{L^{1}([0, t], L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}))} + C_{s}t\|u_{0}\|_{H^{s+1}(\mathbb{D})})} \|u_{0} - v_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D})}$$

$$(4.1.3)$$

We will also need to remark that fixing the initial data at 0 is an arbitrary choice, that is all of the previous conclusions hold for the Cauchy problem defined for  $t_0 \leq T$ :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + v \partial_x v + \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1} v = 0\\ v(t_0, \cdot) = v_0(\cdot) \in H^s(\mathbb{D}), \ s > \frac{3}{2}. \end{cases}$$
(4.1.4)

**Remark 4.1.1.** Note that the previous Theorem holds for the Cauchy problem associated to the Burgers equation:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + u \partial_x u = 0\\ u(0, \cdot) = u_0(\cdot) \in H^s(\mathbb{D}), \ s > \frac{3}{2}, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1.5)$$

Though we have some extra estimates in Hölder type spaces:

$$\forall 0 \le k < s - \frac{1}{2}, \|u(t)\|_{W^{k,\infty}(\mathbb{D})} \le C_k \|u_0\|_{W^{k,\infty}(\mathbb{D})}, \qquad (4.1.6)$$

Taking two different solution u, v, assuming moreover  $u_0 \in H^{s+1}(\mathbb{D})$  then we have:

$$\forall 1 \le k < s - \frac{1}{2}, \|(u - v)(t)\|_{W^{k,\infty}(\mathbb{D})} \le \|u_0 - v_0\|_{W^{k,\infty}(\mathbb{D})} e^{C_k \int_0^t \|u(s)\|_{W^{k+1,\infty}(\mathbb{D})} ds}.$$

**Remark 4.1.2.** We compute the change of scale for the evolution PDE (4.1.1):

$$u_0 \mapsto \lambda^{\alpha - 1} u_0(\lambda x)$$

gives the solution

$$\lambda^{\alpha-1}u(\lambda^{\alpha}t,\lambda x)$$

Thus giving the critical scaling in Sobolev spaces:  $s_c = 1 + \frac{1}{2} - \alpha$ , thus we prove quasi-linearity in the subcritical regime of the problem.

**Notation 4.1.1.** In order not to be confused with the pull-back symbol, henceforth the conjugate of a symbol a will be written as  $a^{\top}$ .

As the linearized equation is a hyperbolic pseudo-differential equation we recall the result on the Cauchy problem associated to this type of equations:

**Theorem 4.1.2.** Consider  $(a_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  a family of symbols in  $S^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d), \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that  $t \mapsto a_t$  is continuous and bounded from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $S^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and such that  $\operatorname{Re}(a_t) = \frac{a_t + a_t^{\top}}{2}$  is bounded in  $S^0(\mathbb{D}^d)$ , and take T > 0. Then for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $f \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + \operatorname{Op}(a)u = f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, u(0, x) = u_0(x) \end{cases}$$
(4.1.7)

has a unique solution  $u \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  which verifies the estimates:

$$\|u(t)\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} \leq e^{Ct} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} + 2 \int_{0}^{t} e^{C(t-t')} \|f(t')\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} dt',$$

where C depends on a finite symbol semi-norm of  $\operatorname{Re}(a_t)$ . We will also need to remark that fixing the initial data at 0 is an arbitrary choice. More precisely,  $\forall 0 \leq t_0 \leq T$ and all data  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + \operatorname{Op}(a)u = f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, u(t_0, x) = u_0(x) \end{cases}$$
(4.1.8)

has a unique solution  $u \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  which verifies the estimate:

$$\|u(t)\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} \leq e^{C|t-t_{0}|} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} + 2 \left| \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{C(t-t')} \|f(t')\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} dt' \right|.$$

#### 4.1.2 Proof of Theorem 1.2.1

To prove the theorem we will show that there exists a positive constant C and two sequences  $(u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  and  $(v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  solutions of (1.2.2) on [0, 1] such that for every  $t \in [0, 1]$ ,

$$\sup_{\lambda,\epsilon,\tau} \left\| u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1],H^{s}(\mathbb{D}))} + \left\| v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1],H^{s}(\mathbb{D}))} \leq C_{\tau}$$

 $(u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  and  $(v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  satisfy initially

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty\\\epsilon, \tau \to 0}} \left\| u_{\epsilon, \tau}^{\lambda}(0, \cdot) - v_{\epsilon, \tau}^{\lambda}(0, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D})} = 0,$$

but,

$$\liminf_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty\\\epsilon,\tau \to 0}} \left\| u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} - v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1],H^{s}(\mathbb{D}))} \ge c > 0.$$

Considering a weaker control norm we want to get, for all  $\delta > 0$ ,

$$\liminf_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty\\\epsilon,\tau \to 0}} \frac{\left\| u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} - v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1],H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)++\delta}(\mathbb{D}))}}{\left\| u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda}(0,\cdot) - v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda}(0,\cdot) \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D})}} = +\infty.$$

#### 4.1.2.1 Definition of the Ansatz

- For  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{R}$ , take  $\omega \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}), \omega(x) = 1$  if  $|x| \leq \frac{1}{2}, \omega(x) = 0$  if  $|x| \geq 1$ .
- For  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}$ , we see functions on  $\mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$  as  $2\pi$  periodic function on  $\mathbb{R}$  and we take  $\omega \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$  as the periodic extension of the function defined above.

Let  $(\lambda, \epsilon)$  be two positive real sequences such that

$$\lambda \to +\infty, \ \epsilon \to 0, \ \lambda \epsilon \to +\infty.$$
 (4.1.9)

Put

• for  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$u^{0}(x) = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}-s}\omega(\lambda x), \quad v^{0}(x) = u^{0}(x) + \epsilon\omega(x),$$

• for  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}$ ,  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  as the periodic extensions of the functions defined above.

Take  $t_0 > 0$  smaller than a harmless constant which will be fixed later, and  $(\tau), 0 < \tau \leq t_0$  and  $\tau \to 0$ .

Now let l, l' be the solutions to the Cauchy problem on  $[0, t_0]$ :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t l + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} l = 0, \\ l(\tau, \cdot) = u^0, \end{cases} \quad \begin{cases} \partial_t l' + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} l' = 0, \\ l'(\tau, \cdot) = v^0. \end{cases}$$

Put  $u^1(x) = l(0, x)$  and define analogously  $v^1(x) = l'(0, x)$ .

Define u and v as the solution given by Theorem 4.1.1with initial data  $u^1$  and  $v^1$  on the intervals [0, T] and [0, T']. Taking  $0 < \delta < s - \frac{3}{2}$ ,  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  are uniformly bounded in  $H^{\frac{3}{2}+\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  when  $\lambda \to +\infty$  and thus by Theorem 4.1.2,  $u^1$  and  $v^1$  are also uniformly bounded in  $H^{\frac{3}{2}+\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  and thus by the Sobolev injection Theorem they are bounded in  $\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ . Thus we can take a uniform 0 < T on which all the solutions are well defined and we take  $0 < t_0 \leq T^{-2}$ .

#### 4.1.2.2 Change of variables by transport

Put

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}\chi(t,s,x) = u(t,\chi(t,s,x)) \\ \chi(s,s,x) = x \end{cases}$$

and define analogously  $\tilde{\chi}$  from v.

We recall that from the Cauchy-Lipschitz Theorem we have as  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  are  $H^{+\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  functions, then  $u^1, v^1$  are  $H^{+\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  and u and v are  $H^{+\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  with respect to the x variable thus  $\chi, \tilde{\chi} \in C^1([0,T]^2, C^\infty)$ . And they are both diffeomorphisms in the x variable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Heuristically, if the existence time of the solution with initial data  $\omega$  is [0, T] then the existence time of the solution with initial data  $u_0$  is  $\sim T\lambda^{s-\frac{3}{2}}$  which tends to infinity with  $\lambda$ , thus we are "dilating" the time scale of the problem with initial data  $\omega$  and "zooming" for short time and in the  $\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{D})$  norm. In this part of the evolution, we prove that the Burgers transport term is more important and gives this quasi-linear character to the PDE.

By the estimate (4.1.2) u and v are uniformly bounded in  $\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  because their Sobolev norms are dominated by those of  $u^1$  and  $v^1$  thus by those of  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  by Theorem 4.1.2. By classic manipulations of ODEs we get the estimates:

$$\begin{cases} \exists C > 0, \forall t', t \leq t_0, \forall x, C^{-1} \leq |\partial_x \chi(t, t', x)| \leq C \\ \forall 2 \leq k < \lfloor s - \frac{1}{2} \rfloor, \left\| \partial_x^k \chi(t, t', x) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C \|u\|_{W^{k,\infty}}. \end{cases}$$
(4.1.10)

Analogous estimates hold for  $\tilde{\chi}$  using v.

The classic transport computation reads:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (u(t,\chi(t,0,x))) = (\partial_t u)(t,\chi(t,0,x)) + \partial_t (\chi(t,0,x))(\partial_x u)(t,\chi(t,0,x)) \\ &= -(\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1} u)(t,\chi(t,0,x)) \\ &= -(\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1})^* (u(t,\chi(t,0,x))), \\ u(0,\chi(0,0,x)) = u(0,x) = u^1(x). \end{cases}$$

where  $(\cdot)^*$  is the change of variables by  $\chi(t, 0, x)$  as presented in Theorem 3.3.1. Thus if we put f the solution to the following Cauchy problem, which is well posed by Appendix 4.5:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f + (\partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1})^* f = 0\\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}, f(0, x) = u^1(x) \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1.11)$$

we get:

$$u(t, \chi(t, 0, x)) = f(t, x) \Leftrightarrow u(t, x) = f(t, \chi(0, t, x)).$$
(4.1.12)

Analogously, if we put g the solution to the well posed Cauchy problem,

$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{\partial_t g} + (\widetilde{\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1}})^* g = 0 \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}, g(0, x) = v^1(x) \end{cases}$$
(4.1.13)

where  $\widetilde{(\cdot)}^*$  is the change of variables by  $\tilde{\chi}(t, 0, x)$ , we get

$$v(t,x) = g(t,\tilde{\chi}(0,t,x)) \Leftrightarrow v(t,\tilde{\chi}(t,0,x)) = g(t,x).$$

$$(4.1.14)$$

Returning to the ODEs defining  $\chi$  and  $\tilde{\chi}$ , for a generic initial time  $0 \le t' \le t_0$  we get:

$$\begin{cases} \chi(t, t', x) = x + \int_{t'}^{t} f(s, x) ds, \\ \tilde{\chi}(t, t', x) = x + \int_{t'}^{t} g(s, x) ds, \end{cases}$$
(4.1.15)

**Proposition 4.1.1.** There exists C > 0 independent of  $(\tau, \epsilon, \lambda)$  such that:  $\forall h \in H^s(\mathbb{D}), \forall (t, t') \leq t_0,$ 

$$C^{-1} \|h\|_{H^s} \le \|h \circ \chi(t, t', x)\|_{H^s} \le C \|h\|_{H^s},$$
  
$$C^{-1} \|h\|_{H^s} \le \|h \circ \tilde{\chi}(t, t', x)\|_{H^s} \le C \|h\|_{H^s}.$$

*Proof.* We will start by proving the upper bound for the estimate on the composition with  $\chi$ . As u is bounded in  $(\tau, \epsilon, \lambda)$  on  $C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  then there exists a unique solution  $H \in C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  to

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t H + u \partial_x H = 0, \\ H(t, x) = h(x), \end{cases}$$

and H is bounded in  $(\tau, \epsilon, \lambda)$  on  $C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$ . The desired bound come from the fact that we have the explicit formula for H:

$$H(t', x) = h \circ \chi(t, t', x).$$

Now to get the lower bound it suffices to write by the upper bound computations:

$$\begin{split} \|h\|_{H^s} &= \left\|h \circ \chi(t,t',x) \circ \chi(t',t,x)\right\|_{H^s} \\ &\leq C \left\|h \circ \chi(t,t',x)\right\|_{H^s}. \end{split}$$

We get analogously the estimates on the composition with  $\tilde{\chi}$ .

#### 4.1.2.3 Key Lemma and proof of the Theorem

**Lemma 4.1.1.** Take  $\epsilon' > 0$  sufficiently small, as  $0 \le \alpha < 2$  we can find a sequence  $(\tau, \epsilon, \lambda)$  such that:

$$\begin{cases} \tau \to 0, \\ \epsilon \to 0, \\ \lambda \to +\infty, \end{cases} \begin{cases} \tau \lambda^{(\alpha-1)^+} \to 0, \\ \epsilon^{-1} \lambda^{-1+(\alpha-1)^++\epsilon'} \to +\infty, \\ \lambda \epsilon \tau \to +\infty, \\ \lambda^{\alpha} \epsilon \tau^2 \to 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.1.16)

Then there exists c > 0 such that:

- $1. \ \ For \ \nu \geq 0 \ \ and \ \forall (\tau, \epsilon, \lambda), \left\| u^0 \circ \chi(0, \tau, x) u^0 \circ \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x) \right\|_{H^{s-\nu}} > c \lambda^{-\nu}.$
- 2. For  $\nu \ge 0$

$$u(\tau, x) - v(\tau, x) = u^{0} \circ \chi(0, \tau, x) - u^{0} \circ \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x) + O_{H^{s-\nu}} \left( \epsilon + (\tau \lambda^{(\alpha-1)^{+}} + \tau \lambda^{\alpha-(s-\nu)}) \lambda^{-\nu} + \tau^{2} \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha-\nu} \right). \quad (4.1.17)$$

We will now show that this Lemma implies the Theorem 1.2.1. We have by combining the estimates (1) and (2) for  $\nu = s$ :

$$\forall (\tau,\epsilon,\lambda), \|u(\tau,x)-v(\tau,x)\|_{H^s} > \frac{c}{2} > 0 \text{ thus } \sup_{\tau,\epsilon,\lambda} \|u(\tau,x)-v(\tau,x)\|_{H^s} > \frac{c}{2} > 0.$$

Also by Theorem 4.1.2:

$$\exists C > 0, \left\| u^{1}(x) - v^{1}(x) \right\|_{H^{s}} \le C\epsilon, \text{ thus } \left\| u^{1}(x) - v^{1}(x) \right\|_{H^{s}} \to 0,$$

which gives the non uniform continuity in the desired norms. Now for the control in a weaker norm we write:

$$\frac{\|u(\tau, x) - v(\tau, x)\|_{H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)^+ + \epsilon'}}}{\|u^1(x) - v^1(x)\|_{H^s}} \ge c\epsilon^{-1}\lambda^{-1+(\alpha-1)^+ + \epsilon'} \to +\infty,$$

which gives the desired result.

#### 4.1.2.4 Proof of point 1 of Lemma 4.1.1

We first prove that there exists c > 0 such that  $\|u^0 \circ \chi(0, \tau, x)\|_{H^{s-\nu}} > c\lambda^{-\nu}$ , indeed by Proposition 4.1.1 and change of variable:

$$\left\| u^{0} \circ \chi(0,\tau,x) \right\|_{H^{s-\nu}} \ge C^{-1} \left\| u^{0} \right\|_{H^{s-\nu}} \ge C^{-1} \lambda^{-\nu} \left\| \omega \right\|_{H^{s-\nu}}.$$
(4.1.18)

Now we will show that  $u^0 \circ \chi(0, \tau, x)$  and  $u^0 \circ \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x)$  have disjoint supports which will suffice to conclude given (4.1.18). Put  $y = \chi(0, \tau, x)$ , thus  $x = \chi(\tau, 0, y)$ . On the support of  $u^0 \circ \chi(0, \tau, x)$  we have:

- If  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\lambda |y| \le 1$ .
- If  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}, \forall k \in \mathbb{N}, 2\pi k 1 \leq \lambda |y| \leq 2\pi k + 1.$

We compute by the Taylor formula, since  $x = \tilde{\chi}(\tau, 0, y)$ :

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x) &= \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)) \\ &+ (\chi(\tau,0,y) - \tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)) \int_0^1 \partial_y \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)) dr \\ &= y + (\chi(\tau,0,y) - \tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)) \int_0^1 \partial_y \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)) dr. \end{split}$$

First by (4.1.15),

$$\begin{split} \partial_y \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)) \\ &= 1 + \int_0^\tau \partial_y [g(t,r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y))] dt. \end{split}$$

Thus by estimates of Theorem 4.5.1, taking  $0 < \delta < s - \frac{3}{2}^3$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_y \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau, r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)) &= 1 + O_{L^{\infty}} \left( \tau [1 + \left\| v^1 \right\|_{H^{\frac{3}{2}+\delta}} + \left\| u^1 \right\|_{H^{\frac{3}{2}+\delta}} ] \right) \\ &= 1 + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau), \end{aligned}$$

Which gives

$$\int_0^1 \partial_y \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau, r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y))dr = 1 + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau).$$
(4.1.20)

Now we estimate  $\chi(\tau, 0, y) - \tilde{\chi}(\tau, 0, y)$ , by (4.1.15) :

$$\chi(\tau, 0, y) - \tilde{\chi}(\tau, 0, y) = \int_0^\tau f(t, y) - g(t, y) dt.$$
(4.1.21)

Taking  $0 < \delta < s - \frac{3}{2}$ , by estimates of Theorem 4.5.1:

$$f(t,y) = f(0,y) + \int_0^t \partial_t f(r,y) dr = u^1(y) + tO_{L^{\infty}}(\|u^1\|_{H^{\frac{1}{2}+\alpha+\delta}})$$
  
=  $u^1(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(t\epsilon).$ 

<sup>3</sup>Recall the notation  $O_{\parallel \parallel}$  in 3.1.

Analogously we get:

$$g(t,y) = v^1(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(t\epsilon)$$

Consider  $\mu$  the solution to the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \mu + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} \mu = 0 \\ \forall y \in \mathbb{D}, \mu(\tau, y) = \omega(y). \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1.22)$$

By definition:

$$u^{1}(y) - v^{1}(y) = -\epsilon\mu(0, y) = -\epsilon\omega(y) + \epsilon \int_{\tau}^{0} \partial_{t}\mu(t, y)dt$$
$$= -\epsilon\omega(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(\epsilon\tau).$$

Thus,

$$\chi(\tau, 0, y) - \tilde{\chi}(\tau, 0, y) = -\epsilon \tau \omega(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau^2 \epsilon),$$

and finally we get in (4.1.19),

$$\tilde{\chi}(\tau, 0, x) - y = -\epsilon \tau \omega(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau^2 \epsilon).$$

We get for  $x \in \text{supp } u^0 \circ \chi(0, \tau, \cdot)$ :

• For  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{R}$ :

$$\lambda \left| \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x) \right| \ge \tau \epsilon \lambda - 1 + o_{L^{\infty}} \left( \tau \epsilon \lambda \right) \ge 2,$$

by hypothesis  $\tau \epsilon \lambda \to +\infty$ , which gives the desired result.

• For  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}$  given an adequate choice of  $\tau, \epsilon$  and  $\lambda$ :

$$2n\pi + 1 \le \lambda |\tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)| \le 2(n+1)\pi - 1,$$

which again gives the desired result.

#### 4.1.2.5 Proof of point 2 of Lemma 4.1.1

We start by writing:

$$u(t,x) - v(t,x) = f(t,\chi(0,t,x)) - g(t,\tilde{\chi}(0,t,x))$$
  
=  $\underbrace{f(t,\chi(0,t,x)) - f(t,\tilde{\chi}(0,t,x))}_{(1)} + (f-g)(t,\tilde{\chi}(0,t,x)).$ 

Term (1) resembles the main term in the usual transport estimates we used in point 1 of the Lemma <sup>4</sup> but with a main difference of f being some dispersed data and not compactly supported. The main trick here was to construct from  $u^0, v^0$  the defocused data in the past  $u^1, v^1$  and use this as the initial data for f and g.

$$u(\tau, x) - v(\tau, x) = u^{0} \circ \chi(0, \tau, x) - u^{0} \circ \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x) + (f - u^{0})(\tau, \chi(0, \tau, x)) - (f - u^{0})(\tau, \tilde{\chi}(0, t, x)) + (f - g)(\tau, \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x))$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Like the ones used in proving the quasi-linearity of the Burgers equation.

The idea is then to see that by definition of l:  $l(\tau, x) = u^0(x)$  and we get:

$$u(\tau, x) - v(\tau, x) = u^{0} \circ \chi(0, \tau, x) - u^{0} \circ \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x) + \underbrace{(f - l)(\tau, \chi(0, \tau, x)) - (f - l)(\tau, \tilde{\chi}(0, t, x))}_{(1)} + \underbrace{(f - g)(\tau, \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x))}_{2} + \underbrace{(f - g)(\tau, \chi, \chi, x)}_{2} + \underbrace{(f - g)(\tau, \chi, \chi, \chi, \chi, \chi, \chi, \chi,$$

We start by estimating (1), by Proposition 4.1.1:

$$\|(f-l)(\tau,\chi(0,\tau,x))\|_{H^s} \le C \|(f-l)(\tau,\cdot)\|_{H^s}.$$

Now f - l solves:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (f-l) + \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} (f-l) = (\partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1} - \partial_x \left| D \right|^{\alpha - 1^*}) f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}, (f-l)(0, x) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.1.23)

Thus we have the estimates:

$$\|f - l(\tau, \cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C \left\| (\partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1} - \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1^*}) f \right\|_{L^1([0,\tau], H^{\nu})} \\ \le C\tau \left\| (\partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1} - \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1^*}) f \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,\tau], H^{\nu})}$$

By Theorem 3.3.1 and the Kato-Ponce commutator estimates (3.1.5),

$$\begin{split} \|f - l(\tau, \cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}} &\leq C\tau \,\|(Id - D\chi(0, t, \chi(t, 0, x)))\|_{L^{\infty}} \,\|f\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], H^{\nu + \alpha})} \\ &+ C\tau \,\|Id - D\chi(0, t, \chi(t, 0, x))\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], W^{\nu, \infty})} \,\|f\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], H^{\alpha})} \\ &+ C\tau \,\|Id - D\chi(0, t, \chi(t, 0, x))\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], W^{1, \infty})} \,\|f\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], H^{\nu + \alpha - 1})} \,. \end{split}$$

Using Theorem 4.5.3 and applying the Sobolev embedding Theorem with  $\delta > 0$  and  $\delta < s - \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$ , we get:

$$\|f - l(\tau, \cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\tau \lambda^{(\alpha - 1)^{+}} + \tau \lambda^{\alpha - \nu}) \lambda^{\nu - s}.$$
(4.1.24)

Thus we get

$$\|(f-l)(\tau,\chi(0,\tau,x))\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\tau\lambda^{(\alpha-1)^+} + \tau\lambda^{\alpha-\nu})\lambda^{\nu-s}.$$

Analogously we get

$$\|(f-l)(\tau,\tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x))\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\tau\lambda^{(\alpha-1)^+} + \tau\lambda^{\alpha-\nu})\lambda^{\nu-s},$$

which gives

$$\|(1)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\tau \lambda^{(\alpha-1)^{+}} + \tau \lambda^{\alpha-\nu}) \lambda^{\nu-s}.$$
(4.1.25)

Now we estimate (2) in the same manner, by Proposition 4.1.1:

$$\|(f-g)(\tau, \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x))\|_{H^{\nu}} \le \|(f-g)(\tau, \cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}}$$

f - g solve:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (f-g) + H \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1^*} (f-g) + (\partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1^*} - \partial_x |D|^{\alpha - 1^*}) g = 0 \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}, (f-g)(0, x) = (u^1 - v^1)(x). \end{cases}$$
(4.1.26)

By Theorem 3.3.1 and the Kato-Ponce commutator estimates (3.1.5),

$$\begin{split} \|f - g(\tau, \cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}} \\ &\leq C \|u_1 - v_1\|_{H^{\nu}} \\ &+ C\tau \|(D\tilde{\chi}(0, t, \tilde{\chi}(t, 0, x)) - D\chi(0, t, \chi(t, 0, x)))\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], H^{\nu+\alpha})} \\ &+ C\tau \|D\tilde{\chi}(0, t, \tilde{\chi}(t, 0, x)) - D\chi(0, t, \chi(t, 0, x))\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], W^{\nu, \infty})} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], H^{\alpha})} \\ &+ C\tau \|D\tilde{\chi}(0, t, \tilde{\chi}(t, 0, x)) - D\chi(0, t, \chi(t, 0, x))\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], W^{1, \infty})} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}([0, \tau], H^{\nu+\alpha-1})} \,. \end{split}$$

Using Theorem 4.5.3 and taking  $0 < \delta < s - \alpha - \frac{3}{2}$ :

$$\|f - g(\tau, \cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\epsilon + \tau^2 \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha} \lambda^{\nu - s} + \epsilon \tau + \tau \lambda^{(\alpha - 1)^+} \lambda^{\nu - s}),$$

which gives

$$\|(2)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\epsilon + \tau^2 \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha} \lambda^{\nu-s} + \epsilon \tau + \tau \lambda^{(\alpha-1)^+} \lambda^{\nu-s}), \qquad (4.1.27)$$

finishing the proof of Lemma 4.1.1 and Theorem 1.2.1.

### 4.2 A technical generalization

The techniques used in the previous proof will be generalized but with some care in the estimates due to the non linearity we add to the dispersive term. This extra "complication" is crucial for our application to the Water Waves system.

**Theorem 4.2.1.** Consider five real numbers  $\alpha \in [0, 2[, s \in ]2 + \frac{d}{2}, +\infty[$  and T > 0 and  $(\beta, k) \in \mathbb{R}^+$  verifying:

$$\begin{cases} k \ge 1, \quad \beta \le \alpha, \\ \beta < (k+1)\alpha - 2k + 1. \end{cases}$$

Consider a elliptic skew symmetric<sup>5</sup>  $C^1$  symbol  $a : [0,T] \times H^s(\mathbb{D}^d) \to \Gamma_1^\alpha(\mathbb{D}^d),$ 

*i.e* such that 
$$\operatorname{Re}(a_t) = \frac{a_t + a_t^{\top}}{2}$$
 is bounded in  $\Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{D}^d)$ ,

$$\exists C > 0, \forall (t, u, x) \in [0, T] \times H^s(\mathbb{D}^d) \times \mathbb{D}^d, \forall \xi, |\xi| \ge \frac{1}{2}, |a(t, u, x, \xi)| \ge C |\xi|^{\alpha}.$$

Moreover we suppose the following bounds on the nonlinearity in a:

$$\forall \mu \in \mathbb{R}, \forall g \in H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^d), \left\| T_{D_u a}g + \overline{T_{D_u a}g} \right\|_{H^{\mu}} \le M_0^{\beta}(D_u a + \overline{D_u a}) \left\| g \right\|_{H^{\mu+\beta}}.$$
(4.2.1)

$$\forall (t,u), M_1^{\alpha}(a) \le C(1 + \|u\|_{W^{1,\infty}}), \ M_0^{\beta}(D_u a + \overline{D_u a}(u, \cdot)) \le C \|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{k-1}.$$
(4.2.2)

Consider a  $C^1$  function  $V(t, x, u) : [0, T] \times \mathbb{D}^d \times H^s(\mathbb{D}^d) \to H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)$  and a function  $F \in L^\infty([0, T], W^{1,\infty}(H^s(\mathbb{D}^d), H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))).$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Recall the notation  $a^{\top}$  for the adjoint of an operator a.

Suppose that the following hypothesis **H1** is verified, there exists  $\omega \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ supported in B(0,1) such that

$$\forall (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \operatorname{supp} \omega, C_x^{-1}t \le \left| \int_0^t D_u V(s,x,0)[\omega(x)] ds \right| \le C_x t.$$
 (H1)

for a constant  $C_x > 0$  when  $\omega(x) \neq 0$ .

Fix  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and take r > 0, then there exists a constant  $C_s > 0$  such that for

$$T' < \frac{C_s}{r + M_0^{\alpha}((a, D_x a)(0, \cdot, u_0)) + M_0^{\beta}(D_u + \overline{D_u} a(0, \cdot, u_0)) + \|(V, D_{x, u}V)(0, \cdot, u_0\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\partial_x u_0\|_{L^{\infty}}}$$
(4.2.3)

and T' < T then for all  $v_0$  in the ball  $B(u_0, r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + T_{V(t,x,v)} \cdot \nabla v + T_{a(t,v)} v = F(t,v) \\ v(0,\cdot) = v_0(\cdot), \end{cases}$$
(4.2.4)

has a unique solution  $v \in C([0, T'], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$ . Moreover  $\forall R > 0$ , the flow map:

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T_R], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

is not uniformly continuous, where  $T_R$  is chosen sufficiently small for the flow map to be defined on  $C([0, T_R], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  uniformly on B(0, R).

Considering a weaker control norm we get, for all  $\epsilon > 0$  the flow map:

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T_R], H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)^++\epsilon}(\mathbb{D}^d))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

is not  $C^1$ .

In the proof of quasi-linearity of the water waves systems we will need the following slight generalization to systems given by the following corollary.

**Corollary 4.2.1.** Consider a positive integer  $n \ge 1$  and five real numbers  $\alpha \in [0, 2[, s \in ]2 + \frac{d}{2}, +\infty[, T > 0 \text{ and } (\beta, k) \in \mathbb{R}^+$  verifying:

$$\begin{cases} k \ge 1, \quad \beta \le \alpha, \\ \beta < (k+1)\alpha - 2k + 1 \end{cases}$$

Consider a  $C^1$  skew symmetric elliptic symbol  $a : [0,T] \times H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n) \to \Gamma_1^\alpha(\mathbb{D}^d; M_n(\mathbb{R})).$ Moreover we suppose the following bounds on the nonlinearity in a:

$$\forall \mu \in \mathbb{R}, \forall g \in H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^d), \left\| T_{D_u a}g + \overline{T_{D_u a}g} \right\|_{H^{\mu}} \le M_0^{\beta}(D_u a + \overline{D_u a}) \left\| g \right\|_{H^{\mu+\beta}}.$$
(4.2.5)

$$\forall (t, u), M_1^{\alpha}(a) \le C(1 + \|u\|_{W^{1,\infty}}), \ M_0^{\beta}(D_u a + \overline{D_u a}(u, \cdot)) \le C \|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{k-1}.$$
(4.2.6)

Consider a  $C^1$  function  $V(t, x, u) : [0, T] \times \mathbb{D}^d \times H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{C}^n) \to H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n)$  and a function  $F \in L^{\infty}([0, T], W^{1, \infty}(H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n), H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n))).$ 

Suppose that the following hypothesis **H1** is verified, there exists  $\omega \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n)$ supported in B(0,1) such that

$$\forall (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \operatorname{supp} \omega, C_x^{-1}t \le \left| \int_0^t D_u V(s,x,0)[\omega(x)] ds \right| \le C_x t,$$
(H1)

for a constant  $C_x > 0$  when  $\omega(x) \neq 0$ .

Fix  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n)$  and take r > 0, then there exists T' > 0 verifying analogous conditions as in Theorem 4.2.2 such that for all  $v_0$  in the ball  $B(u_0, r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n)$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \forall i \in [1,..,n], \ \partial_t v_i + V(t,x,v) \cdot \nabla v_i + (T_{a(t,v)}v)_i = F_i(t,v), \\ v(0,\cdot) = v_0(\cdot), \end{cases}$$

has a unique solution  $v \in C([0,T'], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n))$ . Moreover  $\forall R > 0$ , the flow map:

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T_R], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

is not uniformly continuous, where  $T_R$  is chosen sufficiently small for the flow map to be defined on  $C([0, T_R], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  uniformly on B(0, R).

Considering a weaker control norm we get, for all  $\epsilon' > 0$  the flow map:

$$B(0,R) \to C([0,T_R], H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)^++\epsilon'}(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^n))$$
$$v_0 \mapsto v$$

is not  $C^1$ .

#### 4.2.1 Prerequisites on the Cauchy problem

We consider the Cauchy problem associated to Theorem 4.2.1:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + T_{V(t,x,u)} \cdot \nabla u + T_a u = F(t,u) \\ u(0,\cdot) = u_0(\cdot) \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d), \ s > 1 + \frac{d}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(4.2.7)

**Theorem 4.2.2.** Consider  $0 \le \alpha < 2$ , T > 0, an elliptic  $C^1$  symbol  $a : [0,T] \times H^s(\mathbb{D}^d) \to \Gamma_1^\alpha(\mathbb{D}^d)$  skew symmetric

*i.e such that* 
$$\operatorname{Re}(a_t) = \frac{a_t + a_t^{\top}}{2}$$
 *is bounded in*  $\Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{D}^d)$ .

Moreover we suppose the following bounds on the nonlinearity in a:

$$\forall \mu \in \mathbb{R}, \forall g \in H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^d), \left\| T_{D_u a}g + \overline{T_{D_u a}g} \right\|_{H^{\mu}} \le M_0^{\beta}(D_u a + \overline{D_u a}) \left\| g \right\|_{H^{\mu+\beta}}.$$
(4.2.8)

Consider a  $C^1$  function  $V(t, x, u) : [0, T] \times \mathbb{D}^d \times H^s(\mathbb{D}^d) \to H^s(\mathbb{D}^d; \mathbb{R}^d)$  and a function  $F \in L^\infty([0, T], W^{1,\infty}(H^s(\mathbb{D}^d), H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))).$ 

Consider  $s > 1 + \frac{d}{2}$ , r > 0 and  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  such that for all  $v_0 \in B(u_0, r)$ , and T' verifying (4.2.3), the problem (4.2.7) with initial data  $v_0$  has a unique solution  $v \in C^0([0, T'], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$  and the map  $v_0 \mapsto v$  is continuous from  $B(u_0, r)$  to  $C^0([0, T'], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$ . Moreover we have the estimates:

$$\forall 0 \le \mu \le s, \forall t \in [0, T'], \|v(t)\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} \le e^{C_{\mu}(a, V) \|\partial_{x}v\|_{L^{1}([0, T'], L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^{d}))}} \|v_{0}\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^{d})}.$$
(4.2.9)

where  $C_{\mu}(a, V)$  verifies:

$$C_{\mu}(a,V) \leq C_{\mu} \left( M_{0}^{\alpha}((a,D_{x}a)(0,\cdot,u_{0})) + M_{0}^{\beta}(D_{u} + \overline{D_{u}}a(0,\cdot,u_{0})) + \|(V,D_{x,u}V)(0,\cdot,u_{0})\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\partial_{x}u_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}} \right).$$

Taking two different solutions v, v', assuming moreover  $v_0 \in H^{s+\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  then we have for  $t \in [0, T']$ :

$$\left\| (v - v')(t) \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} \leq e^{C_{s}(a,V)(\|\partial_{x}(v,v')\|_{L^{1}([0,T'],L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^{d}))} + t\|v_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})})} \left\| v_{0} - v'_{0} \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})}.$$
(4.2.10)

We will also work with linear hyperbolic paradifferential equations and we summarize the properties needed in the following Theorem:

**Theorem 4.2.3.** Consider  $(a_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  a family of symbols in  $\Gamma_1^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  with  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that  $t \mapsto a_t$  is continuous and bounded from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $\Gamma_1^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and such that  $\operatorname{Re}(a_t) = \frac{a_t + a_t^{\top}}{2}$  is bounded in  $\Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{D}^d)$ , and take T > 0. Then for all initial data  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$ , and  $f \in C^0([0, T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + T_a u = f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, u(0, x) = u_0(x) \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.11)$$

has a unique solution  $u \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  which verifies the estimates:

$$\|u(t)\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} \leq e^{Ct} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} + 2 \int_{0}^{t} e^{C(t-t')} \|f(t')\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} dt',$$

where C depends on a finite symbol semi-norm  $M_1^0(\operatorname{Re}(a_t))$ .

**Remark 4.2.1.** We will also need to remark that fixing the initial data at 0 is an arbitrary choice. More precisely,  $\forall 0 \leq t_0 \leq T$  and all data  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + T_a u = f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, u(t_0, x) = u_0(x) \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.12)$$

has a unique solution  $u \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  which verifies the estimate:

$$\|u(t)\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} \leq e^{C|t-t_{0}|} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} + 2 \left| \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{C(t-t')} \|f(t')\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} dt' \right|.$$

#### 4.2.2 Proof of Theorem 4.2.1

As for Theorem 1.2.1, for the proof we will show that there exists a positive constant C and two sequences  $(u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  and  $(v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  solutions of (4.2.4) on [0, 1] such that for every  $t \in [0, 1]$ ,

$$\sup_{\lambda,\epsilon,\tau} \left\| u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1],H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d}))} + \left\| v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1],H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d}))} \leq C,$$

 $(u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  and  $(v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  satisfy initially

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty\\ \epsilon, \tau \to 0}} \left\| u_{\epsilon, \tau}^{\lambda}(0, \cdot) - v_{\epsilon, \tau}^{\lambda}(0, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} = 0,$$

but,

$$\liminf_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty\\\epsilon,\tau \to 0}} \left\| u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} - v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1],H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d}))} \geq c > 0.$$

Considering a weaker control norm we want to get, for all  $\epsilon' > 0$ ,

. ..

$$\liminf_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty\\\epsilon,\tau \to 0}} \frac{\left\| u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} - v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda} \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1],H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)^{+}+\epsilon'}(\mathbb{D}^{d}))}}{\left\| u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda}(0,\cdot) - v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda}(0,\cdot) \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})}} = +\infty$$

#### 4.2.2.1Definition of the Ansatz

Let  $(\lambda, \epsilon)$  be two positive real sequences such that

$$\lambda \to +\infty, \ \epsilon \to 0, \ \lambda \epsilon \to +\infty,$$
 (4.2.13)

and put

• on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,

$$u^{0}(x) = \lambda^{\frac{d}{2}-s}\omega(\lambda x), \ v^{0}(x) = u^{0}(x) + \epsilon\omega(x),$$

• on  $\mathbb{T}^d$ ,  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  as the periodic extensions of the functions defined above.

Take  $t_0 > 0$  smaller than a harmless constant which will be fixed later, and  $(\tau)$ ,  $0 < \tau \le t_0.$ 

Now let *l* be the solutions to the Cauchy problem on  $[0, t_0]$ :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t l + T_{a(t,l)} l = F(t,l) \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, l(\tau,x) = u^0(x). \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2.14)$$

Put  $u^1(x) = l(0, x)$  and define l' to be the solutions to the Cauchy problem on  $[0, t_0]$ :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t l' + T_{a(t,l)} l' = F(t,l') \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, l(\tau, x) = v^0(x). \end{cases}$$
(4.2.15)

and put  $v^1 = l(0, x)$ .

**Remark 4.2.2.** It's important to notice that we use the same term  $T_{a(t,l)}$  in (4.2.14) and (4.2.15) and thus (l, l') have Lipschitz dependence on the data  $(u^0, v^0)$ .

Define u and v as the solution given by Theorem 4.2.2 with initial data  $u^1$ and  $v^1$  on the intervals [0,T], [0,T']. Taking  $0 < \delta < s - 1 - \frac{d}{2}$ ,  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  are uniformly bounded in  $H^{1+\frac{d}{2}+\delta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and thus by Theorem 4.2.3,  $u^{\tilde{1}}$  and  $v^1$  are also uniformly bounded in  $H^{1+\frac{d}{2}+\delta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and thus by the Sobolev injection Theorems they are bounded in  $\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ . Thus we can take a uniform 0 < T on which all the solutions are well defined and we take  $0 < t_0 \leq T$ .

#### 4.2.2.2 Change of variables by transport

Put

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}\chi(t,s,x) = V(t,\chi(t,s,x),u(t,\chi(t,s,x))), \\ \chi(s,s,x) = x, \end{cases}$$

and define analogously  $\tilde{\chi}$  from v. We recall that from the Cauchy-Lipschitz Theorem as  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  are  $H^{+\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  functions, then  $u^1$ ,  $v^1$  are  $H^{+\infty}$  and u and v are  $H^{+\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  with respect to the x variable thus  $\chi, \tilde{\chi} \in C^1([0,T]^2, C^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d))$ . And they are both diffeomorphisms in the x variable.

By the estimate (4.1.2) u and v are uniformly bounded in  $\dot{W}^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  say by M > 0 and their Sobolev norms are dominated by those of  $u^1$  and  $v^1$  thus by those of  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  by Theorem 4.2.3. By classic manipulations of ODEs we get the estimates:

$$\begin{cases} \exists C > 0, \forall (t', t) \in [0, t_0], \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, C^{-1} \le |D\chi(t, t', x)| \le C \\ \forall 2 \le k < \lfloor s - \frac{d}{2} \rfloor, \left\| D^k \chi(t, t', x) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \|u\|_{W^{k, \infty}} \end{cases}$$
(4.2.16)

Analogous estimates hold for  $\tilde{\chi}$  using v.

Now we compute the analogue of the classic transport computation but with the paracomposition operator which reads:

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t(\chi(t,0,x)^*u(t,x)) &= \chi(t,0,x)^*\partial_t u + T_{\partial_t\chi(t,0,x)} \cdot \chi(t,0,x)^* \nabla u(t,x) + R(t,u) \\ &= -\chi(t,0,x)^* (T_{a(t,u)}u)(t,x) + \chi(t,0,x)^* F(t,u) + R(t,u) \\ &= -T_{a(t,u)^*}\chi(t,0,x)^* u(t,x) + \chi(t,0,x)^* F(t,u) + R(t,u) + R'(t,u) \\ \chi(0,0,x)^* u(0,x) &= u(0,x) = u^1(x). \end{aligned}$$

where  $(\cdot)^*$  is the change of variables by  $\chi(t, 0, x)$  as presented in Theorem 3.4.2. We can assemble the terms R, R' and F in a new term F' verifying the same hypothesis as F, thus without loss of generality henceforth we will keep the generic notation F for all the terms verifying the same hypothesis.

Thus if we put f the solution to the Cauchy problem, which is well posed by Appendix 4.5:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f + T_{a(t,u)^*} f = \chi(t,0,x)^* F(t,u) \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, f(0,x) = u^1(x) \end{cases}$$
(4.2.17)

we get:

$$\chi(t,0,x)^* u(t,x) = f(t,x). \tag{4.2.18}$$

Analogously, if we put g the solution to the well posed Cauchy problem,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t g + T_{\widetilde{a(t,v)}} * g = \tilde{\chi}(t,0,x) * F(t,v) \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, g(0,x) = v^1(x) \end{cases}$$
(4.2.19)

where  $\widetilde{(\cdot)}^*$  is the change of variables by  $\tilde{\chi}(t, 0, x)$ , we get

$$\tilde{\chi}(t,0,x)^* v(t,x) = g(t,x).$$
(4.2.20)

Returning to the ODEs defining  $\chi$  and  $\tilde{\chi}$  we get:

$$\begin{cases} \chi(t,t',x) = x + \int_{t'}^{t} V(s,\chi(s,t',x),f(s,x)))ds, \\ \tilde{\chi}(t,t',x) = x + \int_{t'}^{t} V(s,\tilde{\chi}(s,t',x),g(s,x))ds. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.21)

**Proposition 4.2.1.** There exists C > 0 independent of  $(\tau, \epsilon, \lambda)$  such that:  $\forall h \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d), \forall (t, t') \leq t_0,$ 

$$C^{-1} \|h\|_{H^s} \le \|h \circ \chi(t, t', x)\|_{H^s} \le C \|h\|_{H^s},$$
  
$$C^{-1} \|h\|_{H^s} \le \|h \circ \tilde{\chi}(t, t', x)\|_{H^s} \le C \|h\|_{H^s}.$$

*Proof.* We will start by proving the upper bound for the estimate on the composition with  $\chi$ . As u is bounded in  $(\tau, \epsilon, \lambda)$  on  $C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$  then there exists a unique solution  $H \in C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  to

$$\begin{cases} \partial_s H(s,x) + V(s,x,u) \cdot \nabla H(s,x) = 0\\ H(t,x) = h(x) \end{cases}$$

and H is bounded in  $(\tau, \epsilon, \lambda)$  on  $C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$ . The desired bounds come from the fact that we have the explicit formula for H:

$$H(t', x) = h \circ \chi(t, t', x)$$

Now to get the lower bound it suffices to write by the upper bound computations:

$$\begin{aligned} \|h\|_{H^s} &= \left\|h \circ \chi(t, t', x) \circ \chi(t', t, x)\right\|_{H^s} \\ &\leq C \left\|h \circ \chi(t, t', x)\right\|_{H^s}. \end{aligned}$$

We get analogously the estimates on the composition with  $\tilde{\chi}$ .

#### 4.2.2.3 Key Lemma and proof of the Theorem

**Lemma 4.2.1.** As  $0 \le \alpha < 2$  we can find a sequence  $(\tau, \epsilon, \lambda)$  such that for all  $\epsilon' > 0$  sufficiently small:

$$\begin{cases} \tau \to 0, \\ \tau = \lambda^{1-\alpha}, \text{ for } \alpha > 1, \\ \tau \epsilon^k \lambda^\beta \to 0, \end{cases} \qquad \begin{cases} \tau^2 \epsilon \lambda^\alpha \to 0 \\ \epsilon^{-1} \lambda^{-1+(\alpha-1)^+ - \epsilon'} \to +\infty, \\ \tau \lambda \epsilon \to +\infty. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.22)

Then there exists c > 0 such that:

- 1.  $\forall (\tau, \epsilon, \lambda, \nu), \left\| u^0 \circ \chi(0, \tau, x) u^0 \circ \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x) \right\|_{H^{s-\nu}} > c \lambda^{-\nu}.$
- 2. For  $\delta$  such that  $0 < \delta < s 1 \frac{d}{2}$ :

$$u(\tau,x) - v(\tau,x) = u^0 \circ \chi(0,\tau,x) - u^0 \circ \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x) + O_{H^{s-\nu}} \left( \epsilon + [\tau^2 \lambda^{\alpha-1} + \tau^2 \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha} + \tau \epsilon^k \lambda^{\beta}] \lambda^{-\nu} \right)$$

We will now show that this Lemma implies the Theorem. We have by combining the estimates (1) and (2) for  $\nu = s$ :

$$\forall (\tau,\epsilon,\lambda), \|u(\tau,x) - v(\tau,x)\|_{H^s} > \frac{c}{2} > 0 \text{ thus } \sup_{\tau,\epsilon,\lambda} \|u(\tau,x) - v(\tau,x)\|_{H^s} > \frac{c}{2} > 0$$

Also by Theorem 4.2.3 and Remark 4.2.2:

$$\exists C > 0, \left\| u^{1}(x) - v^{1}(x) \right\|_{H^{s}} \le C\epsilon \text{ thus } \left\| u^{1}(x) - v^{1}(x) \right\|_{H^{s}} \to 0,$$

which gives the non uniform continuity in the desired norms. Now for the control in a weaker norm we write:

$$\frac{\|u(\tau,x) - v(\tau,x)\|_{H^{s-1+(\alpha-1)^+ - \epsilon'}}}{\|u^1(x) - v^1(x)\|_{H^s}} \ge c\epsilon^{-1}\lambda^{-1+(\alpha-1)^+ - \epsilon'} \to +\infty,$$

which gives the desired result.

#### 4.2.2.4 Proof of point 1 of Lemma 4.2.1

We first prove that  $\exists c > 0$  such that

$$\left\| u^0\circ\chi(0,\tau,x) \right\|_{H^s} > c\lambda^{-\nu},$$

indeed by Proposition 4.2.1 and change of variable:

$$\left\| u^{0} \circ \chi(0,\tau,x) \right\|_{H^{s-\nu}} \ge C^{-1} \left\| u^{0} \right\|_{H^{s-\nu}} \ge C^{-1} \lambda^{-\nu} \left\| \omega \right\|_{H^{s-\nu}}.$$
(4.2.23)

Now we will show that  $u^0 \circ \chi(0, \tau, x)$  and  $u^0 \circ \tilde{\chi}(0, \tau, x)$  have disjoint supports which will suffice to conclude given (4.2.23). Put  $y = \chi(0, \tau, x)$ , thus  $x = \chi(\tau, 0, y)$ . On the support of  $u^0 \circ \chi(0, \tau, x)$  we have:

- If  $\mathbb{D}^d = \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $\lambda |y| \le 1$ .
- If  $\mathbb{D}^d = \mathbb{T}^d$ ,  $\forall k \in \mathbb{N}, 2\pi k 1 \le \lambda |y| \le 2\pi k + 1$ .

We then compute by the Taylor formula:

First,

$$D_y \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau, r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)) = Id + \int_0^\tau D_y [V(t,\tilde{\chi}(0,\tau, r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)), g(t,r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)))]dt$$

Thus by estimates of Theorem 4.5.1 taking  $0 < \delta < s - \frac{d}{2} - 1$ :

$$D_y \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau, r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)) = Id + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau(\|v^1\|_{H^{1+\frac{d}{2}+\delta}} + \|u^1\|_{H^{1+\frac{d}{2}+\delta}}))$$
  
=  $Id + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau),$ 

which gives

$$\int_0^1 D_y \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau, r\chi(\tau,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y))dr = Id + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau).$$
(4.2.25)

Now we estimate  $\chi(\tau,0,y) - \tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y)$ , by (4.2.21) :

$$\chi(\tau, 0, y) - \tilde{\chi}(\tau, 0, y) = \int_0^\tau V(t, \chi(t, 0, y), f(t, y)) - V(t, \tilde{\chi}(t, 0, y), g(t, y)) dt$$
(4.2.26)

$$= \int_0^\tau \int_0^1 D_u V(t, \chi(t, 0, y), rf(t, y) + (1 - r)g(t, y))[f(t, y) - g(t, y)]dtdr$$
$$+ \int_0^\tau \int_0^1 D_x V(t, r\chi(t, 0, y) + (1 - r)\tilde{\chi}(t, 0, y), g(t, y))[\chi(t, 0, y) - \tilde{\chi}(t, 0, y)]dtdr.$$

Taking  $0 < \delta < s - \alpha - \frac{d}{2}$ , by estimates of Theorem 4.5.1:

$$f(t,y) = f(0,y) + \int_0^t \partial_t f(r,y) dr$$
  
=  $u^1(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(t(||u^1||_{H^{\frac{d}{2}+\alpha+\delta}})) = u^1(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(t\epsilon).$ 

Analogously we get:

$$g(t,y) = v^1(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(t\epsilon).$$

Now  $(u^1 - v^1)(y) = (l - l')(0, y)$  is the evaluation of the solution of the following Cauchy problem at t = 0:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (l - l') + T_{a(t,l)}(l - l') = F(t,l) - F(t,l') \\ \forall y \in \mathbb{D}^d, (l - l')(\tau, y) = -\epsilon \omega(y). \end{cases}$$
(4.2.27)

Thus by estimates of Theorem 4.5.1:

$$u^{1}(y) - v^{1}(y) = (l - l')(0, y) = -\epsilon\omega(y) + \int_{\tau}^{0} \partial_{t}(l - l')(t, y)dt$$
  
=  $-\epsilon\omega(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau(\|v^{1}\|_{H^{\alpha + \frac{d}{2} + \delta}} + \|u^{1}\|_{H^{\alpha + \frac{d}{2} + \delta}}))$   
=  $-\epsilon\omega(y) + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau\epsilon).$ 

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \chi(\tau,0,y) &- \tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,y) \\ &= -\epsilon [\int_0^\tau \int_0^1 D_u V(t,\chi(t,0,y),rf(t,y) + (1-r)g(t,y))dtdr][\omega(y)] + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau^2 \epsilon) \\ &+ \int_0^\tau \int_0^1 D_x V(t,r\chi(t,0,y) + (1-r)\tilde{\chi}(t,0,y),g(t,y))dr[\underbrace{\chi(t,0,y) - \tilde{\chi}(t,0,y)}_*]dt. \end{split}$$

Iterating the computation in (\*):

$$\begin{split} \chi(\tau, 0, y) &- \tilde{\chi}(\tau, 0, y) \\ &= -\epsilon [\int_0^\tau \int_0^1 D_u V(t, \chi(t, 0, y), rf(t, y) + (1 - r)g(t, y)) dt dr] [\omega(y)] + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau^2 \epsilon) \\ &= -\epsilon [\int_0^\tau D_u V(t, y, 0) dt] [\omega(y)] + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau^2 \epsilon + \epsilon^2 \tau). \end{split}$$

and finally we get in (4.2.24),

$$\tilde{\chi}(\tau,0,x) - y$$
  
=  $-\epsilon \left[\int_0^\tau D_u V(t,y,0) dt\right] [\omega(y)] + O_{L^{\infty}}(\tau^2 \epsilon + \epsilon^2 \tau).$ 

We get for  $x \in \text{supp } u^0 \circ \chi(0, \tau, \cdot)$ :

• For  $\mathbb{D}^d = \mathbb{R}^d$ :

$$\begin{split} \lambda \left| \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x) \right| \\ &\geq \epsilon \lambda \left| \int_0^\tau \int_0^1 D_u V(t,y,0) dr dt [\omega(y)] \right| - 1 + o_{L^\infty}(\tau \lambda \epsilon) \\ &\geq 2, \end{split}$$

which gives the desired result.

• For  $\mathbb{D}^d = \mathbb{T}^d$  given an adequate choice of  $\tau, \epsilon$  and  $\lambda$  we get:

$$2n\pi + 1 \le \lambda |\tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)| \le 2(n+1)\pi - 1,$$

which again gives the desired result.

#### 4.2.2.5 Proof of point 2 of Lemma 4.2.1

We start by writing:

$$u(t,x) - v(t,x) = \chi(0,t,x)^* f(t,x) - \tilde{\chi}(0,t,x)^* g(t,x) + R(f) - R(g)$$

where R is a regularizing operator of order 2,

$$u(t,x) - v(t,x) = \underbrace{\chi(0,t,x)^* f(t,x) - \tilde{\chi}(0,t,x)^* f(t,x)}_{(1)} + \tilde{\chi}(0,t,x)^* (f-g)(t,x) + R(f) - R(g).$$

Term (1) resembles the main term in the usual transport estimates we used in point 1 of the Lemma <sup>6</sup> but with a main difference is f being some dispersed data and not compactly supported and the use of the paracomposition operator. Again, the

 $<sup>^{6}\</sup>mathrm{Like}$  the ones used in proving the quasi-linearity of the Burgers equation.

main trick here was to construct from  $u^0, v^0$  the defocused data in the past  $u^1, v^1$ and use this as the initial data for f and g.

$$\begin{split} u(\tau,x) - v(\tau,x) &= u^{0} \circ \chi(0,\tau,x) - u^{0} \circ \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x) \\ &+ T_{(u^{0})' \circ \chi(0,\tau,x)} \chi(0,\tau,x) - T_{(u^{0})' \circ \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)} \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x) \\ &+ \chi(0,\tau,x)^{*} (f - u^{0})(\tau,x) - \tilde{\chi}(0,t,x)^{*} (f - u^{0})(\tau,x) \\ &+ \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)^{*} (f - g)(\tau,x) + R(f) - R(g). \\ &= u^{0} \circ \chi(0,\tau,x) - u^{0} \circ \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x) \\ &+ \underbrace{\chi(0,\tau,x)^{*} (f - l)(\tau,x) - \tilde{\chi}(0,t,x)^{*} (f - l)(\tau,x)}_{(1)} \\ &+ \underbrace{\tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)^{*} (f - g)(\tau,x)}_{(2)} + R(f) - R(g) \\ &+ \underbrace{T_{(u^{0})' \circ \chi(0,\tau,x)} \chi(0,\tau,x) - T_{(u^{0})' \circ \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)} \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)}_{(3)}, \end{split}$$

where l is defined by (4.2.14) and R was modified to contain other regularizing operators of order 2 that appear by symbolic calculus rules. The easiest part to estimate is the remainder one because of the gain of derivatives and Theorem (4.2.2):

$$||R(f) - R(g)||_{H^s} \le C\epsilon.$$

We turn to estimating (1), by Theorem 3.4.2:

$$\|\chi(0,\tau,x)^*(f-l)(\tau,x)\|_{H^s} \le C \,\|(f-l)(\tau,\cdot)\|_{H^s}.$$

Now f - l solves:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (f-l) + T_{a(t,l)}(f-l) = (T_{a(t,l)} - T_{a(t,u)^*})f - F(t,l) + \chi(t,0,x)^*F(t,u)F(t,f) \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, (f-l)(0,x) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.28)

Writing

$$\chi(t, 0, x)^* F(t, u) - F(t, l) = G_1(f - l)$$

where  $G_1$  is a continuous linear operator on  $H^s$  we get the estimates by Theorem 4.5.1:

$$\begin{split} \|f - l(\tau, \cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}} \\ &\leq C[\|(T_{a(\tau,l)} - T_{a(t,l)^{*}})f\|_{L^{1}([0,\tau],H^{\nu})} + \|(T_{a(\tau,l)^{*}} - T_{a(\tau,u)^{*}})f\|_{L^{1}([0,\tau],H^{\nu})}] \\ &\leq C[\tau^{2} \|Id - D\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{H^{\nu+\alpha}} + \tau \|u - l\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f\|_{H^{\nu+\alpha}}]. \end{split}$$

As  $s > 2 + \frac{d}{2}$ ,

$$\|f - l(\tau, \cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C[\tau^2 \lambda^{\alpha - 1} + \tau^2 \lambda^{\alpha - 1}] \lambda^{\nu - s},$$

which gives

$$\|\chi(0,\tau,x)^*(f-l)(\tau,x)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C\tau\lambda^{\alpha-1}\lambda^{\nu-s},$$

and

$$\|\tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)^*(f-l)(\tau,x)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C\tau\lambda^{\alpha-1}\lambda^{\nu-s}.$$

Thus we finally get

$$\|(1)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C\tau \lambda^{\alpha - 1} \lambda^{\nu - s}.$$
(4.2.29)

Now we estimate (2) and (3) in the same manner, by Theorem 3.4.2:

$$\|\tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)^*(f-g)(\tau,x)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C \,\|(f-g)(\tau,\cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}}\,,$$

And as  $s > 2 + \frac{d}{2}$  and by (4.2.21):

$$\left| T_{(u^0)' \circ \chi(0,\tau,x)} \chi(0,\tau,x) - T_{(u^0)' \circ \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x)} \tilde{\chi}(0,\tau,x) \right\| \le C \left\| (f-g)(\tau,\cdot) \right\|_{H^{\nu}}.$$

Now f - g solve:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t (f-g) + T_{a(t,u)^*}(f-g) - (T_{a(t,v)^*} - T_{\widetilde{a(t,v)}^*})g \\ -\chi(t,0,x)^* F(t,u) + \tilde{\chi}(t,0,x)^* F(t,v) = (T_{a(t,u)^*} - T_{a(t,v)^*})g \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, (f-g)(0,x) = (u^1 - v^1)(x). \end{cases}$$
(4.2.30)

Here will need to be more careful as the nonlinearity in the dispersive term can be more "harmful" than the transport term when  $\alpha \geq 1$ , which was not there in the treatment of the model problem. More precisely we write:

$$\chi(t, 0, x)^* F(t, u) - F(t, l) = G_2(f - g),$$

where  $G_2$  is a continuous linear operator on  $H^s$  and we get by Theorem 4.2.2:

$$\begin{split} \|f - g(\tau, \cdot)\|_{H^{\nu}} \\ &\leq C \bigg[ \left\| (T_{a(t,v)^{*}} - T_{\widetilde{a(t,v)^{*}}})g \right\|_{L^{1}([0,\tau],H^{\nu})} + \left\| (T_{a(t,u)^{*}} - T_{a(t,v)^{*}})g \right\|_{L^{1}([0,\tau],H^{\nu})} + \epsilon \bigg] \\ &\leq C [\tau \left\| D\chi^{-1} - D\tilde{\chi}^{-1} \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|g\|_{H^{\nu+\alpha}} + \tau \left\| f - g \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \|(f,g)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{k} \|g\|_{H^{\nu+\beta}} + \epsilon] \\ &\leq C [\tau^{2}\epsilon\lambda^{\alpha}\lambda^{\nu-s} + \tau\epsilon^{k}\lambda^{\beta}\lambda^{\nu-s} + \epsilon], \end{split}$$

which gives

$$\|(2)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\tau^2 \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha} \lambda^{\nu-s} + \tau \epsilon^k \lambda^{\beta} \lambda^{\nu-s} + \epsilon), \qquad (4.2.31)$$

and

$$\|(3)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\tau^2 \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha} \lambda^{\nu-s} + \tau \epsilon^k \lambda^{\beta} \lambda^{\nu-s} + \epsilon), \qquad (4.2.32)$$

finishing the proof of Lemma 4.2.1 and Theorem 4.2.1.

**Remark 4.2.3.** For the application to the water waves system we need to remark that the restriction on  $\beta$  comes from the  $T_{a(t,u)^*} - T_{a(t,v)^*}g$ . Naively estimating this term we see that in the case of water waves with surface tension we are working in the limit case  $\beta = \alpha = \frac{3}{2}$  and k = 2 which is barely missed by Theorem 4.2.1. We will will show that this can be avoided in the special case of water waves system by carefully choosing the ansatz. For this we notice that one slightly modify the last two estimates and we write:

$$\|(2)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\tau^{2} \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha} \lambda^{\nu-s} + \tau^{2} \epsilon^{k} \lambda^{\beta} \lambda^{\nu-s} + \epsilon + \|(T_{a(t,u_{0})^{*}} - T_{a(t,v_{0})^{*}})g\|_{L^{1}([0,\tau],H^{\nu})}),$$
(4.2.33)

and

$$\|(3)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\tau^{2} \epsilon \lambda^{\alpha} \lambda^{\nu-s} + \tau^{2} \epsilon^{k} \lambda^{\beta} \lambda^{\nu-s} + \epsilon + \left\| (T_{a(t,u_{0})^{*}} - T_{a(t,v_{0})^{*}})g \right\|_{L^{1}([0,\tau],H^{\nu})}).$$
(4.2.34)

## 4.3 Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system with surface tension

In this section we always have  $\kappa = 1$ .

#### 4.3.1 Prerequisites from the Cauchy problem

We start by recalling the apriori estimates given by Proposition 5.2 of [3]. We keep the notations of Theorem 1.3.1.

**Proposition 4.3.1.** (From [3]) Let  $d \ge 1$  be the dimension and consider a real number  $s > 2 + \frac{d}{2}$ . Then there exists a non decreasing function C such that, for all  $T \in ]0, 1]$  and all solution  $(\eta, \psi)$  of (1.3.4) such that

$$(\eta, \psi) \in C^0([0, T]; H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
 and  $H_t$  is verified for  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

we have

$$\|(\eta,\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s})} \leq C((\eta_{0},\psi_{0})_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s}}) + TC(\|(\eta,\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s})}).$$

The proof will rely on the para-linearised and symmetrized version of (1.3.4) given by Proposition 4.8 and corollary 4.9 of [3]. Before we recall this, for clarity as in [3] we introduce a special class of operators  $\Sigma^m \subset \Gamma_0^m$  given by:

**Definition 4.3.1.** (From [3]) Given  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\Sigma^m$  denotes the class of symbols a of the form

$$a = a^{(m)} + a^{(m-1)}$$

with

$$a^{(m)} = F(\nabla \eta(t, x), \xi)$$
$$a^{(m-1)} = \sum_{|k|=2} G_{\alpha}(\nabla \eta(t, x), \xi) \partial_x^k \eta(t, x),$$

such that

- 1. T<sub>a</sub> maps real valued functions to real-valued functions;
- 2. F is of class  $C^{\infty}$  real valued function of  $(\zeta, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d \setminus 0)$ , homogeneous of order m in  $\xi$ ; and such that there exists a continuous function  $K = K(\zeta) > 0$  such that

$$F(\zeta,\xi) \ge K(\zeta) |\xi|^m$$

for all  $(\zeta, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d \setminus 0);$ 

3.  $G_{\alpha}$  is a  $C^{\infty}$  complex valued function of  $(\zeta, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times (\mathbb{R}^d \setminus 0)$ , homogeneous of order m - 1 in  $\xi$ .

 $\Sigma^m$  enjoys all the usual symbolic calculus properties modulo acceptable remainders that we define by the following:

**Definition-Notation 4.3.1.** (From [3]) Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and consider two families of operators of order m,

$$\{A(t): t \in [0,T]\}, \quad \{B(t): t \in [0,T]\}.$$

We shall say that  $A \sim B$  if A - B is of order  $m - \frac{3}{2}$  and satisfies the following estimate: for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ , there exists a continuous function C such that for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\|A(t) - B(t)\|_{H^{\mu} \to H^{\mu-m+\frac{3}{2}}} \le C(\|\eta(t)\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}}).$$

In the next Proposition we recall the different symbols that appear in the paralinearisation and symmetrization of the equations.

**Proposition 4.3.2.** (From [3]) We work under the hypothesis of Proposition 4.3.1. Put

$$\lambda = \lambda^{(1)} + \lambda^{(0)}, \ l = l^{(2)} + l^{(1)}$$
 with,

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^{(1)} = \sqrt{(1 + |\nabla\eta|^2) |\xi|^2 - (\nabla\eta \cdot \xi)^2}, \\ \lambda^{(0)} = \frac{1 + |\nabla\eta|^2}{2\lambda^{(1)}} \left\{ div \left( \alpha^{(1)} \nabla \eta \right) + i \partial_{\xi} \lambda^{(1)} \cdot \nabla \alpha^{(1)} \right\}, \\ \alpha^{(1)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + |\nabla\eta|^2}} \left( \lambda^{(1)} + i \nabla \eta \cdot \xi \right). \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} l^{(2)} = (1 + |\nabla\eta|^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left( |\xi|^2 - \frac{(\nabla\eta \cdot \xi)^2}{1 + |\nabla\eta|^2} \right), \\ l^{(1)} = -\frac{i}{2} (\partial_x \cdot \partial_\xi) l^{(2)}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.3.2)$$

Now let  $q \in \Sigma^0, p \in \Sigma^{\frac{1}{2}}, \gamma \in \Sigma^{\frac{3}{2}}$  be defined by

$$q = (1 + |\nabla\eta|^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$
  

$$p = (1 + |\nabla\eta|^2)^{-\frac{5}{4}}\sqrt{\lambda^{(1)}} + p^{(-\frac{1}{2})},$$
  

$$\gamma = \sqrt{l^{(2)}\lambda^{(1)}} + \sqrt{\frac{l^{(2)}}{\lambda^{(1)}}} \frac{Re\lambda^{(0)}}{2} - \frac{i}{2}(\partial_{\xi} \cdot \partial_x)\sqrt{l^{(2)}\lambda^{(1)}},$$
  

$$p^{(-\frac{1}{2})} = \frac{1}{\gamma^{(\frac{3}{2})}} \left\{ ql^{(1)} - \gamma^{(\frac{1}{2})}p^{(\frac{1}{2})} + i\partial_{\xi}\gamma^{(\frac{3}{2})} \cdot \partial_x p^{(\frac{1}{2})} \right\}.$$

Then

$$T_q T_\lambda \sim T_\gamma T_q, \ T_q T_l \sim T_\gamma T_p, \ T_\gamma \sim (T_\gamma)^\top.$$

Now we can write the para-linearization and symmetrization of the equations (1.3.4) after a change of variable:

**Corollary 4.3.1.** (From [3]) Under the hypothesis of Proposition 4.3.1, introduce the unknowns

$$U = \psi - T_B \eta^7$$
,  $\Phi_1 = T_p \eta$  and  $\Phi_2 = T_q U$ ,

where we recall,

$$\begin{cases} B = (\partial_y \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \frac{\nabla \eta \cdot \nabla \psi + G(\eta) \psi}{1 + |\nabla \eta|^2}, \\ V = (\nabla_x \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \nabla \psi - B \nabla \eta. \end{cases}$$

 $<sup>^7\</sup>mathrm{U}$  is commonly called the "good" unknown of Alinhac.

Then  $\Phi_1, \Phi_2 \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$  and

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \Phi_1 + T_V \cdot \nabla \Phi_1 - T_\gamma \Phi_2 = f_1, \\ \partial_t \Phi_2 + T_V \cdot \nabla \Phi_2 + T_\gamma \Phi_1 = f_2, \end{cases}$$
(4.3.3)

with  $f_1, f_2 \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , and  $f_1, f_2$  have  $C^1$  dependence on  $(U, \theta)$  verifying:

$$\|(f_1, f_2)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))} \le C(\|(\eta, \psi)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))}).$$

#### 4.3.2 Proof of Theorem 1.3.1

Corollary 4.3.1 shows that the para-linearization and symmetrization of the equations (1.3.4) are of the form of the equations treated in Theorem 4.2.1. The goal of the proof is thus to mainly show that the previous change of unknowns preserves the quasi-linear structure of the equations. This we will be proved but with a slightly different change of unknowns that will satisfy the same type of equations.

#### 4.3.2.1 Reducing the problem around 0

Fix T > 0, r > 0 as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1, given the local nature of the result we see that we can work on balls with radius r small. Henceforth we will be working on  $B(0,r) \subset C^0([0,T]; H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$  and without loss of generality we suppose that  $H_t$  is always verified on [0,T] on that set.

#### 4.3.2.2 New change of unknowns

**Lemma 4.3.1.** Under the hypothesis of Proposition 4.3.1, fix  $\epsilon > 0$  and introduce the unknowns

$$U = \psi - T_B \eta$$
,  $\tilde{\Phi}_1 = [T_p + \epsilon (I - T_1)]\eta$  and  $\tilde{\Phi}_2 = [T_q + \epsilon (I - T_1)]U$ .

Then  $\tilde{\Phi}_1, \tilde{\Phi}_2 \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$  and

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \tilde{\Phi}_1 + T_V \cdot \nabla \tilde{\Phi}_1 - T_\gamma \tilde{\Phi}_2 = \tilde{f}_1, \\ \partial_t \tilde{\Phi}_2 + T_V \cdot \nabla \tilde{\Phi}_2 + T_\gamma \tilde{\Phi}_1 = \tilde{f}_2, \end{cases}$$
(4.3.4)

with  $\tilde{f}_1, \tilde{f}_2 \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , and  $\tilde{f}_1, \tilde{f}_2$  have  $C^1$  dependence on  $(U, \theta)$  verifying:

$$\left\| (\tilde{f}_1, \tilde{f}_2) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))} \le C( \| (\eta, \psi) \|_{L^{\infty}(0,T; H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))}).$$

*Proof.* The Lemma simply follows from the fact that  $I-T_1$  is a regularizing operator.

## 4.3.2.3 The new change of unknowns locally preserves the structure of the equations:

To apply Theorem 4.2.1 we simply note that  $DV(0,0)(h,k) = \nabla h$ . Thus proof of Theorem 1.3.1 in the threshold  $s > 2 + \frac{d}{2}$  will then follow from Theorem 4.2.1 combined with Lemma 4.3.1 and the following Lemma. **Lemma 4.3.2.** Let  $d \ge 1$  and  $s > 2 + \frac{d}{2}$ . There exists  $r, \epsilon > 0$  such that:

$$\tilde{\Phi}: B(0,r) \to C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$$
$$(\eta, \psi) \mapsto (\tilde{\Phi}_1, \tilde{\Phi}_2)$$

is a  $C^{\infty}$  diffeomorphism upon it's image and  $\tilde{\Phi}(0)=0$ . Proof.

$$\tilde{\Phi}(\eta,\psi) = \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} T_p + \epsilon(I-T_1) & 0\\ 0 & T_q + \epsilon(I-T_1) \end{pmatrix}}_{(1)} \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} I & 0\\ -T_B & I \end{pmatrix}}_{(2)} \begin{pmatrix} \eta\\ \psi \end{pmatrix}$$

(2) being clearly a diffeomorphism we will concentrate on (1). First we see that for r small enough  $T_q + \epsilon(I-T_1)$  is a perturbation of the  $T_1 + \epsilon(I-T_1)$ , indeed by symbolic calculus rules:

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_q + \epsilon (I - T_1) - T_1 - \epsilon (I - T_1)\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^s)} &= \|T_q - T_1\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^s)} \\ &\leq M_0^0 (q - 1) \\ &\leq C(\|\eta\|_{W^{1,\infty}}) \, \|\eta\|_{W^{1,\infty}} \\ &\leq C(\|\eta\|_{H^s}) \, \|\eta\|_{H^s} \end{aligned}$$

which gives the desired result.

Now we turn to  $T_p + \epsilon (I - T_I)$ . First notice that for  $\epsilon > 0$ :

$$T_{|\xi|^{\frac{1}{2}}} + \epsilon(I - T_I) : C^0([0, T]; H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d)) \to C^0([0, T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$$

is a  $C^{\infty}$  diffeomorphism. And now we see that  $T_p + \epsilon(I - T_I)$  is a perturbation of  $T_{|\epsilon|^{\frac{1}{2}}} + \epsilon(I - T_I)$  indeed by symbolic calculus rules:

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| T_p - T_{|\xi|^{\frac{1}{2}}} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}, H^s)} &\leq C(\|\eta\|_{W^{1,\infty}}) \, \|\eta\|_{W^{1,\infty}} \\ &\leq C(\|\eta\|_{H^s}) \, \|\eta\|_{H^s} \end{aligned}$$

Now to conclude the proof of Theorem 1.3.1, we want to apply Corollary 4.2.1 but as remarked previously we find ourselves in the limit case  $\beta = \alpha = \frac{3}{2}$  and k = 2 which is not apriori covered by the Corollary. The key observation is that we have:

$$V(\eta,\psi) = \nabla \psi - B \nabla \eta, \ \gamma = \gamma(\eta),$$

and that  $V(0, \psi)$  and  $|\xi|^{\frac{3}{2}} = \gamma(0)$  do verify the hypothesis of Corollary 4.2.1 which is sufficient in order to apply the Corollary by Remark 4.2.3. Thus by Lemma 4.3.2, the equations (4.3.4) verify the hypothesis of Corollary 4.2.1 in the threshold  $s > 2 + \frac{d}{2}$ with the choice  $\eta_0 = 0$  thus we have two sequences:

$$\begin{cases} \exists (\tilde{\Phi}_1^0, \tilde{\Phi}_2^0) \in C^0([0, T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)) \text{ solution of } (4.3.4), \\ \exists (\tilde{\Phi}_1^1, \tilde{\Phi}_2^1) \in C^0([0, T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)) \text{ solution of } (4.3.4), \end{cases}$$

such that  $\exists c > 0$ ,

$$\begin{cases} \left\| (\tilde{\Phi}_1^0, \tilde{\Phi}_2^0)(0, \cdot) - (\tilde{\Phi}_1^1, \tilde{\Phi}_2^1)(0, \cdot) \right\|_{H^s} = \left\| (0, \tilde{\Phi}_2^0)(0, \cdot) - (0, \tilde{\Phi}_2^1)(0, \cdot) \right\|_{H^s} \to 0, \\ \left\| (\tilde{\Phi}_1^0, \tilde{\Phi}_2^0) - (\tilde{\Phi}_1^1, \tilde{\Phi}_2^1) \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T], H^s)} > c. \end{cases}$$

Now putting  $(\eta^0, \psi^0) = \tilde{\Phi}^{-1}(\tilde{\Phi}_1^0, \tilde{\Phi}_2^0)$  and  $(\eta^1, \psi^1) = \tilde{\Phi}^{-1}(\tilde{\Phi}_1^1, \tilde{\Phi}_2^1)$  we get from Lemmas 4.3.1 and 4.3.2:

$$\begin{cases} (\eta^0, \psi^0) \in C^0([0, T]; H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)) & \text{is a solution of } (1.3.4), \\ (\eta^1, \psi^1) \in C^0([0, T]; H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^d)) & \text{is a solution of } (1.3.4), \end{cases}$$

such that

$$\begin{cases} \left\| (\eta^0, \psi^0)(0, \cdot) - (\eta^1, \psi^1)(0, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s} = \left\| (0, \psi^0)(0, \cdot) - (0, \psi^1)(0, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s} \to 0, \\ \left\| (\eta^0, \psi^0) - (\eta^1, \psi^1) \right\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T], H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s)} > c. \end{cases}$$

thus giving us the desired result. As the change of unknowns is a diffeomorphism (thus is Lipschitz) we get analogously the result on the control in weaker norms.

## 4.4 Quasi-Linearity of the Gravity Water Waves

In this section we always have  $\kappa = 0$ . The proof will follow as in the previous section but with some extra care, taking into account the lower regularity framework.

#### 4.4.1 Prerequisites from the Cauchy problem

We start by recalling the apriori estimates given by Proposition 4.1 of [6], we keep the notations of Theorem 1.3.2.

**Proposition 4.4.1.** (From [6]) Let  $d \ge 1$  be the dimension and consider a real number  $s > 1 + \frac{d}{2}$ . Then there exists a non decreasing function C such that, for all  $T \in ]0, 1]$  and all solution  $(\eta, \psi)$  of (1.3.4) such that:

$$\begin{cases} (\eta, \psi) \in C^0([0, T]; H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d) \times H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^d)), \\ H_t \text{ is verified for } t \in [0, T], \\ \exists c_0 > 0, \forall t \in [0, T], a(t, x) \ge c_0, \end{cases}$$

we have <sup>8</sup>

$$\begin{aligned} &\|(\eta,\psi,V,B)\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s}\times H^{s})} \\ &\leq C(\|(\eta_{0},\psi_{0},V_{0},B_{0})\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s}\times H^{s}}) \\ &+ TC(\|(\eta,\psi,V,B)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s}\times H^{s})}) \end{aligned}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Recall B and V are defined by (1.3.6).

The proof will rely on the para-linearised and symmetrized version of (1.3.4) given by Proposition 4.8 and 4.10 of [6]. Given the low regularity threshold,  $\eta$  and thus  $\Omega_t$  are in  $W^{\frac{3}{2},\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for the gravity water waves by contrast to  $W^{\frac{5}{2},\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  frame work for the case with surface tension, the para-linearisation of (1.3.4) is done with the variables V and B. This will only add a technical level to our proof of quasi-linearity.

**Proposition 4.4.2.** (From [6]) Under the hypothesis of Proposition 4.4.1, suppose moreover that  $||(V_0, B_0)||_{H^s \times H^s} < +\infty$  thus by Proposition (4.4.1) this regularity is propagated on [0, T]. Now introduce the unknowns

$$\begin{cases} \zeta = \nabla \eta, \\ U = V + T_{\zeta} B, \end{cases} \quad where, \quad \begin{cases} B = (\partial_y \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \frac{\nabla \eta \cdot \nabla \psi + G(\eta)\psi}{1 + |\nabla \eta|^2}, \\ V = (\nabla_x \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \nabla \psi - B \nabla \eta. \end{cases}$$

Now define the symbols:

$$\begin{cases} \lambda = \sqrt{\left(1 + |\nabla \eta|^2\right) |\xi|^2 - (\nabla \eta \cdot \xi)^2}, \\ \gamma = \sqrt{a\lambda}, \\ q = \sqrt{\frac{a}{\lambda}}. \end{cases}$$

Set  $\theta = T_q \zeta$ . Then  $\theta, U \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$  and

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t U + T_V \cdot \nabla U + T_\gamma \theta = f_1, \\ \partial_t \theta + T_V \cdot \nabla \theta - T_\gamma U = f_2, \end{cases}$$
(4.4.1)

with  $f_1, f_2 \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^s(\mathbb{R}^d))$ , and  $f_1, f_2$  have  $C^1$  dependence on  $(U, \theta)$  verifying:

$$\|(f_1, f_2)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^s)} \le C(\|(\eta, \psi, V, B)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s \times H^s)})$$

#### 4.4.2 Proof of Theorem 1.3.2

As in the proof of Theorem 1.3.1, Proposition 4.4.2 shows that the para-linearisation and symmetrisation of the Equations (1.3.4) are of the form of the equations treated in Theorem 4.2.1. Thus again, the goal of the proof is thus to mainly show that the previous change of unknowns preserves the quasi-linear structure of the equations. This we will be proved but with a slightly different change of unknowns that will satisfy the same type of equations but where we take into account the low frequencies. For concision we will omit the  $(\mathbb{R}^d)$  when writing the functional spaces.

#### 4.4.2.1 Reducing the problem around 0

Fix T > 0, r > 0 as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.1 and 1.3.1, given the local nature of the result we see that first we can work on balls centered at 0 with radius r small. Put

$$\begin{split} I_{s,T} &= \left\{ (\eta, \psi) \in C^0([0,T]; H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}), (V,B) \in C^0([0,T]; H^s \times H^s), \exists c > 0, a \ge c \right\},\\ I_{s,0} &= \left\{ (\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}, (V_0, B_0) \in H^s \times H^s, \exists c > 0, a \ge c \right\}, \end{split}$$

henceforth we will be working on  $B(0,r) \subset I_{s,T}$  and without loss of generality we suppose that  $H_t$  is always verified on [0,T], on that set.

#### 4.4.2.2 New change of unknowns

**Lemma 4.4.1.** Consider  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $\omega \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  such that  $\omega = 1$  on B(0,1) and  $\omega = 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus B(0,2)$ . Under the hypothesis of Proposition (4.4.2), introduce the unknowns

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{\zeta} = (1 - \omega(D))\nabla\eta, \\ \tilde{U} = (1 - \omega(D))(V + T_{\zeta}B), \\ aux_1 = \omega(D)\psi, \\ aux_2 = \omega(D)\eta, \end{cases} \quad where, \begin{cases} B = (\partial_y \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \frac{\nabla\eta \cdot \nabla\psi + G(\eta)\psi}{1 + |\nabla\eta|^2}, \\ V = (\nabla_x \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \nabla\psi - B\nabla\eta. \end{cases}$$

and set  $\tilde{\theta} = T_q \tilde{\zeta} + \epsilon (I - T_1)$ , where q is defined in Proposition (4.4.2). Then  $\tilde{\theta}, U, aux_1, aux_2 \in C^0([0, T]; H^s)$  and

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \tilde{U} + T_V \cdot \nabla \tilde{U} + T_\gamma \tilde{\theta} = f_1', \\ \partial_t \tilde{\theta} + T_V \cdot \nabla \tilde{\theta} - T_\gamma \tilde{U} = f_2', \end{cases}$$
(4.4.2)

with  $f'_1, f'_2 \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^s)$ , and  $f'_1, f'_2$  have  $C^1$  dependence on  $(U,\theta)$  verifying:

$$\left\| (f_1', f_2') \right\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^s)} \le C(\left\| (\eta, \psi, V, B) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s \times H^s)})$$

*Proof.* Again the lemma simply follows from the fact that  $I - T_1$  and  $\omega(D)$  are regularizing operators.

#### 4.4.2.3 Decomposing the change of variable:

Set

$$\Phi: I_{s,T} \to C^0([0,T]; H^s) \qquad \Phi: I_{s,0} \to H^s$$
  
$$(\eta, \psi) \mapsto (\tilde{U}, \tilde{\theta}, aux_1, aux_2) \qquad (\eta, \psi) \mapsto (\tilde{U}, \tilde{\theta}, aux_1, aux_2)$$

The goal is to prove that  $\Phi$  is locally invertible and then the proof will follow from Theorem 4.2.1.

We write  $\Phi = \Phi_1 \circ \Phi_2$  with

$$\Phi_1: I_{s,T} \to C^0([0,T]; H^s \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s \times H^s)$$
$$(\eta, \psi) \mapsto (\tilde{U}, \tilde{\zeta}, aux_1, aux_2)$$

and,

$$\Phi_2: C^0([0,T]; H^s \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s \times H^s) \to C^0([0,T]; H^s)$$
$$(\tilde{U}, \tilde{\zeta}, aux_1, aux_2) \mapsto (\tilde{U}, \tilde{\theta}, aux_1, aux_2)$$

We define  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$  analogously when  $\Phi$  is defined on  $I_{s,0}$ .

**Lemma 4.4.2.** There exists  $r, r_1, \epsilon > 0$  such that:

$$\Phi_1: B(0,r) \cap I_{s,T} \to C^0([0,T]; H^s \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s \times H^s)$$

is a  $C^{\infty}$  diffeomorphism upon it's image.

$$\Phi_2: B(0,r_1) \cap C^0([0,T]; H^s \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s \times H^s) \to C^0([0,T]; H^s)$$

is a  $C^{\infty}$  diffeomorphism upon it's image.

Analogous results hold when  $\Phi$  is defined on  $I_{s,0}$ .

The proof of Theorem 1.3.2 follows as in the previous section from Corollary 4.2.1 and the previous Lemma combined with the fact that  $\Phi_1(0) = 0$  thus we have

$$\mathbf{B}(0,r_1) \cap C^0([0,T]; H^{+\infty} \times H^{+\infty} \times H^{+\infty} \times H^{+\infty}) \subset \Phi_1\left(\mathbf{B}(0,r) \cap C^0([0,T]; H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s+\frac{1}{2}})\right).$$

Also  $\Phi_2(0) = 0$  thus there exists  $r_2$ :

$$\mathcal{B}(0,r_2)\cap C^0([0,T];H^{+\infty})\subset \Phi_2\bigg(\mathcal{B}(0,r_1)\cap C^0([0,T];H^{+\infty}\times H^{+\infty}\times H^s\times H^s\bigg).$$

We now turn to the proof of the lemma.

*Proof.* As all of the estimates used are pointwise in time thus the proof is the same for  $I_{s,T}$  and  $I_{s,0}$  and we only write the one for  $I_{s,T}$ . We start by  $\Phi_1$ , first the part  $\eta \mapsto (\tilde{\zeta}, aux_2)$  is invertible with inverse

$$\mathscr{F}[\Phi_1^{-1}(\tilde{\zeta}, aux_2)](\xi) = \frac{1}{d} \sum_j (1 - \omega(\xi)) \frac{\mathscr{F}[\partial_i \tilde{\zeta}](\xi)}{i\xi_j} + \omega(\xi) \mathscr{F}[aux_2].$$

By the same argument  $\psi \mapsto ((1 - \omega(D))\nabla\psi, \omega(D)\psi)$  is invertible and we see that  $(\tilde{U}, aux_1)$  is a perturbation of that map indeed:

$$\left\| ((1 - \omega(D))\nabla\psi, \omega(D)\psi) - (\tilde{U}, aux_1) \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}, H^s)} \le C(\|B\|_{W^{\frac{1}{2}, \infty}}) \|\eta\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}} \le C(\|(\eta, \psi)\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}}) \|\eta\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}}$$

thus for r small enough we get the desired result.

Now we turn to  $\Phi_2$ . This operator is the identity on U,  $aux_1$ ,  $aux_2$  thus we only have to work on  $\tilde{\theta}$ . Put  $a_0$  as the Taylor coefficient associated to the solution of the problem (0,0). Now notice that for  $\epsilon > 0$ :

$$T_{\sqrt{a_0}|\xi|^{-\frac{1}{2}}} + \epsilon(I - T_I) : C^0([0, T]; H^{s - \frac{1}{2}}) \to C^0([0, T]; H^s)$$

is a  $C^{\infty}$  diffeomorphism. And now we see that  $T_q + \epsilon(I - T_1)$  is a perturbation of  $T_{\sqrt{a_0}|\xi|^{-\frac{1}{2}}} + \epsilon(I - T_1)$  indeed by symbolic calculus rules:

$$\left\| T_q - T_{\sqrt{a_0}|\xi|^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}(H^{s-\frac{1}{2}},H^s)} \le C(\|\eta\|_{H^s}) \, \|\eta\|_{H^s}$$

which gives the result by taking r small.

## 4.5 Appendix: Energy estimates and well-posedness of some pulled back hyperbolic equations

**Theorem 4.5.1.** Let T > 0,  $\chi \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T], W^{1,\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  with  $D_x \chi \in L^{\infty}([0,T], L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d))$ and consider  $(a_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$  a family of symbols in  $\Gamma_1^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  with  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that  $t \mapsto a_t$  is continuous and bounded from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $\Gamma_1^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and such that  $Re(a_t) = \frac{a_t + a_t^{\top}}{2}$  is bounded

in  $\Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{D}^d)$ . Suppose moreover that  $\chi(t, \cdot)$  is a diffeomorphism between open sets of  $\mathbb{D}^d$  and that we have the bounds:

$$\exists C > 0, \forall t \le T, \forall x, \ C^{-1} \le |D_x \chi(t, x)| \le C.$$

$$(4.5.1)$$

Put  $(\cdot)^*$  is the change of variables by  $\chi$  as presented in Theorem 3.4.2. Then for all initial data  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $f \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + T_{a^*} u = f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, u(0, x) = u_0(x) \end{cases}$$

$$(4.5.2)$$

has a unique solution  $u \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  which verifies the estimates:

$$\begin{aligned} \|u(t)\|_{H^{s}} &\leq e^{C(\|D_{x}\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_{x}\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, M_{0}^{0}(Re(a)))t} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}} \\ &+ 2\int_{0}^{t} e^{C(\|D_{x}\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_{x}\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, M_{0}^{0}(Re(a)))(t-t')} \|f(t')\|_{H^{s}} dt'. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.5.3)$$

Again fixing the initial data at 0 is an arbitrary choice. More precisely,  $\forall 0 \le t_0 \le T$  and all data

 $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + T_{a^*} u = f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, u(t_0, x) = u_0(x) \end{cases}$$

$$(4.5.4)$$

has a unique solution  $u \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  which verifies the estimate:

$$\begin{aligned} \|u(t)\|_{H^{s}} &\leq e^{C(\|D_{x}\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_{x}\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, M_{0}^{0}(Re(a)))|t-t_{0}|} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}} \\ &+ 2 \left| \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{C(\|D_{x}\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_{x}\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, M_{0}^{0}(Re(a)))(t-t')} \|f(t')\|_{H^{s}} dt' \right|. \end{aligned}$$

*Proof.* The existence of a solution follows from standard compacities arguments after regularization given the apriori estimates (4.5.3). Also, the equation being linear those estimates give the uniqueness immediately. Thus we will only show the desired apriori estimates.

Put  $\Gamma_s = \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s$ , we will compute  $\frac{d}{dt} (\Gamma_s^* u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(\mathbb{D}^d, |D_x\chi(t,x)| dx)}$  in two different ways.

• Method 1. First notice that by Theorem 3.4.2

$$\Gamma_s^*(x,\xi) \sim ([D\chi^{-1}(t,\chi(t,x))]^t\xi)^s + R$$

where R is of order s - 1.

Thus using the lower and upper bound on  $|D\chi(t,x)|$  combined with upper bound on  $\frac{d}{dt} |D\chi(t,x)|$  we have:

$$C(\|D_x\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}})\frac{d}{dt}[(\Gamma_s u,\Gamma_s u)_{L^2}] - C(\|D_x\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}})\|\Gamma_s u\|_{L^2}^2$$
  
$$\leq \frac{d}{dt}(\Gamma_s^* u,\Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(|D_x\chi(t,x)|dx)}.$$

• Method 2. Now we use the PDE,

$$\begin{split} &\frac{d}{dt}(\Gamma_{s}^{*}u,\Gamma_{s}^{*}u)_{L^{2}(|D_{x}\chi(t,x)|dx)} \\ &= 2Re((\partial_{t}\Gamma_{s}^{*}u,\Gamma_{s}^{*}u))_{L^{2}(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) + (\Gamma_{s}^{*}u,\Gamma_{s}^{*}u)_{L^{2}(\frac{d}{dt}|D\chi(t,x)|dx)} \\ &= -2Re((\Gamma_{s}^{*}T_{a^{*}}u,\Gamma_{s}^{*}u)_{L^{2}(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) + 2Re((\Gamma_{s}^{*}f,\Gamma_{s}^{*}u))_{L^{2}(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)} \\ &+ 2Re(([\partial_{t}\Gamma_{s}^{*}]u,\Gamma_{s}^{*}u)_{L^{2}(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) + (\Gamma_{s}^{*}u,\Gamma_{s}^{*}u)_{L^{2}(\frac{d}{dt}|D\chi(t,x)|dx)} \end{split}$$

by change of variables,

$$\begin{split} &\frac{d}{dt}(\Gamma_s^{*}u,\Gamma_s^{*}u)_{L^2(|D_x\chi(t,x)|dx)} \\ &= -2Re((\Gamma_s^{*}T_{a^*}u\circ\chi^{-1},\Gamma_s^{*}u\circ\chi^{-1})_{L^2}) + 2Re((\Gamma_s^{*}f,\Gamma_s^{*}u))_{L^2(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)} \\ &+ 2Re(([\partial_t\Gamma_s^{*}]u,\Gamma_s^{*}u)_{L^2(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) + (\Gamma_s^{*}u,\Gamma_s^{*}u)_{L^2(\frac{d}{dt}|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}. \end{split}$$

Now notice that,

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(\int T_{D[\Gamma_s^*T_{a^*}u\overline{\Gamma_s^*u}]\circ\chi^{-1}}\chi^{-1}dx\right) = \int T_{D[\Gamma_s T_{\operatorname{Re}(a)}u\overline{\Gamma_s u}]\circ\chi^{-1}}\chi^{-1}dx + R,$$

where R verifies by Theorem 3.4.2:

$$|R| \le C(\|D\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}) \|\Gamma_{s}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(4.5.5)

Thus by Theorem 3.4.2:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt} (\Gamma_s^* u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(|D_x\chi(t,x)|dx)} & (4.5.6) \\ &= -2(\Gamma_s T_{Re(a)}[(\chi^{-1})^* u], \Gamma_s[(\chi^{-1})^* u])_{L^2} + \operatorname{Re}\left(\int T_{D[\Gamma_s^* T_{a^*} u] \nabla_x^{-1}} \chi^{-1} dx\right) + R \\ &+ 2Re((\Gamma_s^* f, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) + 2Re(([\partial_t \Gamma_s^*] u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) \\ &+ (\Gamma_s^* u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(\frac{d}{dt}|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}, \\ &= -2(\Gamma_s T_{Re(a)}[(\chi^{-1})^* u], \Gamma_s[(\chi^{-1})^* u])_{L^2} + \int T_{D[\Gamma_s T_{Re(a)} u \overline{\Gamma_s u}] \circ \chi^{-1}} \chi^{-1} dx + R \\ &+ 2Re((\Gamma_s^* f, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) + 2Re(([\partial_t \Gamma_s^*] u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) \\ &+ (\Gamma_s^* u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(\frac{d}{dt}|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) + 2Re(([\partial_t \Gamma_s^*] u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) \\ &+ (\Gamma_s^* u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(\frac{d}{dt}|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) + 2Re(([\partial_t \Gamma_s^*] u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)}) \end{aligned}$$

Now we have

$$\left|\int T_{D[\Gamma_s T_{\operatorname{Re}(a)} u \overline{\Gamma_s u}] \circ \chi^{-1}} \chi^{-1} dx\right| \le C(\left\| D\chi^{-1} \right\|_{L^{\infty}}) \left\| \Gamma_s u \right\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(4.5.7)

By the upper bound on  $|D\chi^{-1}(t,x)|$ :

$$(\Gamma_s T_{Re(a)}[(\chi^{-1})^* u], \Gamma_s[(\chi^{-1})^* u])_{L^2(\mathbb{D}^d)} \le M_0^0(Re(a))C(\|D_x\chi^{-1}\|_{L^\infty L^\infty}) \|\Gamma_s u\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(4.5.8)

Now by the upper bound on  $\frac{d}{dt} |D\chi(t,x)|$  and  $\frac{d}{dt} |D\chi^{-1}(t,x)|$  we have:

$$(\Gamma_s^* u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(\frac{d}{dt}|D\chi(t,x)|dx)} \le C(\|D_x\chi\|_{L^\infty L^\infty}) \|\Gamma_s^* u\|_{L^2}^2$$

Now using the upper bound on  $|D\chi(t, x)|$ :

$$(\Gamma_s^* u, \Gamma_s^* u)_{L^2(\frac{d}{dt}|D\chi(t,x)|dx)} \le C(\|D_x\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_x\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}) \|\Gamma_s u\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(4.5.9)

Analogously we get:

$$\begin{aligned} (\Gamma_{s}^{*}f,\Gamma_{s}^{*}u)_{L^{2}(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)} &\leq C(\|D_{x}\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^{d})}, \|D_{x}\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}) \|\Gamma_{s}u\|_{L^{2}} \|\Gamma_{s}f\|_{L^{2}} \\ (4.5.10) \\ ([\partial_{t}\Gamma_{s}^{*}]u,\Gamma_{s}^{*}u)_{L^{2}(|D\chi(t,x)|dx)} &\leq C(\|D_{x}\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_{x}\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}) \|\Gamma_{s}u\|_{L^{2}}^{2}. \\ (4.5.11) \end{aligned}$$

Thus finally we get by combining (4.5.6), (4.5.5), (4.5.7), (4.5.8), (4.5.9), (4.5.10) and (4.5.11):

$$(\Gamma_s T_{Re(a)}[(\chi^{-1})^* u], \Gamma_s[(\chi^{-1})^* u])_{L^2(\mathbb{D}^d)} \le C(\|D_x \chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_x \chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}) \|\Gamma_s u\|_{L^2}^2$$
(4.5.12)

To conclude we combine the computations from both methods and get:

$$\frac{d}{dt} [(\Gamma_s u, \Gamma_s u)_{L^2}] \le C(\|D_x \chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_x \chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, M_0^0(Re(a))) \|\Gamma_s u\|_{L^2}^2 + C(\|D_x \chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_x \chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}) \|\Gamma_s u\|_{L^2} \|\Gamma_s f\|_{L^2}.$$

The result then follows from the Gronwall Lemma.

,

We see that the proof depends essentially on symbolic calculus rules and those still clearly hold in the case of pseudodifferential operators as presented in section 3.2.

**Theorem 4.5.2.** Let T > 0,  $\chi \in W^{1,\infty}([0,T], C^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  such that  $D_x \chi \in C_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ and consider  $(a_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$  a family of symbols in  $S^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  with  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that  $t \mapsto a_t$  is continuous and bounded from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $S^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and such that  $Re(a_t) = \frac{a_t + a_t^-}{2}$  is bounded in  $S^0(\mathbb{D}^d)$ . Suppose moreover that  $\chi(t, \cdot)$  is a diffeomorphism between open sets of  $\mathbb{D}^d$  and that we have the bounds:

$$\exists C > 0, \forall t \le T, \forall x, C^{-1} \le |D_x \chi(t, x)| \le C.$$

$$(4.5.13)$$

Put  $(\cdot)^*$  is the change of variables by  $\chi$  as presented in Theorem 3.3.1. Then for all initial data  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and  $f \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + \operatorname{Op}(a^*)u = f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, u(0, x) = u_0(x) \end{cases}$$
(4.5.14)

has a unique solution  $u \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  which verifies the estimates:

$$\|u(t)\|_{H^{s}} \leq e^{C(\|D_{x}\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_{x}\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}})t} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}}$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t} e^{C(\|D_{x}\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_{x}\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}})(t-t')} \|f(t')\|_{H^{s}} dt',$$

$$(4.5.15)$$
where C depends also on a finite symbol semi-norm of  $Re(a_t)$ . Again fixing the initial data at 0 is an arbitrary choice. More precisely,  $\forall 0 \leq t_0 \leq T$  and all data  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + \operatorname{Op}(a^*)u = f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, u(t_0, x) = u_0(x) \end{cases}$$
(4.5.16)

has a unique solution  $u \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  which verifies the estimate:

$$\begin{aligned} \|u(t)\|_{H^s} &\leq e^{C(\|D_x\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_x\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}})|t-t_0|} \|u_0\|_{H^s} \\ &+ 2 \left| \int_{t_0}^t e^{C(\|D_x\chi\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}}, \|D_x\chi^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}})(t-t')} \|f(t')\|_{H^s} \, dt' \right|. \end{aligned}$$

We finally show a general regularizing effect due to integration in time.

**Theorem 4.5.3.** Consider  $(a_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$  a family of symbols in  $S^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  with  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that  $t \mapsto a_t$  is continuous and bounded from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $S^{\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and such that  $\operatorname{Re}(a_t) = \frac{a_t + a_t^{\top}}{2}$  is bounded in  $S^0(\mathbb{D}^d)$ , and take T > 0. Then for all initial data  $u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$ , and  $f \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d))$  the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u + op(a)u = f \\ \forall x \in \mathbb{D}^d, u(0, x) = u_0(x) \end{cases}$$

$$(4.5.17)$$

has a unique solution  $u \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)) \cap C^1([0,T]; H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}^d))$  which verifies the estimates:

$$\|u(t)\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} \leq e^{Ct} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} + 2 \int_{0}^{t} e^{C(t-t')} \|f(t')\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})} dt',$$

where C depends on a finite symbol semi-norm  $M_1^0(\operatorname{Re}(a_t))$ . Suppose moreover that a is elliptic that is:

$$\forall (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}, |a(x,\xi)| \ge C \langle \xi \rangle^{\beta}.$$

Then  $\forall t \in [0, T]$ :

$$\left\|\int_0^t u(s,\cdot)ds\right\|_{H^s} \le C(\|u_0\|_{H^{s-1}} + \|u_0\|_{H^{s-\beta}} + \|f\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T],H^{s-1})} + \|f\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T],H^{s-\beta})}).$$

*Proof.* We start by writing:

$$\partial_t u + \operatorname{Op}(a)u = f$$

we then apply  $Op(a^{-1})$ :

$$\operatorname{Op}(a^{-1})\partial_t u + u = \operatorname{Op}(a^{-1})f + Ru$$

with  $\mathbf{R} \in S^{-1}(\mathbb{D}^d)$ ,

$$\partial_t \operatorname{Op}(a^{-1})u + u = \operatorname{Op}(a^{-1})f + Ru + \operatorname{Op}(\partial_t a^{-1})u = \operatorname{Op}(a^{-1})f + Ru + \operatorname{Op}(\frac{\partial_t a}{a^2})u.$$

the proof then follows by integration in time and the usual elliptic estimates.  $\hfill \square$ 

### Chapter 5

## On the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula for hyperbolic paradifferential flows

In this section we give a complete symbolic calculus study of the flow of para-differential hyperbolic equations and their conjugation and commutation with para-differential operators. The results presented here are a combination of results obtained in [63] and [64].

#### Contents

5.1	Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula: composition and		
	commutator estimates		
<b>5.2</b>	Appendix: Continuity of limited regularity paradiffer-		
	ential exotic symbols on $L^p$ spaces $\ldots \ldots \ldots$		

# 5.1 Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula: composition and commutator estimates

We will start by giving the propositions defining the operators used in the gauge transforms and the symbolic calculus associated to them.

**Notation 5.1.1.** We will essentially compute the conjugation and commutation of operators with a flow map which naturally bring into play Lie derivatives i.e commutators, thus we introduce the following notation for commutation between operators:

$$\mathfrak{L}_a^0 b = b, \ \mathfrak{L}_a b = [a, b] = a \circ b - b \circ a, \ \mathfrak{L}_a^2 b = [a, [a, b]], \ \mathfrak{L}_a^k b = \underbrace{[a, [\cdots, [a, b]] \cdots]}_{k \ times} b] \cdots].$$

In the following propositions the variable  $t \in [0,T]$  is the generic time variable that appears in all throughout this thesis and a new variable  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  will be used and they should not be confused.

We also need to recall the definition of the adjoint of a paradifferential symbol p that we write  $p^*$  and is given by:

$$p^*(x,\xi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D}\times\hat{\mathbb{D}}} e^{-iy.\eta} \bar{p}(x-y,\xi-\eta) dy d\eta$$

We start with the proposition defining the Flow map and its standard properties.

**Proposition 5.1.1.** Consider two real numbers  $\delta \leq 1$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and a symbol  $p \in \Gamma_0^{\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  such that:

$$\operatorname{Im}(p) = \frac{p - p^{*}}{2i} \in \Gamma_{0}^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{D}), \text{ with } \tilde{\delta} \leq 0,$$
$$[\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^{s}, \sigma_{p}^{\psi}] \in \Gamma_{0}^{0}(\mathbb{D}), \text{ for all } s \in \mathbb{R}, \text{ with } :$$

$$\begin{split} [\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}] &= \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s \otimes \sigma_p^{\psi} - \sigma_p^{\psi} \otimes \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s \\ &= (2\pi)^{-d} \int_{\mathbb{D}^d \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}^d} e^{i(x-y).(\xi-\eta)} [\langle \eta \rangle^s \sigma_p^{\psi}(y,\xi) - \sigma_p^{\psi}(x,\eta) \langle \xi \rangle^s] dy d\eta. \end{split}$$

The following linear hyperbolic equation is well posed on  $\mathbb{R}$ :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}h - iT_ph = 0, \\ h(0, \cdot) = h_0(\cdot) \in H^s. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.1)

For  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ , define  $A^p_{\tau}$  as the flow map associated to (5.1.1) *i.e.*,

$$A^{p}_{\tau} : H^{s}(\mathbb{D}) \to H^{s}(\mathbb{D})$$
$$h_{0} \mapsto h(\tau, \cdot).$$
(5.1.2)

Then for  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  we have,

1.  $A^p_{\tau} \in \mathscr{L}(H^s(\mathbb{D}))$  and,

$$\|A^p_{\tau}\|_{H^s \to H^s} \le e^{C|\tau|(M^0_0(\operatorname{Im}(p)) + M^0_0([\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma^\psi_p]))}$$

2.

$$iT_p \circ A^p_\tau = A^p_\tau \circ iT_p, \ A^p_{\tau+\tau'} = A^p_\tau A^p_{\tau'}.$$

3.  $A^p_{\tau}$  is invertible and,

$$(A^p_{\tau})^{-1} = A^p_{-\tau}.$$

Moreover the  $L^2$  adjoint of  $A^p_{\tau}$  verifies:

$$(A^p_{\tau})^* = A^{(T_p)^*}_{-\tau} = A^p_{-\tau} + R,$$

where R is a  $\tilde{\delta}$  regularizing operator and  $A_{\tau}^{(T_p)^*}$  is the flow generated by the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}h - i(T_p)^*h = 0, \\ h(0, \cdot) = h_0(\cdot) \in H^s(\mathbb{D}). \end{cases}$$
(5.1.3)

4. Taking a different symbol  $\tilde{p}$  verifying the same hypothesis as p we have:

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| \left[ A_{\tau}^{p} - A_{\tau}^{\tilde{p}} \right] h_{0} \right\|_{H^{s}} \\ & \leq C \left| \tau \right| e^{C \left| \tau \right| \left( M_{0}^{0}(\operatorname{Im}(p), \operatorname{Im}(\tilde{p})) + M_{0}^{0}(\left[ \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^{s}, \sigma_{p}^{\psi} \right], \left[ \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^{s}, \sigma_{p}^{\psi} \right] \right) \right)} M_{0}^{\delta}(p - \tilde{p}) \left\| h_{0} \right\|_{H^{s+\delta}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.1.4)$$

*Proof.* Points (1), (2), (3) are simple consequences of the hyperbolicity and well posedness of the Cauchy problem (5.1.1). Point (4) comes by writing:

$$\partial_{\tau} [A^{p}_{\tau} - A^{\tilde{p}}_{\tau}] h_{0} - iT_{p} [A^{p}_{\tau} - A^{\tilde{p}}_{\tau}] h_{0} = iT_{p-\tilde{p}} A^{\tilde{p}}_{\tau} h_{0},$$

and making the usual energy estimate.

**Remark 5.1.1.** In this proposition the hypothesis  $\delta \leq 1$  is superfluous, for example this proposition extends with no problem to the linear Schrödinger flow where  $\delta = 2$ . We put it in the hypothesis because we wanted to put an emphasis on the type of symbols we will use in the gauge transform. Indeed we will be working symbols  $p \in \Gamma_1^{\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  with p real valued for which we have  $\tilde{\delta} \leq \delta - 1$  by symbolic calculus and the inequality:

$$M_0^{\delta-1}(\mathrm{Im}(p), [\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}]) \le C M_0^{\delta-1}(\partial_{\xi} \partial_x p), \ \tilde{\delta} \le 0.$$

This can even be relaxed to the minimal hypothesis  $p \in \Gamma^{\delta}_{\delta}$ .

Later on we will need to study the continuity of  $A_{\tau}^{p}$  on Hölder/Zygmund spaces. This a non trivial result, indeed hyperbolic flows are not in general continuous on  $L^{p}$  spaces for  $p \neq 2$ , as it is for example the case for the Schrödinger equation, or equations of the form  $\partial_{t}h + i |D|^{\alpha} h = 0, \alpha \neq 1$  that are not continuous on Zygmund spaces as shown in the Appendix of [8]. To study the continuity of  $A_{\tau}^{p}$  on Hölder/Zygmund we start by studying its symbol. First we recall the following Lemma we proved in [63] adapting the classical result by Beals on pseudodifferential operators in [14] to the limited regularity setting.

**Lemma 5.1.1.** Consider an operator A continuous from  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D})$  to  $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{D})$  and let  $a \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}})$  the unique symbol associated to A (cf [19] for the uniqueness), i.e, let K be the kernel associated to A then:

$$u, v \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D}), (Au, v) = K(u \otimes v), \quad a(x, \xi) = \mathscr{F}_{y \to \xi} K(x, x - y).$$

• If A is continuous from  $H^m$  to  $L^2$ , with  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $[\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, A]$  is continuous from  $H^{m+\delta}$  to  $L^2$  with  $\delta < 1$ , then  $(1 + |\xi|)^{-m}a(x,\xi) \in L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}})$  and we have the estimate:

$$\left\| (1+|\xi|)^{-m} a \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}} \le C_m \left[ \left\| A \right\|_{H^m \to L^2} + \left\| \left[ \frac{1}{i} \frac{d}{dx}, A \right] \right\|_{H^{m+\delta} \to L^2} \right].$$
(5.1.5)

• If A is continuous from  $H^m$  to  $L^2$ , with  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ , and [ix, A] is continuous from from  $H^{m-\rho}$  to  $L^2$  with  $\rho \ge 0$ , then  $(1 + |\xi|)^{-m}a(x,\xi) \in L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}})$  and we have the estimate:

$$\left\| (1+|\xi|)^{-m} a \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,\xi}} \le C_m [\|A\|_{H^m \to L^2} + \|[ix,A]\|_{H^{m-\rho} \to L^2}].$$
(5.1.6)

*Proof.* First without loss of generality through a standard mollification argument we work with  $a \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}})$ . We study the cases on  $\mathbb{T}$  and  $\mathbb{R}$  separately.

**Operators defined on**  $\mathbb{T}$  The first key observation is the following:

$$(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{Z}, \ e^{-ix \cdot \xi} A e^{ix \cdot \xi} = a(x,\xi),$$
 (5.1.7)

which one can right as  $e^{ix\cdot\xi} \in L^2_x(\mathbb{T})$ . Thus taking  $L^2$  norms in x we get:

$$\|a(\cdot,\xi)\|_{L^{2}_{x}} \leq \|A\|_{H^{m}\to L^{2}} \left\|e^{ix\cdot\xi}\right\|_{H^{m}_{x}} \leq C_{m} \|A\|_{H^{m}\to L^{2}} \left(1+|\xi|\right)^{m}.$$
(5.1.8)

Now to get the analogue of (5.1.8) but in the  $\xi$  variable we observe that the continuity hypothesis reads for  $(u, v) \in \mathscr{S}$ :

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{T}\times\mathbb{Z}} e^{ix\cdot\xi} a(x,\xi) (1+|\xi|)^{-m} \mathscr{F}(v)(\xi) u(x) dx d\xi \right| \le \|A\|_{H^m \to L^2} \, \|\mathscr{F}(v)\|_{L^2_{\xi}} \, \|u\|_{L^2_{x}} \, ,$$

which we rewrite as:

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathscr{F}(v)(\xi) \left[ \int_{\mathbb{T}} e^{ix \cdot \xi} (1+|\xi|)^{-m} a(x,\xi) u(x) dx \right] d\xi \right| \le \|A\|_{H^m \to L^2} \, \|\mathscr{F}(v)\|_{L^2_{\xi}} \, \|u\|_{L^2_{x}} \, ,$$

Now we treat a as an operator with roles of  $(x, \xi)$  exchanged. Choosing,

$$u(x) = \mathscr{F}^{-1}(e^{ix \cdot \xi}),$$

we get analogously to (5.1.8):

$$\left\| (1+|\xi|)^{-m} a(x,\xi) \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{x} L^{2}_{\xi}} \le C_{m} \left\| A \right\|_{H^{m} \to L^{2}}.$$
(5.1.9)

The second key observation is:

$$e^{-ix\cdot\xi}\left[\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx},A\right]e^{ix\cdot\xi} = \partial_x a(x,\xi), \quad e^{-ix\cdot\xi}[ix,A]e^{ix\cdot\xi} = \partial_\xi a(x,\xi). \tag{5.1.10}$$

Iterating the previous computations we get:

$$\|\partial_x a(\cdot,\xi)\|_{L^2_x} \le C_m (1+|\xi|)^{m+\delta} \left\| \left[\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, A\right] \right\|_{H^{m+\delta} \to L^2},$$
(5.1.11)

and as  $\rho \ge 0$ :

$$\left\|\partial_{\xi}[(1+|\xi|)^{-m}a(x,\xi)]\right\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}L^{2}_{\xi}} \le C_{m}[\|A\|_{H^{m}\to L^{2}} + \|[ix,A]\|_{H^{m-\rho}\to L^{2}}].$$
(5.1.12)

By the Sobolev embedding (5.1.9) and (5.1.12) give the desired result (5.1.6) on the torus.

To get (5.1.5) we introduce:

$$b(x,\xi,\xi_0) = a\left(\frac{x}{(1+|\xi_0|)^{\delta}}, (1+|\xi_0|)^{\delta}\xi\right).$$

As  $\delta < 1$  we have that  $(1 + |\xi|)^{\delta} \sim (1 + |\xi_0|)^{\delta}$  for  $|\xi - \xi_0| \leq c(1 + |\xi_0|)^{\delta}$  for some fixed c > 0. Considering b as a function of  $(x, \xi)$  on  $\mathbb{T} \times B(\xi_0, c)$ , inequalities (5.1.8) and (5.1.11) give uniform  $L_x^2$  and  $H_x^1$  estimates thus by the Sobolev embedding we get:

$$\|b(x,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}} \le C_{m} \left[ \|A\|_{H^{m} \to L^{2}} + \left\| \left[ \frac{1}{i} \frac{d}{dx}, A \right] \right\|_{H^{m+\delta} \to L^{2}} \right] (1+|\xi|)^{m}, \quad (5.1.13)$$

which transferred back to a give the desired result (5.1.5) on the torus.

**Operators defined on**  $\mathbb{R}$  The main problem we face on  $\mathbb{R}$  when adapting the previous proof is we can no longer use  $e^{ix \cdot \xi}$  as a test function as it no longer belongs to  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . One way to get over this was given by Beals in [?], we choose g in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R})$  such that g(0) = 1,  $\mathscr{F}(g)$  is supported in  $\{|\xi| \leq 1\}$  and g(x) = g(-x). Let  $g_x(y) = g(y-x)$  and compute for  $u \in \mathscr{S}$ :

$$u(x) = u(x)g_x(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} e^{i(x-y)\cdot\xi}g_x(y)u(y)dyd\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} e^{-iy\cdot\xi}e^{ix}g_y(x)u(y)dyd\xi.$$

We now compute an analogue of (5.1.7):

$$Au(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} e^{-iy\cdot\xi} A(e^{ix}g_y)(x)u(y)dyd\xi$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} e^{i(x-y)\cdot\xi}a_0(x,y,\xi)u(y)dyd\xi$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{ix\cdot\xi}a(x,\xi)\mathscr{F}(u)(\xi)d\xi,$$

where,

$$a_0(x, y, \xi) = e^{-ix \cdot \xi} A(e^{ix \cdot \xi} g_y)(x),$$

and,

$$a(x,\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} e^{i(x-y)\cdot(\eta-\xi)} a_0(x,y,\eta) d\eta dy.$$

Applying the same arguments as in the periodic case we get:

$$\left\| (1+|\xi|)^{-m} \partial_y^k a_0 \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,y,\xi}} \le C_{m,k} \left[ \|A\|_{H^m \to L^2} + \left\| \left[ \frac{1}{i} \frac{d}{dx}, A \right] \right\|_{H^{m+\delta} \to L^2} \right], k \in \mathbb{N}$$
(5.1.14)

and,

$$\left\| (1+|\xi|)^{-m} \partial_y^k a_0 \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,y,\xi}} \le C_{m,k} [\|A\|_{H^m \to L^2} + \|[ix,A]\|_{H^{m-\rho} \to L^2}], k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (5.1.15)

Thus to conclude the proof we need to transfer the information on the amplitude  $a_0$  to the symbol a which is a simple application of Oscillatory Integrals. Indeed it suffices to write:

$$\begin{aligned} a(x,\xi) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} e^{i(x-y)\cdot(\eta-\xi)} a_0(x,y,\eta) d\eta dy \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{\langle \xi-\eta \rangle^2} (I-\Delta_y) e^{i(x-y)\cdot(\eta-\xi)} a_0(x,y,\eta) d\eta dy \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{\langle \xi-\eta \rangle^2} e^{i(x-y)\cdot(\eta-\xi)} (I-\Delta_y)^* a_0(x,y,\eta) d\eta dy \Big], \end{aligned}$$

which gives the desired result as  $a_0(x, y, \eta)$  and all of it's y derivatives are y integrable.

**Remark 5.1.2.** It is worth noting that if instead of Sobolev estimates we had Hölder continuity estimates on A, then combined with (5.1.7) it gives directly the analogue of estimates (5.1.5) and (5.1.6).

We can now define the limited-regularity symbol classes to which  $A_{\tau}^{p}$  belongs.

**Definition 5.1.1.** Consider  $s \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , for  $0 \le \delta, \rho < 1$ , we say:

$$p \in W^{s,\infty} S^m_{\rho,\delta}(\mathbb{D}) \iff \begin{cases} \left| D^k_{\xi} p(x,\xi) \right| \le C_k \langle \xi \rangle^{m-\rho k} \\ \left\| D^k_{\xi} p(\cdot,\xi) \right\|_{W^{s,\infty}} \le C_k \langle \xi \rangle^{m-\rho k+s\delta} \end{cases}, (x,\xi) \in \mathbb{D} \times \tilde{\mathbb{D}}, \ k \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(5.1.16)$$

The best constant in (5.1.16) defines a seminorm denoted by  ${}^{\rho,\delta}M^m_s(\cdot;k), k \in \mathbb{N}$  where k is the number of derivatives we make on the frequency variable  $\xi$ , we also define the seminorm  ${}^{\rho,\delta}M^m_s = {}^{\rho,\delta}M^m_s(\cdot;1)$ . We define analogously  $W^{s,\infty}S^m_{\rho,\delta}(\mathbb{D}^* \times \tilde{\mathbb{D}})$ .

Motivated by Lemma 5.1.1 we introduce the following family of seminorms:

$${}^{\rho,\delta}H_0^m(p;k) = \sum_{j=0}^k \left\| \mathfrak{L}_{ix}^j p \right\|_{H^m \to H^{j\rho}},$$

$${}^{\rho,\delta}H^m_n(p;k) = \sum_{l=0}^n \sum_{j=0}^n \left\| \mathfrak{L}^j_{ix} \mathfrak{L}^l_{\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}} p \right\|_{H^m \to H^{j\rho-l\delta}}, \ n \in \mathbb{N}, n \le \rho,$$

and if  $s \notin \mathbb{N}$ :

$${}^{\rho,\delta}H^m_s(p;k) = H^m_{\lfloor s \rfloor}(p;k) + \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{n(s-\lfloor s \rfloor)} \sum_{j=0}^k \left\| \mathfrak{L}^j_{ix} \mathfrak{L}^{\lfloor s \rfloor}_{\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}}[P_n(D)p] \right\|_{H^m \to H^{j\rho-l\delta}},$$

where  $P_n(D)$  is applied to p in the x variable.

Then  ${}^{\rho,\delta}H^m_s(p;k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  induces an equivalent Fréchet topology to  ${}^{\rho,\delta}M^m_s(\cdot;k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ on  $W^{s,\infty}S^m_{\rho,\delta}$ .

In Stein's [71], such symbols are called "exotic", their continuity on different  $L^p$  spaces is completely studied but only in the regular case and without explicit estimates depending on the semi-norms. To make such estimates explicit we have given a full proof of such continuity Theorems in Appendix 5.2.

**Proposition 5.1.2.** Consider two real numbers  $\delta < 1$ ,  $\rho \ge 0$  and a symbol  $p \in \Gamma^{\delta}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D})$  such that:

$$\operatorname{Im}(p) = \frac{p - p^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\delta}(\mathbb{D}), \text{ with } \tilde{\delta} \leq 0,$$
$$[\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}] \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{D}), \text{ for all } s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Let  $A^p_{\tau}, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$  be the flow map defined by Proposition 5.1.1, then there exists a symbol  $e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes} \in W^{\rho,\infty}S^0_{1-\delta,\delta}(\mathbb{D}^* \times \tilde{\mathbb{D}})$  such that:

$$A^{p}_{\tau} = T^{lim}_{e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes}} + A^{p}_{\tau}(Id - T_{1}).$$
 (5.1.17)

Moreover we have the identities:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}[T_{e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes}}^{lim}h_{0}] = iT_{p}T_{e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes}}^{lim}h_{0}, \\ T_{e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes}}^{lim}h_{0}|_{\tau=0} = T_{1}h_{0}. \end{cases} \quad for \ h_{0} \in H^{s}(\mathbb{D}), s \in \mathbb{R}. \tag{5.1.18}$$

$$T_{e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p}}^{lim} = T_{e^{i\tau p}} + \int_{0}^{\tau} A_{\tau-s}^{p} \left( T_{ip} T_{e^{isp}} - T_{ipe^{isp}} \right) ds.$$
(5.1.19)

*Proof.* The idea is that morally  $T_{e_{\infty}^{i\tau p}}^{lim}$  should be defined by the asymptotic series:

$$T_{e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p}}^{lim} \sim \sum \frac{i^k \tau^k}{k!} (T_p)^k = \sum \frac{i^k \tau^k}{k!} T_{k}_{\otimes p}, \qquad (5.1.20)$$

where  $\overset{\sim}{\otimes} p$  is defined by Theorem 3.2.6. To make this series converge we introduce a mollification with the Gaussian function  $\phi_{\epsilon}(D)$  with symbol:

$$\phi_{\epsilon}(\xi) = \frac{1}{\epsilon\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{\xi^2}{2\epsilon^2}}, \epsilon > 0.$$
(5.1.21)

Other than the standard properties of mollifiers, we have the following properties:

- For  $h \in H^s(\mathbb{D})$ ,  $\phi_{\epsilon}(D)h$  is real analytic.
- The moments of the Gaussian can be explicitly computed by, for  $k \in n$ :

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\xi|^k \, e^{-\frac{\xi^2}{2}} d\xi = \frac{2^{\frac{k}{2}} \Gamma(\frac{k+1}{2})}{\sqrt{\pi}} = (k-1)!! \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } k \text{ is even} \\ \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \text{ if } k \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$

• From the moments of the Gaussian we deduce that, for  $h \in H^{s}(\mathbb{D})$  and  $k \in n$ :

$$\left\|\partial_x^k \phi_\epsilon(D)h\right\|_{H^s} \le C_k \epsilon^{-k} \|h\|_{H^s},$$

and  $C_k$  verifies for all K > 0,  $K^k C_k = o(k!)$ .

Indeed this last control on  $C_k$  is what motivates the choice of Gaussian mollifiers as we have the factor  $\frac{1}{k!}$  in (5.1.20) which will essentially compensate for one the losses in the mollification scheme.

By the symbolic calculus rules in Theorem 3.2.6 we then have that there exists a symbol  ${}^{\epsilon}e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes} \in C^{\rho}_{*}S^{0}_{1-\delta,\delta}(\mathbb{D}^{*} \times \tilde{\mathbb{D}})$  such that:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \frac{i^k \tau^k}{k!} (T_p)^k \phi_{\epsilon}(D) = \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \frac{i^k \tau^k}{k!} T_k \phi_{\epsilon}(D) = T_{\epsilon e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p}}^{lim}, \qquad (5.1.22)$$

$${}^{1-\delta,\delta}M^0_\rho({}^\epsilon e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes}) \le \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} C^k C_k \frac{|\tau|^k}{k!} \epsilon^{-k\delta} M^\delta_\rho(p)^k, \tag{5.1.23}$$

where  $C_k$  verifies for all K > 0,  $K^k C_k = o(k!)$ .

Now in order to pass to the limit in  $\epsilon$  we need to get uniform estimates on  $^{1-\delta,\delta}H_s^m(\epsilon e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p};k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ . To do so we see that:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau}[T^{lim}_{\epsilon_{e_{\otimes}}^{i\tau_{p}}}h_{0}] = iT_{p}T^{lim}_{\epsilon_{e_{\otimes}}^{i\tau_{p}}}h_{0},\\ T^{lim}_{e_{\otimes}^{i\tau_{p}}}h_{0}|_{\tau=0} = \phi_{\epsilon}(D)T_{1}h_{0}, \end{cases} \quad \text{for } h_{0} \in H^{s}(\mathbb{D}), s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

$$(5.1.24)$$

Thus a standard energy estimate combined with the commutation identities

$$\begin{cases} [\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, A^{p}_{\tau}] = \int_{0}^{\tau} A^{p}_{\tau-r}[\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, T_{ip}]A^{p}_{r}, \\ [ix, A^{p}_{\tau}] = \int_{0}^{\tau} A^{p}_{\tau-r}[ix, T_{ip}]A^{p}_{r}, \end{cases}$$

and Lemma 5.1.1 we get:

$${}^{1-\delta,\delta}H^{0}_{n}({}^{\epsilon}e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p};k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \leq e^{C_{k,n}|\tau|(M^{0}_{0}(\mathrm{Im}(p))+M^{0}_{0}([\langle \mathbf{D}\rangle^{-k(1-\delta)+n\delta},\sigma_{p}^{\psi}]))}M^{\delta}_{n}(p;k), \ (k,n)\in\mathbb{N}.$$

In order to get higher Zygmund estimates we see that by getting back to the sum (5.1.22), we have:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau} [T^{lim}_{P_{\leq k}(D)[\epsilon e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p}]} h_{0}] = iT_{[P_{\leq k}(D)p]} T^{lim}_{[P_{\leq k+1}(D)^{\epsilon} e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p}]} h_{0}, \\ T^{lim}_{[P_{\leq k}(D) e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p}]} h_{0}|_{\tau=0} = \phi_{\epsilon}(D) h_{0}. \end{cases} \quad \text{for } h_{0} \in H^{s}(\mathbb{D}), s \in \mathbb{R}. \end{cases}$$

$$(5.1.25)$$

Again commuting with ix and  $\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}$  and Proposition 3.1.3 we get:

$${}^{1-\delta,\delta}H^{0}_{s}({}^{\epsilon}e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes};k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \le e^{C_{k,n}|\tau|(M^{0}_{0}(\operatorname{Im}(p))+M^{0}_{0}([\langle \mathbf{D}\rangle^{-k(1-\delta)+s\delta},\sigma^{\psi}_{p}]))}M^{\delta}_{s}(p;k), \ (k,n)\in\mathbb{N}.$$

Thus we can pass to the limit in when  $\epsilon \to 0$  and get the desired result.

Finally for identity (5.1.18) we pass to the limit in (5.1.24). Identity (5.1.19) comes from the following computation. Fix an  $h_0 \in H^s, s \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $[A^p_{\tau} - T_{e^{i\tau p}}]h_0$  solves:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau} \left( [A_{\tau}^{p} - T_{e^{i\tau p}}]h_{0} \right) - iT_{p} \left( [A_{\tau}^{p} - T_{e^{i\tau p}}]h_{0} \right) = \left( T_{ip}T_{e^{i\tau p}} - T_{ipe^{i\tau p}} \right)h_{0}, \\ \left( [A_{\tau}^{p} - T_{e^{i\tau p}}]h_{0} \right)(0, \cdot) = (Id - T_{1})h_{0}(\cdot), \end{cases}$$
(5.1.26)

which by definition of  $A_{\tau}^{p}$  gives (5.1.19).

Combining the previous Proposition with Theorem 5.2.2 we get the following:

**Corollary 5.1.1.** Consider two real numbers  $\delta < 1$ ,  $\rho \ge 0$  and a symbol  $p \in \Gamma^{\delta}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D})$  such that:

$$\operatorname{Im}(p) = \frac{p - p^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{D}), \text{ with } \tilde{\delta} \le 0,$$
$$[\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}] \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{D}), \text{ for all } s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then  $T_{e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p}}^{lim}$  is continuous from  $C_*^s$  to  $C_*^{s-\frac{\delta}{2}}$  and from  $W^{s+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})\delta,p}$  to  $W^{s,p}$  for s > 0. Moreover we have the estimate:

$$\begin{split} \left\| T^{lim}_{e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes}} \right\|_{W^{s+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})\delta,p} \to W^{s,p}} &\leq K^{1-\delta,\delta} M^0_0(e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes};1), \text{ and,} \\ \\ \left\| T^{lim}_{e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes}} \right\|_{C^{s+\frac{1}{2}\delta}_* \to C^s_*} &\leq K^{1-\delta,\delta} M^0_0(e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes};1). \end{split}$$

An improvement one could make on Proposition 5.1.2 is on the frequency localization and limit cutoff.

**Proposition 5.1.3.** Consider two real numbers  $\delta < 1$ ,  $\rho \ge 0$  and a symbol  $p \in \Gamma^{\delta}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D})$  such that:

$$\operatorname{Im}(p) = \frac{p - p^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{D}), \text{ with } \tilde{\delta} \le 0,$$
$$[\langle \mathbb{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}] \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{D}), \text{ for all } s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Let  $A_{p,\tau}^{p}$   $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  be the flow map defined by Proposition 5.1.1 with the choice of cutoff  $T_{ip}^{B,n}$  with  $B \geq 2, b \geq 1$  and  $e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p} \in \Gamma^{1}S_{1-\delta,\delta}^{0}(\mathbb{R}^{*} \times \mathbb{R})$  the symbol given by Proposition 5.1.2.

$$A^{p}_{\tau} = T^{2,b}_{e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes}} + R_{\infty}, \ and,$$
 (5.1.27)

there exists a constant C such that  $R_{\infty}$ , verifies,

$$\forall u \in \mathscr{S}', \operatorname{supp} \mathscr{F}(R_{\infty}u) \subset B(0,C).$$

*Proof.* As  $B \ge 2$ ,  $i(T_p^{B,b})^*$  is still a paradifferential operator, thus there exists  $(e_{\otimes}^{i\tau p})^*$  such that:

$$(A^p_{\tau})^* = A^{(T^{B,b}_p)^*}_{\tau} = T^{lim}_{(e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes})^*} + A^{(T^{B,b}_p)^*}_{\tau} (Id - (T^{B,b}_1)^*),$$

On the other hand conjugating (5.1.17) we have:

$$(A^p_{\tau})^* = \left(T^{lim}_{e^{i\tau p}_{\otimes}}\right)^* + (A^p_{\tau})^* (Id - (T^{B,b}_1)^*).$$

Now if one calls  $a^*$  the symbol of the adjoint of an operator Op(a), then we have the following identify:

$$\mathscr{F}_x(a^*)(\eta-\xi,\xi) = \overline{\mathscr{F}_x(a)(\xi-\eta,\xi)}.$$
(5.1.28)

Thus writing:

$$\mathscr{F}_{x}\bigg(T_{(e_{\otimes}^{i\tau_{p}})^{*}}^{lim} + A_{\tau}^{(T_{p}^{B,b})^{*}}(Id - (T_{1}^{B,b})^{*})\bigg)(\eta,\xi) = \mathscr{F}_{x}\bigg(T_{(e_{\otimes}^{i\tau_{p}})^{*}}^{lim} + A_{\tau}^{(T_{p}^{B,b})^{*}}(Id - (T_{1}^{B,b})^{*})\bigg)(\eta,\xi),$$

and applying identity (5.1.28) we get the desired result in the zones  $\xi \ge 0, \eta \le 0$ and  $\xi \le 0, \eta \ge 0$ . For the other two zones we see that:

$$\mathscr{F}_x(a)(\eta,\xi) = \overline{\mathscr{F}_x(a)(-\eta,\xi)},$$

and applying the previous result to  $\bar{p}$  we obtain the desired result by symmetry.  $\Box$ 

The key commutation and conjugation result is given by the following proposition.

**Proposition 5.1.4.** Consider two real numbers  $\delta < 1$ ,  $\rho \ge 0$  and a symbol  $p \in \Gamma^{\delta}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D})$  such that:

$$\operatorname{Im}(p) = \frac{p - p^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{D}), \text{ with } \tilde{\delta} \leq 0.$$
$$[\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}] \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{D}), \text{ for all } s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Let  $A^p_{\tau}, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$  be the flow map defined by Proposition 5.1.1 and take a symbol  $b \in \Gamma^{\beta}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D}), \beta \in \mathbb{R}$  then we have:

5. For  $\rho \geq 1$ , there exists  $b^p_{\tau} \in W^{\rho,\infty}S^{\beta}_{1-\delta,\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  such that:

. . .

$$A^{p}_{\tau} \circ T_{b} \circ A^{p}_{-\tau} = T^{lim}_{b^{\tau}_{\tau}}.$$
 (5.1.29)

Moreover we have the estimates:

...

$$\left\| T_{b_{\tau}}^{lim} - \sum_{k=0}^{\lceil \rho-1 \rceil} \frac{\tau^k}{k!} \mathfrak{L}_{iT_p}^k T_b \right\|_{H^s \to H^{s-\beta-\lceil \rho \rceil \delta+\rho}} \le C_{\rho} M_{\rho}^{\beta}(b) M_{\rho}^{\delta}(p)^{\lceil \rho \rceil}, \qquad (5.1.30)$$

where  $C_{\rho,k}$  is a constant depending only on  $\rho$  and k.

6. There exists  ${}^{c}b^{p}_{\tau} \in W^{\rho-1,\infty}S^{\beta+\delta-1}_{1-\delta,\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  such that:

$$[A^{p}_{\tau}, T_{b}] = A^{p}_{\tau} T^{lim}_{cb^{p}_{\tau}} \iff T^{lim}_{cb^{p}_{\tau}} = T_{b} - T^{lim}_{b^{p}_{-\tau}}.$$
 (5.1.32)

Moreover we have the estimates:

$$\left\| T_{cb_{\tau}^{p}}^{lim} - \sum_{k=1}^{\lceil \rho-1 \rceil} (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\tau^{k}}{k!} \mathfrak{L}_{iT_{p}}^{k} T_{b} \right\|_{H^{s} \to H^{s-\beta-\lceil \rho \rceil \delta+\rho}} \leq C_{\rho} M_{\rho}^{\beta}(b) M_{\rho}^{\delta}(p)^{\lceil \rho \rceil},$$
(5.1.33)

where  $C_{\rho,k}$  is a constant depending only on  $\rho$  and k.

The link between  $b_{\tau}^{p}$  and  ${}^{c}b_{\tau}^{p}$  is given by the following:

$$T^{lim}_{cb^p_{\tau}} = \int_0^{\tau} A^p_r T_{\mathfrak{L}_{ip}b} A^p_{-r} dr = \int_0^{\tau} T^{lim}_{(\mathfrak{L}_{ip}b)^p_r} dr,$$

where  $\mathfrak{L}_{ip}b$  is the paradifferential symbol associated to  $\mathfrak{L}_{iT_p}T_b$  by Theorem 3.2.6. Moreover by Proposition 5.1.2 we have the following more precise frequency cut-off:

$$A^{p}_{\tau} \circ T^{\psi^{B,R}}_{b} \circ A^{p}_{-\tau} = T^{\psi^{2\star B\star 2,R}}_{b^{p}_{\tau}} + R_{\infty}, \qquad (5.1.35)$$

where  $A^p_{\tau}$  is defined by the choice of cut-off  $T^{\psi^{B',R}}_p, B' < 1, B \star B' = \frac{BB'}{B+B'-1}$  and,

$$R^{\infty} = -T_{e^{ip}}^{\psi^{2,R}} T_{b}^{\psi^{B,R}} A_{-1}^{p} (Id - T_{1}^{\psi^{B',R}}) - A_{1}^{p} (Id - T_{1}^{\psi^{B',R}}) T_{p}^{\psi^{B,R}} T_{e^{-ip}}^{\psi^{2,R}} - A_{1}^{p} (Id - T_{1}^{\psi^{B',R}}) T_{b}^{\psi^{B,R}} A_{-1}^{p} (Id - T_{1}^{\psi^{B',R}}).$$

**Remark 5.1.3.** • It is important to notice that the main result of this proposition is the factorization of the  $A^p_{\tau}$  terms in (5.1.29) and (5.1.32) where the right hand sides contain symbols in the usual classes modulo a more regular remainder. This was not a priori the case of the left hand sides containing  $A^p_{\tau}$ . In other words we prove the stability of  $\Gamma^m_{\rho}$  under the conjugation by  $A^p_{\tau}$ .

This is crucial when studying the regularity of the flow map for:

$$s > 1 + \frac{2 - \alpha}{\alpha - 1} + \frac{1}{2}$$

Indeed if p depends on a parameter  $\lambda$ ,  $D_{\lambda}A^{p}_{\tau} \circ T_{b} \circ A^{p}_{-\tau}$  is a priori an operator of order  $\beta + \delta$  by (5.1.4), but  $D_{\lambda}T^{lim}_{b^{p}_{\tau}}$  is shown in Proposition 5.1.6 to be an operator of order  $\beta$ .

- In the language of pseudodifferential operators,  $T_{b_{\tau}^{p}}$  is the asymptotic sum of the series  $(\frac{\tau^{k}}{k!} \mathcal{L}_{iT_{p}}^{k} T_{b})$  i.e the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formal series. Though  $T_{b_{\tau}^{p}}$  is not necessarily equal to this sum, for this sum need not converge.
- By the right hand side we have the continuity of T<sup>lim</sup><sub>b<sup>p</sup><sub>τ</sub></sub> on H<sup>s</sup> for s ∈ ℝ and not only s > 0 which is an improvement on (3.2.4).

*Proof.* The structure of the proof is as follows:

- (I) We will give a proof of the estimate (5.1.30) assuming  $b_{\tau}^{p}$  exists.
- (II) We will prove the existence of  $b^p_{\tau} \in W^{\rho,\infty}S^{\beta}_{1-\delta,\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  which is the subtle part of the proof.
- (III) Finally we will deduce point (6) from point (5).

**Point** (I) For point (5) we compute,

$$\partial_{\tau}[A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau}] = iT_p \circ A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau} - A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b \circ iT_p \circ A^p_{-\tau}$$

Using (2),

$$\partial_{\tau}[A^{p}_{\tau} \circ T_{b} \circ A^{p}_{-\tau}] = A^{p}_{\tau} \circ iT_{p} \circ T_{b} \circ A^{p}_{-\tau} - A^{p}_{\tau} \circ T_{b} \circ iT_{p} \circ A^{p}_{-\tau}$$
$$= A^{p}_{\tau}[iT_{p}, T_{b}]A^{p}_{-\tau}.$$
(5.1.36)

As  $A_0 = Id$ , integrating on  $[0, \tau]$  we get:

$$A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau} = T_b + \int_0^{\tau} \underbrace{A^p_r[iT_p, T_b]A^p_{-r}}_* dr.$$

Iterating the computation in \* we get for  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ ,

$$A^{p}_{\tau} \circ T_{b} \circ A^{p}_{-\tau} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{\tau^{k}}{k!} \mathfrak{L}^{k}_{iT_{p}} T_{b} + \int_{0}^{\tau} \frac{(\tau-r)^{n}}{n!} A^{p}_{r} \mathfrak{L}^{n+1}_{iT_{p}} T_{b} A^{p}_{-r} dr.$$
(5.1.37)

Now the key point is the continuity of paradifferential operators given by Theorem 3.2.3 and the symbolic calculus rules given by Theorem 3.2.6. By Lemma 5.1.2:

$$\left\|\mathfrak{L}_{iT_{p}}^{\lceil\rho\rceil}T_{b}\right\|_{H^{s}\to H^{s-\beta-\lceil\rho\rceil\delta+\rho}} \leq C_{\rho}M_{\rho}^{\beta}(b)M_{\rho}^{\delta}(p)^{\lceil\rho\rceil}, \text{ for } \rho\in\mathbb{R}_{+},$$
(5.1.38)

where  $\lceil \rho \rceil$  is the upper integer part of  $\rho$ .

Thus applying point (1) combined with (5.1.38) we get (5.1.30).

**Point** (II) The constant  $C_{\rho}$  in (5.1.38) is estimated "brutally" by Lemma 5.1.2:  $O(2^{\rho} \times \lceil \rho \rceil!)$ , thus even though one has a  $\frac{1}{\lceil \rho \rceil!}$  in (5.1.37) the convergence result is non trivial. To get past this let us express explicitly the difficulty in the problem. Rearranging the terms in (5.1.36) we see that:

$$\partial_{\tau}[A^{p}_{\tau} \circ T_{b} \circ A^{p}_{-\tau}] = A^{p}_{\tau}[iT_{p}, T_{b}]A^{p}_{-\tau} = [iT_{p}, A^{p}_{\tau}T_{b}A^{p}_{-\tau}], \qquad (5.1.39)$$

thus we have to solve the following the Cauchy problem in  $\mathscr{L}(H^s(\mathbb{D}), H^{s-\beta}(\mathbb{D}))$ :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau} f(\tau) = [iT_p, f(\tau)] \in \Gamma^{\beta}_{\rho-1}(\mathbb{D}), \\ f(0) = T_b \in \Gamma^{\beta}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D}). \end{cases}$$
(5.1.40)

This amounts to the non trivial problem of solving a linear ODE in the Fréchet space  $\Gamma^{\beta}_{+\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ , indeed such a problem need not have a solution in general, and even if it does, it need not be unique. To solve such a problem one usually has to look at a Nash-Moser type scheme, though in our case we have an explicit ODE that can be solved with a series and a loss of derivative. Thus inspired by Hörmander's [37], we remark another key estimate given by the continuity of paradifferential operators given by Theorem 3.2.3 and the symbolic calculus rules given by Theorem 3.2.6 (cf Lemma 5.1.2):

$$\left\|\mathfrak{L}_{iT_{p}}^{\left[\rho\right]}T_{b}\right\|_{H^{s}\to H^{s-\beta-\left[\rho\right]\delta}} \leq C^{\left[\rho\right]}M_{0}^{\beta}(b)M_{0}^{\delta}(p)^{\left[\rho\right]}, \text{ for } \rho \in \mathbb{R}_{+}.$$
(5.1.41)

This means that if we can compensate the loss of  $\beta + \lceil \rho \rceil \delta$  derivatives with a cost negligible in comparison to  $\lceil \rho \rceil!$ , we would have a convergent series in (5.1.37). A first approach would be to interpolate (5.1.38) and (5.1.41) which gives:

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathfrak{L}_{iT_{p}}^{\left[\rho\right]} T_{b} \right\|_{H^{s} \to H^{s-\beta}} &\leq C^{\frac{\rho - \left[\rho\right]\delta}{\rho} \left[\rho\right]} M_{0}^{\beta}(b)^{\frac{\rho - \left[\rho\right]\delta}{\rho}} M_{0}^{\delta}(p)^{\frac{\rho - \left[\rho\right]\delta}{\rho} \left[\rho\right]} \\ &\times C^{\left(\left[\rho\right] + 1\right)\frac{\left[\rho\right]\delta}{\rho}} 2^{\left[\rho\right]\frac{\left[\rho\right]\delta}{\rho}} \left[\rho\right]!^{\frac{\left[\rho\right]\delta}{\rho}} M_{\rho}^{\beta}(b)^{\frac{\left[\rho\right]\delta}{\rho}} M_{\rho}^{\delta}(p)^{\left[\rho\right]\frac{\left[\rho\right]\delta}{\rho}}, \end{aligned}$$
(5.1.42)

This indeed solves the cost  $\lceil \rho \rceil!$  of (5.1.38) but depends on  $M_{\rho}^{\cdot}$  norms of b and p. An idea to control those norms in a cost negligible in comparison to  $\lceil \rho \rceil!$  would be to mollify p and b using an analytic mollifier, this might work but we found it better to mollify differently.

For this we introduce a mollification with the Gaussian function  $\phi_{\epsilon}(D)$  with symbol:

$$\phi_{\epsilon}(\xi) = \frac{1}{\epsilon\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{\xi^2}{2\epsilon^2}}, \epsilon > 0.$$
(5.1.43)

Other than the standard properties of mollifiers, we have the following properties:

- For  $h \in H^s(\mathbb{D})$ ,  $\phi_{\epsilon}(D)h$  is real analytic.
- The moments of the Gaussian can be explicitly computed by, for  $k \in n$ :

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\xi|^k e^{-\frac{\xi^2}{2}} d\xi = \frac{2^{\frac{k}{2}} \Gamma(\frac{k+1}{2})}{\sqrt{\pi}} = (k-1)!! \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } k \text{ is even} \\ \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \text{ if } k \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$

• From the moments of the Gaussian we deduce that, for  $h \in H^{s}(\mathbb{D})$  and  $k \in n$ :

$$\left\| \partial_x^k \phi_\epsilon(D) h \right\|_{H^s} \le C_k \epsilon^{-k} \|h\|_{H^s},$$

and  $C_k$  verifies for all K > 0,  $K^k C_k = o(k!)$ .

Now by the symbolic calculus rules given by Theorem 3.2.6, for  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists  ${}^{\epsilon}b^{p}_{\tau} \in \Gamma^{0}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D})$  such that:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \frac{\tau^k}{k!} \mathfrak{L}_{iT_p}^k T_b \phi_\epsilon(D) = T_{\epsilon b_\tau}^{lim}, \text{ with,}$$
$$M_\rho^0(\epsilon b_\tau^p) \le \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} C^k C_k \frac{|\tau|^k}{k!} \epsilon^{-k\delta-\beta} M_\rho^\beta(b) M_\rho^\delta(p)^k.$$
(5.1.44)

In order to pass to the limit in  $\epsilon$  we will express  ${}^{\epsilon}b_{\tau}^{p}$  differently, for all  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{\tau^{k}}{k!} \mathfrak{L}_{iT_{p}}^{k} T_{b} \phi_{\epsilon}(D) \text{ converges in } \mathscr{L}(H^{s}(\mathbb{D})), \text{ thus by unicity of the limit:}$ 

$$A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau} \phi_{\epsilon}(D) = \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \frac{\tau^k}{k!} \mathfrak{L}^k_{iT_p} T_b \phi_{\epsilon}(D).$$
(5.1.45)

Thus,

$$A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau} \phi_{\epsilon}(D) = T^{lim}_{\epsilon b^p_{\tau}}.$$
(5.1.46)

Now we estimate the  ${}^{\delta-1}H^{\beta}_{\rho}(\cdot;k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  norms of  ${}^{\epsilon}b^{p}_{\tau}$ . To do so we need, in the word of Hörmander [36], a result which interpolates between information on the norm a of an operator and bounds for the derivatives of it's symbol. This was exactly the goal of Lemma 5.1.1.

By commuting  $\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}$  and ix with (5.1.46) we get:

$$\begin{split} [\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, T^{lim}_{\epsilon b^p_{\tau}}] = & [\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, A^p_{\tau}] \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau}\phi_{\epsilon}(D) + A^p_{\tau} \circ [\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, T_b] \circ A^p_{-\tau}\phi_{\epsilon}(D) \\ & + A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b[\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, \circ A^p_{-\tau}]\phi_{\epsilon}(D) + A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau}[\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, \phi_{\epsilon}(D)]. \end{split}$$

and,

$$\begin{split} [ix, T^{lim}_{\epsilon b^p_{\tau}}] &= [ix, A^p_{\tau}] \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau} \phi_{\epsilon}(D) + A^p_{\tau} \circ [ix, T_b] \circ A^p_{-\tau} \phi_{\epsilon}(D) \\ &+ A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b [ix, \circ A^p_{-\tau}] \phi_{\epsilon}(D) + A^p_{\tau} \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau} [ix, \phi_{\epsilon}(D)]. \end{split}$$

To estimate  $\left[\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, A^p_{\tau}\right]$  and  $\left[ix, A^p_{\tau}\right]$  we get back to (5.1.1) and see that:

$$\begin{cases} \left[\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, A^{p}_{\tau}\right] = \int_{0}^{\tau} A^{p}_{\tau-r}\left[\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}, T_{ip}\right]A^{p}_{r},\\ \left[ix, A^{p}_{\tau}\right] = \int_{0}^{\tau} A^{p}_{\tau-r}\left[ix, T_{ip}\right]A^{p}_{r}. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.47)

Thus by iteration, the continuity of  $A^p_{\tau}$  and Lemma 5.1.1 we get for  $(k, n) \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$^{1-\delta,\delta}H_{n}^{\beta}(b_{\tau}^{p};k) \leq e^{C_{k,n}|\tau|(M_{0}^{0}(\operatorname{Im}(p))+M_{0}^{0}([\langle \mathbf{D}\rangle^{-k(1-\delta)+n\delta},\sigma_{p}^{\psi}]))}[H_{n}^{\beta}(b;k)+H_{n}^{\beta}(b;k)H_{n}^{\delta}(p;k)].$$

Thus we can pass to the limit in  $\epsilon$  in (5.1.46), there exist  $b_{\tau}^{p} \in W^{0,\infty}S_{1-\delta,0}^{\beta}$  such that:

$$A^p_\tau \circ T_b \circ A^p_{-\tau} = T^{lim}_{b^p_\tau}.$$
(5.1.48)

Now to get  ${}^{1-\delta,\delta}H^{\beta}_{\rho}(b^{p}_{\tau};k), \rho \notin \mathbb{N}$  estimates we will use the Littelwood Paley decomposition. Indeed recalling  $(P_{\leq k})$  as the Littlewood Paley projectors defined in 3.1.1 we have by Lemma 3.2.3:

$$T_a^{lim} P_{\leq k} = P_{\leq k+1} T_{(P_{\leq k+1}(D)a)}^{lim} P_{\leq k},$$

where  $\mathscr{F}(P_{\leq k+1}(D)a) = P_{\leq k+1}(\eta)\mathscr{F}(a)(\eta,\xi)$ . Thus going back to the sum (5.1.45) we find:

$$A_{\tau}^{(P_{\leq k+1}(D)p} \circ T_{(P_{\leq k+1}(D)b} \circ A_{-\tau}^{(P_{\leq k+1}(D)p} P_{\leq k} = P_{\leq k+1} T_{(P_{\leq k+1}(D)b_{\tau}^{p}}^{lim} P_{\leq k}$$

thus we get by commuting with ix,  $\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}$  and estimating as previously:

$${}^{1-\delta,\delta}H_0^\beta(P_{\leq k+1}(D)\mathfrak{L}_{\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}}^{\lfloor\rho\rfloor}b_\tau^p;k) \leq e^{C_k|\tau|(M_0^0(\operatorname{Im}(p))+M_0^0([\langle \mathbf{D}\rangle^{-k(1-\delta)},\sigma_p^\psi]))} \times (*)$$

where 
$$(*) = H_n^{\beta}(P_{\leq k+1}(D)\mathfrak{L}_{\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}}^{\lfloor\rho\rfloor}b;k) + H_n^{\beta}(P_{\leq k+1}(D)\mathfrak{L}_{\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}}^{\lfloor\rho\rfloor}b;k)H_n^{\delta}(\mathfrak{L}_{\frac{1}{i}\frac{d}{dx}}^{\lfloor\rho\rfloor}p;k).$$

Thus by Proposition 3.1.3 characterizing Zygmund spaces and Definition 5.1.1 we get for  $(k, n) \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$\begin{split} & {}^{1-\delta,\delta}H^{\beta}_{\rho}(b^{p}_{\tau};k) \\ & \leq e^{C_{k,\rho}|\tau|(M^{0}_{0}(\mathrm{Im}(p))+M^{0}_{0}([\langle \mathbf{D}\rangle^{-k(1-\delta)+\rho\delta},\sigma^{\psi}_{p}]))}[H^{\beta}_{\rho}(b;k)+H^{\beta}_{\rho}(b;k)H^{\delta}_{\rho}(p;k)]. \end{split}$$

which gives (5.1.31) for  $\rho \notin \mathbb{N}$ .

**Point** (III) For point (6) we compute:

$$\partial_{\tau}[A^p_{\tau}, T_b] = [iT_p \circ A^p_{\tau}, T_b] = iT_p[A^p_{\tau}, T_b] + [iT_p, T_b]A^p_{\tau}.$$

Thus by definition of  $A^p_{\tau}$  as the flow map we get the following Duhamel formula,

$$[A^p_{\tau}, T_b] = \int_0^{\tau} A^p_{\tau-r}[iT_p, T_b]A^p_r dr,$$
$$= A_{\tau} \int_0^{\tau} \underbrace{A^p_{-r}[iT_p, T_b]A^p_r(u)dr}_{\star}$$

Applying point (5) to  $\star$  we get:

$$\begin{split} [A^p_{\tau}, T_b] &= A^p_{\tau} \sum_{k=1}^n (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\tau^k}{k!} \mathfrak{L}^k_{iT_p} T_b \\ &+ (-1)^n A^p_{\tau} \int_0^\tau \frac{(\tau - r)^n}{n!} A^p_{-r} \mathfrak{L}^{n+1}_{iT_p} T_b A^p_r dr. \end{split}$$

Again applying point (1) combined with (5.1.38) we get (5.1.33).

To get (5.1.32) we inject (5.1.29) in  $\star$ , which concludes the proof.

**Lemma 5.1.2.** Consider two real numbers  $\delta, \beta, \rho \geq 0$ , and two symbols  $p \in \Gamma^{\delta}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D})$ and  $b \in \Gamma^{\beta}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D})$  then the exists a constant C > 0 such that:

$$\left\|\mathfrak{L}_{T_{p}}^{\lceil\rho\rceil}T_{b}\right\|_{H^{s}\to H^{s-\beta-\lceil\rho\rceil\delta+\rho}} \leq C^{\lceil\rho\rceil+1}2^{\lceil\rho\rceil}\lceil\rho\rceil!M_{\rho}^{\beta}(b)M_{\rho}^{\delta}(p)^{\lceil\rho\rceil}, \text{ for } \rho\in\mathbb{R}_{+}, \quad (5.1.49)$$

$$\left\|\mathfrak{L}_{T_p}^{\left[\rho\right]}T_b\right\|_{H^s \to H^{s-\beta-\left[\rho\right]\delta}} \le C^{\left[\rho\right]}M_0^\beta(b)M_0^\delta(p)^{\left[\rho\right]}, \text{ for } \rho \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
(5.1.50)

*Proof.* For (5.1.50), we notice that  $\mathfrak{L}_{T_p}^{\lceil \rho \rceil} T_b$  contains  $2^{\lceil \rho \rceil}$  terms of the form:

$$T_p \circ \cdots \circ \underbrace{T_b}_{\text{position } i} \circ \cdots \circ T_p, \ i \in [0, 2^{\lceil \rho \rceil}],$$

Now by the continuity of paradifferential operators given in Theorem 3.2.3 we have:

$$\|T_p \circ \cdots \circ T_b \circ \cdots \circ T_p\|_{H^s \to H^{s-\beta-\lceil \rho \rceil \delta}} \le K^{|\rho|} M_0^\beta(b) M_0^\delta(p)^{|\rho|},$$

which gives (5.1.50).

For (5.1.49), we start by the case  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$  is a an integer. We first notice that again by Theorem 3.2.3 we have:

$$\begin{cases} \mathfrak{L}_{T_p}^1 T_b \in \Gamma_{k-1}^{\beta+\delta-1}, \\ M_{k-1}^{\beta+\delta-1}(\mathfrak{L}_{T_p}^1 T_b) \leq C M_k^{\beta}(b) M_k^{\delta}(p) \end{cases}$$

Thus iterating this formula we get:

$$\begin{cases} \mathfrak{L}_{T_p}^k T_b \in \Gamma_0^{\beta+k\delta-k}, \\ M_0^{\beta+\delta-k}(\mathfrak{L}_{T_p}^k T_b) \leq C_k M_k^{\beta}(b) \prod_{i\geq 1}^k M_i^{\delta}(p), \end{cases}$$

and  $C_k$  verifies:

$$C_k = 2kC_{k-1} \Rightarrow C_k = C2^k k!,$$

Thus giving the result in the case k integer. For  $\rho \ge 0$ , it suffice to see that for  $\rho \le 1$  again by Theorem 3.2.3 we have:

$$\begin{cases} \mathfrak{L}_{T_p}^1 T_b \in \Gamma_0^{\beta+\delta-\rho}, \\ M_0^{\beta+\delta-\rho}(\mathfrak{L}_{T_p}^1 T_b) \leq C M_\rho^\beta(b) M_\rho^\delta(p), \end{cases}$$

which concludes the proof.

**Remark 5.1.4.** We would like to note that in the special case  $\delta = 0$  we have the refined tame estimates for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$M_{0}^{\beta}(\partial_{\xi}^{k}b_{\tau}^{p};0) \leq \sum_{j=0}^{k} \sum_{l=0}^{j} \binom{k}{j} \binom{j}{l} M_{0}^{0}(\partial_{\xi}^{k-j} \otimes e^{i\tau p};0) M_{0}^{\beta}(\partial_{\xi}^{j-l}b_{\tau}^{p};0) M_{0}^{0}(\partial_{\xi}^{l} \otimes e^{-i\tau p};0).$$
(5.1.51)

We won't explicitly use the tameness in our proof as we avoid using a Nash-Moser type scheme but it's worth noting that implicitly it is this condition that ensures that the constructions in Section 7.1 converge, for more details on the necessity of this condition we refer to the following complete and instructive article by Hamilton [31].

*Proof.* This is the consequences of the Leibniz formula combined with the computation of  $[ix, b^p_{\tau}]$ :

$$[ix, A^p_{\tau}T_bA^p_{-\tau}] = [ix, A^p_{\tau}]T_bA^p_{-\tau} + A^p_{\tau}[ix, T_b]A^p_{-\tau} + A^p_{\tau}T_b[ix, A^p_{-\tau}].$$

The different Gateaux derivatives of the operators defined above are given by the following propositions.

**Proposition 5.1.5.** Consider two real numbers  $\delta < 1$ ,  $\rho \ge 0$ , two symbols  $p, p' \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  such that,

$$\operatorname{Im}(p) = \frac{p - p^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{R}), \operatorname{Im}(p') = \frac{p' - p'^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{R}), \ \tilde{\delta} \le 0,$$
$$\left( [\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}], [\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_{p'}^{\psi}] \right) \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{D}), \ for \ all \ s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Let  $A^p_{\tau}, A^{p'}_{\tau}, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$  be the flow maps defined by Proposition 5.1.1, then for  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  we have:

$$A_{\tau}^{p} - A_{\tau}^{p'} = \int_{0}^{\tau} A_{\tau-r}^{p} T_{ip'-p} A_{r}^{p'} dr.$$
 (5.1.52)

Another way to express this is with the Gateaux derivative of  $p \mapsto A^p_{\tau}$  on the Fréchet space  $\Gamma^{\delta}_{\rho}(\mathbb{D})$  is given by:

$$D_p A^p_{\tau}(h) = \int_0^{\tau} A^p_{\tau-r} T_{ih} A^p_r dr.$$
 (5.1.53)

Moreover consider an open interval  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ , and a symbols  $p \in C^1(I, \Gamma_{\rho}^{\delta}(\mathbb{D}))$  such that for all  $z \in I$ :

$$\operatorname{Im}(p(z)) = \frac{p - p^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{R}),$$
$$[\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}] \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{D}), \text{ for all } s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Let  $A^p_{\tau}, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$  be the flow map defined by Proposition 5.1.1 then for  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}, z \in I$  we have:

$$\partial_z A^p_\tau = \int_0^\tau A^p_{\tau-r} T_{i\partial_z p} A^p_r dr.$$
(5.1.54)

*Proof.* Fix  $h_0 \in H^s, s \in \mathbb{R}$  then:

$$\partial_{\tau}[A^p_{\tau}h_0] - iT_p[A^p_{\tau}h_0] = 0 \Rightarrow \partial_{\tau}[\partial_z A^p_{\tau}h_0] - iT_p[\partial_z A^p_{\tau}h_0] - T_{i\partial_z p}[A^p_{\tau}h_0] = 0,$$

which gives (5.1.54) by the definition of  $A^p_{\tau}$  and the Duhamel formula. The identities (5.1.52) and (5.1.53) are obtained in the same way.

**Proposition 5.1.6.** Consider two real numbers  $\delta < 1$ ,  $\rho > 1$ ,  $\rho \notin \mathbb{N}$ , and two symbols  $p, p' \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  verifying:

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{Im}(p) &= \frac{p - p^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{R}), \mathrm{Im}(p') = \frac{p' - p'^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{R}), \ \tilde{\delta} \leq 0, \\ & \left( [\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}], [\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_{p'}^{\psi}] \right) \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{D}), \ for \ all \ s \in \mathbb{R}. \end{split}$$

Let  $A^p_{\tau}, A^{p'}_{\tau}, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$  be the flow maps defined by Proposition 5.1.1 and take a symbol  $b \in \Gamma^p_{\rho}(\mathbb{R})$  then for  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  we have:

$$T_{b_{\tau}^{p}}^{lim} - T_{b_{\tau}^{p'}}^{lim} = \int_{0}^{\tau} A_{\tau-r}^{p} \mathscr{L}_{iT_{p-p'}} T_{b_{\tau}^{p'}}^{lim} A_{r-\tau}^{p} dr$$
(5.1.55)

$$= \int_{0}^{r} \mathscr{L}_{iT_{p-(p')_{\tau-r}}^{lim}} T_{(b_{r}^{p'})_{\tau-r}}^{lim} dr.$$
 (5.1.56)

Another way to express this is with the Gateaux derivative of  $p \mapsto T_{b_{\tau}^{p}}^{lim}$  on the Fréchet space  $\Gamma_{\rho}^{\delta}(\mathbb{R})$  is given by:

$$D_p T_{b_{\tau}^p}^{lim}(h) = \int_0^{\tau} \mathscr{L}_{iT_{h_{\tau-\tau}^p}^{lim}} T_{b_{\tau}^p}^{lim} dr = \mathscr{L}_{i\int_0^{\tau} T_{h_{\tau-\tau}^p}^{lim} dr} T_{b_{\tau}^p}^{lim}.$$
 (5.1.57)

Writing,  $T_{cb_{\tau}^{p}}^{lim} = T_{b} - T_{b_{-\tau}^{p}}^{lim}$ , and,  $T_{cb_{\tau}^{p'}}^{lim} = T_{b} - T_{b_{-\tau}^{p'}}^{lim}$  we get:

$$T^{lim}_{cb^p_{\tau}} - T^{lim}_{cb^{p'}_{\tau}} = -\int_0^{-\tau} A^p_{-\tau-r} \mathscr{L}_{iT_{p-p'}} T^{lim}_{b^{p'}_{r}} A^p_{r+\tau} dr$$
(5.1.58)

$$= -\int_{0}^{-\tau} \mathscr{L}_{iT^{lim}_{p-(p')^{p}_{-\tau-r}}} T^{lim}_{(b^{p'}_{r})^{p}_{-\tau-r}} dr.$$
(5.1.59)

$$D_p T^{lim}_{cb^p_{\tau}}(h) = -\int_0^{-\tau} \mathscr{L}_{iT^{lim}_{h^p_{-\tau-r}}} T^{lim}_{b^p_{-\tau}} dr = -\mathscr{L}_{i\int_0^{-\tau} T^{lim}_{h^p_{-\tau-r}}} dr T^{lim}_{b^p_{-\tau}}.$$
 (5.1.60)

*Proof.* From (5.1.39) and (5.1.40) we have:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau} [T_{b_{\tau}}^{lim} - T_{b_{\tau}^{p'}}^{lim}] = \mathscr{L}_{iT_{p}} (T_{b_{\tau}^{p}}^{lim} - T_{b_{\tau}^{p'}}^{lim}) + \mathscr{L}_{iT_{p-p'}} T_{b_{\tau}^{p'}}^{lim}, \\ T_{b_{0}^{p}}^{lim} - T_{b_{0}^{p'}}^{lim} = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(5.1.61)$$

Thus the Duhamel formula gives (5.1.55) and (5.1.56). For the Gateaux derivative passing to the limit in (5.1.55) we have:

$$D_p T_{b_{\tau}^p}^{lim}(h) = \int_0^{\tau} A_{\tau-r}^p \mathscr{L}_{iT_h} T_{b_r^p}^{lim} A_{r-\tau}^p dr,$$

which gives (5.1.57).

We now study the composition of two different flows.

**Theorem 5.1.1.** Consider two real numbers  $\delta < 1$ ,  $\rho \ge 0$ , two symbols  $p, p' \in \Gamma_{\rho}^{\delta}(\mathbb{D})$  such that,

$$\operatorname{Im}(p) = \frac{p - p^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{R}), \operatorname{Im}(p') = \frac{p' - p'^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^{\tilde{\delta}}(\mathbb{R}), \ \tilde{\delta} \le 0,$$
$$\left( [\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_p^{\psi}], [\langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s, \sigma_{p'}^{\psi}] \right) \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{D}), \ for \ all \ s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then for  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$  we have:

 $A^p_\tau A^{p'}_\tau = \tilde{A}^{p+(p')^p_\tau}_\tau,$ 

where  $\tilde{A}_{\tau}^{p+(p')_{\tau}^{p}}$  is understood as the flow generated by  $iT_{p} + iT_{(p')_{\tau}}^{lim}$ .

**Remark 5.1.5.** Strictly speaking we only presented flows that were generated by operators independent of the  $\tau$  variable which is not the case of  $\tilde{A}_{\tau}^{p+(p')_{\tau}^{p}}$ . We did so to avoid burdening the presentation, one can see all the results of this section can in verbatim be generalized to operators with Lipschitz dependence on  $\tau$  by the usual Cauchy-Lipschitz theorem.

Moreover by Appendix 3.2.3  $T_{(p')_{\tau}}^{lim}$  enjoys all of the same properties as a paradifferential operator with the usual cut-off except the continuity for  $s \leq 0$ . We still recover the continuity for  $s \leq 0$  by the continuity of  $A_{\tau}^p$  for  $s \leq 0$ . We can also recover the continuity for  $s \leq 0$  by Proposition 5.1.3. *Proof.* Fix  $h_0 \in H^s, s \in \mathbb{R}$  and compute:

$$\partial_{\tau}[A^{p}_{\tau}A^{p'}_{\tau}h_{0}] = -iT_{p}[A^{p}_{\tau}A^{p'}_{\tau}h_{0}] - i[A^{p}_{\tau}T_{p'}A^{p'}_{\tau}h_{0}],$$

thus by Proposition 5.1.4,

$$\partial_{\tau} [A^p_{\tau} A^{p'}_{\tau} h_0] = -i (T_p + T^{lim}_{(p')^p_{\tau}}) [A^p_{\tau} A^{p'}_{\tau} h_0],$$

and  $A_{\tau}^{p} A_{\tau}^{p'} h_0(0, \cdot) = h_0(\cdot)$  which gives the desired result.

## Control of the differential of the gauge transform in high Sobolev regularity

**Corollary 5.1.2.** Consider three real numbers  $\alpha > 1$ ,  $\beta < \alpha$  and  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , two real valued symbols  $a \in \Gamma^{\alpha}_{2+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}(\mathbb{D})$  and  $b \in \Gamma^{\beta}_{1+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}(\mathbb{D})$ . Suppose that there exists a real valued symbol  $p \in \Gamma^{\beta+1-\alpha}_{2+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}(\mathbb{D})$  such that:

$$b = -\partial_{\xi} p \partial_x a + \partial_x p \partial_{\xi} a. \tag{5.1.62}$$

Define  $A^p_{\tau}(u)$  as the flow map generated by  $iT_p$  from Proposition 5.1.1. For  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ , Let,

$$R_{\tau} = \tau T_{ib} + \int_0^{\tau} A^p_{-s}[T_{ip}, T_{ia}] A^p_s ds, \qquad (5.1.63)$$

and,

$$\tilde{R_{\tau}} = A_{\tau}^{p} R_{\tau} A_{-\tau}^{p} = \tau A_{\tau}^{p} i T_{b} A_{-\tau}^{p} + [A_{\tau}^{p}, T_{ia}] A_{-\tau}^{p}.$$
(5.1.64)

 $Then \ R_{\tau}, \tilde{R_{\tau}} \in \mathscr{L}(H^{s+(\beta+1-\alpha)^{+}}(\mathbb{D}), H^{s}(\mathbb{D})) \ and$  $\left\| (R_{\tau}, \tilde{R_{\tau}}) \right\|_{H^{s+(\beta+1-\alpha)^{+}} \to H^{s}} \leq CM^{\alpha}_{2+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}(a)M^{\beta}_{1+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}(b)M^{\beta+1-\alpha}_{2+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}(p).$ 

Moreover taking three different symbols a', b' and p' and defining analogously  $R'_{\tau}, \tilde{R}'_{\tau}$ , we have for  $h \in H^s$ :

$$\begin{split} & \left\| [R_{\tau} - R_{\tau}']h \right\|_{H^{s}} \\ & \leq C M_{2+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}^{\alpha}(a,a',a-a') M_{1+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}^{\beta}(b,b',b-b') M_{2+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}^{\beta+1-\alpha}(p,p',p-p') \\ & \times \left\| h \right\|_{H^{s+(\beta+1-\alpha)+}}, \end{split}$$

and,

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \tilde{R}_{\tau} - \tilde{R}_{\tau}' h \right\|_{H^{s}} \\ & \leq C M_{2+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}^{\alpha}(a,a',a-a') M_{1+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}^{\beta}(b,b',b-b') M_{2+\frac{1+\beta-\alpha}{\alpha-1}}^{\beta+1-\alpha}(p,p',p-p') \\ & \times \left\| h \right\|_{H^{s+(\beta+1-\alpha)^{+}}}. \end{split}$$

*Proof.* First we notice that by definition  $R_{\tau}$ ,  $\tilde{R}_{\tau}$  are of order  $\beta$  and that we can write as p, a and b have a regularity of  $2 + \frac{2-\alpha}{\alpha-1}$  and  $1 + \frac{2-\alpha}{\alpha-1}$  respectively:

$$\begin{cases} R_{\tau} = T_{r_{\tau}^{(\beta)}}^{lim} + T_{r_{\tau}^{(\beta+1-\alpha)}}^{lim} + R_{\tau}^{(\alpha-1-\beta)^{-}}, \\ \tilde{R}_{\tau} = T_{\tilde{r_{\tau}}^{(\beta)}}^{lim} + T_{\tilde{r_{\tau}}^{(\beta+1-\alpha)}}^{lim} + \tilde{R}_{\tau}^{(\alpha-1-\beta)^{-}}, \end{cases}$$

where  $r_{\tau}^{(\beta)}, r_{\tau}^{(\beta+1-\alpha)}, \tilde{r_{\tau}}^{(\beta)}, \tilde{r_{\tau}}^{(\beta+1-\alpha)}$  are operators in the usual paradifferential classes and thus there differential with respect to p do not generate the undesired loss of  $1 + \beta - \alpha$  derivative.

Now by Proposition 5.1.4:

$$T_{r_{\tau}^{(\beta)}}^{lim} = T_{\tilde{r_{\tau}}^{(\beta)}}^{lim} = T_{ib} + [T_{ip}, T_{ia}]$$

but the choice of p ensures by Theorem 3.2.6 that  $T_{ib} + [T_{ip}, T_{ia}]$  is of order  $\beta + 1 - \alpha$ , giving the desired result.

### 5.2 Appendix: Continuity of limited regularity paradifferential exotic symbols on $L^p$ spaces

We start by giving the following analogue of Theorem 2.1.A of [74].

**Theorem 5.2.1.** Consider four real numbers  $r > 0, m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $0 \le \delta, \rho \le 1$ , then for all  $a(x,\xi) \in C^r_* S^m_{\rho,\delta}$  such that  $a^*(x,\xi) \in C^r_* S^m_{\rho,\delta}$  where:

$$a^*(x,\xi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}} e^{-iy.\eta} \bar{a}(x-y,\xi-\eta) dy d\eta,$$

then,

Op(a): 
$$W^{s+m+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(1-\rho),p} \to W^{s,p}$$
, with  $p \in [2, +\infty]$ 

provided 0 < s < r. Furthermore, under these hypothesis,

$$Op(a): C_*^{s+m+\frac{1}{2}(1-\rho)} \to C_*^s.$$

Moreover there exists a constant K such that:

$$\begin{split} \|\operatorname{Op}(a)\|_{W^{s+m+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(1-\rho),p} \to W^{s,p}} &\leq K^* M^{m,r}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1), \ and, \\ \|\operatorname{Op}(a)\|_{C^{s+m+\frac{1}{2}(1-\rho)}_* \to C^s_*} &\leq K^* M^{m,r}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1). \end{split}$$

**Remark 5.2.1.** In higher dimension the factor  $(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})(1 - \rho)$  should be adapted to  $d(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})(1 - \rho)$  and the semi norm of order 1 in the  $\xi$  variable in the estimates should be adapted to  $\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor + 1$ .

If moreover  $\delta < 1$  then all of the previous results extend to  $L^2$  continuity (i.e s = 0), this results from an almost orthogonal decomposition combined with a  $TT^*$  argument as shown in Theorem 2, Section 2.5 of [71].

It's a result by Hörmander [36] that if  $\delta < \rho$  or  $\delta = \rho < 1$  the hypothesis on  $a^*$  is automatically verified. This hypothesis is also shown to be necessary for  $\rho = \delta = 1$ .

*Proof.* We first notice that it suffices to make  $H^s$  and  $C^s_*$  estimates as the  $L^p$  are obtained directly by interpolation.

The key estimate follows from the following adaptation of Lemma 4.3.2 of [53]:

**Lemma 5.2.1.** There are constants C and C' such that, for all  $\lambda > 0$  and  $q \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$  satisfying:

$$\operatorname{supp} q \subset \mathbb{R}^d \times \left\{ |\xi| \leq \lambda \right\}, \quad M = \sup_{|\beta| \leq \tilde{d}} \lambda^{\rho|\beta|} \left\| \partial_{\xi}^{\beta} q \right\|_{L^{\infty}} < \infty, \text{ with } \tilde{d} = \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor + 1.$$

Suppose moreover that q and it's derivatives in  $\xi$  are uniformly continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$ . Then the function,

$$Q(y) = \int e^{-iy \cdot \xi} q(y,\xi) d\xi,$$

satisfies:

$$\int (1+|\lambda y|^2)^{\tilde{d}} |Q(y)|^2 \, dy \le C\lambda^d M^2 (1+\lambda^{2(1-\rho)})^{\tilde{d}},\tag{5.2.1}$$

and,

$$\|Q\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)} \le C' M (1 + \lambda^{2(1-\rho)})^{\frac{d}{2}}.$$
(5.2.2)

Proof of Lemma 5.2.1. For  $|\alpha| \leq \tilde{d}$  we have:

$$y^{\alpha}Q(y) = \int e^{-iy\cdot\xi} D^{\alpha}_{\xi}q(y,\xi)d\xi$$

At this step we would like to apply Plancherel's theorem to deduce:

$$\int \left| y^{2\alpha} \right| \left| Q(y) \right|^2 dy \le C \lambda^{d - 2\rho\alpha} M^2, \tag{5.2.3}$$

which is the argument given in [53]. As the application of the Plancherel's theorem does not seem immediate to us we opted to expand upon it to make it's application more immediate. We first notice that it suffices to prove (5.2.3) for  $\alpha = 0$ . To do so we introduce the function:

$$\tilde{Q}(x,y) = \int e^{-iy \cdot \xi} q(x,\xi) d\xi = \mathscr{F}_{\xi} q(x,y),$$

in this setting we can apply Plancherel's theorem to deduce:

$$\|Q\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}L^{2}_{y}} \le \|q\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}L^{2}_{\xi}}.$$
(5.2.4)

getting back to (5.2.3) we want to estimate  $\left\|\tilde{Q}(y,y)\right\|_{L^2_y(\mathbb{R}^d)}^2$ , to do so we estimate uniformly on cubes the norms  $\left\|\tilde{Q}(y,y)\right\|_{L^2_y(C(y_0,R))}^2$ . For this we define the set:

$$K(y_0, R, \epsilon) = \{(x, y), y \in C(y_0, R), |x_j - y_j| \le \epsilon, j \in [1, \cdots, d]\}$$

Thus by the fundamental Theorem of calculus:

$$\frac{1}{c_d \epsilon^d} \int_{K(y_0, R, \epsilon)} \left| \tilde{Q}(x, y) \right|^2 dx dy \xrightarrow[\epsilon \to 0]{} \int_{C(y_0, R)} \left| \tilde{Q}(y, y) \right|^2 dy$$

$$\begin{split} \left\| \tilde{Q}(y,y) \right\|_{L^2_y(C(y_0,R))}^2 &\leq C_{K(y_0,R,\epsilon)} \frac{1}{\epsilon^d} \left\| \tilde{Q}(x,y) \right\|_{L^2(K(R,\epsilon))}^2 \\ &\leq C_{K(R,\epsilon)} \left\| q \right\|_{L^\infty_x(C(0,\epsilon);L^2_{\xi}(C(0,R))}^2, \end{split}$$

where the constant  $C_{K(y_0,R,\epsilon)}$  can be chosen uniformly in  $y_0$  by the uniform continuity of q. Now to explicit the dependence of  $C_{K(R,\epsilon)}$  on the different parameters, by Plancherel's theorem we have:

$$\frac{R^d}{c'_d \epsilon^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \prod_{j=1}^d \operatorname{sinc}\left(2\xi_j R\right) e^{iy_0^j \xi_j} * q(x,\xi) \right|^2 dx d\xi = \frac{1}{c_d \epsilon^d} \int_{K(R,\epsilon)} \left| \tilde{Q}(x,y) \right|^2 dx dy$$
$$\xrightarrow[\epsilon \to 0]{} \int_{C(0,R)} \left| \tilde{Q}(y,y) \right|^2 dy.$$

Thus we cover the diagonal (y, y) in  $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$  by compact sets  $(K(y_0^i, R_i, \epsilon_i))_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  where  $y_0^i, R_i$  and  $\epsilon_i$  are chosen in a manner to ensure that the sum of the volume of the different intersections between elements of this cover is summable.

Thus we have:

$$\int \left|y^{2\alpha}\right| \left|Q(y)\right|^2 dy \le C\lambda^{d-2\rho\alpha} M^2.$$

Multiplying by  $\lambda^{2|\alpha|}$  and summing in  $\alpha$ , implies (5.2.1). Since  $\tilde{d} > \frac{d}{2}$ , the second estimate (5.2.2) follows.

Getting back to the proof of Theorem 5.2.1, we are working with  $d = \tilde{d} = 1$  in Lemma 5.2.1.

We start by making a Littlewood-Paley type decomposition by writing:

$$a(x,\xi) = a(x,\xi)P_0(\xi) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a(x,\xi)P_k(\xi) = a_0(x,\xi) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k(x,\xi).$$

The proof will be divided in two paragraphs where we do the Sobolev and Zygmund estimates respectively.

#### Continuity in $H^s$

**Lemma 5.2.2.** For  $k \ge 0$ ,  $Op(a_k)$  maps to  $L^2$  to  $H^{\infty}$ . Moreover for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$ , there is  $C_{\alpha}$  such that for all  $a \in C^r_* S^m_{\rho,\delta}$ ,  $k \ge 0$  and all  $f \in L^2$ :

$$\|\partial_x^{\alpha} \operatorname{Op}(a_k) f\|_{L^2} \le C_{\alpha} M_{\rho,\delta}^{m,\alpha}(a;1) \|f\|_{L^2} 2^{k(m+\alpha)}$$
(5.2.5)

Proof of Lemma 5.2.2. Since  $a_k$  is compactly supported in  $\xi$ , one sees that  $Op(a_k)f$  is given by the convergent integral:

$$Op(a_k)f(x) = \int A_k(x, y)f(y)dy, \qquad (5.2.6)$$

where the kernel  $A_k(x, y)$  is given by the convergent integral:

$$Op(a_k) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int e^{i(x-y)\xi} a_k(x,\xi) d\xi.$$
 (5.2.7)

Moreover on the support of  $a_k$ ,  $1 + |\xi| \simeq 2^k$ . Therefore Lemma 5.2.1 can be applied with  $\lambda = 2^{k+1}$ , implying that:

$$\int (1+2^{2k} |x-y|^2) |A_k(x,y)|^2 \, dy \le C 2^{2km+k+2(1-\rho)k} M^{m,0}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1)^2.$$
(5.2.8)

Hence for  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D})$ , Cauchy-Schwartz inequality implies that:

$$|\operatorname{Op}(a_k)f(x)|^2 \le C2^{2km+k+2(1-\rho)k} M_{\rho,\delta}^{m,0}(a;1)^2 \int \frac{2^{2km+k+2(1-\rho)k} |f(y)|^2}{(1+2^{2k} |x-y|^2)} dy.$$
(5.2.9)

The integral  $2^k \int (1+2^{2k} |x-y|^2)^{-1} dx = C'$  is finite and independent of k. Thus:

$$\|\operatorname{Op}(a_k)f\|_{L^2} \le C_{\alpha} M_{\rho,\delta}^{m,0}(a;1) \, \|f\|_{L^2} \, 2^{k(m+(1-\rho))}.$$
(5.2.10)

In order to eliminate the extra factor  $2^{k(1-\rho)}$  in (5.2.10), we use the fundamental  $TT^*$  trick, indeed writing  $(a_k)^*$  as the formal symbol of the operator  $(\operatorname{Op}(a_k))^*$ , by the frequency localization we see that  $(a_k)^* \in C^r_* S^m_{\rho,\delta}$ . Thus  $a_k(a_k)^* \in C^r_* S^{2m}_{\rho,\delta}$  and applying the previous estimate, as it's uniform in the choice of symbol, to  $\operatorname{Op}(a_k)(\operatorname{Op}(a_k))^*$  we get:

$$\|\operatorname{Op}(a_k)(\operatorname{Op}(a_k))^* f\|_{L^2} \le C_{\alpha} M^{m,0}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1)^2 \|f\|_{L^2} 2^{k(2m+(1-\rho))},$$
(5.2.11)

thus by the standard  $TT^*$  lemma:

$$\|\operatorname{Op}(a_k)f\|_{L^2} \le C_{\alpha} M^{m,0}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1) \, \|f\|_{L^2} \, 2^{k(m+\frac{1}{2}(1-\rho))}.$$
(5.2.12)

Iterating this estimate we get (5.2.5) for  $\alpha = 0$ . The symbol  $\partial_x^{\alpha}$  is  $(i\xi + \partial_x)^{\alpha}a_k(x,\xi)$ , which gives the desired estimate for larger  $\alpha$ .

Now getting back to the continuity in  $H^s$  of Op(a) we write for  $f \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{D})$  by the support localization of  $a_k$ :

$$\operatorname{Op}(a_k)f = \sum_{|j-k| \le 3} \operatorname{Op}(a_k)P_jf,$$

Thus by Lemma 5.2.2,

$$\|\partial_x^{\alpha} \operatorname{Op}(a_k) f\|_{L^2} \le C_{\alpha} M_{\rho,\delta}^{m,\alpha}(a;1) \sum_{|j-k| \le 3} \|P_j f\|_{L^2} 2^{k(m+\alpha)},$$

then by Definition 3.1.5,

$$\|\partial_x^{\alpha} \operatorname{Op}(a_k) f\|_{L^2} \le C_{\alpha} M^{m,\alpha}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1) 2^{k(\alpha-s)} \epsilon_k,$$
(5.2.13)

with,

$$\sum_{k} \epsilon_k^2 \le \|f\|_{H^{s+m}} \,. \tag{5.2.14}$$

Now to conclude we recall the following Proposition from [53]:

**Proposition 5.2.1** (Proposition 4.1.13 of [53]). Let 0 < s and let n be an integer, n > s. There is a constant C such that, for all sequence  $(f_k)_{k\geq 0} \in H^n(\mathbb{D}^d)$  satisfying for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$ ,  $|\alpha| \leq n$ :

$$\|\partial_x^{\alpha} f_k\|_{L^2(\mathbb{D}^d)} \le 2^{k(|\alpha|-s)} \epsilon_k, \text{ with } (\epsilon_k) \in l^2,$$
(5.2.15)

the sum  $f = \sum f_k$  belongs to  $H^s(\mathbb{D}^d)$  and,

$$\|f\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{D}^{d})}^{2} \le C \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \epsilon_{k}^{2}.$$
(5.2.16)

Applying Proposition 5.2.1 to  $Op(a_k)f$  we get the desired Sobolev continuity and the desired estimate.

**Continuity in**  $C^s_*$  The proof follows the same lines as previously, indeed applying (5.2.2) to (5.2.6) we get the following Lemma.

**Lemma 5.2.3.** For  $k \ge 0$ ,  $\operatorname{Op}(a_k)$  maps to  $L^{\infty}$  to  $W^{\infty,\infty}$ . Moreover for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$ , there is  $C_{\alpha}$  such that for all  $a \in C^r_* S^m_{\rho,\delta}$ ,  $k \ge 0$  and all  $f \in L^{\infty}$ :

$$\|\partial_x^{\alpha} \operatorname{Op}(a_k) f\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C_{\alpha} M_{\rho,\delta}^{m,\alpha}(a;1) \, \|f\|_{L^{\infty}} \, 2^{k(m+\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}.$$
(5.2.17)

Again we have:

$$\|\partial_x^{\alpha} \operatorname{Op}(a_k) f\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C_{\alpha} M_{\rho,\delta}^{m,\alpha}(a;1) 2^{k(\alpha-s)} \|f\|_{C_*^{s+m+\frac{1}{2}}}, \qquad (5.2.18)$$

which gives the desired result and estimate.

**Theorem 5.2.2.** Consider four real numbers  $r > 0, m \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $0 \le \delta, \rho \le 1$ , then for all  $a(x,\xi) \in \Gamma^0 S^m_{\rho,\delta}$ ,

$$T_a: W^{s+m+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(1-\rho),p} \to W^{s,p}, \text{ with } p \in [2,+\infty], s \in \mathbb{R},$$
$$T_a^{lim}: W^{s+m+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(1-\rho),p} \to W^{s,p}, \text{ with } p \in [2,+\infty], s > 0.$$

Furthermore, under these hypothesis,

$$T_a: C_*^{s+m+\frac{1}{2}(1-\rho)} \to C_*^s, \quad s \in \mathbb{R},$$
$$T_a^{lim}: C_*^{s+m+\frac{1}{2}(1-\rho)} \to C_*^s, \quad s > 0.$$

Moreover there exists a constant K such that:

$$\begin{split} \|T_a\|_{W^{s+m+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(1-\rho),p} \to W^{s,p}} &\leq K \ M^{m,0}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1), \ and, \\ \|T_a\|_{C^{s+m+\frac{1}{2}(1-\rho)}_* \to C^s_*} &\leq K \ M^{m,0}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1), \\ \\ \left\|T^{lim}_a\right\|_{W^{s+m+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(1-\rho),p} \to W^{s,p}} &\leq K \ M^{m,0}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1), \ and \\ \\ \left\|T^{lim}_a\right\|_{C^{s+m+\frac{1}{2}(1-\rho)}_* \to C^s_*} &\leq K \ M^{m,0}_{\rho,\delta}(a;1), \end{split}$$

Proof. This simply follows from the spectral localization property of paradifferential operators, indeed taking  $f \in \mathscr{S}$ , then  $\operatorname{Op}(\sigma_{ak})f$  is supported in a ring  $C_k$  where  $|\xi| \sim 2^k$ , which is not necessarily the case for  $\operatorname{Op}(a_k)f$ . The spectral localization property also ensures that the adjoint operator verifies the hypothesis of Theorem 5.2.1. Thus rewriting estimates (5.2.13) and (5.2.18) with  $\alpha = 0$  then by definition of Sobolev spaces and Zygmund spaces using the Littlewood-Paley decomposition we get:

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_a\|_{W^{s+m+(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(1-\rho),p} \to W^{s,p}} &\leq K^* M^{m,s}_{\rho,\delta}(\sigma_a;2), \text{ and,} \\ \|T_a\|_{C^{s+m+\frac{1}{2}(1-\rho)}_* \to C^s_*} &\leq K^* M^{m,s}_{\rho,\delta}(\sigma_a;2), s \in \mathbb{R}, \end{aligned}$$

which gives the desired result by the Bernstein inequalities.

The proof for  $T_a^{lim}$  follows exactly the same lines with the sole difference being that  $Op(\sigma_a^{lim}{}_k)f$  is supported in the ball  $B(0, C2^k)$  and not a ring  $C_k$ , which explains the restrictions to s > 0 by Propositions 3.1.3 and 3.1.4.

### Chapter 6

# Exact flow map regularity of the weakly dispersive Burgers type equation and the Gravity Capillary equation

In this section we give the proofs of Theorems 1.2.2 and 1.3.3 and Corollary 1.2.1, which are the main the results from [63].

#### Contents

6.1	Stud	y of the model problems 169	
6.	.1.1	Proof of Theorem 1.2.2, the estimates on $H_0^s$	
6	.1.2	Proof of Corollary 1.2.1, the estimates on $H^s$	
6.2 Flow map regularity for the periodic Gravity Capillary			
$equation \dots \dots$			
6.	.2.1	Prerequisites from the Cauchy problem	
6.	.2.2	Proof of Theorem 1.3.3	
6.	.2.3	Appendix: Gauge transform on $\mathbb{R}$	

#### 6.1 Study of the model problems

#### 6.1.1 Proof of Theorem 1.2.2, the estimates on $H_0^s$

We keep the notations of Theorem 1.2.2, fixing  $u_0 \in H_0^s(\mathbb{T};\mathbb{R})$  and r > 0 and taking:

$$v_0, w_0 \in \mathcal{B}(u_0, r) \subset H^s_0(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R})$$

As the mean value is conserved by the flow of (1.2.2) we consider the solutions  $u, v, w \in C^0([0,T]; H^s_0(\mathbb{T}; \mathbb{R}))$  to (1.2.2) with initial data  $u_0, v_0, w_0$  and on a uniform small interval [0,T].

The main goal of the proof is to show the following estimate:

$$\|v(t,\cdot) - w(t,\cdot)\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}} \le C(\|(v_0,w_0)\|_{H^s}) \|v_0 - w_0\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}}, \qquad (6.1.1)$$

with the following tame control,

$$C(\|(v_0, w_0)\|_{H^s}) \le C'(\|(v_0, w_0)\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}})[\|(v_0, w_0)\|_{H^s} + 1],$$
(6.1.2)

where C and C' are non decreasing positive functions.

The final simplification we make in this paragraph is that given the well-posedness of the Cauchy problem in  $H^s$ , and the density of  $H^{+\infty}$  in  $H^s$ , it suffice to prove (6.1.1) for  $v_0, w_0 \in H^{+\infty}$ , which henceforth we will suppose.

We start by applying the paralinearization Theorem 3.2.6 to the term  $u\partial_x v$  to get:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + T_{vi\xi} v + T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi} v = R_1(v)v, \\ v(0,\cdot) = v_0(\cdot), \end{cases}$$
(6.1.3)

where  $R_1$  verifies as  $s > 1 + \frac{1}{2}$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \|R_1(v)\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+} \to H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}} &\leq C(\|v\|_{W^{1,\infty}}) \leq C(\|v\|_{H^s}), \\ \|[R_1(v) - R_1(w)]v\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+} \to H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}} \leq C \|v - w\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}} \|v\|_{H^s}, \end{aligned}$$

where *C* verifies 6.1.2. Now we reduce  $H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}$  estimates to  $L^2$  ones by defining  $f_1 = \langle D \rangle^{s-(2-\alpha)^+} v$ . Commuting  $\langle D \rangle^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}$  with (6.1.3), using the symbolic calculus rules of Theorem 3.2.6, we get that:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f_1 + T_{vi\xi} f_1 + T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi} f_1 = R_1(v) f_1 \\ f_1(0, \cdot) = \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^{s-(2-\alpha)^+} v_0(\cdot), \end{cases}$$
(6.1.4)

where  $R_1$  was modified to include terms verifying the same estimate i.e.

$$\|R_1(v)\|_{L^2 \to L^2} \le C(\|v\|_{H^s}),$$
  
 
$$\|[R_1(v) - R_1(w)]f_1\|_{L^2} \le C \|v - w\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}} \|f_1\|_{H^{(2-\alpha)^+}}.$$

We define analogously  $g_1 = \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^{s-(2-\alpha)^+} w$  and notice that by definition:

$$||f_1 - g_1||_{L^2} = ||v - w||_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^+}},$$

thus the problem is reduced to getting  $L^2$  estimates on  $f_1 - g_1$ .

Here we explain the scheme of the proof using estimates we proved in Section 5.1.

#### 6.1.1.1 Gauge transform and Energy estimate

The goal of this section is to find an operator  $A_v$  such that

$$\partial_t [A_v f_1] + A_v T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi} f_1 + A_v T_{vi\xi} f_1 + [A_v, T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi}] f_1 = (\partial_t A_v) f_1 + A_v R_1(f_1) f_1,$$

and  $A_v T_{vi\xi} + [A_v, T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi}]$  is a hyperbolic operator of order  $(2 - \alpha)^+ < 1$ . If we define  $V = \partial_x^{-1} v$  which is the periodic zero mean value primitive of v, then

$$\hat{V}(0) = 0$$
 and  $\hat{V}(\xi) = \frac{\hat{v}(\xi)}{i\xi}$ , for  $\xi \in \mathbb{Z}^*$ ,

and we define analogously W from w. Then a formal computation shows that one can choose  $A_v = T_{e^{\frac{1}{i\alpha} \xi |\xi|^{1-\alpha_V}}} \in S^0_{\alpha-1,2-\alpha}(\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{Z})$  which is a symbol class with no general symbolic calculus rules. Here we will define  $A_v$  differently <sup>1</sup>.

 $A_v$  is defined as the time one of the flow map generated by:

$$p_v = \frac{1}{\alpha} \xi \, |\xi|^{1-\alpha} \, V \in \Gamma_2^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{T}).$$

which is well defined by Proposition 5.1.1. We define analogously  $A_w$  and  $p_w$  from w. Now introduce:

$$f_2 = A_v f_1, \quad g_2 = A_w g_1. \tag{6.1.5}$$

The study of the symbolic calculus associated to this very specific form of symbols is given by Proposition 5.1.1 and the change of variable (6.1.5) is Lipschitz from  $L^2$  to  $L^2$  but under  $H^{(2-\alpha)^+}$  control on  $(f_2, g_2)$ . Indeed we write:

$$\begin{aligned} \|f_2 - g_2\|_{L^2} &= \|A_v f_1 - A_w g_1\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \|A_v [f_1 - g_1]\|_{L^2} + \|(A_v - A_w)g_2\|_{L^2} \,. \end{aligned}$$

Applying estimate (1) of Proposition 5.1.1 and estimate (5.1.4):

$$\begin{split} \|f_2 - g_2\|_{L^2} &\leq C(\|v\|_{H^s}) \,\|f_1 - g_1\|_{L^2} + \|V - W\|_{L^{\infty}} \,\|g_2\|_{H^{(2-\alpha)+}} \\ &\leq C(\|v\|_{H^s}) \,\|f_1 - g_1\|_{L^2} + \|v - w\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)+}} \,\|g_2\|_{H^{(2-\alpha)+}} \\ &\leq C(\|(v,w)\|_{H^s}) \,\|f_1 - g_1\|_{L^2} \,, \end{split}$$

where C verifies the estimate (6.1.2). As  $A_v^{-1}$  and  $A_w^{-1}$  are the time -1 generated by the flow map  $p_v, p_w$  respectively which is well defined by Proposition 5.1.1. We get by symmetry:

$$\|f_1 - g_1\|_{L^2} \le C(\|(v, w)\|_{H^s}) \|f_2 - g_2\|_{L^2},$$

thus,

$$C^{-1}(\|(v,w)\|_{H^s}) \|f_1 - g_1\|_{L^2} \le \|f_2 - g_2\|_{L^2} \le C(\|(v,w)\|_{H^s}) \|f_1 - g_1\|_{L^2},$$

and the problem is reduced to getting  $L^2$  estimates on  $f_2 - g_2$ .

To get the equations on  $f_2$  and  $g_2$  we commute  $A_v$  and  $A_w$  with (6.1.4), we make the computations for  $f_2$ , those for  $g_2$  are obtained by symmetry:

$$A_v \partial_t f_1 + A_v T_{vi\xi} f_1 + A_v T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi} f_1 = A_v R_1(v) f_1$$
, thus,

$$\partial_t (A_v f_1) + T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi} A_v f_1 + (A_v T_{vi\xi} - [T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi}, A_v]) f_1 + [A_v, \partial_t] f_1 = A_v R_1(v) f_1.$$

By definition of  $p_v$  and Proposition 5.1.5 we have:

$$\partial_{\xi}(\xi |\xi|^{\alpha-1})\partial_x p_v = v\xi \text{ and } [A_v, \partial_t] = -A_v \int_0^1 A_{-r}^p T_{i\partial_t p_v} A_r^p dr.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Similar ideas were used in Appendix C of [7] to get estimates on a change of variable operator which are still in the usual symbol classes  $S_{1,0}^m$ , the difficulty here being that we are no longer in those symbol classes.

Thus by Corollary 5.1.2 we have:

$$\partial_t f_2 + T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi} f_2 = R_2(v) f_2 + A_v R_1(v) A_v^{-1} f_2, \qquad (6.1.6)$$

where  $R_2$  and  $A_v R_1(v) A_v^{-1}$  verify:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\operatorname{Re}(R_{2}(v))\|_{L^{2}\to L^{2}} &\leq C(\|v\|_{H^{s}}), \\ \|[R_{2}(v)-R_{2}(w)]g_{2}\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C \|v-w\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^{+}}} \|g_{2}\|_{H^{(2-\alpha)^{+}}}, \\ \|[A_{v}R_{1}(v)A_{v}^{-1}-A_{w}R_{1}(w)A_{w}^{-1}]g_{2}\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C \|v-w\|_{H^{s-(2-\alpha)^{+}}} \|g_{2}\|_{H^{(2-\alpha)^{+}}}. \end{aligned}$$

We get analogously on  $g_2$ ,

$$\partial_t g_2 + T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha-1}\xi} g_2 = R_2(w)g_2 + A_w R_1(w)A_w^{-1}g_2.$$
(6.1.7)

Taking the difference between (6.1.6) and (6.1.7) yields:

$$\partial_t (f_2 - g_2) + T_{i|\xi|^{\alpha - 1}\xi} (f_2 - g_2) = [R_2(w) - R_2(v) - A_v R_1(v) A_v^{-1} + A_w R_1(w) A_w^{-1}]g_2.$$

Thus the usual energy estimate combined with the Gronwall lemma on  $f_2 - g_2$  gives for  $0 \le t \le T$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \|f_2 - g_2\|_{L^2} &\leq C(\|(u_0, v_0)\|_{H^s}, \|(f_2, g_2)(0, \cdot)\|_{H^{(2-\alpha)^+}}) \|(f_2 - g_2)(0, \cdot)\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq C(\|(u_0, v_0)\|_{H^s}) \|(f_2 - g_2)(0, \cdot)\|_{L^2}, \end{aligned}$$

with C verifying (6.1.2), which concludes the proof.

#### 6.1.2 Proof of Corollary 1.2.1, the estimates on $H^s$

The starting point is noticing that the mean value is preserved by (1.2.2) and by doing the change of unknowns:

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{u}(t,x) = u(t,x - t f u_0) - f u_0 \\ \tilde{v}(t,x) = v(t,x - t f v_0) - f v_0 \end{cases},$$
(6.1.8)

where  $\int u_0 = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} u_0$  is the mean value, we can reduce the Cauchy problem for general data to ones with 0 mean value by verifying that  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v} \in H_0^s$  still solve (1.2.2). Thus the main goal is to prove that the change of variable (6.1.8) is not regular. More precisely we will show that there exists a positive constant C and two sequences  $(u_{\epsilon}^{\lambda})$  and  $(v_{\epsilon}^{\lambda})$  solutions of 1.2.2 in  $C^0([0,1], H^s(\mathbb{T}))$  such that for every  $t \leq T$ , where T is a uniform small time,

$$\sup_{\lambda,\epsilon} \left\| u_{\epsilon}^{\lambda} \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{T})(t,\cdot)} + \left\| v_{\epsilon}^{\lambda}(t,\cdot) \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{T})} \leq C,$$

 $(u_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  and  $(v_{\epsilon,\tau}^{\lambda})$  satisfy initially:

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty\\\epsilon \to 0}} \left\| u_{\epsilon}^{\lambda}(0, \cdot) - v_{\epsilon}^{\lambda}(0, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{T})} = 0,$$

but,

$$\liminf_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty \\ \epsilon \to 0}} \left\| u_{\epsilon}^{\lambda}(t, \cdot) - v_{\epsilon}^{\lambda}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{T})} \geq c > 0.$$

Which proves the non uniform continuity. Considering a weaker control norm we want to get, for all  $\delta > 0$  and for t > 0:

$$\liminf_{\substack{\lambda \to +\infty\\\epsilon \to 0}} \frac{\left\| u_{\epsilon}^{\lambda}(t, \cdot) - v_{\epsilon}^{\lambda}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s-1+\delta}(\mathbb{T})}}{\left\| u_{\epsilon}^{\lambda}(0, \cdot) - v_{\epsilon}^{\lambda}(0, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{T})}} = +\infty.$$

#### 6.1.2.1 Definition of the Ansatz

Take  $\omega \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$  such that for  $x \in [0, 2\pi]$ :

$$\omega(x) = 1 \text{ if } |x| \le \frac{1}{2}, \ \omega(x) = 0 \text{ if } |x| \ge 1.$$

Let  $(\lambda, \epsilon)$  be two positive real sequences such that:

$$\lambda \to +\infty, \ \epsilon \to 0, \ \lambda \epsilon \to +\infty.$$
 (6.1.9)

Put for  $x \in [0, 2\pi]$ ,

$$u^{0}(x) = \lambda^{\frac{1}{2}-s}\omega(\lambda x), \ v^{0}(x) = u^{0}(x) + \epsilon\omega(x),$$

and extend  $u^0$  and  $v^0$  periodically. The main trick here will be to use the time reversibility of equation (1.2.2) by defining  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}$  as the solution of (1.2.2) with data fixed at time t > 0 given by

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{u}(t,x) = u_0 - \int u_0 \\ \tilde{v}(t,x) = v_0 - \int v_0 \end{cases},$$
(6.1.10)

where  $t \leq t_0$  is chosen small enough for the equations to be well-posed. Finally, define u and v by (6.1.8).

#### 6.1.2.2 Main estimates

First the estimates at time 0, for  $0 \le \nu \le s$ :

$$\|u(0,x) - v(0,x)\|_{H^{\nu}} = \left\|\tilde{u}(0,x) - \tilde{v}(0,x) + \int u_0 - \int v_0\right\|_{H^{\nu}}$$

By the estimate (6.1.1), the tame control (6.1.2) and the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality,

$$\|u(0,x) - v(0,x)\|_{H^{\nu}} \le C(\|(u_0,v_0)\|_{H^{\nu+(2-\alpha)^+}}) \|u_0 - v_0\|_{H^{\nu}}$$
  
$$\le C[1 + \lambda^{\nu-s+(2-\alpha)^+}]\epsilon.$$
(6.1.11)

Now the estimates at a fixed time t > 0, by construction:

$$\begin{aligned} \|u(t,x) - v(t,x)\|_{H^{\nu}} &= \left\| u_0(x + t \oint u_0) - v_0(x + t \oint v_0) \right\|_{H^{\nu}} \\ &= \left\| u_0(x + t \oint u_0) - u_0(x + t \oint v_0) \right\|_{H^{\nu}} + O_{H^{\nu}}(\epsilon) \end{aligned}$$

Now by hypothesis  $\lambda \epsilon \to +\infty$  and  $t \not f \omega > 0$ , thus  $u_0(\cdot + t f u_0)$  and  $u_0(\cdot + t f v_0)$  have disjoint supports, thus

$$\|u(t,x) - v(t,x)\|_{H^{\nu}} = \left\|u_0(x + t \oint u_0)\right\|_{H^{\nu}} + \left\|u_0(x + t \oint v_0)\right\|_{H^{\nu}} + O_{H^{\nu}}(\epsilon)$$
  
=  $C\lambda^{\nu-s} + O_{H^{\nu}}(\epsilon).$  (6.1.12)

Now to conclude the proof we differentiate the cases:

- in the case of non uniform continuity we take  $\epsilon$  such that  $\epsilon \lambda^{(2-\alpha)^+} \to 0$  and apply the previous estimates with  $\nu = s$ .
- In the case of non Lipschitz control we take  $\epsilon$  such that  $\lambda^{-1+\delta}\epsilon^{-1} \to +\infty$  and apply the previous estimates with  $\nu = s 1 + \delta$ .

### 6.2 Flow map regularity for the periodic Gravity Capillary equation

#### 6.2.1 Prerequisites from the Cauchy problem

We start by recalling the apriori estimates given by Proposition 5.2 of [3] combined with the results of [8]. We keep the notations of Theorem 1.3.3.

**Proposition 6.2.1.** (From [3] and [8]) Consider a real number  $s > 2 + \frac{1}{2}$ . Then there exists a non decreasing function C such that, for all  $T \in [0,1]$  and all solution  $(\eta, \psi)$  of (1.3.4) such that:

$$(\eta,\psi) \in C^0([0,T]; H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}) \times H^s(\mathbb{T}))$$
 and  $(H_t)$  is verified for  $t \in [0,T]$ ,

we have:

$$\|(\eta,\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s})} \leq C((\eta_{0},\psi_{0})_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s}}) + TC(\|(\eta,\psi)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}\times H^{s})}).$$

The proof will rely on the para-linearised and symmetrized version of (1.3.4) given by Proposition 4.8 and corollary 4.9 of [3] which are valid on  $\mathbb{T}$  as shown in [8]. Before we recall this, for clarity as in [3], we introduce a special class of operators  $\Sigma^m \subset \Gamma_0^m$  given by:

**Definition 6.2.1.** (From [3]) Given  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\Sigma^m$  denotes the class of symbols a of the form

$$a = a^{(m)} + a^{(m-1)}.$$

with,

$$a^{(m)} = F(\partial_x \eta(t, x), \xi),$$
$$a^{(m-1)} = \sum_{|k|=2} G_\alpha(\partial_x \eta(t, x), \xi) \partial_x^k \eta(t, x),$$

such that

- 1.  $T_a$  maps real valued functions to real-valued functions;
- 2. F is of class  $C^{\infty}$  real valued function of  $(\zeta, \xi) \in \mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{Z} \setminus 0)$ , homogeneous of order m in  $\xi$ ; and such that there exists a continuous function  $K = K(\zeta) > 0$  such that

$$F(\zeta,\xi) \ge K(\zeta) \, |\xi|^m$$

for all  $(\zeta, \xi) \in \mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{Z} \setminus 0)$ ;

3.  $G_{\alpha}$  is a  $C^{\infty}$  complex valued function of  $(\zeta, \xi) \in \mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{Z} \setminus 0)$ , homogeneous of order m - 1 in  $\xi$ .

 $\Sigma^m$  enjoys all the usual symbolic calculus properties modulo acceptable remainders that we define by the following:

**Definition-Notation 6.2.1.** (From [3]) Let  $m \in \mathbb{R}$  and consider two families of operators of order m,

$$\{A(t): t \in [0,T]\}, \{B(t): t \in [0,T]\}.$$

We shall say that  $A \sim B$  if A - B is of order  $m - \frac{3}{2}$  and satisfies the following estimate: for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ , there exists a continuous function C such that for all  $t \in [0,T]$ ,

$$\|A(t) - B(t)\|_{H^{\mu} \to H^{\mu - m + \frac{3}{2}}} \le C(\|\eta(t)\|_{H^{s + \frac{1}{2}}}).$$

In the next Proposition we recall the different symbols that appear in the paralinearization and symmetrization of the equations.

**Proposition 6.2.2.** (From [3]) We work under the hypothesis of Proposition 6.2.1. Put (1) (2) (2) (3)

$$\lambda = \lambda^{(1)} + \lambda^{(0)}, \ l = l^{(2)} + l^{(1)} \ with,$$

$$\begin{cases} \lambda^{(1)} = |\xi|, \\ \lambda^{(0)} = \frac{1+|\partial_x \eta|^2}{2|\xi|} \left\{ \partial_x \left( \alpha^{(1)} \partial_x \eta \right) + i \frac{\xi}{|\xi|} \partial_x \alpha^{(1)} \right\}, \\ \alpha^{(1)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+|\partial_x \eta|^2}} \left( |\xi| + i \partial_x \eta \xi \right). \\ \left\{ l^{(2)} = (1+|\partial_x \eta|^2)^{-\frac{3}{2}} \xi^2, \\ l^{(1)} = -\frac{i}{2} (\partial_x \cdot \partial_\xi) l^{(2)}. \end{cases}$$
(6.2.2)

Now let  $q \in \Sigma^0, p \in \Sigma^{\frac{1}{2}}, \gamma \in \Sigma^{\frac{3}{2}}$  be defined by

$$q = (1 + |\partial_x \eta|^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$
  

$$p = (1 + |\partial_x \eta|^2)^{-\frac{5}{4}} |\xi|^{\frac{1}{2}} + p^{(-\frac{1}{2})},$$
  

$$\gamma = \sqrt{l^{(2)}\lambda^{(1)}} + \sqrt{\frac{l^{(2)}}{\lambda^{(1)}}} \frac{\operatorname{Re}\lambda^{(0)}}{2} - \frac{i}{2}(\partial_{\xi} \cdot \partial_x)\sqrt{l^{(2)}\lambda^{(1)}},$$
  

$$p^{(-\frac{1}{2})} = \frac{1}{\gamma^{(\frac{3}{2})}} \left\{ ql^{(1)} - \gamma^{(\frac{1}{2})}p^{(\frac{1}{2})} + i\partial_{\xi}\gamma^{(\frac{3}{2})} \cdot \partial_x p^{(\frac{1}{2})} \right\}.$$

Then

$$T_q T_\lambda \sim T_\gamma T_q, \ T_q T_l \sim T_\gamma T_p, \ T_\gamma \sim (T_\gamma)^*,$$

where  $(T_{\gamma})^*$  is the adjoint of  $T_{\gamma}$ .

Now we can write the paralinearization and symmetrization of the equations (1.3.4) after a change of variable:

**Corollary 6.2.1.** (From [3]) Under the hypothesis of Proposition 6.2.1, introduce the unknowns<sup>2</sup>

$$U = \psi - T_B \eta$$
,  $\Phi_1 = T_p \eta$  and  $\Phi_2 = T_q U$ ,

where we recall,

$$\begin{cases} B = (\partial_y \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \frac{\partial_x \eta \cdot \partial_x \psi + G(\eta) \psi}{1 + (\partial_x \eta)^2}, \\ V = (\partial_x \phi)_{|y=\eta} = \partial_x \psi - B \partial_x \eta. \end{cases}$$

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ U is commonly called the "good" unknown of Alinhac. Introduced by Alazard-Metivier in [9], following earlier works by Lannes in [50].

Then  $\Phi_1, \Phi_2 \in C^0([0,T]; H^s(\mathbb{T}))$  and

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \Phi_1 + T_V \times \partial_x \Phi_1 - T_\gamma \Phi_2 = f_1, \\ \partial_t \Phi_2 + T_V \times \partial_x \Phi_2 + T_\gamma \Phi_1 = f_2, \end{cases}$$
(6.2.3)

with  $f_1, f_2 \in L^{\infty}(0,T; H^s(\mathbb{T}))$ , and  $f_1, f_2$  have  $C^1$  dependence on  $(\Phi_1, \Phi_2)$  verifying:

$$\|(f_1, f_2)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^s(\mathbb{T}))} \le C(\|(\eta, \psi)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s(\mathbb{T}))}).$$

#### 6.2.2 Proof of Theorem 1.3.3

Corollary 6.2.1 shows that the paralinearization and symmetrization of the equations (1.3.4) are of the form of the equations treated in Theorem 1.2.2, so the proof will follow the same lines but with more care in treating the non linearity in the dispersive term.

We keep the notations of Theorem 1.3.3, fixing  $(\eta_0, \psi_0) \in H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}) \times H^s(\mathbb{T})$  and r > 0. We begin by taking  $(\tilde{\eta}_0, \tilde{\psi}_0) \in B((\eta_0, \psi_0), r) \subset H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}) \times H^s(\mathbb{T})$  and consider the solutions  $(\eta, \psi), (\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\psi}) \in C^0([0, T]; H^{s+\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}) \times H^s(\mathbb{T}))$  to (1.3.4) with initial data  $(\eta_0, \psi_0), (\tilde{\eta}_0, \tilde{\psi}_0)$ , on a uniform small interval [0, T] where the hypothesis  $(H_t)$  is also supposed to be verified. Define the following change of variables:

$$\begin{split} \chi(t,x) &= \int_0^x \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2}} dy - \int_0^t \int_{\Sigma} \left[ \frac{1}{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2} + \partial_x \phi \right] d\Sigma \\ &= \int_0^x \sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2} dy - \int_0^t \int_0^{2\pi} \left[ \frac{1}{1 + (\partial_x \eta(t,y))^2} + \partial_x \phi \right] \sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta)^2} dy, \end{split}$$
(6.2.4)

and  $\tilde{\chi}$  is defined analogously from  $(\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\psi})$ .

The main goal of the proof is to show the following estimate:

$$\left\| (\eta, \psi)^{*}(t, \cdot) - (\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\psi})^{\tilde{*}}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s} \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} \le C \left( \left\| (\eta_{0}, \psi_{0}, \tilde{\eta}_{0}, \tilde{\psi}_{0}) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s}} \right) \left\| (\eta_{0}, \psi_{0})^{*} - (\tilde{\eta}_{0}, \tilde{\psi}_{0})^{\tilde{*}} \right\|_{H^{s} \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}},$$
(6.2.5)

where \* and  $\tilde{*}$  are the paracomposition operators defined by  $\chi$  and  $\tilde{\chi}$  respectively. We recall that the definition of the paracomposition operator is given in Section 3.4.

Put  $\Phi = (\Phi_1, \Phi_2)$  the unknowns obtained from  $(\eta, \psi)$  after paralinearization and symmetrization of the equations as in Corollary 6.2.1. Define analogously  $\tilde{\Phi} = (\tilde{\phi}_1, \tilde{\phi}_2)$  from  $(\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\psi})$ . Let us notice that, in order to prove (6.2.5), it suffice to get estimates on  $\Phi - \tilde{\Phi}$ . Indeed by the ellipticity of the symbols p and q combined with the immediate  $L^2$  estimates (as  $s > 2 + \frac{1}{2}$ ) we have:

$$\left\| (\eta, \psi)^{*}(t, \cdot) - (\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\psi})^{\tilde{*}}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s} \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} \le C \left( \left\| (\eta_{0}, \psi_{0}, \tilde{\eta}_{0}, \tilde{\psi}_{0}) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s}} \right) \left\| \Phi^{*}(t, \cdot) - \tilde{\Phi}^{\tilde{*}}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}},$$

$$\| \bar{\psi}^{*}(t, \cdot) - \tilde{\psi}^{*}(t, \cdot) - \tilde{\psi}^{*}(t, \cdot) \|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}},$$

$$(6.2.6)$$

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \Phi^{*}(t, \cdot) - \Phi^{*}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} \\ &\leq C \bigg( \left\| (\eta_{0}, \psi_{0}, \tilde{\eta}_{0}, \tilde{\psi}_{0}) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s}} \bigg) \left\| (\eta, \psi)^{*}(t, \cdot) - (\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\psi})^{\tilde{*}}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s} \times H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.2.7)

#### 6.2.2.1 Gauge transform

Again, as  $s > 2 + \frac{1}{2}$  we have an immediate  $L^2$  estimates on  $\Phi - \tilde{\Phi}$ , thus we only need to get  $\dot{H}^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \times \dot{H}^{s-\frac{1}{2}}$  estimates. Let us start by by writing  $\Phi = \Phi_1 + i\Phi_2$  in equation (6.2.3):

$$\partial_t \Phi + T_V \cdot \partial_x \Phi + iT_\gamma \Phi = R_1(\Phi)\Phi, \qquad (6.2.8)$$

Where  $R_1$  verifies

$$\begin{cases} \|R_1(\Phi)\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \to H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} \leq C \left( \left\| (\eta_0, \psi_0, \tilde{\eta}_0, \tilde{\psi}_0) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s} \right), \\ \left\| [R_1(\Phi) - R_1(\tilde{\Phi})] \tilde{\Phi} \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} \leq C \left( \left\| (\eta_0, \psi_0, \tilde{\eta}_0, \tilde{\psi}_0) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s} \right) \left\| \Phi - \tilde{\Phi} \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}}. \end{cases}$$

The next step is to perform the change of variable by  $\chi$ , by Theorem 3.4.2 we get:

$$\partial_t \Phi^* + T_W \cdot \partial_x \Phi + i T_{|\xi|^{\frac{3}{2}}} \Phi^* = R_1'(\Phi^*) \Phi^*, \qquad (6.2.9)$$

where  $R_1$  verifies

$$\left\| \left[ R_1'(\Phi^*) - R_1(\tilde{\Phi}^{\tilde{*}}) \right] \tilde{\Phi}^{\tilde{*}} \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} \le C \left( \left\| (\eta_0, \psi_0, \tilde{\eta}_0, \tilde{\psi}_0) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s} \right) \left\| \Phi^* - \tilde{\Phi}^{\tilde{*}} \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}}.$$

We get the same equation on  $\tilde{\Phi}^{\tilde{*}}$  by symmetry.

Introduce the following gauge transform  $A_{\Phi}$  as the time one of the flow map defined by Proposition 5.1.1 with

$$p_{\Phi} = \frac{2}{3} |\xi|^{\frac{1}{2}} \partial_x^{-1} W \in \Gamma_2^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{T}),$$

and put,

$$\theta = A_{\Phi} \Phi^*. \tag{6.2.10}$$

We define analogously  $A_{\tilde{\Phi}}$  and  $\tilde{\theta}$  from  $\tilde{\Phi}^{\tilde{*}}$ . From Proposition 5.1.1 the change of variable (6.2.10) is Lipschitz from  $H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}$  to  $H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}$  but under  $H^s$  control on  $(\Phi, \tilde{\Phi})$  which is equivalent by Theorem 3.2.6 to a control on  $\left\| (\eta_0, \psi_0, \tilde{\eta}_0, \tilde{\psi}_0) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^s}$ . We have:

$$\begin{split} \left\| \Phi^{*}(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\Phi}^{\tilde{*}}(t,\cdot) \right\|_{\dot{H}^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} &\leq C \bigg( \left\| (\eta_{0},\psi_{0},\tilde{\eta}_{0},\tilde{\psi}_{0}) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s}} \bigg) \left\| \theta(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\theta}(t,\cdot) \right\|_{\dot{H}^{s-\frac{1}{2}}}, \\ (6.2.11) \\ \left\| \theta(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\theta}(t,\cdot) \right\|_{\dot{H}^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} &\leq C \bigg( \left\| (\eta_{0},\psi_{0},\tilde{\eta}_{0},\tilde{\psi}_{0}) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s}} \bigg) \left\| \Phi^{*}(t,\cdot) - \tilde{\Phi}^{\tilde{*}}(t,\cdot) \right\|_{\dot{H}^{s-\frac{1}{2}}}. \\ (6.2.12) \end{split}$$

To get the equations on  $\theta$  and  $\tilde{\theta}$  we commute  $A_{\Phi}$  and  $A_{\tilde{\Phi}}$  with (6.2.9), we make the computations for  $\theta$ , those for  $\tilde{\theta}$  are obtained by symmetry:

$$A_{\Phi}\partial_{t}\Phi^{*} + A_{\Phi}T_{W} \cdot \partial_{x}\Phi^{*} + iA_{\Phi}T_{|\xi|}^{\frac{3}{2}}\Phi = A_{\Phi}R_{1}'(\Phi^{*})\Phi^{*}$$
$$\partial_{t}A_{\Phi}\Phi^{*} + iT_{|\xi|}^{\frac{3}{2}}A_{\Phi}\Phi^{*} + (A_{\Phi}T_{W}\partial_{x} - [iT_{|\xi|}^{\frac{3}{2}}, A_{\Phi}])\Phi^{*} - (\partial_{t}A_{\Phi})\Phi^{*} = A_{\Phi}R_{1}'(\Phi^{*})\Phi^{*}$$

By definition of  $p_{\Phi}$  and Proposition 5.1.5 we have:

$$\partial_{\xi}(|\xi|^{\frac{3}{2}})\partial_x p_{\Phi} = W\xi \text{ and } \partial_t A_{\Phi} = A_{\Phi} \int_0^1 A_{-r}^{p_{\Phi}} T_{i\partial_t p_{\Phi}} A_r^{p_{\Phi}} dr.$$

thus by Corollary 5.1.2 we get:

$$\partial_t \theta + i T^{\frac{3}{2}}_{|\xi|} \theta = R_2(\theta) \theta + A_\Phi R_1(\Phi^*) A_\Phi^{-1} \Phi^*, \qquad (6.2.13)$$

where  $R_2$  and  $A_{\Phi}R_1(\Phi)A_{\Phi}^{-1}$ , as  $s > 3 + \frac{1}{2}$ , verify:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\operatorname{Re}(R_{2}(\theta))\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}} \to H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} &\leq C \bigg( \left\| (\eta_{0}, \psi_{0}, \tilde{\eta}_{0}, \tilde{\psi}_{0}) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s}} \bigg), \\ \\ \left\| [R_{2}(\theta) - R_{2}(\tilde{\theta})] \tilde{\theta} \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} &\leq C \bigg( \left\| (\eta_{0}, \psi_{0}, \tilde{\eta}_{0}, \tilde{\psi}_{0}) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s}} \bigg) \left\| \theta(t, \cdot) - \tilde{\theta}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}}, \end{aligned}$$

and,

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} A_{\Phi} R_{1}(\Phi) A_{\Phi}^{-1} - A_{\tilde{\Phi}} R_{1}(\tilde{\Phi}) A_{\tilde{\Phi}}^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \tilde{\theta} \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}} \\ \leq C \bigg( \left\| (\eta_{0}, \psi_{0}, \tilde{\eta}_{0}, \tilde{\psi}_{0}) \right\|_{H^{s+\frac{1}{2}} \times H^{s}} \bigg) \left\| \theta(t, \cdot) - \tilde{\theta}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{H^{s-\frac{1}{2}}}.$$

Thus we have succeeded to eliminate the term  $T_V \cdot \partial_x$  of order 1 in (6.2.9) and got a term of order  $\frac{1}{2}$ . The result then follows with a standard energy estimate.

#### 6.2.3 Appendix: Gauge transform on $\mathbb{R}$

Closely inspecting the two problems in [65] and [56], we saw that the lack of regularity obtained in [65] for  $\alpha \geq 2$  is essentially due to the lack of control of the  $L^1$  norm in Sobolev spaces. To show this we start give a simple, albeit an artificial example:

**Theorem 6.2.1.** Consider two real numbers  $s \in [1 + \frac{1}{2}, +\infty[, r > 0 \text{ and } u_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{R}).$ Then there exists T > 0 such that for all  $v_0$  in the ball  $B(u_0, r) \subset H^s(\mathbb{R})$  there exists a unique  $v \in C([0, T], H^s(\mathbb{R}))$  solving the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v + \operatorname{Re}(v)\partial_x v + i\partial_x^2 v = 0, \\ v(0, \cdot) = v_0(\cdot), \end{cases}$$
(6.2.14)

Moreover we have the estimates:

$$\forall 0 \le \mu \le s, \|v(t)\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{R})} \le C_{\mu} \|v_0\|_{H^{\mu}(\mathbb{R})}.$$
(6.2.15)

Taking two different solutions u, v such that  $u - v \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ , then:

$$\begin{aligned} \|(u-v)(t)\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R})} &\leq C(\|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R})}) \|u_{0}-v_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R})} \\ &+ C(\|u_{0}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R})})[\|u_{0}-v_{0}\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R})} + \|(u-v)(t)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R})}]. \end{aligned}$$
(6.2.16)

*Proof.* This is the simplest theorem to prove as the transformation is straightforward and the symbols used are in the usual Hörmander symbol classes  $S_{1,0}^m$ . Given the well posedness of the Cauchy problem in  $H^s$ , and the density of  $\mathscr{S}$  in  $H^s$ , it suffice to prove the result for  $u_0, v_0 \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R})$  which henceforth we suppose. Define u, v as the solution to (6.2.14) with initial data  $u_0, v_0$  on [0, T].

The first step we reduce  $H^s$  estimates to  $L^2$  ones by defining  $f_1 = \langle D \rangle^s u$ . Commuting  $\langle D \rangle^s$  with (6.2.14), by the symbolic calculus rules in Appendix 3.2.3 we get the PDE on  $f_1$ :

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f_1 + \operatorname{Re}(u)\partial_x f_1 + i\partial_x^2 f_1 = R_1(f_1)f_1, \\ f_1(0,\cdot) = \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s \, u_0(\cdot), \end{cases}$$
(6.2.17)

where  $R_1$  verifies

$$||R_1(f_1)||_{L^2 \to L^2} \le C(||u||_{H^s}), ||\partial_{f_1}R_1(f_1)||_{L^2 \to L^2} \le C(||u||_{H^s}),$$

We define analogously  $g_1$  from v and notice that by definition:

$$||f_1 - g_1||_{L^2} = ||u - v||_{H^s}$$

thus the problem is reduced to getting  $L^2$  estimates on  $f_1 - g_1$ .

Then we introduce  $F(t,x) = \int_0^x \operatorname{Re}(u)(t,y) dy \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  and make the following change of variable:

$$f_2 = e^{-\frac{i}{2}F} f_1.$$

Analogously define G and  $g_2$  from v. As remarked in [72], F, G do not necessarily decay at infinity but we still have  $e^{-\frac{i}{2}F}, e^{-\frac{i}{2}G} \in S_{1,0}^m$ . Indeed because  $\partial_x F = \operatorname{Re}(u) \in H^{+\infty}$  and  $\partial_x G = \operatorname{Re}(v) \in H^{+\infty}$ . Now to get Lipschitz control we have

$$\left\| \left[ e^{-\frac{i}{2}G} - e^{-\frac{i}{2}F} \right] f_1 \right\|_{L^2} \le \|G - F\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f_1\|_{L^2} \le \|v - u\|_{L^1} \|f_1\|_{L^2}, \\ \left\| \left[ e^{\frac{i}{2}G} - e^{\frac{i}{2}F} \right] f_2 \right\|_{L^2} \le \|G - F\|_{L^{\infty}} \|f_2\|_{L^2} \le \|v - u\|_{L^1} \|f_2\|_{L^2},$$

thus,

$$\begin{cases} \|f_2 - g_2\|_{L^2} \le C[\|f_1 - g_1\|_{L^2} + \|v - u\|_{L^1} \|f_1\|_{L^2}], \\ \|f_1 - g_1\|_{L^2} \le C[\|f_2 - g_2\|_{L^2} + \|v - u\|_{L^1} \|f_2\|_{L^2}], \end{cases}$$

and the problem is reduced to getting  $L^2$  estimates on  $f_2 - g_2$ . Commuting  $e^{\frac{i}{2}F}$  with (6.2.17) yields:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f_2 + i \partial_x^2 f_2 = R_2(f_2) f_2, \\ f_2(0, \cdot) = e^{\frac{i}{2} F_0} \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s u_0(\cdot), \end{cases}$$
(6.2.18)

where  $R_2$  verifies

$$||R_2(f_2)||_{L^2 \to L^2} \le C(||u||_{H^s}), ||\partial_{f_2}R_2(f_2)||_{L^2 \to L^2} \le C(||u||_{H^s}).$$

Analogously we get on  $g_2$ 

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t g_2 + i \partial_x^2 g_2 = R_2(g_2) g_2 \\ g_2(0, \cdot) = e^{\frac{i}{2} G_0} \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s v_0(\cdot). \end{cases}$$
(6.2.19)

Now the usual energy estimate on  $f_2 - g_2$  combined the Gronwall lemma on  $f_2 - g_2$  gives for  $0 \le t \le T$ :

$$\|f_2 - g_2\|_{L^2} \le C(\|(u, v)\|_{H^s}) \|(f_2 - g_2)(0, \cdot)\|_{L^2}$$
As  $s > 1 + \frac{1}{2}$ , by the Sobolev embedding Theorem:

$$\begin{aligned} \|f_2 - g_2\|_{L^2} &\leq C(\|(u_0, v_0)\|_{H^s}) \left\| e^{\frac{i}{2}F_0} \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s \, u_0 - e^{\frac{i}{2}G_0} \langle \mathbf{D} \rangle^s \, v_0 \right\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq C(\|(u_0, v_0)\|_{H^s}) [\|u_0 - v_0\|_{H^s} + \|u_0 - v_0\|_{L^1}], \end{aligned}$$

which concludes the proof.

# Chapter 7

# On the threshold of well posedness of the weakly dispersive Burgers type equation

In this section we give the proofs of Theorems 1.2.3 and 1.2.4 which are the main results from [64].

#### Contents

7.1	Implicit construction of symbols	181
7.2	Sobolev estimate on the weakly dispersive Burgers equation	187
7.3	Complete gauge transform for the dispersive Burgers equation	190

## 7.1 Implicit construction of symbols

In this section we give the different theorems permitting the construction of the gauge transforms used in the subsequent sections. The following two Theorems should be compared to Corollary 5.1.2. Indeed in both cases we are looking to solve a problem of the form

$$A_1^p T_b A_{-1}^p = T_a + R, (7.1.1)$$

where the symbols a and b are given, the unknown is the symbol p,  $A_1^p$  is the time one of the flow generated by p defined in Section 5.1 and R is an acceptable remainder depending essentially on the threshold of regularity in which we are working.

In Corollary 5.1.2 an approximate solution to this problem (7.1.1) was given in the high regularity setting which permitted immediate control on the remainder R. The goal of this section is to improve upon on this by showing that we can control efficiently the remainder, i.e with no extra regularity assumption than the minimal ones required for the definition of a, b, p and  $A_1^p$ , in two directions. First for the linearised version of (7.1.1), i.e.

$$\mathfrak{L}_{ip}T_b = T_a. \tag{7.1.2}$$

Second when solving the full problem (7.1.1) in the case where the linearised problem (7.1.2) can be solved with p of negative in order.

**Theorem 7.1.1.** Consider two real numbers  $\alpha \geq 1$ ,  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$  and a symbol  $a \in \Gamma_0^{\beta}(\mathbb{D})$ . Then there exists B > 1 and a symbol  $p \in \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{D})$  such that,

$$\sigma_p^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_p^{B,b} = \sigma_a^{B,b}, \tag{7.1.3}$$

、 、

where  $\otimes$  is the symbol product defined formally by:

$$\operatorname{Op}(p) \circ \operatorname{Op}(q) = \operatorname{Op}(p \otimes q), \text{ where}$$
$$p \otimes q(x,\xi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}}} e^{i(x-y) \cdot (\xi-\eta)} p(x,\eta) q(y,\xi) dy d\eta.$$

Moreover we have the estimates:

$$M_0^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\partial_x \sigma_p^{B,b}; 0) \le \frac{M_0^{\beta}(\sigma_a^{B,b}; 0)}{B[1 - (1 - \frac{1}{B})^{\alpha}]},$$
(7.1.4)

$$M_{0}^{\beta-\alpha}(\partial_{\xi}\partial_{x}\sigma_{p}^{B,b};0) \leq \frac{M_{0}^{\beta-1}(\partial_{\xi}\sigma_{a}^{B,b};0)}{B[1-(1-\frac{1}{B})^{\alpha}]} + \alpha \frac{(1+\frac{1}{B})^{\alpha-1}-1}{1-(1-\frac{1}{B})^{\alpha}} M_{0}^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\partial_{x}\sigma_{p}^{B,b};0).$$
(7.1.5)

**Remark 7.1.1.** The choice of the same cut-off parameters in the right hand side and left hand side of (7.1.3) is not immediate, indeed by the general rule of composition of paradifferential operators given in Proposition 3.2.6, the cut-off on the left hand side is given by  $B \star B = \frac{B^2}{2B-1} > B$ . But in the special case where one of the operators is a Fourier multiplier we have this refined property where the cut-off on the left hand side is indeed given by B.

*Proof.* First the case  $\alpha = 1$  has the immediate solution with the choice of p as the primitive of  $\sigma_a^{B,b}$  in the x variable. Henceforth we suppose  $\alpha > 1$ .

We start by defining the scale of Banach spaces that define the Fréchet space of Paradifferential operators.

**Definition 7.1.1.** Given  $m \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\mathscr{W} \subset \mathscr{S}'$  a Banach space. Define  $C^k \Gamma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus B(0, R))$  as the space of locally bounded functions  $a(x, \xi)$  defined on  $\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus B(0, R)$ , which are  $C^k$  with respect to  $\xi$  and such that, for all  $j \leq k$  and for all  $\xi \geq R$ , the function  $x \mapsto \partial_{\xi}^{\alpha} a(x, \xi)$  belongs to  $\mathscr{W}$  and there exists a constant  $C_k$  such that:

$$\forall |\xi| \ge R, j \le k, \left\| \partial_{\xi}^{j} a(.,\xi) \right\|_{\mathscr{W}} \le C_{k} (1+|\xi|)^{m-|\alpha|}.$$
(7.1.6)

The space  $C^k \Gamma^m_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus B(0, R))$  is equipped with it's natural Banach space topology by the best constant  $C_k$ . When  $\mathscr{W} = W^{\rho, \infty}$ , the best constant is the seminorm  $M^{\beta}_{\rho}(\cdot; k)$ . We define:

$$\psi^{B,b}\left(\Gamma_{\mathscr{W}}^{m}(\mathbb{D})\right) = \left\{\sigma_{p}^{B,b}, p \in \Gamma_{\mathscr{W}}^{m}(\mathbb{D})\right\},\$$
$$\psi^{B,b}\left(C^{k}\Gamma_{\mathscr{W}}^{m}(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus B(0,R))\right) = \left\{\sigma_{p}^{B,b}, p \in C^{k}\Gamma_{\mathscr{W}}^{m}(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus B(0,R))\right\},\$$

equipped with their natural Fréchet and Banach topologies induced by the continuity of the map  $p \mapsto \sigma_p^{B,b}$ . Now we reinterpret Theorem 7.1.1 by introducing the linear operator:

$$L: C^k \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha} (\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b)) \to \psi^{B,b} \left( C^k \Gamma_0^{\beta} (\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b)) \right)$$
$$p \mapsto \sigma_p^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_p^{B,b}.$$

The proof will then proceed in two steps, we first prove that L has a right inverse on the Banach space  $C^0\Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R}\setminus B(0,b))$  and then we prove propagation of regularity in the frequency variable  $\xi$  for solutions of the equation (7.1.3).

To construct a right inverse for L the key idea here is simply that a right hand parametrix is given by the standard Cole-Hopf gauge transform:

$$E_{approx} : C^k \Gamma_0^\beta (\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0, b)) \to \psi^{B, b} \left( C^k \Gamma_0^{\beta + 1 - \alpha} (\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0, b)) \right)$$
$$a(x, \xi) \to \frac{|\xi|^{1 - \alpha}}{i\alpha} \operatorname{Op}(\frac{1}{D}) [\sigma_a^{B, b}(\cdot, \xi)](x, \xi),$$

where,

$$\mathscr{F}_x(\operatorname{Op}(\frac{1}{D}[\sigma_a^{B,b}(\cdot,\xi)])(\eta) = \frac{1}{i\eta}\mathscr{F}_x(\sigma_a^{B,b}(x,\xi))(\eta),$$

which is well defined as  $P_0(D) \operatorname{Op}(\frac{1}{D})[\sigma_a^{B,b}(\cdot,\xi)] = 0$  where  $P_0(D)$  is the Littelwood-Paley projector defined in Section 3.1. We then compute:

$$L \circ E_{approx} = \sigma^{B,b}(Id - r)$$
, where:

$$r: C^{\beta+1-\alpha}\Gamma_0^m(\mathbb{D}\times\hat{\mathbb{D}}\setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b)) \to \psi^{B,b}\left(C^k\Gamma_0^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{D}\times\hat{\mathbb{D}}\setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b))\right)$$
$$a\mapsto \frac{\alpha(\alpha-1)}{4\pi}\int_0^1\int_{\mathbb{D}\times\hat{\mathbb{D}}}e^{i(x-y)\eta}\sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-2}}(\xi+t\eta)\psi^{B,b}(\eta,\xi)\sigma^{B,b}_{\frac{1}{i\alpha}\partial_x a|\xi|^{1-\alpha}}(y,\xi)dyd\eta dt.$$

Let us remark that the remainder can also be written as:

$$r(a)(x,\xi) = \frac{\alpha - 1}{2} \underbrace{\operatorname{Op}_x \left( \int_0^1 \sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha - 2}}(\xi + t\eta)\psi^{B,b}(\eta,\xi)dt \right)}_{(*)} [\sigma^{B,b}_{\frac{1}{i}\partial_x a|\xi|^{1 - \alpha}}](x,\xi),$$

where (\*) is seen a Fourier multiplier in the x variable for  $\xi$  fixed. Thus estimating the semi-norms of r(a) using the continuity of Fourier multipliers combined with the Bernstein inequalities we get we get by the frequency localization of Paradifferential operators:

$$M_0^{\beta+1-\alpha}(r(a);0) \le \frac{C}{B} M_0^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\sigma_a^{B,b};0).$$

Thus for B sufficiently large L has a right inverse on  $\psi^{B,b} \left( C^0 \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha} (\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0,b)) \right)$ given by the Neumann series:

$$E = \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} E_{approx} r^k.$$

Thus we have constructed a  $p \in C^0 \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b))$  such that:

$$\sigma_p^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_p^{B,b} = \sigma_a^{B,b}.$$

Now we want to prove that  $p \in C^k \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0,b))$  for all k. We start by the following computation that comes from commuting with ix:

$$\sigma_{\partial_{\xi}p}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\partial_{\xi}p}^{B,b} = \sigma_{\partial_{\xi}a}^{B,b} + \alpha [\sigma_{|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_p^{B,b} - \sigma_p^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b}].$$
(7.1.7)

Now to get the desired bound we use the following Lemma.

**Lemma 7.1.1.** let  $p \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}})$  be a symbol such that for some cut-off parameters B, b we have:

$$\sigma_p^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_p^{B,b} = \sigma_a^{B,b},$$

for some  $a \in C^0 \Gamma_0^{\beta}(\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0, b))$  wit  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $\partial_x \sigma_p^{B,b} \in C^0 \Gamma_0^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0, b))$  and moreover we have the estimate:

$$M_0^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\partial_x \sigma_p^{B,b}; 0) \le \frac{M_0^{\beta}(\sigma_a^{B,b}; 0)}{B[1 - (1 - \frac{1}{B})^{\alpha}]}.$$

*Proof of Lemma 7.1.1.* Without loss of generality, we suppose  $p \in \mathscr{S}$  as the result can be deduced by a standard density argument. We rewrite the identity verified by p as follows:

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{D}\times\hat{\mathbb{D}}} e^{i(x-y)\eta} \sigma^{B,b}_{|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}(\xi+t\eta) \psi^{B,b}(\eta,\xi) \sigma^{B,b}_{\partial_x p}(y,\xi) dy d\eta dt = \frac{i}{\alpha} \sigma^{B,b}_a,$$

thus,

$$\underbrace{\operatorname{Op}_{x}\left(\int_{0}^{1}\sigma_{|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b}(\xi+t\eta)\psi^{B,b}(\eta,\xi)dt\right)}_{(*)}[\sigma_{\partial_{x}p}^{B,b}](x,\xi)=\frac{i}{\alpha}\sigma_{a}^{B,b},$$

where (\*) is an elliptic Fourier multiplier in the x variable for  $\xi$  fixed with the bound:

$$\frac{B}{\alpha}\left[1-\left(1-\frac{1}{B}\right)^{\alpha}\right]|\xi|^{\alpha-1} = \int_{0}^{t} \left(1-\frac{t}{B}\right)^{\alpha-1} dt \,|\xi|^{\alpha-1} \le \int_{0}^{1} \sigma_{|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b}(\xi+t\eta)\psi^{B,b}(\eta,\xi) dt$$
which gives the desired result.

which gives the desired result.

Getting back to the proof of Theorem 7.1.1 and applying Lemma 7.1.1 to (7.1.7)we get  $p \in C^1 \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0,b))$  and iterating (7.1.7) we get  $p \in C^k \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0,b))$ B(0,b) for all k.  A corollary of Lemma 7.1.1 is the following uniqueness result.

**Corollary 7.1.1.** *let*  $p \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}})$  *be a symbol such that for some cut-off parameters* B, b *we have:* 

$$\sigma_p^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_p^{B,b} = 0.$$

Then  $\sigma_p^{B,b}$  is a Fourier multiplier, i.e there exits a Fourier multiplier m such that:

$$\sigma_p^{B,b}(x,\xi)=\sigma_m^{B,b}(x,\xi)=\psi^{B,b}(0,\xi)m(\xi).$$

We now give the main Theorem that permits the construction of the gauge transform.

**Theorem 7.1.2.** Consider two real numbers  $\alpha \geq 1$ ,  $\beta \leq \alpha - 1$  and a symbol  $a \in \Gamma_0^{\beta}(\mathbb{R})$ . Then there exists  $\epsilon > 0, B \geq \frac{4}{3}$  such that for,

$$M_0^\beta(a;0) \le \epsilon$$

there exists a symbol p such that  $p \in \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  and:

$$\sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\otimes e^{ip}}^{2,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\otimes e^{-ip}}^{2,b} = \sigma_a^{B,b}.$$
(7.1.8)

Moreover we have the estimates:

$$M_0^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\partial_x \sigma_p^{B,b}; 0) \le \frac{1+C\epsilon}{\alpha} M_0^{\beta}(\sigma_a^{B,b}; 0),$$
(7.1.9)

$$M_{0}^{\beta-\alpha}(\partial_{\xi}\partial_{x}\sigma_{p}^{B,b};0) \leq (1 + CM_{0}^{\beta}(\partial_{\xi}\sigma_{a}^{B,b};0)) \times \left[\frac{M_{0}^{\beta-1}(\partial_{\xi}\sigma_{a}^{B,b};0)}{B[1 - (1 - \frac{1}{B})^{\alpha}]} + \alpha \frac{(1 + \frac{1}{B})^{\alpha-1} - 1}{1 - (1 - \frac{1}{B})^{\alpha}} M_{0}^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\partial_{x}\sigma_{p}^{B,b};0)\right].$$
(7.1.10)

**Remark 7.1.2.** We note that  $\beta + 1 - \alpha \leq 0$  thus the hypothesis on Im(p) is automatically verified.

*Proof.* The proof should in spirit amount to a Nash-Moser scheme as we are looking to prove an implicit function type of result on the Fréchet space of paradifferential symbols. In our case the problem is simpler due to the following key observation, for  $k \ge 0$  the underlining map is well defined on the Banach spaces in the scale defining the Fréchet space of paradifferential operators:

$$\begin{split} F: & C^k \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha} (\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b)) \to \psi^{\frac{4}{3},b} \bigg( C^k \Gamma_0^{\beta} (\mathbb{D} \times \hat{\mathbb{D}} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b)) \bigg) \\ & p \mapsto \sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} - \sigma^{2,b}_{\otimes e^{ip}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} \otimes \sigma^{2,b}_{\otimes e^{-ip}} \\ F(p) &= \sigma^{\frac{4}{3},b}_{\int_0^1 \sigma^{2,b}_{e^{irp}} \otimes [\sigma^{B,b}_p \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} - \sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_p] \otimes \sigma^{2,b}_{\otimes e^{-irp}} dr. \end{split}$$

The proof will again proceed in two steps, we first prove that F has a right inverse on the Banach space  $C^0\Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0,b))$  and then we prove propagation of regularity in the frequency variable  $\xi$  for solutions of the equation (7.1.3).

Noticing that F(0) = 0, the goal is thus to prove the local surjectivity of F around the origin. Now that we reduced the problem to Banach spaces, by the inverse function theorem it suffice to find a right inverse to the differential of F at 0. Computing the differential at 0 we get:

$$D_0F(h) = \sigma_h^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_h^{B,b} = L(h),$$

Thus by Theorem 7.1.1 and the local inversion Theorem in Banach spaces we get the desired local surjectivity.

Now we turn to propagation of regularity in the  $\xi$  variable, we fix:

$$p \in C^0 \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0,b)) \text{ and } a \in \Gamma_0^{\beta}(\mathbb{R} \setminus B(0,b)).$$

To make all of the computations rigorous we suppose  $p \in \mathscr{S}$  and the desired result is obtained by a density argument. The computation behind the propagation of regularity is the following analogue of (7.1.7). We start from:

$$\sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} - \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{ip}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-ip}} = \sigma^{B,b}_a,$$

commuting with ix we get:

$$\sigma^{B,b}_{\alpha|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} - \sigma^{B,b}_{\partial_{\xi}a} = \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{ip}} \otimes \left[\sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-ip}} \otimes ix \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{ip}}, \sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}\right]_{\otimes} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-ip}}$$

where  $[a, b]_{\otimes} = a \otimes b - b \otimes a$ . Using the Duhamel formula combined with Proposition 5.1.2:

$$\sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-ip}} \otimes ix \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{ip}} = ix + \int_0^1 \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-irp}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\partial_{\xi}p} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{irp}} dr.$$

Thus,

$$\sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-ip}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\alpha|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{ip}} - \sigma^{B,b}_{\alpha|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} - \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-ip}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\partial_{\xi}a} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{ip}} = \left[\int_{0}^{1} \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-irp}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\partial_{\xi}p} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{irp}} dr, \sigma^{B,b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}\right]_{\otimes}.$$
 (7.1.11)

Applying Lemma 7.1.1 we get that:

$$\partial_x \left[ \int_0^1 \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-irp}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\partial_\xi p} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{irp}} dr \right] \in C^0 \Gamma_0^{\beta+1-\alpha} (\mathbb{R} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b)).$$

and by the frequency localization of paradifferential operators and the Bernstein inequalities:

$$\int_0^1 \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{-irp}} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\partial_{\xi}p} \otimes \sigma^{B,b}_{\otimes e^{irp}} dr \in C^0 \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha}(\mathbb{R} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b)).$$

Getting back to the definition of  $\otimes e^{-irp}$  as  $\beta + 1 - \alpha \leq 0$ :

$$\sigma^{lim,b}_{\otimes e^{irp}} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{i^k r^k}{k!} \otimes^k \sigma^{B,b}_p,$$

thus,

$$\sigma^{\lim,b}_{\otimes e^{irp}} = 1 + O_{M^0_0(\cdot;0)}(\epsilon),$$

which gives:

$$\sigma_{\partial_{\xi} p}^{B,b} \in C^0 \Gamma_1^{\beta+1-\alpha} (\mathbb{R} \setminus \mathcal{B}(0,b)).$$

We get the desired result by iteration.

# 7.2 Sobolev estimate on the weakly dispersive Burgers equation

The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 1.2.3. First it suffice to make the estimate (1.2.12) for  $u_0 \in C_0^{\infty}$  and deduce the general result by density. We take u a solution to the Cauchy problem (1.2.11).

By Theorem 7.1.1 there exists  $p \in \Gamma_1^{2-\alpha}(\mathbb{R})$  such that:

$$[T_{ip}^{B',b}, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b}] = -iT_{\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b} + (\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b})^*}^{B',b},$$
(7.2.1)

where B' > B is the cut-off corresponding to the left hand side that includes  $T^{B,b}$  and it's a adjoint.

Now by Corollary 7.1.1 as  $(T^{B',b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}})^* = T^{B',b}_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}$  and the left hand side being  $L^2$  skew-adjoint we get:

$$\left(T_{p}^{B',b}\right)^{*} = T_{p}^{B',b} \text{ in } L^{2},$$
 (7.2.2)

Henceforth  $R_{\infty}(u)$  will designate a generic infinitely regularizing operator on on Sobolev spaces, i.e  $R_{\infty}(u): H^{\mu} \to H^{\mu'}$  for all  $\mu, \mu' \in \mathbb{R}$  with the estimate:

$$||R_{\infty}(u)||_{H^{\mu} \to H^{\mu'}} \le C_{\mu,\mu',\mu''}(||u||_{H^{\mu''}}), \mu'' \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Consider  $(A_r^p)_{r \in \mathbb{R}}$  defined by Proposition 5.1.1 with the choice of cutoff in the paradifferential operator given by B', b. Now by construction we have:

$$A_{1}^{p}\partial_{t}u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b}A_{1}^{p}u + \frac{1}{2}\bigg(\int_{0}^{1}A_{1-r}^{p}\bigg[T_{ip}^{B',b}, iT_{\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b}+(\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b})^{*}}^{B',b}\bigg]A_{r-1}^{p}dr\bigg)A_{1}^{p}u = R^{\infty}(u).$$
(7.2.3)

The key cancellation here is that even though  $[T_{ip}^{B',b}, iT_{\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b}+(\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b})^*}] \in \Gamma_0^{3-\alpha}$  we

have:

$$\left(\int_{0}^{1} A_{1-r}^{p} \left[T_{ip}^{B',b}, iT_{\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b}+(\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b})^{*}}^{B',b}\right] A_{r-1}^{p} dr\right)^{*} = -\int_{0}^{1} A_{1-r}^{p} \left[T_{ip}^{B',b}, iT_{\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b}+(\sigma_{u\xi}^{B,b})^{*}}^{B',b}\right] A_{r-1}^{p} dr.$$

This gives conservation of the  $L^2$  norm but it presents no concrete gain as the Cauchy problem (1.2.11) conserves the  $L^2$  norm by a straightforward computation but we find it to be a good self check when making the computations.

At our level of regularity  $s > 2 - \alpha + \frac{1}{2}$  this key cancellation does not hold for higher Sobolev estimates (except in the "exceptional" case of the Benjamin-Ono equation as noted in the introduction). To remedy this, inspired by [33], we preform an approximation of the symbol p given in (7.2.1) by step functions in the frequency variable  $\xi$  and a Littlewood-Paley decomposition in x.

To get higher Sobolev estimates the goal is estimate the  $L^2$  norm of the k-th dyadic frequency shell of u, for this we start by rewriting (1.2.11) using p defined by (7.2.1):

$$\partial_t u - [T_{ip}^{B',b}, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b}]u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b}u = R_{\infty}, \ u_0 \in H^s, \ b > 0.$$
(7.2.4)

We consider  $C_k = [w_1 2^k, w_2 2^k]$  with  $w_1 < 1 < w_2$  the k-th dyadic shell, i.e the support of  $P_k(D)$ . We fix the increasing sequence:

$$a_j = w_1 2^k + j^{\frac{1}{2-\alpha}} 2^{\frac{(1-\alpha)k}{2-\alpha}}, a_{-j} = a_j \text{ for } 0 \le j \le \lfloor (w_2 - w_1)^{\frac{1}{2-\alpha}} 2^k \rfloor = j_k,$$

and define the intervals:

$$\begin{cases} I_j = \left[\frac{2a_{j-1}+a_j}{3}, \frac{2a_j+a_{j+1}}{3}\right], \text{ for } |j| \le j_k, \\ I_{j_k} = \left[j_k, w_2 2^k\right], I_{-j_k} = \left[-w_2 2^k, -j_k\right]. \end{cases}$$

For  $|j| \leq j_k$  consider smooth functions  $\phi_j : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$  supported in  $I_j$  and  $\phi_j = 0$  for  $j \notin [-j_k - 1, j_k + 1]$  such that:

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\phi_j = 1, \ \left|\partial_{\xi}^n\phi_j(\xi)\right| \le C_n \left|\xi\right|^{-n}, n\in\mathbb{N}.$$

We now set,

$$p_j^l(x) = P_l(D)\left(\frac{1}{|I_j|} \int_{I_j} p(x,\xi)d\xi\right), |j| \le j_k, l \le \lfloor w_2 2^k \rfloor = l_k.$$

We compose (7.2.4) by the following:

$$\sum_{j=0}^{j_k} \phi_j \prod_{l=1}^{l_k} A_1^{p_j^l} \partial_t u - \sum_{j=0}^{j_k} \phi_j \prod_{l=1}^{l_k} A_1^{p_j^l} [T_{ip}^{B',b}, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b}] + \underbrace{\sum_{j=0}^{j_k} \phi_j \prod_{l=1}^{l_k} A_1^{p_j^l} T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}}_{(*)} u = R_{\infty},$$

$$\underbrace{(*)}_{(*)}$$

$$\underbrace{(7.2.5)}_{(*)}$$

and we compute the commutator in (\*):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \prod_{l=1}^{l_k} A_1^{p_j^l}, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b} \end{bmatrix} = \prod_{l=1}^{l_k} A_1^{p_j^l} \sum_{l=1}^{l_k} [T_{ip_j^l}^{B',b}, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b}] + \prod_{l=1}^{l_k} A_1^{p_j^l} \sum_{l=1}^{l_k} \int_0^1 A_r^{p_j^l} \mathfrak{L}_{ip_j^l}^2 T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b} A_{-r}^{p_j^l} dr + \sum_{l=1}^{l_k} \sum_{m=1}^{l-1} \prod_{n=l}^{l_k} A_1^{p_j^n} \mathfrak{L}_{A_1^{p_j^l}}^2 \mathfrak{L}_{A_1^{p_j^n}}^{B',b} T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b} \prod_{n=1}^{l-1} A_1^{p_j^n}.$$
(7.2.6)

Getting back to (7.2.5) we get:

$$\underbrace{\sum_{j=0}^{j_{k}} \phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} \partial_{t}u + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} \sum_{j=0}^{j_{k}} \phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}}u}_{(2)}}_{(2)}}_{(2)}$$

$$= \underbrace{\sum_{j=0}^{j_{k}} \phi_{j} \left[ \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} [T_{i(\tilde{\phi_{j}}p-\sum_{l=1}^{l_{k}}p_{j}^{l})}^{B',b}, T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b}]u}_{(3)} - \underbrace{\prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} \sum_{l=1}^{l_{k}} \int_{0}^{1} A_{r}^{p_{j}^{l}} \mathcal{L}_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b} A_{-r}^{p_{j}^{l}} dru \right]}_{(4)}}_{(4)}}_{(5)}$$

where  $\tilde{\phi}_j$  is a bump function with a slightly larger support than  $\phi_j$ .

We now compute the  $L^2$  scalar product of (7.2.7) with  $\sum_{j=0}^{j_k} \phi_j \prod_{l=1}^{l_k} A_1^{p_j^l} u$ . Given the complexity of equation (7.2.7) we will treat each term from (1) to (5) separately.

#### For term (1):

$$\operatorname{Re}\left((1), \sum_{j=0}^{j_{k}} \phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} u)_{L^{2}}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{j_{k}} \operatorname{Re}\left(\left(\phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} \partial_{t} u, \phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} u)_{L^{2}}\right) + 2 \operatorname{Re}\left(\left(\phi_{j-1} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j-1}^{l}} \partial_{t} u, \phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} u)_{L^{2}}\right)$$

$$+ 2 \sum_{j=0}^{j_{k}} \operatorname{Re}\left(\left(\phi_{j+1} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j+1}^{l}} \partial_{t} u, \phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} u\right)_{L^{2}}\right),$$

by the  $L^2$  skew symmetry of p (7.2.2):

$$\operatorname{Re}\left((1), \sum_{j=0}^{j_{k}} \phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} u)_{L^{2}}\right) = 5 \sum_{j=0}^{j_{k}} \operatorname{Re}\left((\tilde{\phi}_{j} \partial_{t} u, \tilde{\phi}_{j} u)_{L^{2}}\right) + R_{\infty}(u) + 2 \sum_{j=0}^{j_{k}} \operatorname{Re}\left(([\phi_{j+1} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j+1}^{l}} + \phi_{j-1} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j-1}^{l}} - 2\phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}}]\partial_{t} u, \phi_{j} \prod_{l=1}^{l_{k}} A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}} u)_{L^{2}}\right).$$

$$R_{1}(u) \qquad (7.2.8)$$

For  $R_1(u)$  we see that the terms,

$$\begin{cases} \phi_{j+1}(D)\phi_j(D)[\phi_{j+1}(D)A^{p_{j+1}^l} - \phi_j(D)A_1^{p_j^l}] \\ \phi_{j-1}(D)\phi_j(D)[\phi_{j-1}(D)A^{p_{j-1}^l} - \phi_j(D)A_1^{p_j^l}] \end{cases}$$

can be seen as residual terms coming from a change of cut-off in the definition of Paradifferential operators. Thus by (3.2.17) and the choice of  $a_j$  we get:

$$\begin{cases} \phi_{j+1}(D)\phi_j(D)[\phi_{j+1}(D)A^{p_{j+1}^l} - \phi_j(D)A_1^{p_j^l}]\\ \phi_{j-1}(D)\phi_j(D)[\phi_{j-1}(D)A^{p_{j-1}^l} - \phi_j(D)A_1^{p_j^l}] \end{cases} \text{ are of order } 2 - 2\alpha, \end{cases}$$

thus, crudely estimating the time derivative by  $2^{k\alpha}$  we get the estimate on  $R_1(u)$ :

$$|R_1(u)| \le C \sum_{j=0}^{j_k} \sum_{l=0}^j e^{C \sum_l \left\| p_j^l \right\|_{L^{\infty}_x}} 2^{j(2-\alpha)} \left\| p_j^l \right\|_{L^{\infty}_x} \left\| \tilde{\phi_j} u \right\|_{L^2}^2$$
(7.2.9)

For term (2), we have immediately by skew symmetry:

$$\operatorname{Re}\left((2), \sum_{j=0}^{j_k} \phi_j \prod_{l=1}^{l_k} A_1^{p_j^l} u)_{L^2}\right) = 0.$$
(7.2.10)

For term (3), (4) and (5) we have the estimates:

$$\left\| \operatorname{Re}([T^{B',b}_{i(\tilde{\phi}_{j}p-\sum_{l=1}^{l_{k}}p_{j}^{l})}, T^{B',b}_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}]) \right\|_{L^{2}\to L^{2}} \leq C2^{j(2-\alpha)} \left\| P_{\leq j}(D)u \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}},$$
(7.2.11)

$$\left\| \operatorname{Re}(\mathfrak{L}^{2}_{ip_{j}^{l}}T^{B',b}_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}) \right\|_{L^{2} \to L^{2}} \leq C2^{j(2-\alpha)} \left\| P_{l}(D)u \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}}^{2}$$
(7.2.12)

$$\left\| \operatorname{Re}(\mathfrak{L}_{A_{1}^{p_{j}^{l}}}\mathfrak{L}_{A_{1}^{p_{j}^{m}}}T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B',b}) \right\|_{L^{2}\to L^{2}} \leq e^{C \left\| p_{j}^{l} \right\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}} + \left\| p_{j}^{m} \right\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}} 2^{k(2-\alpha)} \left\| P_{l}(D)u \right\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}} \left\| P_{m}(D)u \right\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}.$$
(7.2.13)

Finally combining estimates (7.2.9), (7.2.10), (7.2.11), (7.2.12) and (7.2.13) we get:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|P_k(D)u\|_{L^2}^2 \le C(1 + \left\|\tilde{P}_{\le k}(D)u\right\|_{L^{\infty}}) 2^{k(2-\alpha)} \left\|\tilde{P}_{\le k}(D)u\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \left\|\tilde{P}_k(D)u\right\|_{L^2}^2,$$

where  $\tilde{P}_k(D)$  is defined by a bump function with a slightly larger support than the one defining  $P_k(D)$ . This gives the desired result by the Littlewood-Paley decomposition, the Gronwall lemma and a standard frequency envelopes argument (see [72]).

## 7.3 Complete gauge transform for the dispersive Burgers equation

In contrast to the previous section in the first step to conjugating (1.2.13) we make the choice, by Theorem 7.1.1,  $p_1 \in \Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{R})$  such that:

$$\sigma_{\otimes e^{ip_1}}^{2,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\otimes e^{-ip_1}}^{2,b} = \sigma_{iu\xi}^{B,b},$$
(7.3.1)  
$$\operatorname{Im}(p^1) = \frac{p^1 - p^{1^*}}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{R}), \ M_0^0(\operatorname{Im}(p)) \le CM_0^0(\partial_x p^1),$$
$$M_0^0(\partial_x p^1(t,\cdot);0) \le \frac{1 + C\epsilon}{\alpha} M_0^{\alpha-1}(\sigma_{iu\xi}^{B,b};0),$$
(7.3.2)

$$M_0^{-1}(\partial_{\xi}\partial_x p^1; 0) \le (1 + CM_0^{\alpha - 2}(u; 0)) \times \left[\frac{M_0^{\alpha - 2}(u; 0)}{\alpha} + (\alpha - 1)M_0^0(\partial_x p^1; 0)\right].$$
(7.3.3)

where we implicitly used the Bernstein inequalities to see the injection:

$$u \in C^{2-\alpha}_* \Rightarrow \sigma^{B,b}_{iu\xi} \in \Gamma^{\alpha-1}_0.$$

Define  $u^1 = A_1^{p^1} u$  and commute with (1.2.13) we get by Proposition 5.1.5:

$$\partial_t u^1 + T^{\psi^{B,b}}_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} u^1 - T^{2,b}_{i\int_0^1 (\partial_t p^1)_r^{p^1} dr} u^1 = R^{1,\infty}, \ u^1(0,\cdot) = A^{p^1}_1 u_0(\cdot).$$
(7.3.4)

**Remark 7.3.1.** For the proof of well-posedness we also need to see that for 2 different solutions u, v we have by the proof of Theorem 7.1.2:

$$M_0^0([p^1(u) - p^1(v)](t, \cdot); 1) \le e^{C \|(u,v)\|_{C^{2-\alpha}_*}} \left\| \operatorname{Op}(\frac{1}{D}) P_{\ge b}[u-v](t, \cdot) \right\|_{C^{2-\alpha}_*}.$$

Let us assess what we obtained from this first gauge transform we eliminated the term:

$$\sigma_{iu\xi}^{B,b} \in \Gamma_0^{\alpha-1}(\mathbb{R})$$

which generates an operator of order  $\alpha - 1$  and obtained  $i \int_0^1 (\partial_t p^1)_r^{p^1} dr$  which under mere  $C_*^{2-\alpha}$  control on u is still in  $\Gamma_0^{\alpha-1}(\mathbb{R})$  which is still of order  $\alpha - 1$ . Thus apriori in the low regularity setting in which we are working, we do not have a gain on the order of the remainder. The key idea is then to iterate this gauge transform, prove that the remainder goes to 0 and that the successive application of this gauge transform converges.

Applying successively Theorem 7.1.2 we construct a series of symbols  $p^j \in \Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{R}), j \geq 2$  such that:

$$\sigma_{\otimes e^{ip_j}}^{2,b} \otimes \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} - \sigma_{\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{B,b} \otimes \sigma_{\otimes e^{-ip_j}}^{2,b} = \sigma_{\int_0^1(\partial_t p^{j-1})_r^{p^{j-1}}dr}^{2,b}, \quad (7.3.5)$$

$$\operatorname{Im}(p^j) = \frac{p^j - p^{j^*}}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{R}), \quad M_0^0(\operatorname{Im}(p^j)) \leq CM_0^0(\partial_x p^j),$$

$$M_0^0(\partial_x p^j(t,\cdot);0) \leq \frac{1 + Ce^{CM_0^0(p^{j-1}(t,\cdot);0)}M_0^0(\partial_t p^{j-1}|\xi|^{1-\alpha}(t,\cdot);0)}{\alpha} \times e^{CM_0^0(p^{j-1}(t,\cdot);0)}M_0^0(\partial_t p^{j-1}|\xi|^{1-\alpha}(t,\cdot);0). \quad (7.3.6)$$

$$M_0^{-1}(\partial_{\xi}\partial_x p^j; 0) \le (1 + C \times (*)) \times \left[\frac{(*)}{\alpha}\right] + C(\alpha - 1)e^{CM_0^0(p^{j-1}(t, \cdot); 0)}M_0^0(\partial_x p^j; 0)$$

where,

$$(*) = e^{CM_0^0(p^{j-1}(t,\cdot);0)} [CM_0^0(\partial_t p^{j-1} |\xi|^{1-\alpha}(t,\cdot);0) M_0^{-1}(\partial_\xi p^{j-1}(t,\cdot);0) + M_0^{-1}(\partial_\xi \partial_t p^{j-1} |\xi|^{1-\alpha}(t,\cdot);0)]$$
(7.3.7)

From this we deduce that for  $||u||_{C^{2-\alpha}_*} \leq r$  with r sufficiently small we have:

$$M_0^0(\partial_x p^j(t,\cdot);0) \le C \left(\frac{1+Cr}{\alpha}\right)^j \|u(t,\cdot)\|_{C^{2-\alpha}_*},$$
(7.3.8)

$$M_0^{-1}(\partial_{\xi}\partial_x p^j(t,\cdot);0) \le C \left(\frac{1+Cr}{\alpha}\right)^j \|u(t,\cdot)\|_{C^{2-\alpha}_*}.$$
(7.3.9)

Consider  $A_1^{p^j}$  defined by Proposition 5.1.1 with the choice of cutoff in the paradifferential operator given by B, b and define  $u^j = A_1^{p^j} u^{j-1}$ , by construction we have:

$$\partial_t u^j + T^{\psi^{B,b}}_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}} u^j - T^{\psi^{2,b}}_{i\int_0^1 (\partial_t p^j)_r^{p^j} dr} = R^{j,\infty}, \ u^j(0,\cdot) = A_1^{p^j} u^{j-1}(0,\cdot), \tag{7.3.10}$$

where,

$$R^{j,\infty} = r_{\infty}^j + A_1^{p^j} R^{j-1,\infty},$$

where  $r_{\infty}^j$  is generated by the different cut-off errors generated by the difference of  $A_1^{p^j}$  and  $T_{\otimes e^{ip^j}}$ .

We now need to study 
$$\prod_{j=1}^{k} A_{1}^{p^{j}}$$
, for this we define for  $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ :  
 $\tilde{p^{1}}(\tau, t, x) = p^{1}(t, x), \ \tilde{p^{k}}(\tau, t, x) = p^{k+1}(t, x) + (p^{k}(t, x))_{\tau}^{p^{k+1}(t, x)},$  (7.3.11)

thus by Proposition 5.1.1:

$$\prod_{j=1}^{k} A_1^{p_j} = [A_{\tau}^{\tilde{p^k}(\tau,t,x)}]_{\tau=1}.$$
(7.3.12)

We then have the estimates:

 $\sup_{|\tau| \le 1} M_0^0(\tilde{p^{k+1}}(t,\cdot);0) \le M_0^0(p^j(t,\cdot);0) + e^{CM_0^0(p^j(t,\cdot);0)} \sup_{|\tau| \le 1} M_0^0(\tilde{p^k}(t,\cdot);0), \quad (7.3.13)$ 

$$\sup_{\substack{|\tau| \le 1}} M_0^{-1}(\partial_{\xi} p^{\tilde{k}+1}(t,\cdot);0) \le M_0^{-1}(\partial_{\xi} p^j(t,\cdot);0) \\
+ e^{CM_0^0(p^j(t,\cdot);0)} \bigg[ \sup_{|\tau| \le 1} M_0^{-1}(\partial_{\xi} \tilde{p^k}(t,\cdot);0) + CM_0^{-1}(\partial_{\xi} p^j(t,\cdot);0) \sup_{|\tau| \le 1} M_0^0(\tilde{p^k}(t,\cdot);0) \bigg],$$
(7.3.14)

Thus  $(\tilde{p}^k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  converges for the seminorm  $L^{\infty}_{|\tau|\leq 1}M^0_0(\cdot,1)$ , the iteration of this argument shows that  $(\tilde{p}^k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  converges for all of the seminorm  $W^{m,\infty}_{|\tau|\leq 1}M^0_1(\cdot,1), m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , thus there exits  $\tilde{p}$  such that:

$$\tilde{p} \in W^{\infty,\infty}([-1,1]; C^1 \Gamma_1^0(\mathbb{D})), \quad W^{m,\infty}_{\tau} M_1^0(\tilde{p}(t,\cdot)) \le C \|u(t,\cdot)\|_{C^{2-\alpha}_*}$$
$$\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{p}) = \frac{\tilde{p} - \tilde{p}^*}{2i} \in \Gamma_0^0(\mathbb{D}) \text{ and } M_0^0(\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{p})) \le C M_0^0(\partial_x \tilde{p})$$

Thus passing to the limit in (7.3.10) we get:

$$\partial_t \left[ (A_{\tau}^{\tilde{p}(\tau,\cdot)})_{\tau=1} u \right] + T_{i\xi|\xi|^{\alpha-1}}^{\psi^{B,b}} \left[ (A_{\tau}^{\tilde{p}(\tau,\cdot)})_{\tau=1} u \right] = R^{\infty,\infty}(u), \tag{7.3.15}$$

where there exists a non decreasing functions  $C_s$ , such that  $R^{\infty,\infty}(u)$  verifies for all  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$||R^{\infty,\infty}(u)||_{H^{\mu}} \le C_{\mu}(||u||_{L^{\infty}([0,T],C^{2-\alpha}_{*}(\mathbb{D}))}),$$

which is the desired conjugation result.

Finally the proof of well-posedness follows from a standard energy estimate on (7.3.15) combined with Proposition 5.1.1 and the Lipschtiz estimate:

$$M_0^0([\tilde{p}(u) - \tilde{p}(v)](t, \cdot); 1) \le e^{C \|(u,v)\|_{C^{2-\alpha}_*}} \left\| \operatorname{Op}(\frac{1}{D}) P_{\ge b}[u-v](t, \cdot) \right\|_{C^{2-\alpha}_*}.$$

# Bibliography

- T. Alazard, P. Baldi, D. Han-Kwan: Control for water waves, J. Eur. Math. Soc., 20 (2018) 657-745.
- [2] Previous results of T. Alazard, P. Baldi, P. Gérard, Personal communication by T. Alazard.
- [3] T. Alazard, N. Burq, C. Zuily: On the water waves equations with surface tension, Duke Math. J. 158(3), 413-499 (2011).
- [4] T. Alazard, N. Burq, C. Zuily: Strichartz estimates for water waves, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 44 (2011), no. 5, 855-903.
- [5] T. Alazard, N. Burq, C. Zuily: The water-waves equations: from Zakharov to Euler, Studies in Phase Space Analysis with Applications to PDEs. Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Their Applications Volume 84, 2013, pp 1-20.
- [6] T. Alazard, N. Burq, C. Zuily: On the Cauchy problem for gravity water waves, Invent. Math., 198 (2014), 71-163.
- [7] T. Alazard, P. Baldi,: Gravity capillary standing water waves, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 217 (2015), no 3, 741-830.
- [8] T. Alazard, N. Burq, C. Zuily,: Cauchy theory for the gravity water waves system with non localized initial data, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 33 (2016), 337-395.
- T. Alazard, G. Metivier: Paralinearization of the Dirichlet to Neumann operator, and regularity of diamond waves, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 34 (2009), no. 10-12, 1632-1704.

- [10] S. Alinhac Paracomposition et operateurs paradifferentiels, Communications in Partial Differential Equations, 1986,11:1, 87-121.
- [11] S. Alinhac and P. Gérard: Pseudodifferential Operators and the Nash-Moser Theorem, Graduate Studies in Mathematics Volume: 82, 2007.
- [12] H. Bahouri, J. Chemin and R. Danchin. Fourier Analysis and Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations, Springer (2011).
- [13] M. Bauer, M. Bruveris, E. Cismas, J. Escher, B. Kolev.: Well-posedness of the EPDiff equation with a pseudo-differential inertia operator. 2019. hal-02352635
- [14] R. Beals: Characterization of pseudodifferential operators and applications, Duke Math. J, Volume 44, Number 1 (1977), 45-57.
- [15] J-M. Bony: Propagation des singularités pour les équations aux dérivés partielles non-linéaires, Sem. Goulaouic-Meyer-Schwartz, 1979-80, n22.
- [16] J-M. Bony: Calcule symbolique et propagation des singularités pour les équations aux dérivées partielles non-linéaires, Ann. Scient. de l'Ecole Norl. Sup., 14(1981), 209-246.
- [17] J-M. Bony: Interaction des singularités pour les équations aux dérives partielles non-linéaires, Sem. Goulaouic-Meyer-Schwartz, 1981-82, n2.
- [18] J-M. Bony: Interaction des singularités pour les équations de Klein-Gordon non-linéaires, Sem. Goulaouic-Meyer-Schwartz, 1983-84, n10.
- [19] JM. Bony: On the Characterization of Pseudodifferential Operators (Old and New), Studies in Phase Space Analysis with Applications to PDEs. Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Their Applications, vol 84. Birkhuser, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-6348-1\_2
- [20] G. Bourdaud, Une algèbre maximale d'opérateurs pseudodifferentiels Comm. PDE 13 (1980), 1059-1083.
- [21] J. Bourgain: On the Cauchy problem for the Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation, Geom. Funct. Anal.3(1993), 315-341.MR94d:35142 354,355,360.

- [22] J. Bourgain: Fourier transform restriction phenomena for certain lattice subsets and applications to nonlinear evolution equations, Geom. Funct. Anal.3(1993), 3: 209. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01895688.
- [23] N. Burq, F. Planchon, On well-posedness for the Benjamin-Ono equation. Math. Ann. 340, 497-542 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00208-007-0150-y
- [24] A. Castro, D. Córdoba, Francisco Gancedo, Singularity fornation in a surface wave model, Nonlinearity, 2010.
- [25] S. N. Chandler-Wilde, D. P. Hewett, A. Moiola: Sobolev spaces on non-Lipschitz subsets of ℝ<sup>n</sup> with application to boundary integral equations on fractal screens, arXiv:1607.01994, 2017.
- [26] R. M. Chen, J. L. Marzuola, D. Spirn, and J. D. Wright: On the regularity of the flow map for the gravity-capillary equations, Journal of Functional Analysis Volume 264, Issue 3, 1 February 2013, Pages 752-782.
- [27] J. Colliander, M. Keel, G. Staffilani, H. Takoaka, T. Tao, Sharp global well-posedness for KdV and modified KdV on ℝ and T, J. Amer.Math. Soc. 16 (2003), 705 - 749. MR 1969209 330, 354.
- [28] W. Craig, C. Sulem: Numerical simulation of gravity water waves, J. Comput. Phys. 108(1), 73-83 (1993).
- [29] P. Gérard, Thomas Kappeler, On the Integrability of the BenjaminOno Equation on the Torus, Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 2020.
- [30] P. Gérard, Thomas Kappeler, Peter Topalov, On the flow map of the Benjamin-Ono equation on the torus, ArXiv preprint, arXiv:1909.07314, 2019.
- [31] Richard S. Hamilton, The Inverse Function Theorem of Nash and Moser, Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society, Volume 7, Number 1 (1982), 65-222.
- [32] S. Herr, Well-Posedness for Equations of Benjamin-Ono type, Illinois J. Math. Volume 51, Number 3 (2007), 951-976.
- [33] S. Herr, A. Ionescu, C. E. Kenig and H. Koch, A para-differential renormalization technique for nonlinear dispersive equations, Comm. Partial Diff. Eq., 35 (2010), no. 10, 1827-1875.

- [34] A.A. Himonas, & G. Misiolek, Commun. Non-Uniform Dependence on Initial Data of Solutions to the Euler Equations of Hydrodynamics Math. Phys. (2010) 296: 285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-010-0991-1
- [35] L. Hörmander, Fourier integral operators. I, Acta Math. 127 (1971), 79-183.
- [36] L. Hörmander: Lectures on nonlinear hyperbolic differential equations, Berlin ; New York : Springer, 1997.
- [37] L. Hörmander, The Nash-Moser theorem and paradifferential operators, Analysis, et cetera, 429-449, Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1990.
- [38] V. M. Hur, On the formation of singularities for surface water waves, Communications in pure and applied analysis, volume 11, Number 4, (2012).
- [39] V. M. Hur, Wave Breaking in the Whitham equation, Advances in Mathematics 317 (2017) 410-437.
- [40] V. M. Hur, L. Tao Wave Breaking in a Shallow Water Model, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 50(1), 354-380.
- [41] H. Inci, T. Kappeler, and P. Topalov. On the Regularity of the Composition of Diffeomorphisms, volume 226 of Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society.
- [42] A. D. Ionescu, C.E. Kenig Global well posedness of the Benjamin-Ono equation in low-regularity spaces, J. Amer, Math. Soc., 20 (2007), 753-798.
- [43] T. Kappeler, P. Topalov Global wellposedness of KdV in  $H^{-1}(\mathbb{T},\mathbb{R})$ , Duke Math. J. Volume 135, Number 2 (2006), 327-360.
- [44] T. Kato, G. Ponce. Commutator estimates and the Euler and Navier-Stokes equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 41 (1988) 891-907.
- [45] A. Kieslev, Fedor Nazarov, Roman Shterenberg, Blow up and regularity for fractal Burgers equation, Dynamics of PDE, Vol.5, No.3, 211-240, 2008.
- [46] R. Killip, M. Vişcan, KdV is well-posed in  $H^{-1}$ , Annals of Mathematics Vol. 190, No. 1 (July 2019), pp. 249-305.

- [47] C. Klein, and J.-C. Saut, A numerical approach to blow-up issues for dispersive perturbations of Burgers' equation, Phys. D 295/296 (2015), pp. 46-65.
- [48] H. Koch and N. Tzvetkov, On the local well-posedness of the Benjamin-Ono equation in  $H^{s}(\mathbb{R})$ , Int. Math. Res. Not., 26 (2003), pp. 1449-1464.
- [49] H. Koch N. Tzvetkov Nonlinear wave interactions for the Benjamin-Ono equation, Int. Math. Res. Not., Volume 2005, Issue 30, 1 January 2005, New York: McGraw-Hill, pp. 1833-1847.
- [50] D. Lannes, Well-posedness of the water waves equations, J. Amer. Math. Soc., 18(3):605-654 (electronic), 2005.
- [51] E. Leichtnam: Front d'onde d'une sous variété; propagation des singularités pour des équations aux dérivées partielles non linéaires, Thèse de 3éme cycle, Université Paris XI, Orsay.
- [52] F. Linares, D. Pilod and J.-C. Saut, Dispersive perturbations of Burgers and hyperbolic equations I: local theory, SIAM J. Math. Analysis, 46 (2014), 1505-1537.
- [53] G. Métivier, Para-differential calculus and applications to the Cauchy problem for non linear systems, volume 5 of Centro di Ricerca Matematica Ennio De Giorgi (CRM) Series. Edizioni della Normale, Pisa, 2008.
- [54] Y. Meyer: Remarques sur un théoème de J.M. Bony, Suppl. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, n°1,1981, pp. 1-20.
- [55] L. Molinet, J. C. Saut and N. Tzvetkov Well-posedness and ill-posedness results for the Kadomtsev-Petviashvili-I equation, Duke Math. J. Volume 115, Number 2 (2002), pp. 353-384.
- [56] L. Molinet, Global Well-Posedness in L<sup>2</sup> for the Periodic Benjamin-Ono Equation, American Journal of Mathematics, Johns Hopkins University Press, 2008, 130 (3), pp.635-683.
- [57] L. Molinet, Sharp ill-posedness results for the KdV and mKdV equations on the torus, Advances in Mathematics Volume 230, Issues 4-6, July-August 2012, pp. 1895-1930.
- [58] L. Molinet, D. Pilod, The Cauchy problem for the Benjamin-Ono equation in  $L^2$  revisited, Anal. PDE, Volume 5, Number 2 (2012), pp. 365-395.

- [59] L. Molinet, S. Pilod, S. Vento, On well-posedness for some dispersive perturbations of Burgers' equation, Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincareé C, Analyse non linéaire, Volume 35, Issue 7, November 2018, Pages 1719-1756.
- [60] G. Ponce, On the global well-posedness of the Benjamin-Ono equation, Diff. Int. Eq., 4 (1991), 527-542.
- [61] A. R. Said: On Paracomposition and change of variables in Paradifferential operators, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2002.02943.
- [62] A. R. Said: A geometric proof of the Quasi-linearity of the Water-Waves system and the incompressible Euler equations, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2002.02940.
- [63] A. R. Said: Regularity results on the flow map of periodic dispersive Burgers type equations and the Gravity-Capillary equations, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2103.03576.
- [64] A. R. Said: On the Cauchy problem of dispersive Burgers type equations, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2103.03588.
- [65] J. C. Saut Asymptotic Models for Surface and Internal waves, 29 Brazilian Mathematical Colloquia, IMPA Mathematical Publications ,2013.
- [66] J. C. Saut Benjamin-Ono and Intermediate Long Wave equation : modeling, IST and PDE, arXiv preprint, arXiv:1811.08652, 2018.
- [67] J. C. Saut, Y. Wang Long Time Behavior of the Fractional Korteweg-De Vries Equation with Cubic Nonlinearity, Manuscript submitted to AIMS' Journals, 2020.
- [68] J. C. Saut, Y. Wang The Wave Breaking for Whitham-Type Equations Revisited, arXiv preprint, arXiv:2006.03803.
- [69] R. Schippa, Short-time Fourier transform restriction phenomena and applications to nonlinear dispersive equations, Doctoral thesis, (Bielefeld University, 09/2019).
- [70] A. Shnirelman: Microglobal Analysis of the Euler Equations, J. math. fluid mech. (2005) 7(Suppl 3): S387. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00021-005-0167-5.

- [71] Elias M. Stein Harmonic Analysis: Real-Variable Methods, Orthogonality, and Oscillatory Integrals, Princeton University Press, 1993.
- [72] T. Tao: Global well-posedness of the Benjamin-Ono equation in  $H^1(\mathbb{R})$ , j. Hyperbolic Differ, Equ 1 (2004), 27-49.
- [73] M. E. Taylor, Tools for PDE: Pseudodifferential Operators, Paradifferential Operators, and Layer Potentials, American Mathematical Soc., 2007.
- [74] M. E. Taylor, Pseudodifferential Operators and Nonlinear PDE, Brickhauser, Boston, 1991.
- [75] V.E. Zakharov: Stability of periodic waves of finite amplitude on the surface of a deep fluid, J. Appl. Mech. Techn. Phys. 9(2), 190-194 (1968).
- [76] C. Zuily: Note on the Burgers equation, personal communication.

### **UNIVERSITE PARIS-SACLAY ÉCOLE DOCTORALE** de mathématiques Hadamard (EDMH)

**Titre:** Sur le flow de l'équation d'Euler à surface libre

**Mots clés:** Flot, équation d'Euler, regularité, équation dispersive, équation de Burgers, analyse microlocale, paracomposition, calcul paradifferentiel, transformation de jauge de Cole-Hopf, formule de Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff.

**Résumé:** L'équation d'Euler à surface libre décrit l'évolution de l'interface séparant l'air d'un fluide parfait irrotationnel. C'est un système de deux équations couplées : l'équation d'Euler à l'intérieur du domaine et une équation cinématique qui décrit les déformations du domaine. Les 4 travaux qui constituent le corps de cette thèse peuvent être divisés en trois sujets connectés au problème de Cauchy du système des water waves.

- Dans le prolongement des travaux de [2, 4, 5, 7], où les auteurs ont montré que le problème de Cauchy pour le système des water waves est bien posé et que le flot est continu sur des espaces de Sobolev suffisamment réguliers, nous montrons :
  - Dans [60] que le système des water waves avec ou sans tension de surface est quasi-linéaire au sens le plus fort du terme, c'est-à-dire que le flot n'est pas uniformément continu. De plus, dans le cas avec tension de surface, nous montrons que pour avoir une estimation de Lipschitz sur le flot, il faut au moins une perte de  $\frac{1}{2}$  dérivés. Plus généralement, pour l'équation de Burgers avec terme dispersif de la forme  $\partial_r |D|^{\alpha-1}, \alpha \in$ ]1,2[, nous montrons qu'il faut au moins une perte de  $2-\alpha$  dérivés pour assurer un contrôle Lipschitz sur le flot.
  - Dans [61], nous montrons que les résultats obtenus dans [60] sont effectivement optimaux, c'est-à-dire que pour l'équation de Burgers avec un

terme dispersif  $\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1}, \alpha \in ]1, 2[$ le flot est effectivement Lipschitz de  $H^s$  á  $H^{s-2+\alpha}$  pour des données initiales périodiques de moyenne nulle. Pour le système des water waves avec tension de surface en deux dimensions d'espace, nous montrons qu'après re-normalisation, le flot est bien Lipschitz au prix d'une perte de  $\frac{1}{2}$  dérivées.

- Afin de démontrer les résultats dans [61], nous avons développé une généralisation para-différentielle d'une transformation de jauge complexe de type Cole-Hopf introduite pour la première fois par T. Tao pour l'équation de Benjamin-Ono. Dans [62], nous l'utilisons pour améliorer les résultats connus sur une conjecture numérique dûe à Saut et Klein dans [45] sur l'équation de Burgers dispersive. Ce qui, à la connaissance de l'auteur, est la première fois que la transformation de jauge est mise en oeuvre à cette fin pour α ∈]1,2[.
- Afin de démontrer les différents résultats dans [60, 61, 62], nous avons étudié et affiné différents résultats connus en calcul paradifférentiel. Plus précisément, dans [59], nous améliorons certaines estimations sur l'opérateur de paracomposition introduit par Alinhac, nous donnons une preuve du changement de variables dans le calcul paradifférentiel et enfin nous étudions comment le support du cut-off fréquentiel varie après la composition d'opérateurs para-différentiels.

**Title:** On the flow map of the Euler equation with free boundary

**Keywords:** flow map, Euler equation, regularity, dispersive equations, microlocal analysis, paracomposition, paradifferential calculus, Cole-Hopf Gauge transform, Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula

**Abstract:** The Euler equation with free boundary, i.e the water waves system, describes the evolution of the interface between air and a perfect irrotational fluid. It is a system of two coupled equations: the Euler equation in the interior of the domain and a kinematic equation describing the deformation of the domain. The 4 works that constitute the body of this thesis can be divided into three connected subjects on the Cauchy problem of the water waves system.

- In the continuation of the works in [2, 4, 5, 7] where the Cauchy problem for the water waves system is shown to be well-posed and the ow map continuous on sufficiently regular Sobolev spaces we show:
  - In [60] that the water waves system with and without surface tension is quasi-linear in the strongest sense, i.e the flow map is not uniformly continuous. Moreover in the case with surface tension we show that in order to have Lipschitz estimate on the flow map at least a loss of  $\frac{1}{2}$  derivative. More generally for the Burgers equation augmented by a dispersive term of the form  $\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1}, \alpha \in ]1, 2[$ , we show that at least a loss of  $2-\alpha$  derivative is needed to ensure Lipschitz control on the flow.
  - In [61] we show that the results obtained in [60] are indeed opti-

mal, that is for the Burgers equation augmented with a dispersive term  $\partial_x |D|^{\alpha-1}, \alpha \in ]1, 2[$  the flow map is indeed Lipschitz from  $H^s$  to  $H^{s-2+\alpha}$ for periodic data with 0 mean value. For the water waves system with surface tension in two space dimension we show that after suitable renormalization that the flow map is Lipschitz under  $\frac{1}{2}$  loss of derivative.

- In order to prove the results in [61] we developed a paradifferential generalization of a complex Cole-Hopf type gauge transform first introduced by T. Tao for the Benjamin-Ono equation. In [62] we use this to improve upon known results on a numerical conjecture by Saut and Klein [45] on the dispersive Burgers equation, which to the author's knowledge is the first time the gauge transform was implemented to that for α ∈]1, 2[.
- In order to prove the different results in [60, 61, 62] we needed to study and refine different know results in paradifferential calculus. More precisely in [59], we improve some estimates on the paracomposition operator introduced by Alinhac, give a proof of the change of variables in paradifferential operators and finally study the frequency cut-off after composition of paradifferential operators.

### École normale supérieure Paris-Saclay 4 Avenue des Sciences, 91190 Gif-sur-Yvette